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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These statements include all matters that are not related to present facts or current conditions or that are not historical facts, including statements
regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans, objectives of management and expected market growth. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “continue,”
“should,” “predict,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potentially,” “will,” “may,” “would,” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forwardlooking statements.
We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business
strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
regarding, among other things:
•

the design and conduct of our planned Phase 3 clinical program of ALLN-177 in enteric hyperoxaluria;

•

the number, designs, results and timing of our clinical trials and preclinical studies and the timing of the availability of data from these trials and activities;

•

our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients and the ability of subjects in our clinical trials to adhere to the protocol, including capsule and dietary regimen and urinary collection requirements;

•

the therapeutic benefits, effectiveness and safety of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 and our future product candidates;

•

our ability to receive regulatory approval for our product candidates in the United States, Europe and other geographies;

•

our ability to obtain, on satisfactory terms or at all, the financing required to support operations, development, clinical trials, and commercialization of products;

•

our reliance on third parties for the planning, conduct and monitoring of clinical trials and for the manufacture of clinical drug supplies and drug product;

•

potential changes in regulatory requirements, and delays or negative outcomes from the regulatory approval process;

•

our estimates of the size and characteristics of the markets that may be addressed by ALLN-177 and ALLN-346;

•

the market acceptance of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 or any future product candidates that are approved for marketing in the United States or other countries;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize ALLN-177 with a targeted sales force;

•

the safety and efficacy of therapeutics marketed by our competitors that are targeted to indications which our product candidates have been developed to treat;

•

our ability to utilize our proprietary technological approach to develop and commercialize ALLN-346 and future product candidates;

•

potential collaborators to license and commercialize ALLN-177, if approved, or any products for which we receive regulatory approval in the future outside of the United States;

•

our heavy dependence on licensed intellectual property, including our ability to source and maintain licenses from third-party owners;
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•

our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others;

•

our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel;

•

our ability to generate revenue and become profitable;

•

our estimates regarding our capital requirements and our need for additional financing.

These risks are not exhaustive. Other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K may include additional factors that could adversely impact our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in a very
competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to
which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in, or implied by, any forward-looking statements.
We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section, that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ
materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make. No
forward-looking statement is a guarantee of future performance.
You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference herein and have filed as exhibits hereto as a part completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
materially different from what we expect. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K represent our views as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We anticipate that subsequent events and
developments will cause our views to change. However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we have no current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable
law. You should, therefore, not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART I
Unless the context otherwise requires, we use the terms “Allena,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and similar designations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to refer to Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly
owned subsidiaries.
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
We are a late-stage, clinical biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing and commercializing first-in-class, oral enzyme therapeutics to treat patients with rare and severe metabolic and kidney disorders. We are
focused on metabolic disorders that result in excess accumulation of certain metabolites, such as oxalate and urate that can cause kidney stones, damage the kidney, and potentially lead to chronic kidney disease, or CKD, and endstage renal disease, or ESRD. Our proprietary technological approach enables us to design and develop stable, non-absorbable oral enzyme therapies that remain in the gastrointestinal, or GI, tract, where the enzyme can degrade these
metabolites, allowing for removal from the body through the bowel. This mechanism of action reduces the accumulation of the metabolites in the body and therefore limits the burden on the kidney to filter and then excrete the
metabolite in the urine. The data from our clinical trials and numerous academic studies suggest the potential for GI elimination of these metabolites to reduce the chronic disease burden on the kidney and other organ systems. Our
lead product candidate, ALLN-177, is a first-in-class, oral enzyme therapeutic that we are developing for the treatment of hyperoxaluria, a metabolic disorder characterized by markedly elevated urinary oxalate levels and
pathophysiologically associated with kidney stones, CKD and ESRD. There are currently no approved therapies for the treatment of hyperoxaluria.
ALLN-177, a crystalline formulation of the enzyme oxalate decarboxylase, has been designed to specifically degrade oxalate within the GI tract, limiting systemic absorption of oxalate into the bloodstream. Oxalate is
endogenously produced as an end product of normal cellular metabolism and is also absorbed through the GI tract from a typical diet. Humans lack the innate capacity to digest oxalate and primarily depend on renal excretion to
eliminate it from the body. Although oxalate has no identified biological function, it is known to damage the kidney when present in excess amounts, a condition called hyperoxaluria. Hyperoxaluria is characterized by significantly
elevated oxalate levels in the urine, or urinary oxalate excretion, due to either overproduction of oxalate by the liver from a genetic defect, called primary hyperoxaluria, or from over absorption of oxalate from the diet, called
secondary hyperoxaluria. Secondary hyperoxaluria is further characterized either as enteric, resulting from a chronic and unremediable underlying GI disorder associated with malabsorption, such as bariatric surgery complications or
Crohn’s disease, which predisposes patients to excess oxalate absorption, or idiopathic, meaning the underlying cause is unknown. Enteric hyperoxaluria is the more severe type of secondary hyperoxaluria.
We have conducted a robust clinical development program of ALLN-177, including three Phase 2 clinical trials, which demonstrated reductions of urinary oxalate excretion in patients with secondary hyperoxaluria,
particularly in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. ALLN-177 has also been well tolerated in clinical trials to date. Based on these data, the high unmet medical need, the enzyme’s specific mechanism of action, and the significant
market opportunity, we are initially developing ALLN-177 for adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria.
We are in discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, to finalize the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 program in enteric hyperoxaluria. In March 2018, we initiated URIROX-1TM (formerly
Study 301), the first of two anticipated Phase 3 clinical trials in support of our planned Biologic License Application (BLA) for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. URIROX-1 is the largest randomized, controlled trial
of a novel therapeutic ever initiated in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We expect to announce topline data from this trial in the second half of 2019. We continue to engage with the FDA to finalize the design of URIROX-2TM
(formerly Study 302), the second, larger planned Phase 3 clinical trial, and to discuss opportunities for pursuing an accelerated approval pathway for our planned BLA submission for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria.
Pending the outcome of these interactions, we expect to initiate URIROX-2 in the second half of 2018.
The FDA has also granted separate orphan drug designations for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the treatment of pediatric hyperoxaluria. In addition, the European Commission has granted
orphan designation for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria. In light of these designations, we initiated an open-label Phase 2 clinical trial (Study 206) in March 2018 in adolescents and adults with primary
hyperoxaluria or enteric hyperoxaluria, who also have elevated levels of oxalate in the blood, or Hyperoxalemia, which can lead to systemic oxalosis, a potentially fatal disorder associated deposition of oxalate in tissues, with interim
data expected in the second half of 2018 and topline data anticipated in 2019.
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The first clinical manifestation of hyperoxaluria is often a kidney stone; however, the disorder can be variable in its presentation. Patients with severe hyperoxaluria may have recurrent kidney stones or experience
infrequent or no kidney stones, yet still develop CKD and end-stage renal disease, which can be fatal. Systemic oxalosis, which typically occurs in patients with primary or severe secondary hyperoxaluria and declining kidney
function, refers to the presence of excess oxalate throughout the body, including the blood, bones, joints, eyes and heart.
We estimate there are approximately 200,000 to 250,000 patients in the United States with enteric hyperoxaluria and kidney stones. We plan to target this market initially. We believe that a therapeutic agent that reduces
urine oxalate levels in this population could be commercialized into a potential multi-billion dollar U.S. market without any approved therapies at present. Primary hyperoxaluria, an ultra-rare genetic disease, is estimated to affect
approximately 1 in 58,000, or approximately 5,000 patients, in the United States. Among patients with primary hyperoxaluria, about 50 percent will have kidney failure by age 15, and about 80 percent will have kidney failure by age
30. There are no FDA approved therapies for primary hyperoxaluria, and the most severe patients may be treated with a liver and/or kidney transplant. Patients with enteric hyperoxaluria can have levels of urinary oxalate excretion as
high as patients with primary hyperoxaluria and a comparable renal burden.
We believe our proprietary know-how in enzyme technology allows us to design, formulate and deliver non-absorbed and stable enzymes orally and in sufficient doses for activity in the GI tract. This approach enables us to
develop enzyme therapies that degrade metabolites within the GI tract, thereby preventing their absorption, which reduces potentially toxic metabolite levels in the blood and urine, and in turn, diminishes the disease burden on the
kidney over time. The general therapeutic approach of deploying a non-absorbed drug into the GI tract to reduce metabolic disease burden in patients with kidney disease has been proven successful in several therapeutic categories.
Utilizing our proprietary technological approach, we conceived and developed ALLN-177, an oral biologic product candidate. Manufacturing biologic drugs is generally a complex and cost intensive process because they are
manufactured in living systems or cells and tend to be large complex molecules. Since the living systems used to produce biologics can be sensitive to very minor changes in manufacturing techniques, small process differences can
significantly affect the nature of the finished biologic and, most importantly, the way it functions in the body. Our proprietary and scalable manufacturing capabilities enable us to produce large quantities of our oral enzyme product
candidates sufficiently to support our clinical and commercial strategy, with costs anticipated to be comparable to small molecule therapeutics. We have issued patents covering ALLN-177 in addition to the trade secrets that cover our
manufacturing process.
Our Product Candidate Pipeline
Using our proprietary technological approach, we have developed a pipeline of first-in-class, oral, non-absorbed enzyme therapeutic candidates to treat patients with rare and severe metabolic disorders that affect the kidney.
Our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, is an oral enzyme therapeutic that we are developing for the treatment of hyperoxaluria, for which there are currently no approved therapies. Our second product candidate, ALLN-346, is being
developed for patients with hyperuricemia and moderate to severe CKD. Hyperuricemia, or elevated levels of uric acid in the blood, is commonly associated with gout as well as kidney stones and kidney disorders.
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Strategy
Our goal is to become the leader in developing and commercializing first-in-class, oral, non-absorbed enzyme therapeutics to treat patients with rare and severe metabolic and kidney disorders. To achieve this goal, we are
executing on the following strategy:
•

Obtain regulatory approval in the United States for our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, for enteric hyperoxaluria in adults—We have conducted a robust Phase 2 clinical development program of ALLN-177
in patients with secondary hyperoxaluria, which demonstrated significant reductions of urinary oxalate excretion in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. Based on these data and the high unmet need, we are initially
developing ALLN-177 for enteric hyperoxaluria. Moreover, we believe the mechanism of action of ALLN-177, which degrades oxalate in the GI tract, is particularly well-targeted to treat enteric hyperoxaluria
where excess oxalate absorption is driven by an underlying GI disorder. We are currently in discussions with the FDA to finalize the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3. In March of 2018, we initiated URIROX1 TM (URIROX-1), the first of two anticipated Phase 3 clinical trials in support of our planned BLA for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria, with topline data anticipated in the second half of 2019. We
continue to engage with the FDA to finalize the design of URIROX-2, the second, larger planned Phase 3 clinical trial, and to discuss opportunities for pursuing an accelerated approval pathway for our planned
BLA submission for ALLN-177 in adults with enteric hyperoxaluria. Pending the outcome of these interactions, we expect to initiate URIROX-2 in the second half of 2018.

•

Commercialize ALLN-177—We have worldwide commercialization and development rights to ALLN-177. We intend to independently pursue regulatory approval of ALLN-177 in patients with enteric
hyperoxaluria in the United States and, if approved, to commercialize the product by building a focused commercial organization in the United States specifically to target nephrologists and urologists who treat
patients with hyperoxaluria, particularly at kidney stone clinics.

•

Advance development of ALLN-177 for other severe forms of hyperoxaluria—The FDA has granted separate orphan drug designations for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the
treatment of pediatric hyperoxaluria (primary and secondary). In light of these designations, we initiated an open-label Phase 2 clinical trial (Study 206) in March 2018 in adolescents and adults with primary
hyperoxaluria or enteric hyperoxaluria who also have hyperoxalemia, both of which can lead to systemic oxalosis, with interim data expected in the second half of 2018 and topline data anticipated in 2019. In
addition, we plan to seek breakthrough designation where appropriate.

•

Obtain regulatory approval in Europe for our lead product candidate, ALLN-177—We plan to pursue regulatory approval for patients with severe hyperoxaluria in Europe in conjunction with our pursuit of
approval in the United States. We received Scientific Advice on the design of our proposed Phase 3 program from the regulatory agencies of three countries in the European Union. In these meetings, we discussed
the results of our Phase 2 clinical program in secondary hyperoxaluria, our proposed pivotal Phase 3 program in enteric hyperoxaluria, and potential regulatory pathways for approval in Europe. Following these
non-binding regulatory interactions, we believe that our Phase 3 program, if successful, could be eligible for a Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) via the conditional approval pathway, which is similar to
the FDA’s accelerated approval pathway. In addition, the European Commission has granted orphan designation for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria.

•

Advance development of ALLN-346—Utilizing our expertise in oral enzyme therapeutics and our proprietary technological approach, we have designed ALLN-346 to degrade urate in the GI tract. We intend to
pursue the development of ALLN-346 for patients with hyperuricemia and CKD. These patients are challenging to manage due to limitations of existing therapies, such as poor tolerability, reduced efficacy, dose
restriction or contraindications. We initiated a preclinical proof of concept study for ALLN-346 in a hyperuricemia animal model in the fourth quarter of 2017 and are scaling our manufacturing process to support
customary toxicology and additional preclinical studies. Subject to the successful completion of these activities, we expect to file an IND for ALLN-346 in the first half of 2019.

•

Explore collaboration opportunities for our product candidates in markets outside of the United States. We intend to explore collaborations to commercialize our product candidates, including ALLN-177, outside
of the United States. However, depending on our evaluation of these market opportunities and the strategic merits of these collaboration opportunities, we may decide to retain commercial rights in key markets.
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Competitive Strengths
We believe the following competitive strengths will help us achieve our strategy:
•

Therapeutic focus on rare and severe metabolic disorders that affect the kidney and have high unmet medical needs due to the absence of approved or effective therapies;

•

Lead product candidate, ALLN-177, with clear mechanism of action and consistent evidence of activity and tolerability across preclinical studies and multiple Phase 1 and 2 trials to support our planned pivotal
Phase 3 program;

•

Proprietary technological approach that allows us to design, formulate and deliver non-absorbed and stable enzymes orally and in sufficient doses for activity in the GI tract. This approach enables us to develop
enzyme therapies that utilize the GI tract to degrade metabolites, such as oxalate and urate, reducing plasma and urine levels, and in turn, reducing their disease burden on the kidney over time;

•

Management team with substantial experience in developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products for metabolic and kidney disorders;

•

Strong relationships with key opinion leaders and patient advocacy groups that provide access to the industry’s leading experts on hyperoxaluria and other metabolic and kidney disorders; and

•

Support from leading healthcare-focused investors and board members with experience in building and operating life science companies.

ALLN-177
Overview of Oxalate and Hyperoxaluria
Oxalate is endogenously produced as an end product of normal cellular metabolism and is also absorbed from a typical diet. Oxalate is present in many foods, especially healthy foods like plants, including green leafy
vegetables, fruits and nuts, because plants utilize oxalate to store calcium. Oxalate does not have a known productive role in normal human physiology. Humans lack the innate capacity to digest oxalate, and oxalate is largely excreted
unchanged by the kidney in the urine. In addition, bacteria in the GI tract, especially Oxalobacter formigenes, play a variable role in degrading oxalate in some patients. Progressively elevated levels of oxalate in the urine increase the
risk for kidney stones and other serious kidney diseases.
Hyperoxaluria is a serious metabolic disorder characterized by markedly elevated levels of urinary oxalate excretion, due to either overproduction of oxalate by the liver from a genetic defect, called primary hyperoxaluria,
or from over absorption of oxalate from the diet, called secondary hyperoxaluria. Secondary hyperoxaluria often leads to recurrent and frequent kidney stones, placing this patient population at higher risk for CKD, and end-stage renal
disease, or ESRD. Secondary hyperoxaluria is further characterized either as enteric, resulting from a chronic and unremediable underlying GI disorder associated with malabsorption, or idiopathic, meaning the underlying cause is
unknown. Enteric hyperoxaluria is the more severe type of secondary hyperoxaluria since the underlying GI disorder predisposes patients to chronic excess oxalate absorption. Given this hyperabsorption, patients with enteric
hyperoxaluria can have levels of urinary oxalate excretion comparable to patients with primary hyperoxaluria.
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The diagnosis and subsequent management of hyperoxaluria are typically based on measurements of oxalate levels in samples of urine voided and collected over a full 24 hour period, referred to as 24 hour urinary oxalate
excretion. Hyperoxaluria is generally defined as levels of urinary oxalate excretion greater than 40 mg/24 hour at ages beyond infancy. While there is no firmly established level of urinary oxalate excretion that results in kidney stone
formation, the scientific literature suggests that sustained urinary oxalate excretion above 30-40 mg/24 hour increases the risk of stone formation and that higher baseline urinary oxalate excretion is predictive of future stone events.
Independent academic studies have shown that an increase in urinary oxalate excretion of approximately 10 mg/24 hour can increase the risk of significant adverse kidney complications. We consider severe hyperoxaluria as having
levels of oxalate in the urine greater than 50 mg/24 hour. For example, the average urinary oxalate excretion level at baseline for the subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria in our most recently completed Phase 2 clinical trial was
103 mg/24 hour. Analysis of data from our clinical trials and multiple independent studies, including, but not limited to, peer-reviewed academic studies published in Nephron in 1980, The New England Journal of Medicine in 1994
and 2002, Kidney International in 2006 and 2008, the Urology Journal in 2011, the Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology in 2016 and, most recently, the Journal of the American Society of Nephrology Abstract
Supplement in 2017, suggest that a therapeutic strategy that reduces urinary oxalate excretion per 24 hours by approximately 20% could result in a 25-50% reduction in the incidence of kidney stone recurrence (in the short term) and
may increase renal survival (in the long term).

*

The complications noted in the figure represent a general progression of kidney harm and disease associated with increasing urinary oxalate excretion levels. Not all patients experience this progression and there is
considerable variability among individuals between urinary oxalate excretion levels and kidney function and disease.
Secondary Hyperoxaluria
Secondary hyperoxaluria, or increased urinary oxalate excretion resulting from excess absorption of oxalate from the GI tract, falls into two categories:
•

Enteric, the more severe form of secondary hyperoxaluria, which results from an underlying chronic and unremediable GI disorder; and

•

Idiopathic, which has no known cause. Some patients with idiopathic hyperoxaluria can have severe disease characterized by hyperabsorption of oxalate with manifestations similar to enteric patients.

Enteric hyperoxaluria is most commonly seen as a complication of malabsorptive bariatric surgical procedures, such as Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, and can also be related to inflammatory bowel disease, such as Crohn’s
disease, or other conditions associated with GI malabsorption, including cystic fibrosis, pancreatic insufficiency, celiac disease or short bowel syndrome following surgical resection of the bowel. Enteric hyperoxaluria is the more
severe type of secondary hyperoxaluria since the underlying GI disorder predisposes patients to chronic excess oxalate absorption. Given this hyperabsorption, patients with enteric hyperoxaluria can have markedly high levels of
urinary oxalate excretion that can result in recurrent kidney stones,
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progressive calcium oxalate (CaOx) deposits in the kidney, or nephrocalcinosis, systemic oxalosis, CKD and ESRD. We estimate there are approximately 200,000 to 250,000 patients in the United States with enteric hyperoxaluria and
kidney stones. We plan to target this market initially. We believe that a therapeutic agent that reduces urine oxalate levels in this population could be commercialized into a potential multi-billion dollar U.S. market without any
approved therapies at present.
Idiopathic hyperoxaluria has no known underlying cause and patients with the disorder exhibit varying levels of oxalate absorption from their diet. A number of physiological parameters influence the absorption of dietary
oxalate, including intestinal pH and transit time, type of diet, and the amount of other compounds and elements, such as calcium and magnesium, present in the GI tract. Consequently, a subgroup of patients with idiopathic
hyperoxaluria hyperabsorbs oxalate from their diets at levels similar to those patients with enteric hyperoxaluria.
Primary Hyperoxaluria
Primary hyperoxaluria, a type of severe hyperoxaluria, is a rare genetic disorder that can result in kidney stone disease, kidney damage, and kidney failure, which may lead to death. Primary hyperoxaluria has three main
types, PH1, PH2, and PH3, with each categorization representing the particular genetic enzyme deficiency that drives the overproduction of oxalate, mainly in the liver, and massive excretion of oxalate in the urine. The most severe
and common type of primary hyperoxaluria is PH1. These patients typically develop recurrent kidney stones with progressive nephrocalcinosis and end stage renal disease by 20-30 years of age. Among patients with primary
hyperoxaluria, about 50 percent will have kidney failure by age 15, and about 80 percent will have kidney failure by age 30. Primary hyperoxaluria is estimated to affect approximately 1 in 58,000, or approximately 5,000 patients in
the United States, and approximately 0.1 in 10,000 people, or approximately 5,000 patients in the Europe with no currently approved therapies.
Hyperoxaluria—Patient Journey and Progression of Disease
The first clinical manifestation of hyperoxaluria is often a kidney stone; however, the disorder can be variable in its presentation. Patients with severe hyperoxaluria may have recurrent kidney stones or experience
infrequent or no kidney stones, yet still develop CKD and ESRD, which can be fatal. The risk for kidney stones increases with progressively elevated levels of urinary oxalate excretion. Up to 80% of kidney stones contain oxalate;
therefore hyperoxaluria is a primary driver of kidney stones and reducing urinary oxalate is a scientifically targeted approach to prevent kidney stone episodes. Patients experiencing a kidney stone typically go to the emergency room
for treatment due to the intense physical pain, as the kidney stone may take hours to days to pass or require interventional surgical procedures to remove it if it is too large to pass on its own. Kidney stones affect approximately 1 in 11
people in the United States at some point in their lives and the likelihood of recurrence has been estimated to be as high as 50% within 5 years of the initial event. Based on a project completed in 2016 by Health Advances, a strategic
consulting firm for the healthcare industry that we engaged to conduct market research, approximately 5 million patients have been affected by recurrent calcium oxalate kidney stones in the United States.
Given the debilitating and recurrent nature of kidney stones, patients suffering from recurrent kidney stones bear significant social and financial burdens and are therefore highly motivated to prevent further relapse. Patients
with enteric hyperoxaluria tend to have more frequent and more complicated kidney stone episodes and other kidney disorders as a result of their underlying GI disorders and predisposition to chronic excess oxalate absorption. For
example, an additional project completed by Health Advances for us in 2017, which included analysis of peer-reviewed academic studies in two patient populations with GI malabsorption (Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and short bowel
syndrome), suggested that these patients had a significantly higher kidney stone risk and rate of kidney stone recurrence than the general population of patients with kidney stones. They also had a significantly higher rate of
intervention to remove kidney stones. In addition, in our largest Phase 2 clinical trial of ALLN-177 in secondary hyperoxaluria, 94% of the subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria had experienced at least one kidney stone; the enteric
patients also had an average of > 3 kidney stones (> 2 mm in size) visible by routine CT scan at baseline. Based upon a separate analysis of claims data obtained from Truvan Health Analytics, part of the IBM Watson Health business,
we estimate that enteric hyperoxaluria patients with new onset kidney stones, including those who have developed new onset CKD, on average incur approximately $66,000 annually in direct medical costs within a 4-year period after
a malabsorptive procedure or disease diagnosis.
Further, people with kidney stones have a two times greater risk of CKD and ESRD and a higher risk of stroke and heart attack than the general population. Managing CKD and ESRD is complex as many metabolic factors,
such as phosphorus, potassium and parathyroid hormone, are out of balance, often requiring treatment with multiple therapeutic agents. Patients who develop ESRD secondary to hyperoxaluria require frequent hemodialysis—
approximately 6 or 7 times per week—with or without supplemental peritoneal dialysis while awaiting kidney transplantation to prevent or limit systemic oxalosis. Systemic oxalosis, which typically occurs in patients with primary or
severe secondary hyperoxaluria and declining kidney function, refers to the presence of excess oxalate throughout the body, including the blood, bones, joints, eyes and heart. Elevated levels of oxalate in the blood is referred to as
hyperoxalemia.
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Patients with enteric hyperoxaluria are at risk for developing CKD, and those who receive a kidney transplant for ESRD due to oxalate-related kidney damage remain at risk for recurrent oxalate-related kidney
damage. Primary and enteric hyperoxaluria patients with high urinary oxalate concentrations can develop nephrocalcinosis, which can lead to kidney failure.
Hyperoxaluria Current Treatment and Unmet Need
There is no approved pharmacologic therapy for the reduction of urinary oxalate excretion in patients with hyperoxaluria, either primary or secondary. Existing treatment options for hyperoxaluria generally are non-specific
and include high fluid intake to increase urine output to more than two to three liters per day, a diet low in salt and oxalate, oral citrate and/or calcium and/or magnesium supplementation and, exclusively for the subset of responsive
patients with the most severe form of primary hyperoxaluria (PH1), orthophosphate and Vitamin B6 supplementation. Despite these strategies, many patients continue to experience hyperoxaluria with recurrent kidney stones and
continued risk for long-term kidney damage. Consequently, we believe patients afflicted with severe hyperoxaluria could greatly benefit from a therapy that reliably lowers oxalate levels in the body and therefore reduces the burden on
the kidney to filter and then excrete the metabolite in the urine.
There are no FDA-approved therapies for enteric hyperoxaluria and no approved pharmacologic therapies specifically directed at reducing oxalate absorption driven by an underlying GI disorder. Current management of
enteric hyperoxaluria relies on strategies to reduce dietary oxalate intake, increase calcium intake and drink large volumes of fluid. Increased oral fluid intake results in increased urine volume, with the goal of decreasing the saturation
of oxalate in the urine and therefore reducing the risk of kidney stone formation and/or more severe kidney diseases. However, because patients with enteric hyperoxaluria have an underlying GI condition predisposing them to
chronically hyperabsorb oxalate, this population often finds it particularly difficult to consistently ingest the quantities of fluid required to maintain adequate urine volume. In addition, recommendations for a low oxalate diet are
somewhat in conflict with general recommendations for a healthy diet of largely plant-based foods. Many plants are high in oxalate, making it difficult to adhere to a low oxalate diet, given the relatively large number of healthy foods
with moderate or high oxalate content. The limited medicinal options to treat calcium oxalate kidney stones, including thiazide diuretics and potassium citrate, have suboptimal efficacy, are not targeted to oxalate, and can be difficult
to tolerate in patients with GI diseases.
We believe that ALLN-177 can address unmet medical needs for patients with severe hyperoxaluria, who experience recurrent kidney stones, CKD, end-stage renal disease and other serious kidney diseases. ALLN-177, if
approved, would be the first therapeutic option that directly degrades oxalate in the GI tract using a mechanism of action specifically targeted to reducing excess absorption of oxalate.
Our Solution: ALLN-177
Our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, is a first-in-class, non-absorbed, orally-administered enzyme for the treatment of hyperoxaluria. ALLN-177, a crystalline formulation of the enzyme oxalate decarboxylase, has been
designed to specifically degrade oxalate into formate and carbon dioxide within the GI tract, thus limiting systemic absorption of oxalate into the bloodstream. The decrease in systemic absorption reduces the burden on the kidney to
filter and then excrete oxalate in the urine and, in turn, reduces the risk of kidney stones and other serious kidney diseases.
We are initially developing ALLN-177 for adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. As summarized in the table below, we have evaluated ALLN-177 in 113 subjects with secondary hyperoxaluria in three Phase 2 clinical
trials, of whom 33 subjects had enteric hyperoxaluria, and a Phase 1 clinical trial with 33 healthy volunteers with diet-induced hyperoxaluria. Based on these data, particularly the significant reductions in urinary oxalate excretion
observed in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria in our Phase 2 clinical program, we are in discussions with the FDA to finalize the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 program in this patient population. We initiated URIROX-1, the
first of two planned Phase 3 clinical trials in March 2018, with topline data anticipated in the second half of 2019. We continue to engage with the FDA to finalize the design of URIROX-2, the second, larger planned Phase 3 clinical
trial, and to discuss opportunities for pursuing an accelerated approval pathway for our planned BLA submission for ALLN-177 in adults with enteric hyperoxaluria. Pending the outcome of these interactions, we expect to initiate
URIROX-2 in the second half of 2018.
In addition, the FDA has granted separate orphan drug designations for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the treatment of pediatric hyperoxaluria (primary and secondary hyperoxaluria). The
European Commission has also granted orphan designation for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria. In light of these designations, we initiated Study 206 in March 2018 in adolescents and adults with primary
hyperoxaluria or severe forms of secondary hyperoxaluria, both of which can lead to systemic oxalosis, with interim data expected in the second half of 2018 and topline data anticipated in 2019.
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Clinical Development Program
Overview
Since 2012, we have conducted a robust clinical development program of ALLN-177 in healthy volunteers and patients with secondary hyperoxaluria. As a result, we have developed key insights into hyperoxaluria, clinical
trials in patients with hyperoxaluria and the activity and tolerability of ALLN-177 in this patient population. In our Phase 1 clinical trial in healthy volunteers, we demonstrated proof of concept that the GI tract could be used for
reducing the renal oxalate burden, as measured by 24 hour urinary oxalate excretion. Our Phase 2 clinical program was designed to identify the optimal patient population, registrational endpoint and trial design for our planned pivotal
Phase 3 program. In the aggregate, our clinical development program to date has demonstrated that:
•

ALLN-177 can substantially reduce urinary oxalate excretion in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria;

•

ALLN-177 has been well-tolerated, with no drug-related serious or severe adverse events; and

•

the effect of ALLN-177 was specific to oxalate, with minimal to no changes in non-oxalate urine parameters.

The table below summarizes our clinical trial experience with ALLN-177 to date.

Summary of Completed Phase 2 Clinical Trials
Study 713—Phase 2 Clinical Trial in Patients with Secondary Hyperoxaluria
We completed a multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of ALLN-177 in patients with secondary hyperoxaluria. The enrollment criteria consisted of
patients with either idiopathic or enteric hyperoxaluria with at least 50 mg/24 hour in urinary oxalate, or UOx, excretion at screening, most of whom had a history of kidney stones. We designed the trial to measure the ability of
ALLN-177 to reduce UOx levels in this patient population, with additional planned analysis in subgroups of secondary hyperoxaluria. The primary endpoint was reduction in UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4. We specified key
secondary endpoints including a measure of time-weighted average, or TWA, 24 hour UOx excretion over the four weeks of the trial and percent change in UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4. TWA 24 hour UOx excretion is the
average of all 24 hour UOx excretion values obtained while on study drug (ALLN-177 or placebo), with each value weighted for the number of days since the last urine collection. We believe this measurement better captures the
durability of metabolic control. We also performed various post-hoc analyses on the data.
In the trial, 71 subjects were randomized to receive either a 7,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 or placebo three times per day with meals, for 28 days. A total of 67 subjects received treatment (32 ALLN-177 and 35
placebo), and comprised the modified intent-to-treat and safety populations. Subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria accounted for 34% of the ALLN-177 group (11 subjects) and 20% of the placebo group (7 subjects). Subjects with
idiopathic hyperoxaluria accounted for 66% of the ALLN-177 group (21 subjects) and 80% of the placebo group (28 subjects). On average, subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria had markedly higher UOx excretion levels at baseline
(103 mg/24 hour) than the subjects with idiopathic hyperoxaluria (57 mg/24 hour), and despite consuming roughly half the amount of dietary oxalate as idiopathic subjects, their baseline UOx excretion levels were approximately
twice as high.
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Key efficacy results from this Phase 2 clinical trial included:
•

In the overall population, reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4 (the primary endpoint of the trial) was greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (LS mean1 = —8.75 mg/24 hour) compared
to subjects who received placebo (LS mean = —2.40 mg/24 hour); however, the difference between treatment groups (LS mean = —6.35 mg/24 hour) did not reach statistical significance (p2 = 0.160).

•

In the subgroup with enteric hyperoxaluria, reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4 was substantially greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (LS mean = —21.31 mg/24 hour) compared to
subjects who received placebo (LS mean = —4.86 mg/24 hour), and the treatment difference was LS mean = —16.45 mg/24 hour (p = 0.184). The magnitude of the treatment effect was substantially greater than
what was observed in the overall population.

•

In the overall population, reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to TWA across Weeks 1-4 (a key pre-specified secondary endpoint of the trial) was substantially greater in subjects treated with ALLN177 (LS mean = —9.08 mg/24 hour) compared to subjects who received placebo (LS mean = —0.96 mg/24 hour), and the difference between treatment groups was LS mean = —8.13 mg/24 hour (p = 0.016).

•

In the subgroup with enteric hyperoxaluria, reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to TWA across Weeks 1-4 was substantially greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (LS mean = —25.34
mg/24 hour) compared to subjects who received placebo (LS mean = +0.35 mg/24 hour), and the treatment difference was LS mean = —

1 LS mean, or least squares mean, is an average calculated based on a linear model that is adjusted for other terms, such as covariates, and is less sensitive to missing data.
2 A p-value is a conventional statistical method for measuring the statistical significance of clinical results. A p-value of 0.05 or less is generally considered to represent statistical significance, meaning that there is a less than 1-in-20
likelihood that the observed results occurred by chance.
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•

In the overall population, percent reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4 (a pre-specified secondary endpoint of the trial) was greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (LS mean = —10.37%)
compared to subjects who received placebo (LS mean = +5.45%), and the treatment difference was LS mean = —15.81% (p = 0.016).

•

In the subgroup with enteric hyperoxaluria, percent reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to Week 4 was substantially greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (LS mean = —20.21%) compared to
subjects who received placebo (LS mean = +16.03%), and the treatment difference was LS mean = —36.25% (p = 0.046). The magnitude of the treatment effect was substantially greater than what was observed in
the overall population.

•

In the overall population, the proportion of subjects with a > 20% reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to TWA across Weeks 1 to 4 (a post-hoc analysis) was greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177
(40.6%) compared to subjects who received placebo (8.6%), with an odds ratio3, or OR, of 9.59 (p = 0.006).

3 Odds ratio is a measure of association between an exposure and an outcome. The OR represents the odds that an outcome will occur given treatment with ALLN-177 compared to the odds of the outcome occurring in placebo subjects.
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•

In the subgroup with enteric hyperoxaluria, as illustrated by the figure below, the proportion of subjects with a > 20% reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion from baseline to TWA across Weeks 1 to 4 was
substantially greater in subjects treated with ALLN-177 (63.6%) compared to subjects who received placebo (14.3%), with an OR of 9.35 (p = 0.092).

Additional key findings:
•

The trial demonstrated ALLN-177 to be well tolerated and all 32 subjects treated with ALLN-177 completed the trial. Treatment emergent adverse events, or TEAEs, were reported at a lower incidence in subjects
receiving ALLN-177 (16 subjects or 50.0%) compared to subjects receiving placebo (22 subjects or 62.9%). The incidence of TEAEs that were considered related to the study drug was also lower in subjects treated
with ALLN-177 (9.4%) compared with subjects who received placebo (22.9%). Among subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria, TEAEs were also reported at a lower frequency in the ALLN-177 group (6 of 11 subjects,
or 54.5%) compared with the placebo group (5 of 7 subjects, or 71.4%). Similar to the overall population, GI-related TEAEs (the most common type of adverse event) were reported at a lower frequency in the
ALLN-177 group (3 of 11 subjects, or 27.3%) compared with the placebo group (3 of 7 subjects, or 42.9%). While two subjects in the placebo group experienced TEAEs (nausea and dermatitis) that led to
withdrawal from the trial, there were no TEAEs that led to withdrawal from the trial among the subjects treated with ALLN-177. There were no deaths, severe or serious adverse events, or SAEs, reported during the
trial. There were no clinically important changes in laboratory values, vital signs or physical examinations.

•

We observed intra-individual variability in UOx excretion that may have arisen from changes in diet, metabolic activity, hydration status or other factors. Consequently, we believe TWA UOx excretion per 24 hours
over the study period is a clinically meaningful endpoint because it reflects the physiological effect of metabolic control of UOx excretion over time and dampens the effect of intra-individual variability in 24 hour
UOx excretion. There have been several approved metabolic disease therapies that utilized a TWA measure as the endpoint for their pivotal clinical program.

•

The effects of ALLN-177 were observed to be highly specific to oxalate, as there were minimal to no changes in other non-oxalate urine parameters, such as calcium, citrate, sodium and urinary volume, between
baseline and Week 4 in subjects on ALLN-177.

•

We observed from diet recall data that subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria consumed on average more than three meals per day and more than two snacks per day. On average, they consumed 28% of their total daily
oxalate intake from snacks, with snacks accounting for 40-50% of daily oxalate intake in some subjects. In the trial, subjects received either a 7,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 (22,500 units/day) or placebo three
times per day with meals. As a result of their eating patterns, subjects in the subgroup with enteric hyperoxaluria therefore consumed a significant portion of their daily oxalate intake without treatment. Patients with
enteric hyperoxaluria often have individualized dietary patterns, particularly patients following bariatric surgery, who are typically advised to eat frequent, smaller meals. These data informed our decision to tailor
the dosing regimen in our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program
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for patients with enteric hyperoxaluria in order to maximize the therapeutic effect of ALLN-177. We will dose subjects in URIROX-1 with 7,500 units of ALLN-177 with each meal and/or snack, up to five times
per day (up to 37,500 units/day). This dosing regimen is consistent with the eating patterns of patients with enteric hyperoxaluria and is designed to provide ALLN-177 at most meals and snacks in order to
maximize the degradation of oxalate ingested.
This trial was the largest randomized controlled trial ever conducted in hyperoxaluria and key elements served as the blueprint for our planned pivotal Phase 3 program. Although the trial did not achieve the primary
efficacy endpoint, we observed substantial reductions in UOx excretion in several key pre-specified secondary endpoints, particularly in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. Moreover, due to observed variability in UOx excretion, we
believe that an analytical approach based upon TWA most appropriately indicates the therapeutic effect of ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. As a result, we chose as the primary endpoint of URIROX-1 the percent
change from baseline in 24 hour UOx excretion averaged during Weeks 1-4 of the four-week treatment period. In addition, we observed ALLN-177 to be well tolerated and highly specific to oxalate.
Study 396—Phase 2 Clinical Trial in Patients with Secondary Hyperoxaluria
We conducted a proof of concept clinical trial in patients with secondary hyperoxaluria. This trial was a multi-center, open-label, single arm trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of ALLN-177 treatment in 16 patients
with secondary hyperoxaluria and kidney stones, many of whom were receiving treatment in kidney stone clinics to manage kidney stone disease (e.g. low oxalate diet and high oral fluid intake, thiazide diuretics and potassium
citrate). In the trial, all subjects were treated with a 7,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 three times per day with meals for four days.
Key results from this Phase 2 clinical trial included:
•

Subjects had an average reduction in UOx excretion of —13.92 mg/24 hour (p = 0.0084). The five subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria experienced a substantially greater average reduction in UOx excretion of —
22.01 mg/24 hour as illustrated by the chart below.

•

Overall, 11 of 16 subjects, or 69%, had some reduction in UOx excretion levels, in whom the mean reduction was 23%.

•

The reduction in 24 hour UOx excretion was correlated with baseline UOx, demonstrating that subjects with higher UOx excretion levels at baseline showed greater reduction in UOx levels after taking ALLN-177,
as shown in the figure below.
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•

The trial demonstrated ALLN-177 to be well tolerated. No deaths, SAEs, or other significant adverse events occurred in this trial. No subject was withdrawn from the study due to an adverse event. There were no
clinically significant hematology or serum biochemistry abnormal values reported during the trial.

Study 649—Phase 2 Clinical Trial in Patients with Secondary Hyperoxaluria
We conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial with an adaptive design to evaluate the efficacy and safety of three different doses of ALLN-177 compared with placebo, administered for
seven days, in subjects with kidney stones and secondary hyperoxaluria. Subjects were randomized to treatment sequences in a crossover fashion. A crossover trial is a longitudinal study in which subjects receive a sequence of
different treatment arms during the course of the trial. Each treatment sequence consisted of two seven-day treatment periods separated by a seven-day washout period. Throughout the trial, each subject participated in two of the four
treatment arms, which included a 1,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177, a 3,000 unit oral dose of ALLN-177, a 7,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 or placebo, with meals three times a day. A total of 32 subjects were randomized; two
subjects were not treated, resulting in a total of 30 subjects included in the analyses.
Randomization in the ALLN-177 low and mid-dose groups was halted after the first Adaptive Design Review Committee review of data on the first 12 subjects, resulting in only a small number of subjects in those two
groups. The trial stopped enrolling in July 2016 following the second planned interim analysis once 24 subjects’ data were available, due to the inability to differentiate among the treatment arms.
A post-hoc evaluation of the data was conducted to attempt to determine factors which may have influenced the inability of ALLN-177 to demonstrate a statistically significant difference from placebo. While no clear factor
was identified to account for the lack of differentiation between ALLN-177 and placebo, we believe the lack of effect may have been due to variability in dietary oxalate ingestion, measurement of UOx excretion and the complexities
inherent in the short-cycle, crossover study design.
All three doses of ALLN-177 were well tolerated in this study. No deaths, SAEs, or other significant AEs occurred. One subject who received the 1,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 per meal three times per day experienced
an SAE after the seven-day washout period during the first dosing day of ALLN-177 at the 7,500 unit oral dose that led to withdrawal from the trial. The event was considered not related to study drug by the investigator. No other
subjects withdrew due to a TEAE during the trial.
Summary of Planned Pivotal Phase 3 Program and Regulatory Pathway
We are in discussions with the FDA to finalize the design of our Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177 in adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We currently expect that this pivotal program will consist of two global,
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials evaluating efficacy and safety of ALLN-177 in adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria and UOx ≥ 50 mg/24 hours. We expect that both trials will be conducted in the
United States, Canada, Europe and potentially other geographies.
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In March 2018, we initiated URIROX-1 (formerly Study 301), the first of these two anticipated Phase 3 clinical trials. A total of 124 subjects are planned for randomization equally into two arms for a four-week treatment
period. Subjects will self-administer either 7,500 units of ALLN-177 or placebo with each meal or snack, up to five times per day, consistent with the eating patterns of patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. The primary endpoint of the
study is percent change from baseline in 24-hour urinary oxalate (UOx) excretion averaged during Weeks 1-4, comparing ALLN-177 to placebo. Secondary endpoints include proportion of subjects with a ≥20% reduction from
baseline in 24-hour UOx excretion averaged during Weeks 1-4. URIROX-1 is the largest randomized, controlled trial of a novel therapeutic ever initiated in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We expect to announce topline data
from the URIROX-1 trial in the second half of 2019.
We continue to engage with the FDA to finalize the design of URIROX-2TM (URIROX-2) (formerly Study 302), the second, larger planned Phase 3 clinical trial, for patients with enteric hyperoxaluria and to discuss
opportunities for pursuing an accelerated approval of our BLA using reduction in urinary oxalate as a reasonably likely surrogate endpoint.. Under the FDA’s accelerated approval development pathway, the agency may grant
accelerated approval to a drug that treats a serious or life-threatening condition and that provides meaningful therapeutic advantage to patients over existing treatments, based upon a determination that the product has an effect on a
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, with post-approval follow-up data used to substantiate the clinical benefit. For the purposes of accelerated approval, a surrogate endpoint is a marker, such as a
laboratory measurement, that is thought to predict clinical benefit, but is not itself a measure of clinical benefit. The accelerated approval pathway is most often used in settings in which the course of a disease is long and an extended
period of time is required to measure the intended clinical benefit of a product, even if the effect on the surrogate clinical endpoint occurs rapidly.
The FDA has advised us that it may be willing to accept a substantial change in UOx excretion as a surrogate endpoint under the accelerated approval pathway, provided we can provide the agency with clinical data that
sufficiently substantiates the likelihood of clinical benefit. We have provided the FDA with the details of analyses we have conducted using available data collected from a third-party clinical database, in order to demonstrate an
increased probability of kidney stone events in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria and increasing UOx levels. The FDA has advised us that it remains concerned about the strength of this relationship, based in part on the limited
clinical data currently available. However, the FDA has preliminarily agreed with our proposal to help validate the analyses presented to date with data collected from the planned URIROX-2 trial. This approach is consistent with the
FDA’s published guidance on the accelerated approval pathway, which provides that clinical data from a single clinical trial can be used to both support accelerated approval and verify the clinical benefit. This guidance stipulates that
the protocol and statistical analysis plan should clearly account for an analysis of the surrogate endpoint data to provide support for accelerated approval, with continuation of the randomized trial(s) to obtain data on the clinical
endpoint that will be the basis for verifying the clinical benefit. The data generated from the URIROX-1 and URIROX-2 trials could thus potentially form the basis of an accelerated approval BLA for ALLN-177 using reduction in
UOx as a surrogate endpoint, with the final results from the URIROX-2 trial used to confirm clinical benefit post-approval. In addition, we continue to work with scientific experts to identify additional third-party datasets to further
substantiate the relationship between urinary oxalate levels and the risk of kidney stones and kidney dysfunction.
Subject to our ongoing dialogue with FDA, we currently expect URIROX-2 will enroll approximately 400 subjects and will randomize subjects for a minimum of 24 weeks of treatment with either ALLN-177 or placebo.
We currently believe that a safety database of approximately 650 subjects in our ALLN-177 development program, including approximately 400 subjects exposed to ALLN-177, including approximately 100 of whom will be exposed
for 1 year, inclusive of subjects enrolled in our prior clinical trials and approximately 525 subjects expected to be enrolled in our Phase 3 program, will be sufficient to support our planned biologic license application, or BLA,
assuming favorable results in our pivotal Phase 3 clinical program. Subject to further discussion with the FDA, we currently expect to initiate URIROX-2 in the second half of 2018, with data available in the second half of 2020.
We remain in active dialogue with the FDA, and the design of the URIROX-2 trial, including the endpoints and statistical analysis plan for this study, and whether ALLN-177 may be eligible for the accelerated approval
pathway, remains subject to further discussion with the FDA. For a discussion about the risks related to our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, please see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Drug Development, Regulatory
Approval and Commercialization,” including, but not limited to, the specific risk factors titled “We have not yet finalized the design of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177…before we can submit a BLA for this
product candidate.” and “We may attempt to secure approval from the FDA…withdraw accelerated approval.”
In addition, we have conducted Scientific Advice meetings with regulatory authorities in three countries within the European Union, and discussed the results of our Phase 2 clinical program, our proposed pivotal Phase 3
program as described above and potential pathways for regulatory approval of ALLN-177 in Europe. Subject to future anticipated interactions with the European Medical Agency (EMA), we believe that our proposed Phase 3
program, if successful, could support the filing of a future MAA application in the European Union via the conditional approval pathway, which is similar to the FDA’s accelerated approval pathway.
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Finally, the Kidney Health Initiative, or the KHI, a public-private partnership established in 2012 by the American Society of Nephrology in collaboration with stakeholders in the renal community, including the FDA,
recently launched a project on oxalate disorders with the Oxalosis and Hyperoxaluria Foundation. The project, called “Identification of Appropriate Endpoints for Clinical Trials in Hyperoxaluria”, is led by John C. Lieske, M.D.,
FASN, of the Mayo Clinic. The Oxalosis and Hyperoxaluria Foundation is an organization dedicated to the awareness, understanding and treatment of hyperoxaluria and oxalosis for healthcare professionals, patients and their families.
An anticipated output of the KHI project is a document that summarizes consensus recommendations regarding appropriate biochemical endpoints for clinical trials in hyperoxaluria.
Summary of Completed Phase 1 Clinical Trial—Study 183
We completed a single-center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled crossover Phase 1 clinical trial to evaluate the safety and provide initial proof of concept of activity of ALLN-177 in healthy volunteers. We fed
33 healthy adult subjects an oxalate-rich diet in order to induce transient dietary hyperoxaluria. Each subject then received either a 7,500 unit oral dose of ALLN-177 or placebo three times per day with meals for seven days while
continuing on the oxalate-rich diet. The high-oxalate diet increased baseline UOx excretion per 24 hours from a mean of 27.2 mg/24 hour to a mean 80.8 mg/24 hour. ALLN-177 demonstrated significantly reduced UOx excretion with
a mean reduction of —11.54 mg/24 hour compared to placebo (p = 0.0002). The mean reduction in the 18 of 30 subjects, or 60%, defined as responders (i.e. those who had > 5 mg/24 hour reduction in UOx excretion) was —20 mg/24
hour. No deaths, SAEs, or other significant AEs occurred during this trial, and no differences in the pattern of TEAEs were observed while on ALLN-177 or placebo.
Summary of Preclinical Studies
We have completed a series of preclinical studies to assess the pharmacology and toxicology of ALLN-177. Based on the results from these studies, which demonstrated, among other things, that ALLN-177 remains in the
GI tract and is not detected for systemic absorptions, we believe the preclinical program for ALLN-177 is substantially complete.
Pharmacology Studies
We have conducted an extensive pharmacology program consisting of a total of nine rodent and pig studies of ALLN-177. Our pharmacology studies provided confirmation of our hypothesis that orally administered oxalate
decarboxylase, the active enzyme in ALLN-177, can reduce or normalize UOx levels by degrading both endogenously produced and dietary oxalate in rodent and pig models of hyperoxaluria and kidney damage. The pharmacology
program for ALLN-177 includes five studies in rodent models of primary and enteric hyperoxaluria (e.g. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, or RYGB bariatric surgery) and four in pig dietary models of severe and enteric hyperoxaluria,
designed to mimic these disorders in humans. Results of these preclinical studies demonstrated that ALLN-177 was well tolerated and reduced or normalized UOx excretion in a dose-dependent manner in all forms of hyperoxaluria.
The initial pharmacology studies were completed in rodent models of primary hyperoxaluria (e.g. genetic model) and enteric hyperoxaluria (e.g. genetic and surgical models). In the primary hyperoxaluria mouse model,
oxalate decarboxylase, the active enzyme in ALLN-177, was shown to be capable of acting on endogenously produced oxalate and to reduce urinary oxalate levels in a dose-dependent manner, preventing nephrocalcinosis,
maintaining creatinine clearance (an important measure of kidney function) and increasing survival. In the RYGB rat model, oxalate decarboxylase reduced urine oxalate in a dose dependent manner and normalized UOx excretion.
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Based on the results from testing oxalate decarboxylase in the rodent models, we and our scientific collaborators developed a pig model of hyperoxaluria to further assess the therapeutic and tolerability effects of different
doses and formulations of ALLN-177, all in an effort to inform and de-risk our clinical development program in patients with hyperoxaluria. These studies were conducted in pig models of hyperoxaluria since, at the functional level,
humans and pigs share many similarities with regard to kidneys, the urinary tract and the GI tract. The pig studies demonstrated that ALLN-177, administered orally with meals, reduced UOx excretion by degrading oxalate in the GI
tract. Treatment was well tolerated, and resulted in mean reduction in UOx of between 12-30% relative to the control group. We observed the reduction in UOx excretion to be correlated with the severity of hyperoxaluria and
treatment dose. More specifically, in a pig model where severe hyperoxaluria and hyperoxalemia were induced with an infusion of potassium oxalate salt, ALLN-177 reduced hyperoxalemia and prevented further impairment of
kidney function. Finally, in a pig model where chronic dietary hyperoxaluria was induced by a human-like high oxalate diet, resulting in an above-normal increase in plasma oxalate levels, we observed that therapy with ALLN-177
normalized both plasma and urinary oxalate levels as illustrated in the figure below.

Taken together, these studies support the potential efficacy and mechanistic rationale of ALLN-177 as a novel and thus far well-tolerated treatment for reducing hyperoxaluria, hyperoxalemia, and progressive
nephrocalcinosis and CKD in patients with either primary or secondary hyperoxaluria. They provide in vivo mechanistic confirmation that supports our proposed pivotal Phase 3 clinical program in adults with enteric hyperoxaluria
and our Phase 2 clinical trial in adolescents and adults with primary hyperoxaluria or enteric hyperoxaluria who also have hyperoxalemia, both of which can lead to systemic oxalosis. In addition, these preclinical studies were
submitted as scientific evidence to demonstrate the proof of concept for ALLN-177 as a treatment for primary hyperoxaluria, which led to the orphan drug designations for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria by the
FDA and the European Commission.
Toxicology Studies
To support our clinical development program of ALLN-177, we conducted a total of six toxicity studies in rats and dogs. These studies demonstrated that ALLN-177 was well tolerated in animals. We conducted our first
two studies which demonstrated that oral administration of ALLN-177 for 14 days was well tolerated in animals at doses up to 200 mg/kg/day (which corresponds to 2,000 units/kg/day). We also performed an additional 2-week
repeated dose toxicology study of ALLN-177 in rats at doses up to 4,860 units/kg/day, approximately 13 times the dose used in our Phase 1 clinical trial of ALLN-177, for a 60 kg subject.
To support clinical trials of longer duration, we conducted two 28-day repeat-dose toxicology studies in rats and dogs. These studies demonstrated that twice-daily oral administration of ALLN-177 was well tolerated for
28 consecutive days at 520 mg/kg/day. The NOAEL, or no-observed-adverse-effect-level, or highest concentration of drug which caused no detectable adverse effect, was 7,000 units/kg/day in both species. This concentration was
approximately 18 times the highest dose used in Study 713, our 28-day Phase 2 clinical trial, for a 60 kg subject.
We have also completed a six month chronic toxicology study of ALLN-177 in rats. It demonstrated that twice-daily oral administration of ALLN-177 was well tolerated for 26 consecutive weeks at 520 mg/kg/day (6,618
units/kg/day) with the NOAEL approximately 11 times greater for a 60 kg subject than we expect to use in our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program. In each study, the NOAEL was the highest dose evaluated in that particular
study.
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Based on the results from these studies, which demonstrated, among other things, that ALLN-177 is not systemically absorbed, and feedback from the FDA, we believe the preclinical program for ALLN-177 is substantially
complete, and no carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, or reproductive toxicity studies are planned.
In connection with our preparations for our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, we are considering the best mechanism to study the potential for drug-drug interactions in patients treated with ALLN-177 and also the
potential effects of formate generation resulting from ALLN-177’s degradation of oxalate. Based on feedback from the FDA, we plan to conduct an in vitro assessment to evaluate the potential for systemic drug interactions. Based on
extensive scientific evidence, we believe that the level of formate generation derived from ALLN-177 and oxalate is below limits generally regarded as safe. We plan to test this in humans in Study 206, as these patients have an
established heavy systemic burden on oxalate and would be expected to generate formate based on ALLN-177’s mechanism of action. The nature of additional studies, if any, will be determined by the results of these initial
investigations.
Summary of Planned Phase 2 Clinical Program for ALLN-177 in Primary and Severe Hyperoxaluria
Our preclinical pharmacology studies in models of primary hyperoxaluria have demonstrated that ALLN-177 significantly reduced oxalate levels in the urine and plasma. The FDA has granted separate orphan
drug designations for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the treatment of pediatric hyperoxaluria (primary and secondary hyperoxaluria). The European Commission has also granted orphan designation for
ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria. In light of these designations, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical trial (Study 206) in March 2018 in adolescents and adults with primary or enteric hyperoxaluria who also have
hyperoxalemia, both of which can lead to systemic oxalosis, with interim data expected in the second half of 2018 and topline data anticipated in 2019.
Systemic oxalosis refers to the presence of excess oxalate throughout the body, including the bones, joints, eyes and heart, which occurs when the kidney fails to excrete oxalate from the body, leading to elevated oxalate
levels in the blood and deposition in the tissues. Our Phase 2 clinical trial will utilize an open-label basket trial design with a 12-week treatment period and will enroll subsets of patients suffering from complications of severe
hyperoxaluria, including adults and adolescents with primary hyperoxaluria or enteric hyperoxaluria who also have hyperoxalemia. More specifically, we plan to enroll subjects >12 years of age with primary or enteric hyperoxaluria,
approximately 50% each, screened for baseline UOx excretion greater than 40 mg/24 hr and plasma oxalate levels greater than 5 µmol/L. Since these patients typically have varying degrees of renal impairment, such as CKD, dialysis
subjects will be allowed, but limited to approximately 25% of total enrollment as extensive tissue oxalate deposition may obscure a potential signal of lowering plasma oxalate levels. The endpoints for this study include change from
baseline in plasma oxalate and 24-hour UOx excretion. A peer-reviewed study published in the New England Journal of Medicine in 1994 demonstrated that treatment with orthophosphate and Vitamin B6 in a subset of patients with
primary hyperoxaluria reduced UOx excretion by approximately 10% annually over 10 years, which showed preservation of renal function in these patients. In light of this data, we believe that the ability of ALLN-177 to degrade
oxalate in the GI tract to prevent systemic oxalate absorption and therefore decrease the renal oxalate burden is well suited for testing in this patient populations. If ALLN-177 can reduce urine and plasma oxalate levels in these
patients, it may be able to diminish the amount of systemic oxalate available for calcium oxalate crystal formation and deposition in the kidney and other organs or tissues.
Other Potential Indications for ALLN-177—Idiopathic Hyperoxaluria
We believe the mechanism of action of ALLN-177, which is designed to degrade oxalate in the GI tract, is particularly well-targeted to treat enteric hyperoxaluria where excess oxalate absorption is driven by an underlying
GI disorder. While hyperabsorption of oxalate is typically a characteristic of enteric hyperoxaluria, we believe there is a subgroup of patients with idiopathic hyperoxaluria that hyperabsorbs oxalate from their diets at levels similar to
those patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We confirmed these pathophysiological traits in both enteric and idiopathic patients in a prospective controlled clinical trial designed to identify patients who hyperabsorb oxalate (Study 204)
in 22 patients with secondary hyperoxaluria, with no study drug administration. Although subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria had greater average oxalate absorption than the subjects with idiopathic hyperoxaluria, approximately 40%
of the subjects with idiopathic hyperoxaluria approached absorption levels observed in subjects with enteric disorders. Consequently, although we are initially targeting ALLN-177 for patients with enteric hyperoxaluria, we believe the
product candidate holds promise in treating the subset of patients with idiopathic hyperoxaluria who hyperabsorb oxalate.
ALLN-346
Overview of Hyperuricemia & Gout
Hyperuricemia, or elevated levels of uric acid in the blood, results from overproduction or insufficient excretion of urate, or often a combination of the two. Humans lack urate oxidase, an enzyme that degrades uric acid in a
wide range of other organisms, including animals, plants, bacteria and fungi. Hyperuricemia can be a predisposing condition for gout and kidney stones, and is also intricately linked with various metabolic disorders, including
hypertension, CKD, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance and obesity. Hyperuricemia may also be an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease.
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Gout is a kind of arthritis caused by excess uric acid in the blood. When uric acid levels in the blood are too high, hard crystals may form in the joints, causing attacks of sudden burning pain, stiffness, and swelling. These
attacks can happen over and over unless gout is treated. Over time, they can harm joints, tendons, and other tissues.
Current Therapeutic Options and Their Limitations
The gout market is incompletely served by existing therapies. Several of the current drugs approved for gout raise concerns over lack of efficacy or increased toxicity in patients with reduced kidney function. There are
approximately 850,000 hyperuricemia patients with moderate to severe CKD on urate lowering therapy of which approximately 375,000 have uncontrolled gout. Hyperuricemic and gout patients with renal impairment are more
challenging to manage due to limitations of existing therapies. These limitations include poor tolerability, reduced efficacy, dose restriction and contraindications. Co-morbidities (e.g. cardiovascular disease) are common in this patient
population and may also limit urate lowering therapeutic options. Accordingly, there is a significant unmet need for a safe and effective therapy that can be used in patients with renal impairment.
Our Solution
Our second product candidate, ALLN-346, is designed to be a first-in-class, orally-administered non-absorbed urate-degrading enzyme. ALLN-346 is a recombinant, mutant formulation of urate oxidase designed to be
active in humans and have greater stability and/or activity than naturally occurring enzymes. We have developed ALLN-346 to degrade urate in the GI tract and in turn, reduce the urate burden on the impaired kidney and lower the
risk of urate related complications, including gouty flares and arthritis and urate-based stones in the kidney, bladder and/or urinary tract. We are initially targeting ALLN-346 for patients with hyperuricemia and moderate to severe
CKD, where currently available therapeutics are insufficient. Data from prior animal studies of an unmodified urate oxidase enzyme demonstrated normalization of plasma uric acid similar to allopurinol, a drug commonly prescribed
for gout patients. We initiated a preclinical proof of concept study for ALLN-346 in a hyperuricemia animal model in the fourth quarter of 2017 and are scaling our manufacturing process to support customary toxicology and
additional preclinical studies. Subject to the successful completion of these activities, we expect to file an IND for ALLN-346 in the first half of 2019.
Our Proprietary Technological Approach
Expertise in Enzyme Technology
We believe our proprietary know-how in enzyme technology allows us to design, formulate and deliver non-absorbed and stable enzymes orally and in sufficient doses for activity in the GI tract. This approach enables us to
develop enzyme therapies that degrade metabolites, such as oxalate and urate, within the GI tract, thereby preventing their absorption, which reduces potentially toxic metabolite levels in the blood and urine, and in turn, diminishes the
disease burden on the kidney over time.
One of the technologies that we use in our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, is protein crystallization, which stabilizes a highly active form of the oxalate degrading enzyme, oxalate decarboxylase, ensuring effective
transit through the GI tract, as well as stabilization at room temperature for convenient storage. Crystallized enzymes are more stable, pure and concentrated than enzymes in solution. For example, one enzyme crystal may contain
several billion molecules of the underlying enzyme. These characteristics improve storage and delivery, permitting delivery of the enzyme molecules with fewer capsules. Once an enzyme is in the crystallized state, we can formulate it
for oral delivery. Within the GI tract, the crystalized enzyme is stable and protected from proteolytic degradation, yet sufficiently porous for metabolites to pass through and be degraded by the enzyme. The general therapeutic
approach of deploying a non-absorbed drug into the GI tract to reduce metabolic disease burden in patients with kidney disease has been proven successful in several therapeutic categories. For example, Renagel and Renvela,
marketed by Sanofi, remove excess levels of phosphate in the body in patients with CKD by delivering drug to the GI tract, where it binds to phosphate and removes it from the body through the bowel.
Our knowledge base from ALLN-177 provides us with a useful template for our other research and preclinical programs that rely on the same fundamental science and therapeutic strategy. We anticipate that our second
product candidate, ALLN-346, a first-in-class uricase enzyme, will utilize several proprietary technologies to ensure its stabilization in the GI tract as well as other attractive manufacturing, clinical and commercial attributes similar to
ALLN-177.
Manufacturing
ALLN-177 is an oral, solid dosage form of crystalline recombinant oxalate decarboxylase enzyme that is produced using a combination of traditional and novel manufacturing processes. The methods of production for
ALLN-177 have been carefully selected for cost-effectiveness and ease of scaling. We believe our manufacturing technology enables us to produce large quantities of our oral enzyme product candidates, sufficiently to support our
clinical and commercial strategy, with costs anticipated to be comparable to small molecule therapeutics. Working in collaboration with top-tier development and manufacturing companies, we have completed several successive scaleups to the manufacturing process in support of increasing clinical trial demand and in planning for commercialization.
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Manufacturing biologic drugs is generally a complex and cost intensive process because they are manufactured in living systems or cells and tend to be large complex molecules. Since the living systems used to produce
biologics can be sensitive to minor changes in manufacturing techniques, small process differences can significantly affect the nature of the finished biologic and, most importantly, the way it functions in the body.
Production of ALLN-177 occurs utilizing scientifically developed know-how, delivering high productivity from host bacterial cells. The entire biomass is harvested and processed through primary recovery and downstream
purification unit operations, resulting in the recovery of large quantities of oxalate decarboxylase. The purified and concentrated product is crystallized, dried into a protein powder and formulated for production as an oral capsule. The
oral capsule presentation has attractive properties of pharmaceutical activity and stability suitable for further development and ultimate commercial use. Over the course of our development of ALLN-177, we have been able to
increase enzyme yield and activity through improvements to our manufacturing processes, thereby reducing the pill burden of our therapeutic candidate. As a result, we expect that the dosing regimen for our planned pivotal Phase 3
program will be two capsules per dosing compared to five capsules per dosing in our Phase 2 clinical program.
Drug product production starts with dried oxalate decarboxylase crystals, then uses tailored pharmaceutical techniques to blend, densify and encapsulate the product candidate, which is an oral, solid-dose formulation of the
crystallized enzyme. We have secured development and supply agreements with premiere global drug product contract manufacturing organizations suited to meet the needs of commercialization for ALLN-177. Finally, we forecast
cost of goods sold for ALLN-177 to be comparable to traditional oral small molecules over the course of its commercialization life cycle.
Commercialization Strategy
We hold worldwide commercialization and development rights to all of our first-in-class, oral, non-absorbed enzyme therapeutic product candidates. The FDA has granted separate orphan drug designations for our lead
product candidate, ALLN-177, for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the treatment pediatric hyperoxaluria (primary and secondary hyperoxaluria). In addition, the European Commission has granted orphan designation
for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria.
ALLN-177, if approved, has the potential to be the first therapeutic option for patients with severe hyperoxaluria. We intend to independently pursue regulatory approval of ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria
in the United States and, if approved, to commercialize the product by building a focused commercial organization in the United States specifically to target nephrologists and urologists who treat patients with hyperoxaluria,
particularly at kidney stone clinics. In addition, we plan to build a marketing organization that will conceive and implement marketing strategies for any product that we directly commercialize. The responsibilities of the marketing
organization would include developing commercialization initiatives for each approved product and establishing and maintaining relationships with researchers, practitioners and key opinion leaders for rare and severe metabolic and
kidney disorders.
Outside of the United States, we intend to explore collaborations to commercialize our product candidates, including ALLN-177. Depending on our evaluation of these market opportunities and the strategic merits of these
collaboration opportunities, we may decide to retain commercial rights in key markets.
Competition
Our industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change as researchers learn more about diseases and develop new technologies and treatments. Our potential competitors include
primarily large pharmaceutical, biotechnology companies and specialty pharmaceutical companies. Key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 and any other product candidates we may
develop are likely to be efficacy, safety and tolerability profile, reliability, convenience of administration, price and reimbursement.
There is no approved pharmacologic therapy for the reduction of urinary oxalate excretion in patients with hyperoxaluria, either primary or secondary. Existing treatment options for hyperoxaluria generally are non-specific
and include high fluid intake to increase urine output to more than two to three liters per day, a diet low in salt and oxalate, oral citrate and/or calcium and/or magnesium supplementation and orthophosphate and Vitamin B6,
exclusively for the specific subset of responsive patients with the most severe form of primary hyperoxaluria (PH1).
We are aware of other companies pursuing oxalate reduction in both primary and secondary hyperoxaluria. For example, Alnylam is conducting an ongoing Phase 1/Phase 2 study and has recently announced that it received
Breakthrough Therapy Designation by the FDA for the treatment of patients with primary hyperoxaluria Type 1. Dicerna is in early-stage clinical development. Oxthera AB (Sweden) and Captozyme (U.S.) are developing orally
delivered products to degrade oxalate in the stomach and GI tract. Oxthera is advancing Oxabact, Oxalobacter formigenes, into Phase 3 clinical trials for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria.
23

Intellectual Property
We strive to protect the proprietary technologies that we believe are important to our business, including seeking and maintaining patents intended to cover the composition of matter of our product candidates, their methods
of use and processes for their manufacture, and any other aspects of inventions that are commercially important to the development of our business. We also rely on trade secrets to protect aspects of our business that are not amenable
to, or that we do not consider appropriate for, patent protection.
We plan to continue to expand our intellectual property estate by filing patent applications directed to compositions, methods of treatment, dosage forms, and dosage regimens that we identify during the course of our
business. Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other proprietary protection for commercially important technology, inventions and know-how related to our business, defend and enforce our patents,
preserve the confidentiality of our trade secrets and operate without infringing the valid and enforceable patents and proprietary rights of third parties. We also rely on know-how, continuing technological innovation and in-licensing
opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietary position.
The patent positions of biopharmaceutical companies like us are generally uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions. In addition, the coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly
reduced before the patent is issued, and patent scope can be reinterpreted by the courts after issuance. Moreover, many jurisdictions permit third parties to challenge issued patents in administrative proceedings, which may result in
further narrowing or even cancellation of patent claims. We cannot predict whether the patent applications we are currently pursuing will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any or our issued patents
will provide sufficient protection from competitors. Any of our patents may be challenged, circumvented, or invalidated by third parties.
Because patent applications in the United States and certain other jurisdictions are maintained in secrecy for 18 months or potentially even longer, and since publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature
often lags behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain of the priority of inventions covered by pending patent applications. Moreover, we may have to participate in interference proceedings or derivation proceedings declared by
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, to determine priority of invention.
Patents
As of March 1, 2018, we own or have rights in 5 issued U.S. patents,17 issued foreign patents, 5 pending U.S. patent applications, and 6 pending foreign patent applications.
With regard to ALLN-177, we have exclusively licensed from Althea Technologies, Inc. (now known as Ajinomoto Althea, Inc.), or Althea, one issued U.S. patent with method of use claims directed to the reduction of
oxalate in a mammal by orally administering a composition containing uncrosslinked oxalate decarboxylase crystals, which is scheduled to expire in 2027, without taking a potential patent term extension into account. This U.S. patent
belongs to a family of patents that includes a granted Canadian patent and a granted European patent, which has been validated in a number of countries including Denmark, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Portugal,
Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, and the UK; and a patent application pending in China. This patent family also includes a U.S. patent with method of use claims directed to a method of reducing oxalate with oxalate decarboxylase
crystals in an extracorporeal device, which is scheduled to expire in 2027, without taking a potential patent term extension into account.
In addition, we own two U.S. patents One with composition of matter claims directed to a pharmaceutical composition comprising biologically active uncrosslinked oxalate decarboxylase crystals, which is scheduled to
expire in 2027, without taking a patent term extension into account; and another with composition of matter claims directed to a capsule containing crystals of spray-dried oxalate decarboxylase and method of use claims directed to a
method of reducing oxalate in a mammal suffering from a disorder, e.g., primary hyperoxaluria and enteric hyperoxaluria, using such a capsule, which is scheduled to expire in 2034, without taking a potential patent term extension
into account.
Another family of patent applications that we own are pending in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Israel and Japan with composition of matter claims directed to a composition comprising a peritoneal dialysis solution and
uncrosslinked crystals of oxalate decarboxylase for use in reducing oxalate during a dialysis-based treatment, which, if granted, would be scheduled to expire in 2034, without taking a patent term extension into account.
With regard to ALLN-346, we own a U.S. provisional patent application with composition of matter claims directed to novel recombinant uricase enzymes and method of use claims directed to treating certain diseases
associated with elevated levels of uric acid with such enzymes. A U.S. patent claiming the benefit of the provisional application, if issued, would be expected to expire in 2038, without taking a patent term extension into account.
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In the United States, the term of a patent covering an FDA-approved drug may be eligible for a patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act as compensation for the loss of patent term during the FDA regulatory
review process. The period of extension may be up to five years beyond the expiration of the patent, but cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval. Only one patent
among those eligible for an extension may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and in certain other jurisdictions to extend the term of a patent that covers an approved drug. For example, it is possible that an issued
U.S. patent covering ALLN-177 or its use may be entitled to a patent term extension. If ALLN-177 receives FDA approval, we intend to apply for a patent term extension, if available, to extend the term of a patent that covers the
approved product. We also intend to seek patent term extensions in any jurisdictions where they are available, however, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities, including the FDA, will agree with our assessment of
whether such extensions should be granted, and even if granted, the length of such extensions.
In addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secret protection for our proprietary information that is not amenable to, or that we do not consider appropriate for, patent protection, including, for example, certain
aspects of our manufacturing procedures. However, trade secrets can be difficult to protect. Although we take steps to protect our proprietary information, including restricting access to our premises and our confidential information,
as well as entering into agreements with our employees, consultants, advisors and potential collaborators, third parties may independently develop the same or similar proprietary information or may otherwise gain access to our
proprietary information. As a result, we may be unable to meaningfully protect our trade secrets and proprietary information.
Althea License Agreement
In March 2012, we entered into a license agreement with Althea, as amended in March 2016, pursuant to which Althea granted us an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensable license under specified intellectual
property rights relating to, among other things, oxalate decarboxylase and ALTU-237, now called ALLN-177, to develop, use, make, have made, market, offer to sell, sell, have sold, distribute, import or otherwise exploit licensed
products. Althea expressly retains all rights under the licensed patents that are not granted to us under the agreement, which we refer to as Althea’s retained rights. We have the right to sublicense our licensed rights, provided that each
sublicense agreement must be in writing and consistent with the terms of the license agreement. We are obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize the licensed products for the treatment of
hyperoxaluria.
Under the license agreement, we reimbursed Althea for patent-related fees and costs totaling $0.1 million in the aggregate and have issued to Althea a total of 88,186 shares of our common stock. Althea is entitled to receive
regulatory milestone payments totaling up to $31.0 million in the aggregate. We are also obligated to make additional payments to Althea of up to an aggregate of $25.0 million based upon the occurrence of certain sales milestones.
Althea is entitled to receive mid-single-digit percentage royalties on net sales of licensed products, made by us, our affiliates, or our sublicensees, subject to certain reductions for any royalty payments required to be made by us to
acquire patent rights, however, such royalty payments cannot be reduced below an aggregate minimum floor. The milestone payments are not creditable against royalties. The royalty term will expire on a licensed product-by-licensed
product and country-by-country basis upon the later of the expiration of the last-to-expire valid patent claim that covers the composition, manufacture, or use of such licensed product in such country, or the tenth anniversary of the
date of the first commercial sale of such licensed product in such country.
We have the first right, but not the obligation, to prosecute, defend, maintain and enforce certain product-specific patent rights licensed under the agreement, and Althea has the exclusive right to prosecute, defend, maintain
and enforce all other licensed patent rights. If we are controlling any lawsuits regarding the licensed patents, we cannot enter into a settlement without the prior written consent of Althea. Any sums recovered in such lawsuits will be
shared between us and Althea. Unless terminated earlier, the term of the license agreement will expire on date of the last-to-expire royalty term. We have the right to terminate the agreement for convenience upon 60 days prior written
notice to Althea. Either party may terminate the agreement after a 60-day notice period in the event of an uncured material breach by the other party. If we terminate the agreement for convenience or if Althea terminates the agreement
for cause, we grant Althea a right of first negotiation, exercisable for the 30-day period after such termination, to obtain an exclusive license to certain patent rights and data controlled by us that are related to the licensed products and
to have all investigational new drug applications, or INDs (other than the IND for ALLN-177), transferred to Althea.
In addition, pursuant to a letter agreement we entered into with Althea in June 2017, and subject to a fully paid-up exclusive worldwide license that we grant to Althea with respect to Althea’s retained rights, Althea
assigned certain U.S. patent rights to us. We agreed to continue to comply with our obligations under the license agreement, including our obligation to make milestone and royalty payments to Althea. Upon any termination or
expiration of the license agreement, we are obligated to assign such patent rights back to Althea.
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Government Regulation
Government authorities in the United States, at the federal, state and local level, and in other countries and jurisdictions, including the European Union, extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development,
testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, packaging, storage, recordkeeping, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution, marketing, post-approval monitoring and reporting, and import and export of pharmaceutical products,
including biological products. In addition, some jurisdictions regulate the pricing of pharmaceutical products. The processes for obtaining marketing approvals in the United States and in foreign countries and jurisdictions, along with
subsequent compliance with applicable statutes and regulations and other regulatory authorities, require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.
Licensure and Regulation of Biologics in the United States
In the United States, our candidate products are regulated as biological products, or biologics, under the Public Health Service Act, or PHSA, and the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and their
implementing regulations. The failure to comply with the applicable U.S. requirements at any time during the product development process, including nonclinical testing, clinical testing, the approval process or post-approval process,
may subject an applicant to delays in the conduct of a study, regulatory review and approval, and/or administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions may include, but are not limited to, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s, or
FDA’s, refusal to allow an applicant to proceed with clinical testing, refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an approval, warning letters, adverse publicity, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, and civil or criminal investigations and penalties brought by the FDA or the Department of Justice, or DOJ, or other governmental entities.
An applicant seeking approval to market and distribute a new biologic in the United States generally must satisfactorily complete each of the following steps:
•

nonclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies all performed in accordance with the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice, or GLP, regulations;

•

submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;

•

approval by an institutional review board, or IRB, representing each clinical site before each clinical trial may be initiated;

•

performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety, potency, and purity of the product candidate for each proposed indication, in accordance with Good Clinical Practices, or
GCP;

•

preparation and submission to the FDA of a Biologic License Application, or BLA, for a biologic product requesting marketing for one or more proposed indications, including submission of detailed information on
the manufacture and composition of the product in clinical development and proposed labeling;

•

review of the product by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate or if applicable;

•

satisfactory completion of one or more FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities, including those of third parties, at which the product, or components thereof, are produced to assess compliance
with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, requirements and to assure that the facilities, methods, and controls are adequate to preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality, and purity;

•

satisfactory completion of any FDA audits of the nonclinical and clinical study sites to assure compliance with GLPs and GCPs, respectively, and the integrity of clinical data in support of the BLA;

•

payment of user fees and securing FDA approval of the BLA and licensure of the new biologic product; and

•

compliance with any post-approval requirements, including the potential requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, and any post-approval studies required by the FDA.
26

Nonclinical Studies and Investigational New Drug Application
Before testing any biologic product candidate in humans, the product candidate must undergo nonclinical testing. Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluations of product chemistry, formulation and stability, as well as
animal studies to evaluate the potential for efficacy and toxicity. The conduct of the nonclinical tests and formulation of the compounds for testing must comply with federal regulations and requirements. The results of the nonclinical
tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND. The IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises
concerns or questions about the product or conduct of the proposed clinical trial, including concerns that human research subjects will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. In that case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve
any outstanding FDA concerns before the clinical trial can begin.
As a result, submission of the IND may result in the FDA not allowing the trial to commence or allowing the trial to commence on the terms originally specified by the sponsor in the IND. If the FDA raises concerns or
questions either during this initial 30-day period, or at any time during the IND process, it may choose to impose a partial or complete clinical hold. A complete clinical hold issued by the FDA would delay either a proposed clinical
study or cause suspension of an ongoing study, until all outstanding concerns have been adequately addressed and the FDA has notified the company that investigation may proceed. This could cause significant delays or difficulties in
completing planned clinical trials in a timely manner. A partial clinical hold places restrictions on a clinical trial, such as limiting the doses administered or the duration of the trial. The FDA may impose clinical holds on a biologic
product candidate at any time before or during clinical trials due to safety concerns or non-compliance. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold, trials may not recommence without FDA authorization and then only under terms authorized
by the FDA.
Human Clinical Trials in Support of a BLA
Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational product candidate to healthy volunteers or patients with the disease to be treated under the supervision of a qualified principal investigator in accordance with
GCP requirements. Clinical trials are conducted under study protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the study, inclusion and exclusion criteria, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety, and the effectiveness
criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.
A sponsor who wishes to conduct a clinical trial outside the United States may, but need not, obtain FDA authorization to conduct the clinical trial under an IND. If a foreign clinical trial is not conducted under an IND, the
sponsor may submit data from the clinical trial to the FDA in support of the BLA so long as the clinical trial is well-designed and well-conducted in accordance with GCP, including review and approval by an independent ethics
committee, and the FDA is able to validate the study data through an onsite inspection, if necessary.
Further, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an institutional review board, or IRB, either centrally or individually at each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted. The IRB will consider,
among other things, clinical trial design, patient informed consent, ethical factors, and the safety of human subjects. An IRB must operate in compliance with FDA regulations. The FDA, IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend
or discontinue a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a finding that the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements or the subjects or patients are being exposed to an unacceptable health
risk. Clinical testing also must satisfy extensive GCP rules and the requirements for informed consent. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the clinical trial sponsor,
known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group may recommend continuation of the study as planned, changes in study conduct, or cessation of the study at designated check points based on access to certain data
from the study.
Clinical trials typically are conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap or be combined. Additional studies may be required after approval.
•

Phase 1 clinical trials are initially conducted in a limited population to test the product candidate for safety, including adverse effects, dose tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution, excretion, and
pharmacodynamics in healthy humans or, on occasion, in patients, such as cancer patients.

•

Phase 2 clinical trials are generally conducted in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, evaluate the efficacy of the product candidate for specific targeted indications and
determine dose tolerance and optimal dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted by the sponsor to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more costly Phase 3 clinical trials.
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•

Phase 3 clinical trials proceed if the Phase 2 clinical trials demonstrate that a dose range of the product candidate is potentially effective and has an acceptable safety profile. Phase 3 clinical trials are undertaken
within an expanded patient population to further evaluate dosage, provide substantial evidence of clinical efficacy, and further test for safety in an expanded and diverse patient population at multiple, geographically
dispersed clinical trial sites. A well-controlled, statistically robust Phase 3 trial may be designed to deliver the data that regulatory authorities will use to decide whether or not to approve, and, if approved, how to
appropriately label a biologic; such Phase 3 studies are referred to as “pivotal.”

In some cases, the FDA may approve a BLA for a product candidate but require the sponsor to conduct additional clinical trials to further assess the product candidate’s safety and effectiveness after approval. Such postapproval trials are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials. These studies are used to gain additional experience from the treatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication and to document a clinical benefit in the case of
biologics approved under accelerated approval regulations. If the FDA approves a product while a company has ongoing clinical trials that were not necessary for approval, a company may be able to use the data from these clinical
trials to meet all or part of any Phase 4 clinical trial requirement or to request a change in the product labeling. Failure to exhibit due diligence with regard to conducting Phase 4 clinical trials could result in withdrawal of approval for
products.
Compliance with cGMP Requirements
Before approving a BLA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and
facilities are in full compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications. The PHSA emphasizes the importance of manufacturing control for products like
biologics whose attributes cannot be precisely defined.
Manufacturers and others involved in the manufacture and distribution of products must also register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies. Both domestic and foreign manufacturing establishments
must register and provide additional information to the FDA upon their initial participation in the manufacturing process. Any product manufactured by or imported from a facility that has not registered, whether foreign or domestic,
is deemed misbranded under the FDCA. Establishments may be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by government authorities to ensure compliance with cGMPs and other laws. Manufacturers may have to provide, on
request, electronic or physical records regarding their establishments. Delaying, denying, limiting, or refusing inspection by the FDA may lead to a product being deemed to be adulterated.
Review and Approval of a BLA
The results of product candidate development, nonclinical testing, and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive findings, are submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA requesting license to
market the product. The BLA must contain extensive manufacturing information and detailed information on the composition of the product and proposed labeling as well as payment of a user fee.
The FDA has 60 days after submission of the application to conduct an initial review to determine whether it is sufficient to accept for filing based on the agency’s threshold determination that it is sufficiently complete to
permit substantive review. Once the submission has been accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the application. Under the goals and policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or the
PDUFA, the FDA has ten months in which to complete its initial review of a standard application and respond to the applicant, and six months for a priority review of the application. The FDA does not always meet its PDUFA goal
dates for standard and priority BLAs. The review process may often be significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification. The review process and the PDUFA goal date may be extended by three
months if the FDA requests or if the applicant otherwise provides additional information or clarification regarding information already provided in the submission within the last three months before the PDUFA goal date.
Under the PHSA, the FDA may approve a BLA if it determines that the product is safe, pure, and potent and the facility where the product will be manufactured meets standards designed to ensure that it continues to be
safe, pure, and potent.
On the basis of the FDA’s evaluation of the application and accompanying information, including the results of the inspection of the manufacturing facilities and any FDA audits of nonclinical and clinical study sites to
assure compliance with GLPs and GCPs, respectively, the FDA may issue an approval letter, denial letter, or a complete response letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the product with specific prescribing
information for specific indications. If the application is not approved, the FDA may issue a complete response letter, which will contain the conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the application, and when
possible will outline recommended actions the sponsor might take
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to obtain approval of the application. Sponsors that receive a complete response letter may submit to the FDA information that represents a complete response to the issues identified by the FDA. Such resubmissions are classified
under PDUFA as either Class 1 or Class 2. The classification of a resubmission is based on the information submitted by an applicant in response to an action letter. Under the goals and policies agreed to by the FDA under PDUFA,
the FDA has two months to review a Class 1 resubmission and six months to review a Class 2 resubmission. The FDA will not approve an application until issues identified in the complete response letter have been addressed. The
FDA issues a denial letter if it determines that the establishment or product does not meet the agency’s requirements.
The FDA may also refer the application to an advisory committee for review, evaluation, and recommendation as to whether the application should be approved. In particular, the FDA may refer applications for novel
biologic products or biologic products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee. Typically, an advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific experts,
that reviews, evaluates, and provides a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such
recommendations carefully when making decisions.
If the FDA approves a new product, it may limit the approved indications for use of the product. It may also require that contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling. In addition, the FDA
may call for post-approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, to further assess the product’s safety after approval. The agency may also require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the product after commercialization, or
impose other conditions, including distribution restrictions or other risk management mechanisms, including REMS, to help ensure that the benefits of the product outweigh the potential risks. REMS can include medication guides,
communication plans for healthcare professionals, and elements to assure safe use, or ETASU. ETASU can include, but are not limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain
circumstances, special monitoring, and the use of patent registries. The FDA may prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of post-market studies or surveillance programs. After approval, many types of
changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications, manufacturing changes and additional labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirements and FDA review and approval.
Fast Track, Breakthrough Therapy and Priority Review Designations
The FDA is authorized to designate certain products for expedited review if they are intended to address an unmet medical need in the treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition. These programs are
referred to as fast track designation, breakthrough therapy designation, and priority review designation.
Specifically, the FDA may designate a product for fast track review if it is intended, whether alone or in combination with one or more other products, for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening disease or condition,
and it demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for such a disease or condition. For fast track products, sponsors may have greater interactions with the FDA and the FDA may initiate review of sections of a fast track
product’s application before the application is complete. This rolling review may be available if the FDA determines, after preliminary evaluation of clinical data submitted by the sponsor, that a fast track product may be effective. The
sponsor must also provide, and the FDA must approve, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the sponsor must pay applicable user fees. However, the FDA’s time period goal for reviewing a fast track
application does not begin until the last section of the application is submitted. In addition, the fast track designation may be withdrawn by the FDA if the FDA believes that the designation is no longer supported by data emerging in
the clinical trial process.
Second, a product may be designated as a breakthrough therapy if it is intended, either alone or in combination with one or more other products, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition and preliminary
clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development.
The FDA may take certain actions with respect to breakthrough therapies, including holding meetings with the sponsor throughout the development process; providing timely advice to the product sponsor regarding development and
approval; involving more senior staff in the review process; assigning a cross-disciplinary project lead for the review team; and taking other steps to design the clinical trials in an efficient manner.
Third, the FDA may designate a product for priority review if it is a product that treats a serious condition and, if approved, would provide a significant improvement in safety or effectiveness. The FDA determines, on a
case- by-case basis, whether the proposed product represents a significant improvement when compared with other available therapies. Significant improvement may be illustrated by evidence of increased effectiveness in the
treatment of a condition, elimination or substantial reduction of a treatment-limiting product reaction, documented enhancement of patient compliance that may lead to improvement in serious outcomes, and evidence of safety and
effectiveness in a new subpopulation. A priority designation is intended to direct overall attention and resources to the evaluation of such applications, and to shorten the FDA’s goal for taking action on a marketing application from
ten months to six months.
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Accelerated Approval Pathway
The FDA may grant accelerated approval to a product for a serious or life-threatening condition that provides meaningful therapeutic advantage to patients over existing treatments based upon a determination that the
product has an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. The FDA may also grant accelerated approval for such a condition when the product has an effect on an intermediate clinical endpoint
that can be measured earlier than an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, and that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the
condition and the availability or lack of alternative treatments. Products granted accelerated approval must meet the same statutory standards for safety and effectiveness as those granted traditional approval.
For the purposes of accelerated approval, a surrogate endpoint is a marker, such as a laboratory measurement, radiographic image, physical sign, or other measure that is thought to predict clinical benefit, but is not itself a
measure of clinical benefit. Surrogate endpoints can often be measured more easily or more rapidly than clinical endpoints. An intermediate clinical endpoint is a measurement of a therapeutic effect that is considered reasonably likely
to predict the clinical benefit of a product, such as an effect on IMM. The FDA has limited experience with accelerated approvals based on intermediate clinical endpoints, but has indicated that such endpoints generally may support
accelerated approval where the therapeutic effect measured by the endpoint is not itself a clinical benefit and basis for traditional approval, if there is a basis for concluding that the therapeutic effect is reasonably likely to predict the
ultimate clinical benefit of a product.
The accelerated approval pathway is most often used in settings in which the course of a disease is long and an extended period of time is required to measure the intended clinical benefit of a product, even if the effect on
the surrogate or intermediate clinical endpoint occurs rapidly. Thus, accelerated approval has been used extensively in the development and approval of products for treatment of a variety of cancers in which the goal of therapy is
generally to improve survival or decrease morbidity and the duration of the typical disease course requires lengthy and sometimes large trials to demonstrate a clinical or survival benefit.
The accelerated approval pathway is usually contingent on a sponsor’s agreement to conduct, in a diligent manner, additional post-approval confirmatory studies to verify and describe the product’s clinical benefit. As a
result, a product candidate approved on this basis is subject to rigorous post-marketing compliance requirements, including the completion of Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure
to conduct required post-approval studies, or confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketing studies, would allow the FDA to withdraw the product from the market on an expedited basis. All promotional materials for product
candidates approved under accelerated regulations are subject to prior review by the FDA.
The 21st Century Cures Act
The 21st Century Cures Act, which was signed into law in December 2016, requires the FDA to establish a process for the qualification of drug development tools that may be used to support or obtain licensure of a
biological product or support of the investigational use of a biological product. A drug development tool includes a biomarker, a clinical outcome assessment, and any other method, material, or measure that the FDA determines aids
drug development and regulatory review. A biomarker is a characteristic, such as a physiologic, pathologic, or anatomic characteristic or measurement, that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological
processes, pathologic processes, or biological responses to a therapeutic intervention and includes a surrogate endpoint. A clinical outcome assessment is a measurement of a patient’s symptoms, overall mental state, or the effects of a
disease or condition on how the patient functions and includes a patient-reported outcome.
The 21st Century Cures Act also requires that, for approval of any BLAs submitted after June 12, 2017, the FDA shall make public a brief statement regarding the patient experience data and related information, if any,
submitted and reviewed as part of the application. Patient experience data includes data that are collected by any persons, including patients, family members and caregivers of patients, patient advocacy organizations, disease research
foundations, researchers and drug manufacturers, and are intended to provide information about patients’ experiences with a disease or condition, including the impact of such disease or condition, or a related therapy, on patients’ lives
and patient preferences with respect to treatment of such disease or condition.
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Post-Approval Regulation
If regulatory approval for marketing of a product or new indication for an existing product is obtained, the sponsor will be required to comply with all regular post-approval regulatory requirements as well as any postapproval requirements that the FDA has imposed as part of the approval process. The sponsor will be required to report certain adverse reactions and production problems to the FDA, provide updated safety and efficacy information
and comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotional labeling requirements. Manufacturers and certain of their subcontractors are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies, and
are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with ongoing regulatory requirements, including cGMP regulations, which impose certain procedural and documentation
requirements upon manufacturers. Accordingly, the sponsor and its third-party manufacturers must continue to expend time, money, and effort in the areas of production and quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP
regulations and other regulatory requirements.
A biologic product may also be subject to official lot release, meaning that the manufacturer is required to perform certain tests on each lot of the product before it is released for distribution. If the product is subject to
official lot release, the manufacturer must submit samples of each lot, together with a release protocol showing a summary of the history of manufacture of the lot and the results of all of the manufacturer’s tests performed on the lot,
to the FDA. The FDA may in addition perform certain confirmatory tests on lots of some products before releasing the lots for distribution. Finally, the FDA will conduct laboratory research related to the safety, purity, potency, and
effectiveness of pharmaceutical products.
Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of
previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the
approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences
include, among other things:
•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market or product recalls;

•

fines, untitled letters or warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

•

refusal of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications, or suspension or revocation of product license approvals;

•

product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Pharmaceutical products may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the
provisions of the approved label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be
subject to significant liability.
Orphan Drug Designation
Orphan drug designation in the United States is designed to encourage sponsors to develop products intended for rare diseases or conditions. In the United States, a rare disease or condition is statutorily defined as a
condition that affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United States or that affects more than 200,000 individuals in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making
available the biologic for the disease or condition will be recovered from sales of the product in the United States. The FDA has granted Orphan Drug Designation to ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and pediatric
hyperoxaluria. This includes both children with secondary hyperoxaluria, attributable to excess GI absorption of oxalate, as well as the rare condition primary hyperoxaluria, a genetic defect of one of several liver enzymes.
Orphan drug designation qualifies a company for tax credits and market exclusivity for seven years following the date of the product’s marketing approval if granted by the FDA. An application for designation as an orphan
product can be made any time prior to the filing of an application for approval to market the product. A product becomes an orphan when it receives orphan drug designation from the Office of Orphan Products Development, or
OOPD, at the FDA based on acceptable confidential requests made under the regulatory provisions. The product must then go through the review and approval process like any other product.
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A sponsor may request orphan drug designation of a previously unapproved product or new orphan indication for an already marketed product. In addition, a sponsor of a product that is otherwise the same product as an
already approved orphan drug may seek and obtain orphan drug designation for the subsequent product for the same rare disease or condition if it can present a plausible hypothesis that its product may be clinically superior to the first
drug. More than one sponsor may receive orphan drug designation for the same product for the same rare disease or condition, but each sponsor seeking orphan drug designation must file a complete request for designation.
The period of exclusivity begins on the date that the marketing application is approved by the FDA and applies only to the indication for which the product has been designated. The FDA may approve a second application
for the same product for a different use or a second application for a clinically superior version of the product for the same use. The FDA cannot, however, approve the same product made by another manufacturer for the same
indication during the market exclusivity period unless it has the consent of the sponsor or the sponsor is unable to provide sufficient quantities.
Pediatric Studies and Exclusivity
Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, a BLA or supplement thereto must contain data that are adequate to assess the safety and effectiveness of the product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric
subpopulations, and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effective. Sponsors must also submit pediatric study plans prior to the assessment data. Those plans must
contain an outline of the proposed pediatric study or studies the applicant plans to conduct, including study objectives and design, any deferral or waiver requests, and other information required by regulation. The applicant, the FDA,
and the FDA’s internal review committee must then review the information submitted, consult with each other, and agree upon a final plan. The FDA or the applicant may request an amendment to the plan at any time.
The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant, grant deferrals for submission of some or all pediatric data until after approval of the product for use in adults, or full or partial waivers from the
pediatric data requirements. Additional requirements and procedures relating to deferral requests and requests for extension of deferrals are contained in FDASIA. Unless otherwise required by regulation, the pediatric data
requirements do not apply to products with orphan designation.
Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent marketing exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the attachment of an additional six months of marketing protection to the term of any existing
regulatory exclusivity, including the non-patent and orphan exclusivity. This six month exclusivity may be granted if a BLA sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request from the FDA for such data. The data
do not need to show the product to be effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to the FDA’s request, the additional protection is granted. If reports of requested pediatric studies
are submitted to and accepted by the FDA within the statutory time limits, whatever statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or patent protection cover the product are extended by six months. This is not a patent term extension,
but it effectively extends the regulatory period during which the FDA cannot approve another application.
Biosimilars and Exclusivity
The Affordable Care Act, which was signed into law in March 2010, included a subtitle called the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009, or BPCIA. The BPCIA established a regulatory scheme
authorizing the FDA to approve biosimilars and interchangeable biosimilars. To date, nine biosimilar products have been approved by the FDA for use in the United States. No interchangeable biosimilars, however, have been
approved. The FDA has issued several guidance documents outlining an approach to review and approval of biosimilars. Additional guidances are expected to be finalized by the FDA in the near term.
Under the BPCIA, a manufacturer may submit an application for licensure of a biologic product that is “biosimilar to” or “interchangeable with” a previously approved biological product or “reference product.” In order for
the FDA to approve a biosimilar product, it must find that there are no clinically meaningful differences between the reference product and proposed biosimilar product in terms of safety, purity, and potency. For the FDA to approve a
biosimilar product as interchangeable with a reference product, the agency must find that the biosimilar product can be expected to produce the same clinical results as the reference product, and (for products administered multiple
times) that the biologic and the reference biologic may be switched after one has been previously administered without increasing safety risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use of the reference biologic.
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Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product may not be submitted to the FDA until four years following the date of approval of the reference product. The FDA may not approve a biosimilar product until
12 years from the date on which the reference product was approved. Even if a product is considered to be a reference product eligible for exclusivity, another company could market a competing version of that product if the FDA
approves a full BLA for such product containing the sponsor’s own nonclinical data and data from adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity, and potency of their product. The BPCIA also created
certain exclusivity periods for biosimilars approved as interchangeable products. At this juncture, it is unclear whether products deemed “interchangeable” by the FDA will, in fact, be readily substituted by pharmacies, which are
governed by state pharmacy law.
Patent Term Restoration and Extension
A patent claiming a new biologic product may be eligible for a limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments,
which permits a patent restoration of up to five years for patent term lost during product development and FDA regulatory review. The restoration period granted on a patent covering a product is typically one-half the time between the
effective date of an IND and the submission date of a marketing application, plus the time between the submission date of a marketing application and the ultimate approval date. Patent term restoration cannot be used to extend the
remaining term of a patent past a total of 14 years from the product’s approval date. Only one patent applicable to an approved product is eligible for the extension, and the application for the extension must be submitted prior to the
expiration of the patent in question. A patent that covers multiple products for which approval is sought can only be extended in connection with one of the approvals. The USPTO reviews and approves the application for any patent
term extension or restoration in consultation with the FDA.
Regulation and Procedures Governing Approval of Medicinal Products in the European Union
In order to market any product outside of the United States, a company also must comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries and jurisdictions regarding quality, safety and efficacy and
governing, among other things, clinical trials, marketing authorization, commercial sales and distribution of products. Whether or not it obtains FDA approval for a product, an applicant will need to obtain the necessary approvals by
the comparable foreign regulatory authorities before it can commence clinical trials or marketing of the product in those countries or jurisdictions. Specifically, the process governing approval of medicinal products in the European
Union, or EU, generally follows the same lines as in the United States. It entails satisfactory completion of nonclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product for each
proposed indication. It also requires the submission to the relevant competent authorities of a marketing authorization application, or MAA, and granting of a marketing authorization by these authorities before the product can be
marketed and sold in the EU.
Clinical Trial Approval
Pursuant to the currently applicable Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC and the Directive 2005/28/EC on GCP, a system for the approval of clinical trials in the EU has been implemented through national legislation of the
member states. Under this system, an applicant must obtain approval from the competent national authority of an EU member state in which the clinical trial is to be conducted, or in multiple member states if the clinical trial is to be
conducted in a number of member states. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial at a specific study site after the independent ethics committee has issued a favorable opinion. The clinical trial application, or CTA,
must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product dossier with supporting information prescribed by Directive 2001/20/EC and Directive 2005/28/EC and corresponding national laws of the member states and further
detailed in applicable guidance documents.
In April 2014, the EU adopted a new Clinical Trials Regulation (EU) No 536/2014, which is set to replace the current Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC. It is expected that the new Clinical Trials Regulation (EU) No
536/2014 will apply in 2019 with a three-year transition period. It will overhaul the current system of approvals for clinical trials in the EU. Specifically, the new regulation, which will be directly applicable in all member states, aims
at simplifying and streamlining the approval of clinical trials in the EU. For instance, the new Clinical Trials Regulation provides for a streamlined application procedure via a single entry point and strictly defined deadlines for the
assessment of clinical trial applications.
Marketing Authorization
To obtain a marketing authorization for a product under the EU regulatory system, an applicant must submit an MAA, either under a centralized procedure administered by the European Medicines Authority, or EMA, or
one of the procedures administered by competent authorities in EU Member States (decentralized procedure, national procedure, or mutual recognition procedure). A marketing authorization may be granted only to an applicant
established in the EU. Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 provides that prior to obtaining a marketing authorization in the EU, an applicant must demonstrate compliance with all measures included in an EMA-approved Pediatric
Investigation Plan, or PIP, covering all subsets of the pediatric population, unless the EMA has granted a product-specific waiver, class waiver, or a deferral for one or more of the measures included in the PIP.
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The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization by the European Commission that is valid for all EU member states. Pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 726/2004, the centralized procedure
is compulsory for specific products, including for medicines produced by certain biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy products and products with a new active substance
indicated for the treatment of certain diseases, including products for the treatment of cancer. For products with a new active substance indicated for the treatment of other diseases and products that are highly innovative or for which a
centralized process is in the interest of patients, the centralized procedure may be optional.
Under the centralized procedure, the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP, established at the EMA is responsible for conducting an initial assessment of a product. Under the centralized
procedure in the European Union, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of an MAA is 210 days, excluding clock stops when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by the applicant in response to
questions of the CHMP. Accelerated evaluation may be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public health and, in particular, from the viewpoint of
therapeutic innovation. If the CHMP accepts such a request, the time limit of 210 days will be reduced to 150 days, but it is possible that the CHMP may revert to the standard time limit for the centralized procedure if it determines
that it is no longer appropriate to conduct an accelerated assessment.
Regulatory Data Protection in the European Union
In the European Union, new chemical entities approved on the basis of a complete independent data package qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market
exclusivity pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 726/2004, as amended, and Directive 2001/83/EC, as amended. Data exclusivity prevents regulatory authorities in the European Union from referencing the innovator’s data to assess a
generic (abbreviated) application for a period of eight years. During the additional two-year period of market exclusivity, a generic marketing authorization application can be submitted, and the innovator’s data may be referenced, but
no generic medicinal product can be marketed until the expiration of the market exclusivity. The overall ten-year period will be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing
authorization holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to authorization, is held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing therapies.
Even if a compound is considered to be a new chemical entity so that the innovator gains the prescribed period of data exclusivity, another company may market another version of the product if such company obtained marketing
authorization based on an MAA with a complete independent data package of pharmaceutical tests, nonclinical tests and clinical trials.
Periods of Authorization and Renewals
A marketing authorization is valid for five years, in principle, and it may be renewed after five years on the basis of a reevaluation of the risk benefit balance by the EMA or by the competent authority of the authorizing
member state. To that end, the marketing authorization holder must provide the EMA or the competent authority with a consolidated version of the file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, including all variations introduced since
the marketing authorization was granted, at least six months before the marketing authorization ceases to be valid. Once renewed, the marketing authorization is valid for an unlimited period, unless the European Commission or the
competent authority decides, on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one additional five-year renewal period. Any authorization that is not followed by the placement of the drug on the EU market (in the
case of the centralized procedure) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years after authorization ceases to be valid.
Regulatory Requirements after Marketing Authorization
Following approval, the holder of the marketing authorization is required to comply with a range of requirements applicable to the manufacturing, marketing, promotion and sale of the medicinal product. These include
compliance with the EU’s stringent pharmacovigilance or safety reporting rules, pursuant to which post-authorization studies and additional monitoring obligations can be imposed. In addition, the manufacturing of authorized
products, for which a separate manufacturer’s license is mandatory, must also be conducted in strict compliance with the EMA’s GMP requirements and comparable requirements of other regulatory bodies in the EU, which mandate
the methods, facilities, and controls used in manufacturing, processing and packing of drugs to assure their safety and identity. Finally, the marketing and promotion of authorized products, including industry-sponsored continuing
medical education and advertising directed toward the prescribers of drugs and/or the general public, are strictly regulated in the European Union under Directive 2001/83EC, as amended.
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Orphan Drug Designation and Exclusivity
Regulation (EC) No 141/2000 and Regulation (EC) No. 847/2000 provide that a product can be designated as an orphan drug by the European Commission if its sponsor can establish: that the product is intended for the
diagnosis, prevention or treatment of (1) a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition affecting not more than five in ten thousand persons in the EU when the application is made, or (2) a life-threatening, seriously
debilitating or serious and chronic condition in the EU and that without incentives it is unlikely that the marketing of the drug in the EU would generate sufficient return to justify the necessary investment. For either of these
conditions, the applicant must demonstrate that there exists no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention, or treatment of the condition in question that has been authorized in the EU or, if such method exists, the drug will be of
significant benefit to those affected by that condition.
An orphan drug designation provides a number of benefits, including fee reductions, regulatory assistance, and the possibility to apply for a centralized EU marketing authorization. Marketing authorization for an orphan
drug leads to a ten-year period of market exclusivity. During this market exclusivity period, neither the EMA nor the European Commission or the member states can accept an application or grant a marketing authorization for a
“similar medicinal product.” A “similar medicinal product” is defined as a medicinal product containing a similar active substance or substances as contained in an authorized orphan medicinal product, and which is intended for the
same therapeutic indication. The market exclusivity period for the authorized therapeutic indication may, however, be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifth year, it is established that the product no longer meets the criteria for
orphan drug designation because, for example, the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify market exclusivity.
Coverage, Pricing, and Reimbursement
Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any product candidates for which we may seek regulatory approval by the FDA or other government authorities. In the United States and markets
in other countries, patients who are prescribed treatments for their conditions and providers performing the prescribed services generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the associated healthcare costs. Patients are
unlikely to use any product candidates we may develop unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of such product candidates. Even if any product candidates we may develop
are approved, sales of such product candidates will depend, in part, on the extent to which third-party payors, including government health programs in the United States such as Medicare and Medicaid, commercial health insurers,
and managed care organizations, provide coverage, and establish adequate reimbursement levels for, such product candidates. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the
process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product once coverage is approved. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged, examining the medical necessity, and reviewing
the cost-effectiveness of medical products and services and imposing controls to manage costs. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, also known as a formulary, which might not include all of
the approved products for a particular indication.
In order to secure coverage and reimbursement for any product that might be approved for sale, a company may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to demonstrate the medical necessity and costeffectiveness of the product, in addition to the costs required to obtain FDA or other comparable marketing approvals. Nonetheless, product candidates may not be considered medically necessary or cost effective. A decision by a
third-party payor not to cover any product candidates we may develop could reduce physician utilization of such product candidates once approved and have a material adverse effect on our sales, results of operations and financial
condition. Additionally, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved. Further, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not assure
that other payors will also provide coverage and reimbursement for the product, and the level of coverage and reimbursement can differ significantly from payor to payor. Third-party reimbursement and coverage may not be available
to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development.
The containment of healthcare costs also has become a priority of federal, state and foreign governments and the prices of pharmaceuticals have been a focus in this effort. Governments have shown significant interest in
implementing cost-containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement, and requirements for substitution of generic products. Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of
more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could further limit a company’s revenue generated from the sale of any approved products. Coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may
change at any time. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for which a company or its collaborators receive marketing approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement
rates may be implemented in the future.
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Outside the United States, ensuring adequate coverage and payment for any product candidates we may develop will face challenges. Pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control in many
countries. Pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can extend well beyond the receipt of regulatory marketing approval for a product and may require us to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost effectiveness of any
product candidates we may develop to other available therapies. The conduct of such a clinical trial could be expensive and result in delays in our commercialization efforts.
In the European Union, pricing and reimbursement schemes vary widely from country to country. Some countries provide that products may be marketed only after a reimbursement price has been agreed. Some countries
may require the completion of additional studies that compare the cost effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies (so called health technology assessments, or HTAs) in order to obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. E.U. member states may approve a specific price for a product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the product on the
market. Other member states allow companies to fix their own prices for products, but monitor and control prescription volumes and issue guidance to physicians to limit prescriptions. Recently, many countries in the European Union
have increased the amount of discounts required on pharmaceuticals and these efforts could continue as countries attempt to manage healthcare expenditures, especially in light of the severe fiscal and debt crises experienced by many
countries in the European Union. The downward pressure on health care costs in general, particularly prescription products, has become intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products.
Political, economic, and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may continue after reimbursement has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various European Union
member states, and parallel trade (arbitrage between low-priced and high-priced member states), can further reduce prices. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for
pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our products, if approved in those countries.
Healthcare Law and Regulation
Healthcare providers and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of pharmaceutical products that are granted marketing approval. Arrangements with providers, consultants, thirdparty payors, and customers are subject to broadly applicable fraud and abuse, anti-kickback, false claims laws, reporting of payments to physicians and teaching physicians and patient privacy laws and regulations and other
healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain our business and/or financial arrangements. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include the following:
•

the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, paying, receiving, or providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under
a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and Medicaid;

•

the federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalties laws, which prohibit individuals or entities from, among other things: knowingly presenting, or
causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent; making a false statement or record material to a false or fraudulent claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or
property to the federal government; or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert that
a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false of fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;

•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created additional federal criminal laws that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting
to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their respective implementing regulations, including the Final Omnibus Rule published in January 2013, which
impose obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identifiable health information;
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•

the federal transparency requirements known as the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, under the Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively
the ACA, which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies to report annually to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, within the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services, information related to payments and other transfers of value made by that entity to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their
immediate family members; and

•

analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to healthcare items or services that are reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors,
including private insurers.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to
requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care providers or marketing expenditures. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health
information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.
Healthcare Reform
A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. There have been a number of federal and state proposals during the last few years regarding the pricing of pharmaceutical and
biopharmaceutical products, limiting coverage and reimbursement for drugs and other medical products, government control and other changes to the healthcare system in the United States.
By way of example, the United States and state governments continue to propose and pass legislation designed to reduce the cost of healthcare. In March 2010, the United States Congress enacted the ACA, which, among
other things, includes changes to the coverage and payment for products under government health care programs. Among the provisions of the ACA of importance to our potential product candidates are:
•

an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports specified branded prescription drugs and biologic products, apportioned among these entities according to their market share in certain
government healthcare programs, although this fee would not apply to sales of certain products approved exclusively for orphan indications;

•

expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid coverage to certain individuals with income at or below 133% of the federal poverty level, thereby
potentially increasing a manufacturer’s Medicaid rebate liability;

•

expanded manufacturers’ rebate liability under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program by increasing the minimum rebate for both branded and generic drugs and revising the definition of “average manufacturer price,”
or AMP, for calculating and reporting Medicaid drug rebates on outpatient prescription drug prices and extending rebate liability to prescriptions for individuals enrolled in Medicare Advantage plans;

•

addressed a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for products that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected;

•

expanded the types of entities eligible for the 340B drug discount program;

•

established the Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program by requiring manufacturers to provide a 50% point-of-sale-discount off the negotiated price of applicable products to eligible beneficiaries during
their coverage gap period as a condition for the manufacturers’ outpatient products to be covered under Medicare Part D;

•

a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research;
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•

the Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, which has authority to recommend certain changes to the Medicare program to reduce expenditures by the program that could result in reduced payments for
prescription products. The ACA provided that under certain circumstances, IPAB recommendations will become law unless Congress enacts legislation that will achieve the same or greater Medicare cost savings;
and

•

established the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation within CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription
product spending. Funding has been allocated to support the mission of the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation from 2011 to 2019.

Some of the provisions of the ACA have yet to be fully implemented, while certain provisions have been subject to judicial and Congressional challenges. In January 2017, Congress voted to adopt a budget resolution for
fiscal year 2017, that while not a law, is widely viewed as the first step toward the passage of legislation that would repeal certain aspects of the ACA. In May 2017, the House of Representatives passed legislation to repeal and replace
parts of the ACA. Further, on January 20, 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the
implementation of any provision of the ACA that would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or
medical devices. Thus, the full impact of the ACA, any law repealing and/or replacing elements of it, and the political uncertainty surrounding any repeal or replacement legislation on our business remains unclear.
Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. For example, in August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for spending
reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2012 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby
triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, which went into effect in April 2013 and will remain
in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. In January 2013, President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to
several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers, and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years.
There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal, and state levels directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of
healthcare. Such reforms could have an adverse effect on anticipated revenues from product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain marketing approval and may affect our overall financial condition
and ability to develop product candidates.
Additional regulation
In addition to the foregoing, state, and federal laws regarding environmental protection and hazardous substances, including the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and the
Toxic Substances Control Act, affect our business. These and other laws govern the use, handling, and disposal of various biologic, chemical, and radioactive substances used in, and wastes generated by, operations. If our operations
result in contamination of the environment or expose individuals to hazardous substances, we could be liable for damages and governmental fines. Equivalent laws have been adopted in third countries that impose similar obligations.
Employees
As of March 1, 2018, we had 34 full-time employees, including 8 employees with Ph.D. or M.D. degrees. 26 of our employees are engaged in research and development activities and 8 are engaged in general and
administrative activities. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be good.
Facilities
We occupy approximately 7,795 square feet of office space in Newton, MA under a lease that expires in December of 2020. In addition, we occupy approximately 5,133 square feet of laboratory space in Sudbury, MA
under a lease that expires in February 2019. We have an option for an additional approximately 2,029 square feet of laboratory space at the Sudbury facility. We do not own any real property. We believe that this office and laboratory
space is sufficient to meet our current needs and that suitable additional space will be available as and when needed.
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Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may become involved in litigation relating to claims arising from the ordinary course of business. Our management believes that there are currently no claims or actions pending against us, the
ultimate disposition of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
Corporate Information
We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware and commenced business operations in 2011. Our principal executive offices are located at One Newton Executive Park, Suite 202, Newton, MA 02462 and
our telephone number is (617) 467-4577. Our website address is www.allenapharma.com. The information contained on our website, or that can be accessed through our website, is not a part of this prospectus and is not incorporated
by reference into this prospectus. You should not rely on any such information in deciding whether to purchase our common stock.
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the
fifth anniversary of the completion of the IPO, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock
that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million as of the prior June 30th, and (ii) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
Financial Information and Segments
The financial information required under this Item 1 is incorporated herein by reference to the section of this Annual Report titled “Part II—Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” We operate in one
business segment. See Note 2 to our consolidated audited financial statements included in this Annual Report. For financial information regarding our business, see “Part II—Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Annual Report and our consolidated audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Available Information
Our Internet address is www.allenapharma.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, including exhibits, proxy and information statements and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a), 14, and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, are available through the “Investors” portion of our website free of charge as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Information on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of our other securities filings unless specifically
incorporated herein by reference. The public may read and copy these materials at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public
Reference Room by calling the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, our filings with the SEC may be accessed through the SEC’s Interactive Data Electronic Applications system at
http://www.sec.gov. All statements made in any of our securities filings, including all forward-looking statements or information, are made as of the date of the document in which the statement is included, and we do not assume or
undertake any obligation to update any of those statements or documents unless we are required to do so by law.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other public filings
before making an investment decision. Our business, prospects, financial condition, or operating results could be harmed by any of these risks, as well as other risks not currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial.
If any such risks or uncertainties actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results could differ materially from the plans, projections and other forward-looking statements included in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report and in our other public filings. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks,
and as a result, you may lose all or part of your investment.
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Risks Related to Drug Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization
We are heavily dependent on the regulatory approval of ALLN-177 in the United States and Europe, and subsequent commercial success of ALLN-177, both of which may never occur.
We are a late-stage biopharmaceutical company with no products approved by regulatory authorities or available for commercial sale. We have generated no revenue to date and do not expect to do so for the foreseeable
future. As a result, our future success is currently dependent upon the regulatory approval and commercial success of ALLN-177 in one or more of the indications for which we seek approval. Our ability to generate revenues in the
near term will depend on our ability to obtain regulatory approval and successfully commercialize ALLN-177 on our own in the United States, the first country in which we intend to make ALLN-177 available for sale, if approved.
We may experience delays in obtaining regulatory approval in the United States for ALLN-177, if it is approved at all, and our stock price may be negatively impacted. Even if we receive regulatory approval, the timing of the
commercial launch of ALLN-177 in the United States is dependent upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, hiring sales and marketing personnel, pricing and reimbursement timelines, the production of sufficient
quantities of commercial drug product and implementation of marketing and distribution infrastructure.
In addition, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant expenses as we continue to pursue the approval of ALLN-177 in the United States, Europe and elsewhere. We plan to devote a substantial portion of
our effort and financial resources in order to continue to grow our operational capabilities. This represents a significant investment in the clinical and regulatory success of ALLN-177, which is uncertain. The success of ALLN-177, if
approved, and revenue from commercial sales, will depend on several factors, including:
•

execution of an effective sales and marketing strategy for the commercialization of ALLN-177;

•

acceptance by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

•

our success in educating physicians and patients about the benefits, administration and use of ALLN-177;

•

the incidence and prevalence of enteric hyperoxaluria in those markets in which ALLN-177 is approved;

•

the prevalence and severity of side effects, if any, experienced by patients treated with ALLN-177;

•

the availability, perceived advantages, cost, safety and efficacy of alternative treatments, including potential alternate treatments that may currently be available or in development or may later be available or in
development or regulatory approval of a generic or biosimilar version of oxalate decarboxylase, the active enzyme in ALLN-177;

•

successful implementation of our manufacturing processes that are included in our new biologics license application, or BLA, and production of sufficient quantities of commercial drug product;

•

maintaining compliance with regulatory requirements, including current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs, good laboratory practices, or GLP, and good clinical practices, or GCPs; and

•

obtaining and maintaining patent, trademark and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity and otherwise protecting our rights in our intellectual property portfolio.

We may also fail in our efforts to develop and commercialize future product candidates, including ALLN-346 for patients with hyperuricemia and chronic kidney disease, or CKD. If this were to occur, we would continue to
be heavily dependent on the regulatory approval and successful commercialization of ALLN-177, our development costs may increase and our ability to generate revenue or profits, or to raise additional capital, could be impaired.
Results of earlier studies may not be predictive of future clinical trial results, and planned studies may not establish an adequate safety or efficacy profile for ALLN-177 and other product candidates that we may pursue
to justify proceeding to an application for regulatory approval or be worthy of regulatory approval if such an application is made.
The results of preclinical studies and clinical trials of ALLN-177 conducted to date and future studies and trials of other product candidates that we may pursue may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical
trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. Data, our interpretation of data and results from our Phase 2 clinical trials of ALLN-177 in adults with enteric hyperoxaluria do not ensure that we will
achieve similar results in a pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial in enteric hyperoxaluria or in clinical trials of ALLN-177 in other patient populations. In addition, preclinical and
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clinical data are often susceptible to various interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials have nonetheless
failed to replicate results in later-stage clinical trials and subsequently failed to obtain marketing approval. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy despite having progressed
through nonclinical studies and initial clinical trials.
In particular, as is common with Phase 2 clinical trials, particularly with the first clinical trials to be conducted in a patient population with disease, we explored numerous endpoints and analyzed the data from our Phase 2
clinical trials of ALLN-177 in a number of ways. Prior to obtaining approval for ALLN-177, we expect that the results of our registration trials will have to demonstrate statistically significant improvement in the pre-specified primary
endpoint in the applicable registration trial. To date, two of our Phase 2 clinical trials of ALLN-177 (Study 713 and Study 649) have not demonstrated statistically significant results in the pre-specified primary endpoints. Our laterstage clinical trials will differ in significant ways from our Phase 2 clinical trials of ALLN-177, which may cause the outcome of these later-stage trials to differ from our earlier stage clinical trials. These differences may include
changes to inclusion and exclusion criteria, efficacy endpoints and statistical design. We are still finalizing the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177, including the primary and secondary endpoints and
statistical analysis plan for these trials.
Product candidates in Phase 3 clinical trials, such as ALLN-177 in our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, may fail to demonstrate sufficient efficacy despite having progressed through initial clinical trials, even if
certain analyses of primary or secondary endpoints in those early trials showed trends toward efficacy. Some of the data we present on the use of ALLN-177 for the treatment of enteric hyperoxaluria is drawn from post-hoc analyses.
While we believe these data are useful in informing the design of future clinical trials for ALLN-177, these analyses involve the inherent bias of post-hoc rendering of data and choice of analytical methods. Further, while Study 713
was the largest randomized, controlled trial ever conducted in hyperoxaluria, only 18 subjects with enteric hyperoxaluria, the proposed indication for our planned pivotal Phase 3 program, enrolled in the trial. Thus, we have limited
data on the activity of ALLN-177 in the target population for our planned Phase 3 clinical program.
We believe 24 hour urinary oxalate excretion is an appropriate metric of the therapeutic effect of ALLN-177 because 24 hour urinary oxalate excretion is a biochemical measurement of the daily amount of oxalate handling
by the kidney and therefore its reduction would indicate lessening of potential kidney damage by oxalate. However, based on published scientific literature and data generated in our own clinical trials, daily urinary oxalate excretion is
a biomarker that demonstrates significant variability between patients and day-to-day for the same patient. This variability in 24 hour urinary oxalate excretion, especially in enteric hyperoxaluria patients, can be attributed to changes
in diet, metabolic activity, hydration status or other factors. It can also be attributed to the manner in which these measurements are taken. In our completed Phase 2 clinical trials, we relied heavily on the efforts and contributions of
investigative clinical sites and study patients to comply with accurate timing of 24 hour urine collection, with the complete collection of all of the patient’s urine during a given 24 hour period and with the proper handling of collected
urine specimens, including storage, documentation, sample handling and shipping to the testing laboratory. Following our completed Phase 2 clinical trials, we conducted a post-hoc review of these collection procedures. Although we
are not aware of any case where the data reported in our prior clinical trials was inaccurate, due to the variability inherent in these data collection techniques, we cannot assure you that in all cases the data reported in our clinical trials
accurately reflect the actual biochemical responses experienced by patients in these trials. We believe a time-weighted average of daily urinary oxalate excretion mitigates the risks of inherent variability, dietary change and sample
handling associated with the testing of each individual 24 hour urine specimen, but no assurance can be given that any such variability will be fully addressed by this approach.
A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies,
and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. Even if early stage clinical trials are successful, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials for product candidates in additional patient populations or under
different treatment conditions before we are able to seek approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and comparable foreign regulators to market and sell these product candidates. Our failure to demonstrate the
required characteristics to support marketing approval for ALLN-177 or any other product candidate we may choose to develop in any ongoing or future clinical trials would substantially harm our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations.
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We have not yet finalized the design of our pivotal Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177, including the primary and secondary endpoints and the statistical analyses for our second of two planned Phase 3 clinical trials
(the URIROX-2 trial), and whether ALLN-177 may be eligible for the accelerated approval pathway remains subject to further discussion with the FDA. The FDA and comparable foreign regulators may not agree with
our proposed Phase 3 clinical program, in which case we may be required to modify our planned clinical trials, or run additional clinical trials, before we can submit a BLA and comparable foreign applications for this
product candidate.
In March 2018, we initiated URIROX-1TM (formerly Study 301), the first of two anticipated Phase 3 clinical trials in support of our planned Biologic License Application (BLA) for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric
hyperoxaluria. However, we remain in active in discussions with the FDA to finalize the design of our pivotal Phase 3 program for ALLN-177, including the primary and secondary endpoints and the statistical analyses for the second
of our two planned Phase 3 clinical trials (the URIROX-2 trial). There can be no assurance that we will reach agreement with the FDA on our Phase 3 clinical program as currently proposed.
For our URIROX-2 trial, we have proposed as a primary endpoint the percent change from baseline in 24-hour UOx excretion averaged during Weeks 1-4, comparing ALLN-177 to placebo. The FDA has advised us that it
may be willing to accept a substantial change in 24 hour UOx excretion as a surrogate endpoint in patients with secondary hyperoxaluria, especially patients with enteric hyperoxaluria, a prior history of kidney stones and very high
baseline levels of UOx excretion. However, the FDA has also advised us that we have not yet provided sufficient data regarding UOx excretion necessary to support its use as a surrogate endpoint for these clinical trials and questioned
whether changes in UOx of the magnitude expected would be reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. We have provided the FDA with the details of analyses we have conducted using available data collected from a third-party
clinical database, in order to demonstrate an increased probability of kidney stone events in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria and increasing UOx levels. The FDA has advised us that it remains concerned about the strength of this
relationship, based in part on the limited clinical data currently available and whether other factors may play a role in the production of kidney stones. However, the FDA has preliminarily agreed with our proposal to help validate the
analyses presented to date with data collected from the planned URIROX-2 trial. This approach is consistent with the FDA’s published guidance on the accelerated approval pathway, which provides that clinical data from a single
clinical trial can be used to both support accelerated approval and verify the clinical benefit. This guidance stipulates that the protocol and statistical analysis plan should clearly account for an analysis of the surrogate endpoint data to
provide support for accelerated approval, with continuation of the randomized trial(s) to obtain data on the clinical endpoint that will be the basis for verifying the clinical benefit. The data generated from the URIROX-1 and
URIROX-2 trials could thus potentially form the basis of an accelerated approval BLA for ALLN-177 using reduction in UOx as a surrogate endpoint, with the final results from the URIROX-2 trial used to confirm clinical benefit
post-approval. In addition, we continue to work with scientific experts to identify additional third-party datasets to further substantiate the relationship between urinary oxalate levels and the risk of kidney stones and kidney
dysfunction. We remain in active dialogue with the FDA, and the design of the URIROX-2 trial, including the endpoints and statistical analysis plan for this study, and whether ALLN-177 may be eligible for the accelerated approval
pathway, remains subject to further discussion with the FDA.
If the FDA agrees to accept a change in TWA 24 hour UOx excretion as surrogate endpoint for our pivotal Phase 3 program under the accelerated approval pathway, we will be required to provide study data on longer term
clinical follow up from trial patients, or conduct a separate clinical outcomes trial, to confirm the clinical benefit predicted by the biochemical therapeutic response demonstrated in our Phase 3 clinical trials. The FDA may require
demonstration that we have initiated or made substantial progress in our clinical follow up of trial subjects, or any such clinical outcomes trial, prior to the submission of our BLA for accelerated approval of ALLN-177. The FDA
notes in its guidance that when the same trial is used to support accelerated approval and verify clinical benefit, the data to verify the clinical benefit may be, in some cases, nearly complete by the time of accelerated approval. If we
are unable to reach consensus with the FDA on the magnitude of UOx reduction significant enough to predict clinical benefit, we may be required to demonstrate effectiveness by showing an effect on stone formation directly, or
conduct one or more additional clinical trials to demonstrate this effect, prior to the submission of a BLA for ALLN-177. Moreover, the FDA may require us to make other changes to our proposed design of our Phase 3 clinical
program for ALLN-177, including expanding the number of patients and/or treatment period evaluated or running one or more additional clinical trials prior to the submission of a BLA. Any of these decisions could have a material
adverse effect on our expected clinical and regulatory timelines, business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
Similarly, our planned Phase 3 program may not be sufficient to support the submission of applications for marketing approval in foreign jurisdictions, including the European Union. Although our preliminary discussions
with regulatory authorities in select countries within the European Union lead us to believe our planned Phase 3 program, if successful, may be sufficient to support the submission of an MAA in Europe via the conditional approval
pathway, which is similar to the FDA’s accelerated approval pathway, these discussions are not binding on such authorities or the EMA. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that our planned Phase 3 program will be sufficient to
support the submission of an MAA in Europe, and we may be required to modify the design of these planned trials, or run additional clinical trials, before seeking marketing approval. Any of these decisions could have a material
adverse effect on our expected clinical and regulatory timelines, business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may attempt to secure approval from the FDA or comparable non-U.S. regulatory authorities through the use of accelerated registration pathways. If unable to obtain approval under an accelerated pathway, we may
be required to conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials beyond those that we contemplate, which could increase the expense of obtaining, reduce the likelihood of obtaining and/or delay the timing of
obtaining, necessary marketing approvals. Even if we receive accelerated approval from the FDA, if our confirmatory trials do not verify clinical benefit, or if we do not comply with rigorous post-marketing
requirements, the FDA may seek to withdraw accelerated approval.
We may seek an accelerated approval development pathway for our product candidates, including ALLN-177. Under the accelerated approval provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the FDA’s
implementing regulations, the FDA may grant accelerated approval to a product designed to treat a serious or life-threatening condition that provides meaningful therapeutic advantage over available therapies and demonstrates an
effect on a surrogate endpoint or intermediate clinical endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. The FDA considers a clinical benefit to be a positive therapeutic effect that is clinically meaningful in the context of a
given disease. For the purposes of accelerated approval, a surrogate endpoint is a marker, such as a laboratory measurement, radiographic image, physical sign, or other measure that is thought to predict clinical benefit, but is not itself
a measure of clinical benefit. An intermediate clinical endpoint is a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible
morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit. The accelerated approval development pathway may be used in cases in which the advantage of a new drug over available therapy may not be a direct therapeutic advantage, but is a
clinically important improvement from a patient and public health perspective. If granted, accelerated approval is contingent on the sponsor’s agreement to conduct, in a diligent manner, additional post-approval confirmatory studies
to verify and describe the drug’s clinical profile or risks and benefits for accelerated approval. The FDA may require that any such confirmatory study be initiated or substantially underway prior to the submission of an application for
accelerated approval. If such post-approval studies fail to confirm the drug’s clinical profile or risks and benefits, the FDA may withdraw its approval of the drug.
If we choose to pursue accelerated approval, we intend to seek further feedback from the FDA or will otherwise evaluate our ability to seek and receive such accelerated approval. There can be no assurance that the FDA
will agree that our proposed primary endpoint for our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program is an appropriate surrogate endpoint. There also can be no assurance that, after our evaluation of the additional feedback from the FDA or
other factors, we will decide to pursue or submit a BLA for accelerated approval or any other form of expedited development, review or approval. Similarly, there can be no assurance that after subsequent FDA feedback that we will
continue to pursue or apply for accelerated approval or any other form of expedited development, review or approval, even if we initially decide to do so. Furthermore, if we submit an application for accelerated approval, there can be
no assurance that such application will be accepted or that approval will be granted on a timely basis, or at all. For example, if another company receives full approval from the FDA to market a product for treatment of hyperoxaluria,
our ability to seek and obtain accelerated approval for ALLN-177 in the same or similar indication may be materially adversely affected. The FDA or foreign regulatory authorities also could require us to conduct further studies or
trials prior to considering our application or granting approval of any type. We might not be able to fulfill the FDA’s requirements in a timely manner, which would cause delays, or approval might not be granted because our
submission is deemed incomplete by the FDA. A failure to obtain accelerated approval or any other form of expedited development, review or approval for a product candidate would result in a longer time period to commercialize
such product candidate, could increase the cost of development of such product candidate and could harm our competitive position in the marketplace.
Even if we receive accelerated approval from the FDA, we will be subject to rigorous post-marketing requirements, including the completion of confirmatory post-market clinical trial(s) to verify the clinical benefit of the
product, and submission to the FDA of all promotional materials prior to their dissemination. The FDA could seek to withdraw accelerated approval for multiple reasons, including if we fail to conduct any required post-market study
with due diligence, a post-market study does not confirm the predicted clinical benefit, other evidence shows that the product is not safe or effective under the conditions of use, or we disseminate promotional materials that are found
by the FDA to be false and misleading
A failure to obtain accelerated approval or any other form of expedited development, review or approval for a product candidate that we may choose to develop would result in a longer time period prior to commercializing
such product candidate, could increase the cost of development of such product candidate and could harm our competitive position in the marketplace.
Because we are developing product candidates for the treatment of diseases in which there is little clinical trial experience and, in some cases, using new endpoints or methodologies, there is increased risk that the FDA or
other regulatory authorities may not consider the endpoints of our clinical program to provide clinically meaningful results and that these results may be hard to analyze.
There are no pharmacologic therapies approved to treat the underlying causes of hyperoxaluria. In addition, it should be noted that no therapeutic agents have previously been approved by the FDA on the basis of a
biochemical measurement of 24
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hour urinary oxalate excretion, endpoints used in our Phase 2 clinical program and expected for our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program. As a result, the design and conduct of clinical trials for the treatment of hyperoxaluria, and
the underlying conditions and disorders that drive the metabolic disease, are subject to increased risk.
We have engaged in discussions with the FDA during our end of Phase 2 meeting, and subsequently, regarding the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177 in adult patients with enteric
hyperoxaluria. While we have received initial feedback, we do not yet have definitive feedback from the FDA on the proposed primary endpoint of our second of two planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials (the URIROX-2 trial), the
measure of what is clinically meaningful in respect of this endpoint, secondary endpoints and the requisite data necessary to justify an approval, including use of our proposed primary endpoint as a surrogate endpoint as part of an
accelerated approval. Furthermore, the FDA has discretion to reserve judgment on whether our endpoint and the results seen in our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program sufficiently demonstrate clinical meaningfulness until the
FDA reviews our BLA several years from now.
Moreover, even if the FDA does find our success criteria to be sufficiently validated and clinically meaningful, we may not achieve the pre-specified endpoint to a degree of statistical significance, in either or both of the
Phase 3 clinical trials that we believe will be necessary for approval. Further, even if we do achieve the pre-specified criteria, we may produce results that are unpredictable or inconsistent with the results of the secondary efficacy
endpoints in the trials. The FDA also could give overriding weight to other efficacy endpoints, even if we achieve statistically significant results on the primary endpoint, if we do not achieve statistically significant or clinically
meaningful results on any of our secondary efficacy endpoints. The FDA also weighs the benefits of a product against its risks and the FDA may view the efficacy results in the context of safety as not being supportive of regulatory
approval. Other regulatory authorities in the EU and other countries may take similar positions.
The design and conduct of clinical trials is complex, particularly where there is not an established regulatory approval pathway for a given patient population, such as enteric hyperoxaluria, or a new mechanism of action is
being tested, as this may result in unpredictable results. For example, in our Phase 2 clinical trial referred to as Study 649, a “crossover” trial design was used, which is a longitudinal study in which subjects receive a sequence of
different exposures during the course of the trial. Each treatment sequence consisted of two seven-day treatment periods separated by a seven-day washout period. While no clear factor was identified to account for the lack of
differentiation between ALLN-177 and placebo in Study 649, we believe the lack of effect may have been due to, among other things, the complexities inherent in the crossover study design.
In addition, we are planning to conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial of ALLN-177 utilizing an open-label, basket trial design that will enroll subsets of patients suffering from complications of severe hyperoxaluria, including
adolescents and adults with primary hyperoxaluria or severe forms of secondary hyperoxaluria, both of which can lead to systemic oxalosis. We have not yet evaluated ALLN-177 in patients with primary hyperoxaluria and as such we
have not yet demonstrated proof-of-concept in this patient population. Basket trial designs permit the exploration of a study drug in patient populations with common biochemical markers, such as patients afflicted with different forms
of cancer, but the same genetic mutation. Although all patients enrolled in our planned Phase 2 trials will have elevated urinary oxalate levels, the underlying cause of their hyperoxaluria may be different. We cannot predict whether
the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, Study 206 or any other future trials that we may conduct may successfully demonstrate ALLN-177 or any future product candidate’s safety and efficacy.
If clinical trials of our product candidates fail to satisfactorily demonstrate safety and efficacy to the FDA and other comparable foreign regulators, we, or any future collaborators, may incur additional costs or
experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of these product candidates.
We, and any future collaborators, are not permitted to commercialize, market, promote or sell any product candidate in the United States without obtaining marketing approval from the FDA. Comparable foreign regulators,
such as the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, impose similar restrictions. We, and any future collaborators, may never receive such approvals. We, and any future collaborators, must complete extensive preclinical development
and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans before we, or they, will be able to obtain these approvals.
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Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is inherently uncertain as to outcome. We have not previously submitted a BLA to the FDA or similar drug approval
applications to comparable foreign regulators for any of our product candidates. Any inability to complete preclinical and clinical development successfully could result in additional costs to us, or any future collaborators, and impair
our ability to generate revenues from product sales, regulatory and commercialization milestones and royalties. Moreover, if (1) we, or any future collaborators, are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our
product candidates beyond the trials and testing that we, or they contemplate, (2) we, or any future collaborators, are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, (3) the results of these trials
or tests are unfavorable, uncertain or are only modestly favorable, or (4) there are unacceptable safety concerns associated with our product candidates, we, or any future collaborators, may:
•

incur additional unplanned costs;

•

be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;

•

not obtain marketing approval at all;

•

obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

•

obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or significant safety warnings, including boxed warnings;

•

be subject to additional post-marketing testing or other requirements; or

•

be required to remove the product from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our failure to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates and to demonstrate the efficacy and safety necessary to obtain regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates would significantly
harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development
and commercialization of our product candidates.
Our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program for ALLN-177 consists of two Phase 3 clinical trials of ALLN-177 in adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We are in discussions with the FDA and have conducted
scientific advisory meetings with regulatory authorities in three countries within the European Union. Even after we receive and incorporate guidance from these regulatory authorities, the FDA or other comparable foreign regulators
could disagree that we have satisfied their requirements to commence our clinical trials or change their position on the acceptability of our trial designs or the clinical endpoints selected, which may require us to complete additional
preclinical studies or clinical trials or impose stricter approval conditions than we currently expect. We may need to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing for, among other things, drug-drug interactions, the generation of
formate (i.e. a metabolic byproduct resulting from the degradation of oxalate by ALLN-177) and increased dosages of our product candidates. Successful completion of our clinical trials is a prerequisite to submitting a BLA to the
FDA and a Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, in Europe for each product candidate and, consequently, the ultimate approval and commercial marketing of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 and any product candidates we may
develop in the future. We do not know whether any of our clinical trials will begin or be completed on schedule, if at all.
We may experience delays in initiating or completing our planned clinical trials or additional preclinical studies or clinical trials in the future, and we may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of,
any future clinical trials that we conduct that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates, including:
•

regulators or institutional review boards, or IRBs, or ethics committees may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a prospective trial site;

•

we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable terms with prospective trial sites and prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, the terms of which can be subject to
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;
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•

we may experience delays in recruiting, or be unable to recruit, a sufficient number of suitable patients to participate in our clinical trials;

•

the patients and sites who participate in our trials may not comply with protocols, such as compliance with the capsule and timing regimen and urine collection requirements, rendering the results insufficient or
uninterpretable;

•

clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials or we may decide to
abandon drug development programs;

•

the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these
clinical trials or fail to return for post-treatment follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate;

•

our third party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory or legal requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all, or may deviate from the clinical trial protocol or drop out
of the trial, which may require that we add new clinical trial sites or investigators;

•

we may elect to, or regulators or IRBs or ethics committees may require that we or our investigators, suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory
requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

•

the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

•

the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate;

•

the occurrence of serious adverse events associated with the product candidate that are viewed to outweigh its potential benefits;

•

any changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending or submitting new clinical protocols;

•

our product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing us or our investigators, regulators or IRBs or ethics committees to suspend or terminate the trials, or reports may
arise from preclinical or clinical testing of other therapies that raise safety or efficacy concerns about our product candidates; and

•

the FDA or other comparable foreign regulators may require us to submit additional data or impose other requirements before permitting us to initiate a clinical trial.

We could encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety Monitoring Board for such trial or by the FDA or
other comparable foreign regulators. Such authorities may impose such a suspension or termination due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements, GCP or our
clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulators resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to
demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement
or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. Further, the FDA may disagree with our clinical trial design and our interpretation of data from clinical trials, or
may change the requirements for approval even after it has reviewed and commented on the design for our clinical trials.
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Our drug development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or regulatory approvals. We do not know whether any of our clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be
completed on schedule, or at all. Significant preclinical study or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to
bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. Any delays in our preclinical or clinical development programs
may significantly harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and comparable foreign regulators are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently unpredictable. If we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for ALLN-177 or
our other product candidates, our business will be substantially harmed.
We are not permitted to market ALLN-177 or any of our other product candidates in the United States or the European Union, or EU, until we receive approval of a BLA from the FDA or an MAA from the EMA,
respectively. Prior to submitting a BLA to the FDA or an MAA to the EMA for approval of any of our product candidates for a specific indication, we are required to complete preclinical and toxicology studies, as well as Phase 1,
Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials.
Successfully initiating and completing our clinical program and obtaining approval of a BLA or an MAA is a complex, lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA, the EMA or other comparable foreign
regulators may delay, limit or deny approval of any of our candidates for many reasons, including, among others:
•

we may not be able to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe and effective to the satisfaction of the FDA or the EMA;

•

the results of our clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA or the EMA for marketing approval;

•

the FDA or the EMA may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical trials;

•

the FDA or the EMA may require that we conduct additional clinical trials;

•

the FDA or the EMA or other applicable foreign regulators may not approve the formulation, labeling or specifications of ALLN-177 or our other product candidates;

•

the CROs that we retain to conduct our clinical trials may take actions outside of our control that materially adversely impact our clinical trials;

•

the FDA or the EMA may find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials insufficient to demonstrate that the clinical and other benefits of ALLN-177 and our other product candidates outweigh their safety
risks;

•

the FDA or the EMA may disagree with our interpretation of data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials, including our characterization of observed toxicities;

•

the FDA or the EMA may not accept data generated at our clinical trial sites;

•

if our BLAs or MAAs, if and when submitted, are reviewed by the FDA or the EMA, as applicable, the regulatory agency may have difficulties scheduling the necessary review meetings in a timely manner, may
recommend against approval of our application or may recommend that the FDA or the EMA, as applicable, require, as a condition of approval, additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, limitations on approved
labeling or distribution and use restrictions;

•

the FDA may require development of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy as a condition of approval or post-approval, and the EMA may grant only conditional approval or impose specific obligations as a
condition for marketing authorization, or may require us to conduct post-authorization safety studies;

•

the FDA, the EMA or other applicable foreign regulators may find deficiencies with or not approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract; or

•

the FDA or the EMA may change their approval policies or adopt new regulations.
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Any of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, could jeopardize our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and successfully market ALLN-177 or any of our other product candidates. Any such setback in our
pursuit of regulatory approval would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
In addition to the United States and Europe, we or potential collaborators intend to market our product candidates, if approved, in other international markets. Such marketing will require separate regulatory approvals in
each market and compliance with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedures vary from country-to-country and may require additional testing. Moreover, the time required to obtain approval may differ
from that required to obtain FDA or EMA approval. In addition, in many countries, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that country, even if regulatory approval has been
obtained. Approval by the FDA or the EMA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in
other foreign countries or by the FDA or the EMA. The regulatory approval process in other international markets may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA or EMA approval.
Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance may also occur and we may need to amend clinical trial protocols submitted to applicable regulatory authorities to reflect these changes. Amendments may require us to
resubmit clinical trial protocols to IRBs or ethics committees for re-examination, which may impact the costs, timing or successful completion of a clinical trial.
The FDA’s and other comparable foreign regulators’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of ALLN-177 and any future product
candidates we may develop. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action in the United States, the EU or other countries or jurisdictions. If
we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have
obtained, and we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other studies with respect to ALLN-177 or any future product candidates we may develop beyond those that we currently contemplate, or if we are unable to
successfully complete our clinical trials or other studies, we may be delayed in obtaining regulatory approval of ALLN-177 and any future product candidates we may develop, we may obtain approval of indications that are not as
broad as intended or we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval at all. Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or approvals, and we may not have sufficient funding to complete the
testing and approval process for ALLN-177 or any future product candidates we may develop. Significant clinical trial delays could allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to
commercialize our products if and when approved. If any of this occurs, our business would be harmed.
If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or prevented.
We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or
comparable foreign regulators. In particular, because we are focused on patients with enteric hyperoxaluria with respect to our Phase 3 development of ALLN-177, our ability to enroll eligible patients may be limited or may result in
slower enrollment than we anticipate.
Patient enrollment may be affected by other factors including, but not limited to:
•

the severity of the disease under investigation;

•

the design of the clinical trial;

•

the size and nature of the patient population;

•

the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial in question;

•

the availability of appropriate screening tests for study subjects;

•

the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;
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•

availability of competing therapies and clinical trials;

•

clinicians' and patients' perceptions as to the potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to other available therapies or treatment approaches;

•

the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

•

the ability to obtain and maintain patient consents and the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will not complete a clinical trial;

•

the patient referral practices of physicians;

•

the ability of patients to comply with the protocol, including capsule and timing regimen and urine collection requirements;

•

the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;

•

the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients; and

•

the extent to which our competitors have ongoing clinical trials for product candidates that treat the same indications as our product candidates.

Even if we receive regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense. Additionally, our
product candidates, if approved, could be subject to labeling and other restrictions and market withdrawal and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience
unanticipated problems with our drugs.
If the FDA, the EMA or a comparable foreign regulator approves any of our product candidates, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and
recordkeeping for the drug will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued
compliance with cGMPs and GCPs for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may also be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which
the drug may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the drug. Later
discovery of previously unknown problems with a drug, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory
requirements, may result in, among other things:
•

restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the drug, withdrawal of the drug from the market, or voluntary or mandatory drug recalls;

•

fines, warning letters or holds on clinical trials;

•

refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us, or suspension or revocation of drug approvals;

•

drug seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of the drug; and

•

injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in
existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, which would adversely affect our
business, prospects and ability to achieve or sustain profitability.
Accordingly, assuming we, or any collaborators we may have, receive marketing approval for one or more product candidates we develop, we, and such collaborators, and our and their contract manufacturers will continue
to expend time,
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money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product surveillance, and quality control. If we and such collaborators are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements,
we and such collaborators could have the marketing approvals for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or such collaborators’, ability to market any future products could be limited, which could adversely affect
our ability to achieve or sustain profitability. Further, the cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing drugs before or more successfully than we do, and reducing or eliminating our commercial opportunity.
Our industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change as researchers learn more about diseases and develop new technologies and treatments. Our potential competitors include
primarily large pharmaceutical, biotechnology companies and specialty pharmaceutical companies. Key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 and any other product candidates we may
develop are likely to be efficacy, safety and tolerability profile, reliability, convenience of administration, price and reimbursement.
There is no approved pharmacologic therapy for the reduction of urinary oxalate excretion in patients with hyperoxaluria, either primary or secondary. Existing treatment options for hyperoxaluria generally are non-specific
and include high fluid intake to increase urine output to more than two to three liters per day, a diet low in salt and oxalate, oral citrate and/or calcium and/or magnesium supplementation and orthophosphate and Vitamin B6,
exclusively for the specific subset of responsive patients with the most severe form of primary hyperoxaluria (PH1).
We are aware of other companies pursuing oxalate reduction in both primary and secondary hyperoxaluria. Alnylam is conducting an ongoing Phase 1/Phase 2 study and has recently announced that it received
Breakthrough Therapy Designation by the FDA for the treatment of patients with primary hyperoxaluria Type 1. Dicerna is in early-stage clinical development. Oxthera AB (Sweden) and Captozyme (U.S.) are developing orally
delivered products to degrade oxalate in the stomach and GI tract. Oxthera is advancing oxabact, Oxalobacter formigenes, into Phase 3 clinical trials for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria.
Many of our existing or potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience in the discovery and development of product candidates,
obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products and the commercialization of those products. Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being
concentrated among a small number of our competitors. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful than we may be in obtaining FDA approval of drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’
drugs, or drugs they may develop in the future, may be more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any drug we may commercialize and may render ALLN-177 or any future product candidates we may develop
obsolete or non-competitive before we can recover the expenses of developing and commercializing ALLN-177 or any future product candidates we may develop. Our competitors may also obtain FDA or other regulatory approval of
their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval of ours. Our competitors could develop and the FDA could approve a generic or biosimilar version of oxalate decarboxylase, the active enzyme in ALLN-177. We anticipate
that we will face intense and increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and more advanced technologies become available. If we are unable to compete effectively, our opportunity to generate revenue from the sale of
ALLN-177 or any future product candidates we may develop, if approved, will be adversely affected.
The incidence and prevalence for target patient populations of our product candidates have not been established with precision. If the market opportunities for our product candidates are smaller than we believe they
are, our revenue may be adversely affected, and our business may suffer. Our ability to successfully identify patients and acquire a significant market share will be necessary for us to achieve profitability and growth.
We focus our research and product development on treatments for hyperoxaluria and hyperuricemia. The precise incidence and prevalence for these diseases are unknown. Our projections of both the number of people who
have these diseases, as well as the subset of people with these diseases who have the potential to benefit from treatment with our product candidates, are based on estimates. For example, we estimate there are approximately 200,000
to 250,000 patients in the United States with enteric hyperoxaluria and kidney stones. This estimate has been derived from a variety of sources, including the scientific literature and market research projects with third-party
consultants, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies and future developments in patient care or treatment paradigms may change the estimated incidence or prevalence of this disorder. The number of patients may turn out
to be lower than expected. The potentially addressable patient population for each of our product candidates may be limited or may not be amenable to treatment with our product candidates, and new patients may become increasingly
difficult to identify or gain access to, which would adversely affect our results of operations and our business. Further, even if we obtain significant market share for one or more of our product candidates, because certain
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of our potential target populations are small, including our target populations for which ALLN-177 has received orphan drug designation, we may never achieve profitability despite obtaining such significant market share.
Even if one of our product candidates receives marketing approval, it may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community necessary for
commercial success and the market opportunity for such product candidate may be smaller than we estimate.
We have never obtained marketing approval for a product candidate or commercialized a product. Even if one of our product candidates is approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities for marketing and sale, it may
nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors and others in the medical community. For example, physicians are often reluctant to switch their patients from existing therapies even
when new and potentially more effective or convenient treatments enter the market. Further, patients often acclimate to the therapy that they are currently taking and do not want to switch unless their physicians recommend switching
products or they are required to switch therapies due to lack of reimbursement for existing therapies.
Efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may not be successful. If any one of our product candidates is approved but
does not achieve an adequate level of market acceptance, we may not generate significant revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of any of our product candidates, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:
•

the potential advantages of the product compared to alternative treatments;

•

the prevalence and severity of any side effects;

•

the clinical indications for which the product is approved;

•

the potential absence of the results of a late-stage clinical trial with a clinically meaningful primary endpoint;

•

whether the product is designated under physician treatment guidelines as a first-line therapy or as a second- or third-line therapy;

•

limitations or warnings, including distribution or use restrictions, contained in the product's approved labeling;

•

our ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to offer the product for sale at competitive prices;

•

the product's convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

•

the willingness of the target patient population to try, and of physicians to prescribe, the product;

•

the strength of our sales, marketing and distribution support;

•

the approval of other new products for the same indications;

•

changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for the product;

•

the timing of market introduction of our approved products as well as competitive products;

•

availability and amount of reimbursement from government payors, managed care plans and other third-party payors;

•

adverse publicity about the product or favorable publicity about competitive products; and

•

potential product liability claims.
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The potential market opportunities for our product candidates are difficult to estimate precisely. Our estimates of the potential market opportunities are predicated on many assumptions, including industry knowledge and
publications, third-party research reports and other surveys. While we believe that our internal assumptions are reasonable, these assumptions involve the exercise of significant judgment on the part of our management, are inherently
uncertain and the reasonableness of these assumptions has not been assessed by an independent source. If any of the assumptions proves to be inaccurate, the actual markets for our product candidates could be smaller than our
estimates of the potential market opportunities, which would adversely affect our results of operations and our business.
Our proprietary technological approach is a new approach to the design and development of stable, non-absorbable oral enzyme therapies and may not result in any additional product candidates or ultimately any
products of commercial value.
We have developed our proprietary know-how in enzyme technology which allows us to design, formulate and deliver non-absorbed and stable enzymes orally and in sufficient doses for activity in the GI tract. While the
general therapeutic approach of deploying a non-absorbed drug into the GI tract to reduce metabolic disease burden in patients with kidney disease has been proven successful in several therapeutic categories, we cannot assure you
that our technological approach will ultimately work for ALLN-177, ALLN-346, or any other product candidates we may develop. In addition, while we believe our enzyme therapeutic candidates will not be absorbed, future clinical
trials may find this not to be true. We also cannot guarantee that any other aspects of our proprietary technological approach will yield product candidates that could receive regulatory approval, enter clinical development and,
ultimately, be commercially valuable.
We only have a limited number of employees to manage and operate our business.
As of March 1, 2018, we had 37 full-time, part-time, or short-term employees. Our focus on the development of ALLN-177 requires us to optimize cash utilization and to manage and operate our business in a highly
efficient manner. We will need to hire and retain a significant number of new employees to execute our clinical development and manufacturing plans. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to hire and/or retain adequate
staffing levels to develop ALLN-177 or run our operations and/or to accomplish all of the objectives that we otherwise would seek to accomplish.
We currently have no sales and marketing organization and, as a company, have not commercialized any products. If we are unable to establish effective sales and marketing capabilities in the United States and access
them in Europe and other international markets, we may not succeed in commercializing our product candidates.
At present, we have no sales or marketing employees and we rely on part-time consultants. We cannot guarantee that we will be successful in marketing ALLN-177 for enteric hyperoxaluria in the United States, if
approved. We may not be able to establish a direct sales force in a cost-effective manner or realize a positive return on this investment. In addition, we will have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to
recruit, hire, train and retain sales and marketing personnel. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize ALLN-177 in the United States without strategic partners or licensees include:
•

our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

•

the inability of our planned relatively small sales force to obtain access to or inform adequate numbers of nephrologists, urologists or other practitioners at kidney stone clinics;

•

the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines;

•

the inability of market-access personnel to obtain sufficient levels of pricing and reimbursement in each jurisdiction; and

•

unforeseen costs, expenses and delays associated with creating a commercial organization.
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If we are not successful in timely recruiting of sales and marketing personnel or in building a sales and marketing infrastructure or if we do not successfully enter into appropriate collaboration arrangements, we will have
difficulty commercializing ALLN-177, which could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Expansion of our business into the EU and other international markets will require significant management attention
and additional financial resources. We currently intend to explore commercializing ALLN-177, if approved, in Europe and other international markets by entering into collaboration agreements with other biopharmaceutical
companies, and we may not be successful in entering into these collaboration agreements. In the event that we do enter into such agreements, we may have limited or no control over the sales, marketing and distribution activities of
these third parties. Additional factors and risks that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize ALLN-177 in foreign markets include:
•

our inability to directly control commercial activities because we are relying on third parties, should we enter into third-party collaborations;

•

varying pricing in different foreign markets, which could adversely affect pricing in the United States or other countries;

•

the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;

•

different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceptance in the marketplace;

•

import or export licensing requirements;

•

longer collection times for accounts receivable;

•

longer lead times for shipping;

•

language barriers for technical training;

•

reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries, and related prevalence of generic alternatives to therapeutics;

•

the imposition of governmental price controls, political and economic instability, trade restrictions and changes in tariffs;

•

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•

our customers' ability to obtain adequate reimbursement for ALLN-177 in foreign markets at all, either at all or at prices that exceed our costs; and

•

the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.

Our future revenues may depend heavily on the success of the efforts of these third parties. We may not be able to establish a commercial operation in a cost-effective manner or realize a positive return on this investment,
even with the assistance of one or more third-party collaborators, should we choose to enter into such an arrangement. In addition, we will have to compete with other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, train
and retain sales and marketing personnel.
If we or third-party collaborators are not successful in recruiting sales and marketing personnel or in building a sales and marketing infrastructure or if we do not successfully enter into additional collaboration arrangements
with third parties, we may not be able to successfully commercialize ALLN-177 and any future product candidates we may develop in foreign markets, which could impair our business, operating results and financial condition.
Even with the potential assistance of third-party collaborators, we may not be successful in establishing a commercial operation in foreign markets for numerous reasons, including, but not limited to, failing to attract, retain
and motivate the necessary skilled personnel and failing to develop a successful marketing strategy. Failure to establish a commercial operation in foreign markets will have a negative outcome on our ability to commercialize ALLN177 and generate revenue.
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Additionally, if approved for marketing in one or more countries, we and/or our potential third-party collaborators may encounter unexpected or unforeseen delays in establishing our commercial operations that delay the
commercial launch in these countries. These delays may increase the cost of and the resources required for successful commercialization of ALLN-177 internationally. We do not have any experience in a commercial launch in Europe
or elsewhere.
We expect to expand our development, regulatory, and future sales and marketing capabilities, and as a result, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.
We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the areas of clinical development, manufacturing, regulatory affairs, and sales and marketing. To
manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational, and financial systems, expand our facilities, and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our
limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in managing a company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expected expansion of our operations or recruit and
train additional qualified personnel. Moreover, the expected physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources and attention. Any inability to
manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations, which could affect our ability to generate revenue.
The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceutical products such as ALLN-177 are subject to FDA requirements and those of similar foreign regulatory bodies. If we or our third-party manufacturers fail to satisfy these
requirements, our product development and commercialization efforts may be harmed.
The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceutical products, such as ALLN-177, if approved, are regulated by the FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies and must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s cGMP and
comparable requirements of foreign regulatory bodies. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under these cGMP regulations who are both capable of manufacturing ALLN-177 and willing to do so. We may not be
able to identify or secure contracts with manufacturers with suitable capability to manufacture ALLN-177 according to FDA requirements on favorable terms or at all. Failure by us or our third-party manufacturers to comply with
applicable regulations or requirements could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of regulatory authorities to grant marketing approval of our products, delays, suspension or
withdrawal of approvals, seizures or voluntary or mandatory recalls of product, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could harm our business. The same requirements and risks are applicable to the suppliers
of the key raw material used to manufacture ALLN-177, including the specific bacterial strains that are used to manufacture the oxalate decarboxylase enzyme, which is an active ingredient in ALLN-177.
Changes in the manufacturing process or procedure, including a change in the location where the product is manufactured or a change of a third-party manufacturer, may require prior FDA review and approval of the
manufacturing process and procedures in accordance with the FDA’s cGMPs. Any new facility is subject to a pre-approval inspection by the FDA and would again require us to demonstrate product comparability to the FDA. There
are comparable foreign requirements. This review may be costly and time consuming and could delay, constrain or prevent the launch or supply of a product.
Furthermore, in order to obtain approval of our product candidates, including ALLN-177, by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies, we will be required to consistently produce the drug substance and the finished product
in commercial quantities and of specified quality on a repeated basis and document our ability to do so. This requirement is referred to as process validation. We have not yet met with the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies to
understand the complete manufacturing requirements which must be met for ALLN-177 to receive regulatory approval. Each of our potential suppliers will likely use a different method to manufacture drug substance, which has the
potential to increase the risk to us that our manufacturers will fail to meet applicable regulatory requirements. We also need to complete process validation on the finished product in the packaging we propose for commercial sales.
This includes testing of stability, measurement of impurities and testing of other product specifications by validated test methods. If the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies do not consider the result of the process validation or
required testing to be satisfactory, we may not obtain approval to launch the product or approval, launch or availability of commercial supply after launch may be delayed.
The FDA and similar foreign regulatory bodies may also implement new requirements, or change their interpretation and enforcement of existing requirements, for manufacture, packaging or testing of products at any time.
If we are unable to comply, we may be subject to regulatory, civil actions or penalties which could harm our business.
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Manufacture and supply of drug substance, drug product and finished drug product is a complex and technically challenging undertaking, particularly for oral biologics, and there is potential for failure at many points
in the manufacturing, testing, quality assurance and distribution supply chain, as well as the potential for latent defects after a product has been manufactured and distributed.
Manufacture and supply of drug substance, drug product and finished drug product is technically challenging, particularly for oral biologics. Changes that may be made outside the purview of our direct control can have an
impact on the success of our processes, on quality, and on successful delivery of finished drug product. Mistakes and mishandling could affect successful production and supply. Some of these risks include:
•

failure to follow cGMP requirements or mishandling of our product while in production or in preparation for transit;

•

delays in analytical results or failure of analytical techniques that we depend on for quality control and release of drug product;

•

natural disasters, labor disputes, lack of raw material supply, issues with facilities and equipment or other forms of disruption to business operations at our manufacturing facilities; and

•

latent defects that may become apparent after drug product has been released and which may result in recall or required destruction of drug product.

If any of these risks materialize, it would have a material and adverse impact on our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and market ALLN-177, if approved.
The longer term growth of our business depends on our ability to expand our portfolio of product candidates, which may require substantial financial resources and may ultimately be unsuccessful.
The longer term growth of our business depends upon our ability to develop and commercialize multiple product candidates. In addition to the development and commercialization of ALLN-177 for hyperoxaluria, we
intend to pursue development of ALLN-346 for hyperuricemia and CKD as well as other product candidates. We may never be able to identify other developmental prospects that we can successfully develop into product candidates,
let alone receive regulatory approval of or successfully commercialize such product candidates.
A significant portion of the research that we are conducting involves new technologies. Research programs to identify new disease targets and product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources
whether or not we ultimately identify any product candidates. Our research programs may initially show promise in identifying potential product candidates, yet fail to yield product candidates for clinical development for a number of
reasons, including, but not limited to:
•

the research methodology used may not be successful in identifying potential product candidates; or

•

potential product candidates may on further study be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate they are unlikely to be effective drugs.

There are a number of FDA requirements that we must satisfy before we can commence a clinical trial in the United States. If we are able to identify additional potential product candidates, satisfaction of these regulatory
requirements will entail substantial time, effort and financial resources. We may never satisfy these requirements. Any time, effort and financial resources we expend on development of other product candidates may impair our ability
to continue efforts to develop and commercialize ALLN-177 for the treatment of enteric hyperoxaluria and other indications, and we may never commence clinical trials of such development programs despite expending significant
resources in pursuit of their development. If we do commence clinical trials of other product candidates, those product candidates may never demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to be approved by the FDA or other comparable
foreign regulators. If any of these events occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for such program or programs, which would harm our business. If we do not successfully develop and commercialize product
candidates based upon our approach, we will not be able to obtain drug revenues in future periods, which likely would result in significant harm to our financial position and adversely affect our stock price.
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We may fail to obtain and maintain orphan drug designations from the FDA for our current and future product candidates, as applicable. Even for ALLN-177 for which we have received such designation for treatment
of primary hyperoxaluria and pediatric hyperoxaluria, we may be unable to maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including the potential for market exclusivity.
Our strategy includes filing for orphan drug designation where available for our product candidates. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare
disease or condition, which is defined as one occurring in a patient population of fewer than 200,000 in the United States, or a patient population greater than 200,000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that
the cost of developing the drug or biologic will be recovered from sales in the United States. In the United States, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical
trial costs, tax advantages and user-fee waivers. In addition, if a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan
drug exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full new drug application, or NDA, or BLA, to market the same drug or biologic for the same indication for seven years, except in
limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or where the original manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient product quantity.
The FDA has granted separate orphan drug designations for ALLN-177 for treatment of primary hyperoxaluria and for the treatment of pediatric hyperoxaluria. In addition, the European Commission has granted orphan
designation for ALLN-177 for the treatment of primary hyperoxaluria. Even where we have obtained such designations, we may not be the first to obtain regulatory approval of a product candidate for the orphan-designated indication
due to the uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products. We may also fail to meet requirements to maintain orphan drug designation during our continued development of ALLN-177, which is primarily focused on
enteric hyperoxaluria. In addition, exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be limited if we seek approval for an indication broader than the orphan-designated indication or may be lost if the FDA later determines that the
request for designation was materially defective or if we are unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the orphan-designated disease or condition. Further, even if we obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs with different active moieties may receive and be approved for the same condition, and only the first applicant
to receive approval will receive the benefits of marketing exclusivity. Even after an orphan-designated product is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve a later drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the
FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior if it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time
of a drug, nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process. In addition, while we may seek orphan drug designation for our product candidates, we may never receive such designations.
Our relationships with customers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to penalties, including criminal
sanctions, civil penalties, exclusion from government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings.
Although we do not currently have any drugs on the market, once we begin commercializing our product candidates, we will be subject to additional healthcare statutory and regulatory requirements and enforcement by the
federal government and the states, foreign governments and other jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of
any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may
constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare
laws and regulations include the following:
•

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or
reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid. This statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other. Although there are
several statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution, they are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing,
purchasing or recommending may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in
order to have committed a violation;
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•

the federal civil False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties and authorizes civil whistleblower or qui tam actions against individuals or entities for: knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the
federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent; or making a false statement or record material to a false or fraudulent claim or obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal
government; or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items
and services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;

•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services; similar to the federal AntiKickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

•

the federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes referred to as the "Sunshine Act" under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, or collectively the Affordable Care Act, require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children's Health
Insurance Program to report to the Department of Health and Human Services information related to physician payments and other transfers of value and the ownership and investment interests of such physicians
and their immediate family members;

•

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 and its implementing regulations, which also imposes obligations on certain covered entity healthcare
providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or disclosure of individually identifiable health information, including
mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information; and

•

analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by nongovernmental third-party payors, including private insurers; and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry's voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health care providers or marketing
expenditures, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts.

Ensuring that our future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our
business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations, including anticipated activities to be conducted
by our sales team, were to be found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines,
exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do
business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs. Any of these occurrences may
significantly harm our business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations and adversely affect our stock price.
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Legislative or regulatory reform of the health care system in the United States and foreign jurisdictions may adversely impact our business, operations or financial results.
Our industry is highly regulated and changes in law may adversely impact our business, operations or financial results. In particular, in March 2010, the Affordable Care Act and a related reconciliation bill were signed into
law. This legislation changes the current system of healthcare insurance and benefits intended to broaden coverage and control costs. The law also contains provisions that will affect companies in the pharmaceutical industry and other
healthcare related industries by imposing additional costs and changes to business practices. Provisions affecting pharmaceutical companies include the following:
•

mandatory rebates for drugs sold into the Medicaid program have been increased, and the rebate requirement has been extended to drugs used in risk-based Medicaid managed care plans;

•

the definition of "average manufacturer price" was revised for reporting purposes, which could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates by state;

•

the 340B Drug Pricing Program under the Public Health Service Act has been extended to require mandatory discounts for drug products sold to certain critical access hospitals, cancer hospitals and other covered
entities;

•

pharmaceutical companies are required to offer discounts on brand-name drugs to patients who fall within the Medicare Part D coverage gap, commonly referred to as the "donut hole"; and

•

pharmaceutical companies are required to pay an annual non-tax deductible fee to the federal government based on each company's market share of prior year total sales of branded products to certain federal
healthcare programs. Since we expect our branded pharmaceutical sales to constitute a small portion of the total federal health program pharmaceutical market, we do not expect this annual assessment to have a
material impact on our financial condition.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 among other things, created
measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach
required goals, thereby triggering the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, starting in 2013, which will
remain in effect until 2024 unless additional congressional action is taken. On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law, which, among other things, increased the statute of limitations period for
the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. We expect that additional federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state
governments will pay for healthcare products and services, and in turn could significantly reduce the projected value of certain development projects and reduce our profitability.
In addition, in September 2007, the Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 2007 was enacted giving the FDA enhanced post-marketing authority including the authority to require post-marketing studies and
clinical trials, labeling changes based on new safety information and compliance with risk evaluations and mitigation strategies approved by the FDA. The FDA’s exercise of this authority could result in delays or increased costs
during product development, clinical trials and regulatory review, increased costs to ensure compliance with post-approval regulatory requirements and potential restrictions on the sale and/or distribution of approved products. Other
legislative and regulatory initiatives have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. For example, the Drug Supply Chain Security Act of 2013 imposes
new obligations on manufacturers of certain pharmaceutical products related to product tracking and tracing. We do not know whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance
documents or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes on the marketing approvals of ALLN-177, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly
delay or prevent marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
In January 2017, Congress voted to adopt a budget resolution for fiscal year 2017, that while not a law, is widely viewed as the first step toward the passage of legislation that would repeal certain aspects of the Affordable
Care Act. In May 2017, the House of Representatives passed legislation to repeal and replace parts of the Affordable Care Act. Further, on January 20, 2017, President Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with
authorities and responsibilities under the Affordable Care Act to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the Affordable
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Care Act that would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. Thus, the full impact
of the Affordable Care Act, any law repealing and/or replacing elements of it, and the political uncertainty surrounding any repeal or replacement legislation on our business remains unclear.
Moreover, we cannot predict what healthcare reform initiatives may be adopted in the future. Further, federal and state legislative and regulatory developments are likely, and we expect ongoing initiatives in the United
States to increase pressure on drug pricing. Such reforms could have an adverse effect on anticipated revenues from ALLN-177 and any other product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain
regulatory approval and may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop product candidates.
If successful product liability claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability and costs. If the use of our product candidates harms patients, or is perceived to harm patients even when such
harm is unrelated to our product candidates, our regulatory approvals could be revoked or otherwise negatively impacted and we could be subject to costly and damaging product liability claims.
The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we obtain marketing approval exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us
by consumers, participants in our clinical trials, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our products. There is a risk that our product candidates may induce adverse
events. If we cannot successfully defend against product liability claims, we could incur substantial liability and costs. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
•

impairment of our business reputation;

•

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

•

costs due to related litigation;

•

distraction of management's attention from our primary business;

•

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

•

increased FDA warnings on product labels;

•

the inability to commercialize our product candidates; and

•

decreased demand for our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale.

We carry product liability insurance in amounts that we believe are sufficient in light of our current clinical programs; however, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient
amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. If and when we obtain marketing approval for product candidates, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may be
unable to obtain product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms or in adequate amounts. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs or medical treatments that had
unanticipated adverse effects. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our results of
operations and business.
During the course of treatment, patients may suffer adverse events, including death, for reasons that may or may not be related to our product candidates. Such events could subject us to costly litigation, require us to pay
substantial amounts of money to injured patients, delay, negatively impact or end our opportunity to receive or maintain regulatory approval to market our product candidates, if approved, or require us to suspend or abandon our
commercialization efforts of any approved product candidates. Even in a circumstance in which we do not believe that an adverse event is related to our products, the investigation into the circumstance may be time-consuming or
inconclusive. These investigations may interrupt our sales efforts, delay our regulatory approval process in other countries, or impact and limit the type of regulatory approvals our product candidates receive or maintain. As a result of
these factors, a product liability claim, even if successfully defended, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We depend heavily on the success of our most advanced program, ALLN-177. Our only other product development program, ALLN-346, is at the preclinical stage. Preclinical testing and clinical trials of product
candidates may not be successful. If we are unable to commercialize any product candidates we may develop or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.
We have invested substantially all of our efforts and financial resources in the identification and development of our most advanced product program, ALLN-177 for the treatment of hyperoxaluria. Our ability to generate
product revenues, which we do not expect will occur for many years, if ever, will depend heavily on the successful development and eventual commercialization of ALLN-177 and our future product candidates. The success of ALLN177, ALLN-346 and future product candidates we may identify and develop will depend on many factors, including the following:
•

sufficiency of our financial and other resources to complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials for our most advanced program;

•

successful completion of preclinical studies;

•

successful enrollment in, and completion of, clinical trials;

•

receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities in our target indications and potential additional indications;

•

establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

•

obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and non-patent exclusivity for our medicines;

•

launching commercial sales of the medicines, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

•

acceptance of the medicines, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community, and third-party payors;

•

effectively competing with other therapies and treatment options;

•

a continued acceptable safety profile of the medicines following approval;

•

enforcing and defending intellectual property and proprietary rights and claims; and

•

achieving desirable medicinal properties for the intended indications.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant delays or an inability to successfully commercialize our most advanced program or any other product candidates
we may develop, which would materially harm our business.
Of the large number of biologics and drugs in development in the pharmaceutical industry, only a small percentage result in the submission of a BLA or NDA to the FDA or an MAA to the EMA. Not all BLAs, NDAs or
MAAs that are submitted to a regulatory agency are approved for commercialization. ALLN-177 is an oral biologic product candidate, which is a less common formulation in the biotech industry. Accordingly, there are few oral
biologic therapeutics that have achieved regulatory approval. Furthermore, even if we do receive regulatory approval to market our most advanced program or any other product candidates that we may identify and develop, any such
approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product. Accordingly, even if we are able to obtain the requisite financing to continue to fund our research programs, we cannot assure you that
we will successfully develop or commercialize our most advanced program, or any of our other research programs. If we or any of our future development partners are unable to develop, or obtain regulatory approval for, or, if
approved, successfully commercialize, our most advanced program or any product candidates we may identify and develop, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to continue our business.
Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label, or result in significant negative consequences following
marketing approval, if any.
Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us to interrupt, delay or halt preclinical studies or could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a
more restrictive label or the
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delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulators. Results of our trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of these or other side effects. Although the incidences of
adverse events that were considered related to study drug were low and no drug-related serious or severe adverse events were observed, it is possible that our planned Phase 3 program or future clinical trials we conduct may not
demonstrate a favorable safety profile. In addition, while we have not observed ALLN-177 to be absorbed in our clinical trials to date, it is possible absorption could occur in our planned Phase 3 clinical trials, particularly with a target
population of patients with enteric hyperoxaluria, who are predisposed to chronic hyperabsorption. We may also need to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing for, among other things, drug-drug interactions, the generation
of formate and increased dosages of our product candidates. In the event of adverse safety issues, our trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparable foreign regulator could order us to cease further development
of or deny approval of ALLN-177 for any or all targeted indications. Any drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims.
Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.
Further, clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients and limited duration of exposure, rare and severe side effects of our product candidates may only
be uncovered with a significantly larger number of patients exposed to the product candidate. If ALLN-177 or our other product candidates receive marketing approval and we or others identify undesirable side effects caused by such
product candidates (or any other similar drugs) after such approval, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:
•

regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of such product candidates;

•

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a "boxed" warning or a contraindication;

•

we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;

•

we may be required to change the way such product candidates are distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the labeling of the product candidates;

•

regulatory authorities may require a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy plan to mitigate risks, which could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools;

•

we may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions;

•

we may decide to remove such product candidates from the marketplace;

•

we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or taking our product candidates; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

We believe that any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidates and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product
candidates, if approved, and significantly impact our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues.
Even if we are able to commercialize any product candidates, such products may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party reimbursement practices, or healthcare reform initiatives, which would
harm our business.
The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, and reimbursement for new medicines vary widely from country to country. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a medicine before it can be
marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control
even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a medicine in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the medicine, possibly for
lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the medicine in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more product
candidates, even if any product candidates we may develop obtain marketing approval.
Our ability to commercialize any medicines successfully also will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for these medicines and related treatments will be available from government health administration
authorities, private health
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insurers, and other organizations. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A
primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular
medications. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure that
reimbursement will be available for any medicine that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we
obtain marketing approval. If reimbursement is not available or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.
There may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly approved medicines, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the medicine is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign
regulators. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any medicine will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale, marketing and distribution. Interim
reimbursement levels for new medicines, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the medicine and the clinical setting in
which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost medicines and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Net prices for medicines may be reduced by mandatory discounts or
rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of medicines from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States.
Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement policies. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable payment rates from both government-funded
and private payors for any approved medicines we may develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize medicines, and our overall financial condition.
Due to the novel nature of our product candidates and the potential for any product candidates we may develop to offer therapeutic benefit, we face uncertainty related to pricing and reimbursement for these product
candidates.
Our initial target patient populations are relatively small, as a result of which the pricing and reimbursement of any product candidates we may develop, if approved, must be adequate to support the necessary commercial
infrastructure. If we are unable to obtain adequate levels of reimbursement, our ability to successfully market and sell any such product candidates will be adversely affected. The manner and level at which reimbursement is provided
for services related to any product candidates we may develop (e.g. for administration of our product to patients) is also important. Inadequate reimbursement for such services may lead to physician resistance and adversely affect our
ability to market or sell our products. In addition, it may be necessary for us to develop new reimbursement models in order to realize adequate value. Payors may not be able or willing to adopt such new models, and patients may be
unable to afford that portion of the cost that such models may require them to bear. If we determine such new models are necessary but we are unsuccessful in developing them, or if such models are not adopted by payors, our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be adversely affected.
We expect that coverage and reimbursement by government and private payors will be essential for most patients to be able to afford our product candidates. Accordingly, sales of any such product candidates will depend
substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of any product candidates we may develop will be paid by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit, and similar healthcare management
organizations, or will be reimbursed by government authorities, private health coverage insurers, and other third-party payors. Coverage and reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon several factors, including the thirdparty payor’s determination that use of a product is:
•

a covered benefit under its health plan;

•

safe, effective, and medically necessary;

•

appropriate for the specific patient;

•

cost-effective; and

•

neither experimental nor investigational.
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Obtaining coverage and reimbursement for a product from third-party payors is a time-consuming and costly process that could require us to provide to the payor supporting scientific, clinical, and cost-effectiveness data.
There is significant uncertainty related to third-party coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. If coverage
and reimbursement are not available, or are available only at limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any product candidates we may develop. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement
amount may not be adequate to realize a sufficient return on our investment.
Moreover, the downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to
the entry of new products such as ours. If we are unable to obtain adequate levels of reimbursement, our ability to successfully market and sell any product candidates we may develop will be harmed.
In light of the large population of patients with hyperoxaluria who reside outside the United States, our ability to generate meaningful revenues in those jurisdictions may be limited due to the strict price controls and
reimbursement limitations imposed by governments outside of the United States.
In some countries, particularly those in the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable
time after the receipt of marketing approval for a drug. To obtain coverage and reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product
candidate to other available therapies. If reimbursement of our product candidates is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be harmed, possibly materially, if we are not
able to market our product to the large population of patients with hyperoxaluria who reside in outside the United States.
Currently we plan to seek regulatory approval to market ALLN-177 solely for the treatment of enteric hyperoxaluria in adults and, unless we seek regulatory approval for additional indications, we will be prohibited
from marketing ALLN-177 for any other indication.
We intend to initially seek approval to market ALLN-177 for the treatment of enteric hyperoxaluria in adults. Even if we obtain regulatory approval to market ALLN-177 in this indication, we will likely be prohibited from
marketing ALLN-177 for any other indications. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products. While ALLN-177 has been studied in patients beyond the enteric subgroup, ALLN-177
may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in its approved labeling. Under applicable regulations, the ability of a company to make marketing statements about the effectiveness of its drug outside of
the statements made in the label, referred to as “off-label” marketing, is prohibited. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability.
If we fail to comply or are found to have failed to comply with FDA and other regulations prohibiting the promotion of ALLN-177 for unapproved uses, we could be subject to criminal penalties, substantial fines or other
sanctions and damage awards.
The regulations prohibiting the promotion of products for unapproved uses are complex and subject to substantial interpretation by the FDA and other government agencies. If we receive marketing approval for ALLN-177
for the treatment of enteric hyperoxaluria in adults, physicians may nevertheless prescribe it to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. We intend to implement compliance and training programs designed
to ensure that our sales and marketing practices comply with applicable regulations. Notwithstanding these programs, the FDA or other government agencies may allege or find that our practices constitute prohibited promotion of
ALLN-177 for unapproved uses. We also cannot be sure that our employees will comply with company policies and applicable regulations regarding the promotion of products for unapproved uses.
Over the past several years, a significant number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have been the target of inquiries and investigations by various federal and state regulatory, investigative, prosecutorial and
administrative entities in connection with the promotion of products for unapproved uses and other sales practices, including the Department of Justice and various U.S. Attorneys’ Offices, the Office of Inspector General of the
Department of Health and Human Services, the FDA, the Federal Trade Commission and various state Attorneys General offices. These investigations have alleged violations of various federal and state laws and regulations, including
claims asserting antitrust violations, violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the False Claims Act, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, anti-kickback laws, and other alleged violations in connection with the
promotion of products for unapproved uses, pricing and Medicare and/or Medicaid reimbursement. Many of these investigations originate as “qui tam” actions under the False Claims Act. Under the False Claims Act, any individual
can bring a claim on behalf of the government alleging that a person or entity has presented a false
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claim, or caused a false claim to be submitted, to the government for payment. The person bringing a qui tam suit is entitled to a share of any recovery or settlement. Qui tam suits, also commonly referred to as “whistleblower suits,”
are often brought by current or former employees. In a qui tam suit, the government must decide whether to intervene and prosecute the case. If it declines, the individual may pursue the case alone.
If the FDA or any other governmental agency initiates an enforcement action against us or if we are the subject of a qui tam suit and it is determined that we violated prohibitions relating to the promotion of products for
unapproved uses, we could be subject to substantial civil or criminal fines or damage awards and other sanctions such as consent decrees and corporate integrity agreements pursuant to which our activities would be subject to ongoing
scrutiny and monitoring to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Any such fines, awards or other sanctions would have an adverse effect on our revenue, business, financial prospects and reputation.
Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties
The third parties upon whom we rely for the supply of the drug product and drug substance used in our lead product candidate are our sole source of supply, and the loss of any of these suppliers could significantly harm
our business.
We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for clinical or commercial production of any product candidates. We have limited personnel experienced in drug manufacturing and formulation, and we lack the
resources and the capabilities to manufacture ALLN-177 on a clinical or commercial scale. We do not intend to develop facilities for the manufacture of drug product candidates for clinical trials or products for commercial purposes in
the foreseeable future. The drug product and drug substance used in ALLN-177 are supplied to us from single-source suppliers. Our ability to successfully develop our product candidates, to supply the drug required for our planned
clinical trials, and to ultimately supply our commercial drugs in quantities sufficient to meet the market demand, depends in part on our ability to obtain the drug product and drug substance for these drugs in accordance with
regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for commercialization and clinical testing. We do not currently have arrangements in place for a redundant or second-source supply of any such drug product or drug substance in the
event any of our current suppliers of such drug product and drug substance cease their operations for any reason.
For all of our product candidates, we intend to identify and qualify additional manufacturers to provide such drug product and drug substance prior to submission of a BLA to the FDA and/or an MAA to the EMA. We are
not certain, however, that our single-source suppliers will be able to meet our demand for their products, either because of the nature of our agreements with those suppliers, our limited experience with those suppliers or our relative
importance as a customer to those suppliers. It may be difficult for us to assess their ability to timely meet our demand in the future based on past performance. While our suppliers have generally met our demand for their products on
a timely basis in the past, they may subordinate our needs in the future to their other customers.
Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for the drug product and drug substance used in our product candidates, if required, may not be accomplished quickly. If we are able to find a replacement supplier, such
replacement supplier would need to be qualified and may require additional regulatory approval, which could result in further delay. While we seek to maintain adequate inventory of the drug product and drug substance used in our
product candidates, any interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain such drug product and drug substance from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner could impede,
delay, limit or prevent our development efforts, which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
We plan to continue to rely upon contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaboration partners to manufacture commercial quantities of our product candidates if and when approved for marketing by the applicable
regulatory authorities. We have not secured commercial supply agreements with any contract manufacturers for ALLN-177 and can give no assurance that we will enter commercial supply agreements with any contract manufacturers
on favorable terms or at all or that we will be able to manufacture our product candidates at commercial scale at the cost we expect. Our contract manufacturers’ failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, in
accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, or the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product shortages, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery,
cost overruns or other problems that could seriously harm our business. Contract manufacturers often encounter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as well as shortages of qualified personnel.
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An element of our strategy is to enter into licensing or collaboration agreements with respect to ALLN-177 and future product candidates in certain territories. We may not be able to identify suitable collaborators and,
even if we do, our dependence on such relationships may adversely affect our business.
Because we have limited resources, we may seek to enter into collaboration agreements with other pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies. Our strategy for commercializing ALLN-177 and any future product
candidates we may develop outside of the United States may depend on our ability to enter into agreements with collaborators to obtain assistance and funding for the development and potential commercialization of our product
candidates in the territories in which we may seek to partner. Despite our efforts, we may be unable to secure collaborative licensing or other arrangements that are necessary for us to further develop and commercialize our product
candidates. Supporting diligence activities conducted by potential collaborators and negotiating the financial and other terms of a collaboration agreement are long and complex processes with uncertain results. If we fail to enter into
collaborations and do not have sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities ourselves, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market or
continue to develop our technology platforms, and our business may be materially and adversely affected. Even if we are successful in entering into one or more collaboration agreements, collaborations may involve greater
uncertainty for us, as we may have less control over certain aspects of our collaborative programs than we do over our proprietary development and commercialization programs. All of the risks relating to product development,
regulatory approval and commercialization described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K also apply to the activities of any of our future program collaborators.
Any future collaborations that we enter into may not be successful. Any failure by our partners to perform their obligations or any decision by our partners to terminate these agreements could negatively impact our ability
to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approvals for and commercialize our product candidates. In addition, partners may not properly obtain, maintain or, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights, may infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate third-party intellectual property rights, may misappropriate our trade secrets or may otherwise use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate
our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to litigation and potential liability. In the event we grant exclusive rights to such partners, we could be precluded from potential commercialization of our product
candidates within the territories in which we have a partner. Furthermore, any termination of our collaboration agreements will terminate any funding we may receive under the relevant collaboration agreement and may impair our
ability to fund further development efforts and our progress in our development programs.
Further, our potential future collaborators may develop alternative products or pursue alternative technologies either on their own or in collaboration with others, including our competitors, and the priorities or focus of our
collaborators may shift such that our product candidates receive less attention or resources than we would like, or they may be terminated altogether. Any such actions by our potential future collaborators may harm our business
prospects and ability to earn revenues. In addition, we could have disputes with our potential future collaborators, such as the interpretation of terms in our agreements. Any such disagreements could lead to delays in the development
or commercialization of our product candidates or could result in time-consuming and expensive litigation or arbitration, which may not be resolved in our favor.
We have relied, and will rely in the future, on third parties to conduct our nonclinical studies and clinical trials. If these third parties do not appropriately carry out their contractual duties, fail to conduct high-quality
studies or meet expected deadlines, regulatory approval and commercialization of ALLN-177 or any future candidates we may develop could be delayed or not obtained at all.
We do not have the ability to conduct all of our clinical trials independently. We have relied will continue to rely on third parties, including clinical investigators, third-party CROs, patients and consultants, to monitor,
manage data for, participate in and execute our ongoing nonclinical and planned clinical programs for ALLN-177 and other product candidates, and we control only some aspects of their activities. For example, in our completed Phase
2 clinical trials we relied heavily on the efforts and contributions of investigative clinical sites and study patients to comply with a strict treatment regimen (e.g. three capsules per day with meals) and accurate timing of 24 hour urine
collection, with the complete collection of all of the patient’s urine during a given 24 hour period and with the proper handling of collected urine specimens, including storage, documentation, sample handling and shipping to the
testing laboratory. Any failure of these third parties to meet their obligations has had or may in the future have an adverse effect on the results of clinical trials we have conducted or will conduct.
Because we rely on third parties, our internal capacity to perform these functions is limited. We currently have a small number of employees, which limits the internal resources we have available to identify and monitor our
third-party providers. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our nonclinical studies and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol and legal, regulatory and scientific requirements and
standards, including, for example, GLP, the Animal Welfare Act and GCPs. Our reliance on third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. Regulatory authorities enforce GCPs through periodic inspections of trial
sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed
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unreliable and the relevant regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials in support of our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory
authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP requirements. We are also required to register clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database,
ClinicalTrials.gov, within certain timeframes. Failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat nonclinical studies and clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.
The third parties conducting our nonclinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with such contractors, we cannot control whether or
not they devote sufficient time, skill and resources to our ongoing clinical and nonclinical programs. To the extent we are unable to identify and successfully manage the performance of third-party service providers in the future, our
business may be adversely affected. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the
failure to adhere to our protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our nonclinical studies and clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining,
regulatory approval of or successfully commercialize ALLN-177 and any other product candidates we may develop. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our product candidates could be harmed, our
costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed, impaired or foreclosed.
Our reliance on third parties requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a competitor will discover them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed.
Because we rely on third parties to manufacture ALLN-177 and conduct other aspects of our clinical development activities, we must, at times, share trade secrets and other confidential information with them. We seek to
protect our proprietary technology in part by entering into confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, material transfer agreements, collaborative research agreements, consulting agreements or other similar agreements with any
collaborators, CROs, manufacturers and consultants prior to beginning research or disclosing proprietary information. These agreements typically limit the rights of the third parties to use or disclose our confidential information, such
as trade secrets. However, we cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our trade secrets or other confidential information. Despite the contractual provisions
employed when working with third parties, the need to share trade secrets and other confidential information increases the risk that such trade secrets and confidential information become known by our competitors, are inadvertently
incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. Given that our proprietary position is based, in part, on our know-how and trade secrets, a competitor’s or other third party’s
discovery of our trade secrets or other unauthorized use or disclosure would impair our competitive position and may have a material adverse effect on our business.
In addition, these agreements typically restrict the ability of certain collaborators, CROs, manufacturers and consultants to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets. Our academic collaborators typically have
rights to publish data, provided that we are notified in advance and may delay publication for a specified time in order to secure our intellectual property rights arising from the collaboration. In other cases, publication rights are
controlled exclusively by us, although in some cases we may share these rights with other parties. Despite our efforts to protect our trade secrets, our competitors or other third parties may discover our trade secrets, either through
breach of these agreements, independent development or publication of information including our trade secrets in cases where we do not have proprietary or otherwise protected rights at the time of publication. Discovery of our trade
secrets by a competitor or other third party would impair our competitive position and have an adverse impact on our business.
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital
We have incurred significant losses since inception, expect to incur significant and increasing losses for at least the next several years, have not generated any revenue, may never generate any revenue, and may never
achieve or maintain profitability.
We have incurred significant annual net operating losses in every year since our inception. We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing net operating losses for at least the next several years. Our net losses were
$21.7 million, $24.5 million and $14.2 for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. As of December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $82.0 million. We have not generated any revenue, have not completed the
development of any product candidate and may never have a product candidate approved for commercialization. We have financed our operations to date primarily through private placements of convertible preferred stock, our initial
public offering, or IPO, in November 2017 and a credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB. We have devoted substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to research and development of ALLN-177 and general and
administrative expense to support such research and development. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. Net losses and negative cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse
effect on our stockholders’ (deficit) equity and working capital.
66

We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:
•

conduct future clinical trials of our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, including our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program in adult patients with enteric hyperoxaluria;

•

manufacture additional material for these potential future clinical trials;

•

scale up our manufacturing process for ALLN-177 to prepare for the submission of a potential BLA and commercialization if our clinical development program is successful;

•

advance the development of ALLN-346;

•

seek to identify and develop additional product candidates;

•

seek regulatory and marketing approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any;

•

establish sales, marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure in the future to commercialize various products for which we may obtain marketing approval, if any;

•

obtain, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

•

hire and retain additional personnel, such as clinical, manufacturing, quality control and scientific personnel;

•

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and help us comply with our obligations as a public company; and

•

add equipment and physical infrastructure to support our research and development programs.

Our ability to become and remain profitable depends on our ability to generate revenue. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we are, or any future collaborator is, able to obtain marketing
approval for, and successfully commercialize, one or more of our product candidates. Successful commercialization will require achievement of key milestones, including initiating and successfully completing clinical trials of our
product candidates, obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those products for which we, or any of our future collaborators, may obtain marketing approval, satisfying any postmarketing requirements and obtaining reimbursement for our products from private insurance or government payors. Because of the uncertainties and risks associated with these activities, we are unable to accurately predict the timing
and amount of revenues, if any, and if or when we might achieve profitability. We and any future collaborators may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, or any future collaborators do, we may never generate revenues
that are large enough for us to achieve profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease
the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts, diversify our pipeline of product candidates or continue our operations and cause a decline in
the value of our stock price.
We have a limited operating history, no products approved for sale and no history of commercializing pharmaceutical products, which may make it difficult to evaluate the prospects for our future viability.
We commenced operations in 2011. Our operations to date have been limited to financing and staffing our company and developing our product candidates. We have not yet demonstrated an ability to obtain marketing
approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful product commercialization. Accordingly, you should consider
our prospects in light of the costs, uncertainties, delays and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in the early stages of development, especially clinical stage biopharmaceutical companies such as ours. Any predictions you
make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of successfully developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products.
We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known or unknown factors in achieving our business objectives. We will eventually need to transition from a company with a
development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition.
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We expect our financial condition and operating results to continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, you
should not rely upon the results of any quarterly or annual periods as indications of future operating performance.
We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this necessary capital when needed on acceptable terms, or at all, could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development, other operations or commercialization efforts.
Since our inception, most of our resources have been dedicated to the nonclinical and clinical development of our lead product candidate, ALLN-177. As of December 31, 2017, we had working capital of $88.5 million and
capital resources consisting of cash and cash equivalents of $94.5 million. We believe that we will continue to expend substantial resources for the foreseeable future as we continue clinical development, seek regulatory approval, and
prepare for the commercialization of ALLN-177 and develop ALLN-346 and any other product candidates we may choose to pursue. These expenditures will include costs associated with research and development, conducting
nonclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, sales and marketing, and manufacturing and supply. In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise. Because the outcome of any clinical trial and/or regulatory
approval process is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development, regulatory approval process and commercialization of ALLN-177 and any future product
candidates.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2017 will enable us to fund our operating plan into 2020. However, our operating plan may change as a result of many factors currently unknown
to us, and we may need to seek additional funds sooner than planned, through public or private equity, debt financings or other sources, such as strategic collaborations. Such financing may result in dilution to stockholders, imposition
of debt covenants and repayment obligations, or other restrictions that may affect our business. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have
sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.
Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
•

the time and cost necessary to complete our pivotal Phase 3 program and obtain regulatory approvals for ALLN-177 and the costs of post-marketing studies that could be required by regulatory authorities;

•

the costs of manufacturing clinical trial supplies of ALLN-177;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize ALLN-177;

•

the selling and marketing costs associated with ALLN-177, including the cost and timing of building our sales and marketing capabilities;

•

the amount of sales and other revenues from ALLN-177, including the sales price and the availability of adequate third-party reimbursement;

•

the cash requirements of any future acquisitions or discovery of product candidates;

•

the progress, timing, scope and costs of our nonclinical studies and clinical trials, including the ability to enroll patients in a timely manner for potential future clinical trials;

•

our ability to comply with the covenants under our current and future credit facilities;

•

the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market developments; and

•

the costs of filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

•

Additional funds may not be available when we need them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or
terminate:

•

clinical trials or other development activities for ALLN-177 or any other product candidate;
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•

our preclinical research and development activities; or

•

our establishment of sales and marketing capabilities or other activities that may be necessary to commercialize ALLN-177 or any future product candidate.

Our existing and any future indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.
As of December 31, 2017, we had $9.7 million of outstanding borrowings under our credit facility with SVB. We are required to make payments of principal and interest on these borrowings in monthly installments through
May 2020. Subject to the restrictions in this existing credit facility, we could in the future incur additional indebtedness beyond our borrowings from SVB.
Our outstanding indebtedness, including any additional indebtedness beyond our borrowings from SVB, combined with our other financial obligations and contractual commitments could have significant adverse
consequences, including:
•

requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash resources to the payment of interest and principal, reducing money available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, product development and other general
corporate purposes;

•

increasing our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions;

•

subjecting us to restrictive covenants that may reduce our ability to take certain corporate actions or obtain further debt or equity financing;

•

limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we compete; and

•

placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options.

We intend to satisfy our current and future debt service obligations with our existing cash and cash equivalents. However, we may not have sufficient funds, and may be unable to arrange for additional financing, to pay the
amounts due under our existing credit facility or any other debt instruments. Failure to make payments or comply with other covenants under our existing credit facility or such other debt instruments could result in an event of default
and acceleration of amounts due. Under our loan and security agreement with SVB, the occurrence of an event that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, operations, assets or condition is an
event of default. If an event of default occurs and SVB accelerates the amounts due, we may not be able to make accelerated payments, and the lenders could seek to enforce security interests in the collateral securing such
indebtedness, which includes substantially all of our assets other than our intellectual property. In addition, the covenants under our existing credit facility, the pledge of our assets as collateral and the negative pledge with respect to
our intellectual property could limit our ability to obtain additional debt financing.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We depend on the knowledge and skill of our senior management and other key employees, and if we are unable to retain or if we fail to recruit additional highly skilled personnel, our business will be harmed.
Our ability to compete in the highly competitive pharmaceuticals industry depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified managerial, commercial, scientific and medical personnel. We are highly
dependent on our management, commercial, scientific and medical personnel. In order to induce valuable employees to remain with us, we have provided employees with stock options that vest over time. The value to employees of
stock options that vest over time is significantly affected by movements in our stock price that we cannot control and, together with our other compensation programs and benefits, may at any time be insufficient to counteract more
lucrative offers from other companies.
We are highly dependent upon the principal members of our management team, including Alexey Margolin, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer, Louis Brenner, M.D., our President and Chief Operating Officer, and Edward
Wholihan, our Chief Financial Officer. The loss of any executive or other principal member of our management team would impair our ability to identify, develop and market new products and conduct successful operations.
In addition, our growth will require us to hire a significant number of qualified technical, commercial and administrative personnel. There is intense competition from other companies and research and academic institutions
for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. Other biopharmaceutical companies with which we compete for qualified personnel may have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles, and a longer history in the
industry than we do. They also may
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provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to high-quality candidates than what we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and
retain high-quality personnel, the rate and success at which we can develop and commercialize ALLN-177 and any other product candidates we may develop would be impaired and could adversely affect our growth and financial
performance.
Our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements and insider trading.
We are exposed to the risk that our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or
negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violate the regulations of the FDA and other comparable foreign regulators, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to
such authorities; healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations in the United States and abroad; or laws that require the reporting of financial information or data accurately. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements
in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of
pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of
clinical trials or creating fraudulent data in our preclinical studies or clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. Prior to completing our IPO, we adopted a code of conduct
applicable to all of our employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling
unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a
person could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant
impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual
damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
We are subject to U.S. and foreign anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws with respect to our operations and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal and/or civil liability and harm our
business.
We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and possibly other
state and national anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees, agents, third-party intermediaries,
joint venture partners and collaborators from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. We may have direct or indirect interactions
with officials and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities, and other organizations. In addition, we may engage third-party intermediaries to promote our clinical research activities abroad
and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, and other regulatory approvals. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners, and
agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities.
In connection with our IPO, we adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and expect to prepare and implement policies and procedures to ensure compliance with such code. The Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics mandates compliance with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws applicable to our business throughout the world. However, we cannot assure you that our employees and third-party intermediaries will comply with this code
or such anti-corruption laws. Noncompliance with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other enforcement actions,
disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension and/or debarment from contracting with certain persons, the loss of export privileges, reputational harm, adverse media
coverage, and other collateral consequences. If any subpoenas, investigations, or other enforcement actions are launched, or governmental or other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal
litigation, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and
significant defense and compliance costs and other professional fees. In certain cases, enforcement authorities may even cause us to appoint an independent compliance monitor which can result in added costs and administrative
burdens.
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If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could have a material adverse effect on the success of our business.
We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes.
Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of
these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting
damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties.
Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide
adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or
radioactive materials.
Our business and operations would suffer in the event of computer system failures, cyber-attacks on our systems or deficiency in our cyber security.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, malware, natural
disasters, fire, terrorism, war and telecommunication, electrical failures, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over the Internet, attachments to emails, persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our
organization. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity
and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. In addition, our systems safeguard important confidential personal data regarding patients enrolled in our clinical trials. If a disruption event
were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a disruption of our drug development programs. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in
delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach results in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development of ALLN-177 and any other product candidates we may develop could be delayed.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient patent protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the patent protection is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize products
similar or identical to ours, and our ability to commercialize our product candidates successfully may be adversely affected.
Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with respect to our proprietary product candidates. If we do not adequately protect or enforce
our intellectual property, competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could harm our business and ability to achieve profitability. To protect our proprietary position, we file patent
applications in the United States and abroad related to our novel product candidates that are important to our business. The patent application and approval process is expensive, complex and time-consuming. We may not be able to
file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner.
The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology and pharmaceutical patents has emerged to
date in the United States or in many foreign jurisdictions. In addition, the determination of patent rights with respect to biological and pharmaceutical products commonly involves complex legal and factual questions, which has in
recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third
parties practicing the technology claimed in such applications unless and until a patent issues from such applications. Assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, currently, the first to file a patent application is generally
entitled to the patent. However, prior to March 16, 2013, in the United States, the first to invent was entitled to the patent. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent
applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our
patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions.
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Moreover, because the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, our patents or pending patent applications may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United
States and abroad. For example, we may be subject to a third party preissuance submission of prior art to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, or become involved in post-grant review procedures, oppositions,
derivations, reexaminations, inter partes review or interference proceedings, in the United States or elsewhere, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such challenges may result in
loss of exclusivity or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or
limit the duration of the patent protection of our technology and products. In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such
candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized.
Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect our product candidates, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive products.
Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection. In addition, the laws of foreign countries
may not protect our rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. For example, European patent law restricts the patentability of methods of treatment of the human body more than United States law
does.
Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive
advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. Our competitors may also seek approval to market their own products
similar to or otherwise competitive with our products, for example, ALLN-177. Alternatively, our competitors may seek to market generic versions of any approved products by submitting abbreviated BLAs to the FDA during which
process they may claim that patents owned or licensed by us are invalid, unenforceable or not infringed. In these circumstances, we may need to defend or assert our patents, or both, including by filing lawsuits alleging patent
infringement. In any of these types of proceedings, a court or other agency with jurisdiction may find our patents invalid or unenforceable, or that our competitors are competing in a non-infringing manner. Thus, even if we have valid
and enforceable patents, these patents still may not provide protection against competing products or processes sufficient to achieve our business objectives. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive
position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.
We heavily rely on certain in-licensed patents and other intellectual property rights in connection with our development of ALLN-177 and, if we fail to comply with our obligations under our existing and any future
intellectual property licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are important to our business.
Our ability to develop and commercialize our lead product candidate, ALLN-177, is heavily dependent on licenses to patent rights and other intellectual property granted to us by third parties. For example, we are party to a
license agreement with Althea Technologies, Inc. (now known as Ajinomoto Althea, Inc.), or Althea, under which we received an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing, sublicensable, and, except under certain circumstances, nontransferable license under certain of the patent rights to develop, use, make, have made, market, offer to sell, sell, have sold, distribute, import or otherwise exploit ALLN-177. We may enter into additional license agreements in the
future. Our license agreement with Althea imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various diligence, milestone payment, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with our
obligations under these licenses, our licensors, including Althea, may have the right to terminate these license agreements, in which event we might not be able to market our lead product candidate, ALLN-177. Similarly, other
licensors may convert an exclusive license to a non-exclusive license, which could adversely affect the value of a product candidate developed under a given license agreement. Termination of any of our license agreements or
reduction or elimination of our licensed rights may also result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated licenses with less favorable terms.
Further, in some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. For
example, pursuant to our license agreement with Althea, Althea controls such activities for certain patents licensed to us under such agreement. Therefore, we cannot be certain that these patents will be prosecuted, maintained and
enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. If our current or future licensors or collaboration partners fail to obtain, maintain or protect any patents or patent applications licensed to us, our rights to such
patents and patent applications may be reduced or eliminated and our right to develop and commercialize any of our product candidates that are the subject of such licensed rights could be adversely affected.
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Patent term may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our products for an adequate amount of time.
Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized.
In the United States, the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 permits a patent term extension of up to five years beyond the normal expiration of the patent, which is limited to the approved indication (or
any additional indications approved during the period of extension). However, a patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of the product’s approval by the FDA, only
one patent applicable to an approved drug is eligible for the extension, and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. In the future, if and when our product
candidates, for example, ALLN-177, receive FDA approval, we intend to apply for patent term extensions on patents covering those products in any jurisdiction where these are available. However, the applicable authorities, including
the FDA and the USPTO in the United States, and any equivalent regulatory authority in other countries, may not agree with our assessment of whether such extensions are available, and may refuse to grant extensions to our patents,
or may grant more limited extensions than we request. Moreover, we may not receive an extension because of, for example, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or
otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. If this occurs, our competitors may be able to take advantage of our investment in development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their
product earlier than might otherwise be the case.
We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be expensive, time consuming and unsuccessful.
Competitors and other third parties may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our patents and other intellectual property rights. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement
claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and attention of our management, business and scientific personnel. In addition, many of our adversaries in these proceedings may have the ability to dedicate
substantially greater resources to prosecuting these legal actions than we can.
A court may disagree with our allegations and may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the third-party technology in question. Furthermore, the other
party could counterclaim that we infringe their intellectual property or counterclaim that a patent we have asserted against them is invalid or unenforceable, or both. In patent litigation in the United States, counterclaims challenging
the validity, enforceability or scope of asserted patents are commonplace. Similarly, third parties may initiate legal proceedings against us seeking a declaration that certain of our intellectual property rights are non-infringed, invalid,
or unenforceable. The outcome of any such proceeding is generally unpredictable.
Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, non-enablement, or written description. In addition, validity challenges may,
under certain circumstances, be based upon non-statutory obviousness-type double patenting and associated rules related to common ownership, which, if successful, could result in a finding that the patent claims at issue are invalid
and unenforceable or a loss of patent term, including a patent term adjustment granted by the USPTO. Furthermore, patents may be held unenforceable if someone connected with prosecution of the patent in question withheld relevant
information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution of the patent. It is possible that prior art of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution exists, which could render our patents
invalid. It is also possible that prior art may exist that we are aware of but do not believe is relevant to our current or future patents, but that could nevertheless be determined to render our patents invalid.
An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability of
our patents covering one of our product candidates, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection covering such product candidate. Competing drugs may also be sold in other countries in which our patent
coverage might not exist or be as strong. If we lose a foreign patent lawsuit, alleging our infringement of a competitor’s patents, we could be prevented from marketing our drugs in one or more foreign countries. Any of these
outcomes would have a material adverse effect on our business.
Because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation.
There could also be public announcements of the results of hearing, motions, or other interim developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of
shares of our common stock. Even if we ultimately prevail, a court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages, which may not be an adequate remedy.
Furthermore, the monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings. Uncertainties resulting from the
initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We may not be able to effectively enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. The requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly in
developing countries.
Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual property laws. Additionally, the patent laws of some foreign countries do
not afford intellectual property protection to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries, for example, India and China, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property rights. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents
or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, certain foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. Consequently, we may not be able
to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States.
Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent
protection, if our ability to enforce our patents to stop infringing activities is inadequate. These products may compete with our product candidates, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient
to prevent them from competing.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and resources from other aspects of our business. Furthermore, while we
intend to protect our intellectual property rights in the major markets for our product candidates, we cannot ensure that we will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our
product candidates. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate.
Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent
protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In addition,
periodic maintenance fees on issued patents often must be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies over the lifetime of the patent. While an unintentional lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other
means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and
failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our drugs or procedures, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing drugs that are the same as
or similar to our product candidates, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
If we are sued for infringing intellectual property of third parties, such litigation could be costly and time consuming and could prevent or delay us from developing or commercializing our product candidates.
Our commercial success depends, in part, upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating
the proprietary rights and intellectual property of third parties. We may in the future become party to, or threatened with, adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product candidates
and technologies we use in our business. Our competitors or other third parties may assert infringement claims against us, alleging that our product candidates are covered by their patents. We cannot be certain that we do not infringe
existing patents or that we will not infringe patents that may be granted in the future. For example, we are aware of companies that have filed patent applications directed to oxalate and uric acid degrading enzymes, some of which
have already been allowed or issued, and others may issue in the future. It is possible that additional patent applications are filed and additional patents directed to these enzymes are granted in the future. Furthermore, because patent
applications can take many years to issue and may be confidential for 18 months or more after filing, and because patent claims can be revised before issuance, there may be applications now pending which may later result in issued
patents that may be infringed by the manufacture, use or sale of our product candidates. If a patent holder believes our product candidate infringes its patent rights, the patent holder may sue us even if we have received patent
protection for our technology. Moreover, we may face patent infringement claims from non-practicing entities that have no relevant drug revenue and against whom our own patent portfolio may thus have no deterrent effect.
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If we were sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe the patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or
unenforceable. However, proving invalidity and unenforceability is difficult. In the United States, for example, providing invalidity requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoyed
by issued patents. Even if we are successful, we may incur substantial costs and the time and attention of our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could significantly harm our
business and operating results. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.
If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue developing and marketing our product candidates and technology. However,
we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain such a license, it could be granted on non-exclusive terms, thereby providing our competitors and other third
parties access to the same technologies licensed to us. Without such a license, we could be forced, including by court order, to cease developing and commercializing the infringing technology or product candidates. In addition, we
could be found liable for significant monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed such third-party patent rights. A finding of infringement could significantly harm our
business and operating results.
Changes to the patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
As is the case with other biotechnological and pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the biotechnological and
pharmaceutical industries involve both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. Recent patent reform legislation in the United States and other countries, including the
Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or Leahy-Smith Act, signed into law on September 16, 2011, could increase those uncertainties and costs. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These
include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents. In addition, the Leahy-Smith Act has
transformed the U.S. patent system into a “first to file” system. The first-to-file provisions, however, only became effective on March 16, 2013. It is still not yet clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation
of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could make it more difficult to obtain patent protection for our inventions and increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent
applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain
situations. Additionally, there have been recent proposals for additional changes to the patent laws of the United States and other countries that, if adopted, could impact our ability to obtain patent protection for our proprietary
technology or our ability to enforce our proprietary technology. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing
patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be harmed.
Although we have obtained composition of matter patents covering ALLN-177 and its use in therapy, we also rely on trade secrets, including confidential and unpatented know-how important to the maintenance of our
competitive position. We protect our trade secrets and confidential and unpatented know-how, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to such knowledge, such as our
employees, outside scientific collaborators, advisors, contractors, contract manufacturers and other third parties. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment agreements with our employees and consultants
that obligate them to maintain confidentiality and assign their inventions to us. Despite these efforts, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may
not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition,
some courts in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third
party, we would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, our
competitive position would be harmed.
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We may be subject to claims by third parties asserting that our employees or we have misappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual property rights, or claiming ownership of what we regard as our own
intellectual property.
Many of our consultants, advisors and employees, including our senior management, were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. Some of these individuals, including certain members of
our senior management, may have executed proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition agreements, or similar agreements, in connection with such previous employment. Although we try to ensure that our consultants,
advisors and employees do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or
other proprietary information, of any such third party. Litigation may be necessary to defend against such claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual
property rights or personnel or sustain damages. Such intellectual property rights could be awarded to a third party, and we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to commercialize our technology or products. Such
a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
In addition, while we typically require our employees, consultants and contractors who may be involved in the development of intellectual property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may
be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, develops intellectual property that we regard as our own, which may result in claims by or against us related to the ownership of such intellectual property.
The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to
determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. If we fail in prosecuting or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Even if we are
successful in prosecuting or defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to our senior management and scientific personnel. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to devote substantial time to compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices.
As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, we will incur significant legal, accounting and
other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of The Nasdaq Stock
Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance
practices. We expect that we will need to hire additional accounting, finance and other personnel in connection with our becoming, and our efforts to comply with the requirements of being, a public company and our management and
other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time towards maintaining compliance with these requirements. These requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more
time-consuming and costly. We are currently evaluating these rules and regulations, and cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of such costs. These rules and regulations are often subject
to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or SOX Section 404, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our second filing of an
Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over
financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with SOX Section 404 within the prescribed period, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal
control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and
document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting
and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that we will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective as required by SOX Section 404. If we identify one or more material weaknesses, it could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.
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The price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially.
On November 6, 2017, we completed the sale of 5,333,333 shares of our common stock in our IPO, at a price to the public of $14.00 per share. There has been a public market for our common stock for only a short period
of time. Although our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market, an active public market for our common stock may not emerge or be sustained.
In addition, the market price for our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, including:
•

the success of competitive drugs or technologies;

•

regulatory actions with respect to our product candidates or our competitors' products and product candidates;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures,

•

collaborations or capital commitments;

•

regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

•

developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights;

•

the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

•

the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs;

•

the results of our efforts to discover, develop, acquire or in-license additional product candidates or drugs;

•

actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts, and our performance in relation to such estimates;

•

variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

•

announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

•

sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or other stockholders;

•

variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

•

changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, that cover our stock;

•

changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

•

market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;

•

general economic, industry and market conditions; and

•

the other factors described in this "Risk Factors" section.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will likely depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. There
can be no assurance that analysts will cover us, or provide favorable coverage. If one or more analysts downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock, our share price would likely decline. In addition, if one or more analysts
cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders exercise significant control over our company, which will limit your ability to influence corporate matters.
As of March 1, 2018, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders collectively controlled approximately 73.5% of our outstanding common stock, excluding any shares of common stock that such persons
may have the right to acquire upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants. As a result, these stockholders, if they act together, will be able to influence our management and affairs and all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. As a result, these stockholders, if they act together, will be able to influence our management and affairs and all matters requiring stockholder
approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated by-laws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a change in our management. These provisions include a classified board of directors, a
prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders and the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the
provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with us. Although we believe these
provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockholders by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our board of directors, they would apply even if an offer rejected by our board were
considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace
members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.
A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold into the market in the near future, which could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly,
even if our business is otherwise doing well.
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intent to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after the 180-day contractual lock-up and other legal restrictions on resale discussed in our IPO
prospectus lapse, the trading price of our common stock could decline significantly. As of March 1, 2018, we have 20,695,556 outstanding shares of common stock, assuming no exercise of outstanding options or warrants. Of these
shares, 5,350,302 shares of common stock are freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market.
After the lock-up agreements pertaining our IPO expire, an additional 15,328,186 shares will be eligible for sale in the public market. In addition, the 1,508,124 shares subject to outstanding options under our stock option
plans as of December 31, 2017, the 2,030,221 shares reserved for future issuance under our stock option plans and the shares subject to outstanding warrants will become eligible for sale in the public market in the future, subject to
certain legal and contractual limitations. Moreover, 180 days after the completion of our IPO, holders of approximately 13,945,509 shares of our common stock will have the right to require us to register these shares under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. If our existing stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or if the public perceives that such sales could occur, this could have an adverse impact on the
market price of our common stock,
We are an “emerging growth company,” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and may remain an emerging growth company for up to five years. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and plan to
rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of SOX Section 404, not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s
report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on
executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, the information we provide stockholders will be different than the information that is available with respect to
other public companies. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not included all of the executive compensation related information that would be required if we were not an emerging growth company. We cannot predict
whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our
stock price may be more volatile.
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In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company
to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards,
and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock and do not currently intend to do so in the foreseeable future. Our credit facility with SVB also prohibits us from paying cash dividends without the
prior written consent of SVB. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend upon any future appreciation in their value. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain
the price at which you purchased them.
The effects of recently enacted tax legislation and other legislative, regulatory and administrative developments to our business are uncertain. Increased costs related to such developments could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.
On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law H.R. 1, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the TCJA. The TCJA makes major changes to the taxation of corporations, including
reduction of the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income (except for certain small businesses), limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to
80% of annual taxable income and elimination of net operating loss carrybacks, one time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of whether they are repatriated, elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to
certain important exceptions), immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits. The effect of the
significant changes made by the TCJA is highly uncertain, and administrative guidance will be required in order to fully evaluate the effect of many provisions on our business and stockholders.
Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in the ownership of its equity over a
three year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and certain other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income may be limited. We may have experienced such ownership
changes in the past, and we may experience ownership changes as a result of our IPO or subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which are outside our control. As of December 31, 2017, we had federal net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $77.9 million, and our ability to utilize those net operating loss carryforwards could be limited by an “ownership change” as described above, which could result in increased tax liability to us. The
reduction of the corporate tax rate under the TCJA may cause a reduction in the economic benefit of our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets available to us. Under the TCJA, net operating losses generated
after December 31, 2017 will not be subject to expiration.
Volatility in our share price could subject us to securities class action litigation.
Securities class action litigations have often been brought against companies following a decline in the market price of their securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have
experienced significant share price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business.
Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock, including pursuant to our equity incentive plans, would result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders
and could cause our stock price to fall.
We will need additional capital in the future to continue our planned operations. To the extent we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience substantial dilution. We may sell
common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. If we sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in more
than one transaction, investors may be materially diluted by subsequent sales. These sales may also result in material dilution to our existing stockholders, and new investors could gain rights superior to our existing stockholders.
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Pursuant to our 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, or the 2017 Plan, we are authorized to grant stock options and other equity-based awards to our employees, directors and consultants. The number of shares available
for future grant under the 2017 Plan will automatically increase each year by up to 4% of all shares of our capital stock outstanding as of December 31 of the prior calendar year, subject to the ability of our board of directors or
compensation committee to take action to reduce the size of the increase in any given year. Currently, we plan to register the increased number of shares available for issuance under the 2017 Plan each year. If our board of directors
elects to increase the number of shares available for future grant by the maximum amount each year, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, and our stock price may fall.
As a public reporting company, we will be subject to rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regarding our internal control over
financial reporting. We may not complete improvements to our internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect
investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Upon completion of our IPO, we became a public reporting company subject to the rules and regulations established from time to time by the SEC and the PCAOB. These rules and regulations require, among other things
that we establish and periodically evaluate procedures with respect to our internal controls over financial reporting. These reporting obligations are likely to place a considerable strain on our financial and management systems,
processes and controls, as well as on our personnel.
In addition, we will be required to document and test our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to SOX Section 404, so that our management can certify as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting by the time our annual report for the year ending December 31, 2018 is due and thereafter, which will require us to document and make significant changes to our internal controls over financial reporting. Likewise,
our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting at such time as we cease to be an “emerging growth company,” as
defined in the JOBS Act, although, as described in the preceding risk factor, we could potentially qualify as an “emerging growth company” for more than five years. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm
may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating.
If our senior management is unable to conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, or to certify the effectiveness of such controls, or if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot
render an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting once we cease to be an emerging growth company, or if material weaknesses in our internal controls are
identified, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of public confidence, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and our stock price. In addition, if we do not maintain adequate financial and
management personnel, processes and controls, we may not be able to manage our business effectively or accurately report our financial performance on a timely basis, which could cause a decline in our common stock price and
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.
We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably ensure that information required to
be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of
the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures as well as internal controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
control system are and will be met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to
error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our
stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf,
(ii) any action asserting a claim for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employee to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. The choice of forum provision may limit a
stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other
employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.
ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We occupy approximately 7,795 square feet of office space in Newton, MA under a lease that expires in December of 2020. In addition, we occupy approximately 5,133 square feet of laboratory space in Sudbury, MA
under a lease that expires in February 2019. We have an option for an additional approximately 2,029 square feet of laboratory space at the Sudbury facility. We do not own any real property. We believe that this office and laboratory
space is sufficient to meet our current needs and that suitable additional space will be available as and when needed.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become involved in litigation relating to claims arising from the ordinary course of business. Our management believes that there are currently no claims or actions pending against us, the
ultimate disposition of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock commenced trading under the symbol “ALNA” on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on November 2, 2017. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock. Our common stock in
our initial public offering priced at $14.00 per share on November 1, 2017. The following table sets forth on a per share basis, for the periods indicated, the low and high close prices of our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ
Global Select Market for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 since our initial public offering.
Year ended December 31, 2017

High

Fourth Quarter (from November 2, 2017)

$

Low

15.40

$

8.66

On March 1, 2018, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market was $6.30 and as of March 1, 2018, there were approximately 33 holders of record of our common stock. However,
because many of our outstanding shares are held in accounts with brokers and other institutions, we believe we have more beneficial owners.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings, if any, to fund the development and expansion of our business and we do not
anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, pursuant to our loan and security agreement with SVB, we are prohibited from paying cash dividends without the prior written consent of SVB. Moreover, any
future indebtedness that we may incur could preclude us from paying dividends. Any future determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors. Investors should not purchase our common stock with
the expectation of receiving cash dividends.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
For information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see Part III “Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.”
Stock Performance Graph
The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, nor shall such information be
incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Exchange Act or Securities Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.
The following graph compares the performance of our common stock to the NASDAQ Composite Index and to the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index from November 2, 2017 (the first date that shares of our common stock
were publicly traded) through December 31, 2017. The comparison assumes $100 was invested in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices after the market closed on November 2, 2017, and it assumes reinvestment of
dividends, if any. The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
During the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have issued the following securities which were not registered under the Securities Act:
1.

We issued stock options to purchase an aggregate of 201,997 shares of our common stock, with a weighted-average exercise price of $5.25, to our employees, directors and consultants pursuant to our 2011 Stock
Incentive Plan.

2.

We issued an aggregate of 24,277 shares of common stock to employees, directors and consultants for cash consideration in the aggregate amount of $0.75 upon the exercise of stock options and stock awards.

We deemed the issuances in paragraphs (1) and (2) above to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act either in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act as sales and offers under compensatory benefit plans and
contracts relating to compensation in compliance with Rule 701, or in reliance on Section 4(a)(2), as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Each of the recipients of securities in any transaction exempt from
registration had ether received or had adequate access, through employment, business or other relationships, to information about us.
All certificates representing the securities issued in the transactions described above included appropriate legends setting forth that the securities had not been offered or sold pursuant to a registration statement and
describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities. There were no underwriters employed in connection with any of these transactions.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering
On November 6, 2017, we completed the sale of 5,333,333 shares of our common stock in our IPO at a price to the public of $14.00 per share. The underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option on December
1, 2017, and purchased an additional 16,969 shares of our common stock. We received approximately $67.0 million in net proceeds from our IPO after deducting $7.9 million of underwriting discounts, commissions and offering
costs. The offer and sale of the shares in our IPO was registered under the Securities Act pursuant to registration statements on Form S-1 (File No. 333-220857), which was filed with the SEC on October 6, 2017 and amended
subsequently and declared effective by the SEC on November 1, 2017. Following the sale of the shares in connection with the closing of our IPO, the offering terminated. The offering did not terminate before all the securities
registered in the registration statements were sold. Credit Suisse Securities, LLC (USA), Jefferies LLC and Cowen and Company, LLC acted as lead book-running managers for the offering. Wedbush PacGrow acted as the comanager for the offering.
83

We raised approximately $67.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us. None of these expenses consisted of direct or indirect payments made
by us to directors, officers or persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to their associates, or to our affiliates. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final
prospectus filed with the SEC on November 6, 2017. As of December 31, 2017, the funds received were held as cash equivalents.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
None.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the information
under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We have derived the consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results for any prior period are not
necessarily indicative of results to be expected in any future period and are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year or any other interim period.

2017

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders —
basic and diluted (1)

15,519
5,431
20,950

$

(443)
(257)
(700)
(21,650)

$

(4.80)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding —
basic and diluted
(1)

Years Ended December 31,
2016
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

$

20,103
4,083
24,186

2015

$

11,540
2,365
13,905

$

(200)
(121)
(321)
(24,507)

$

(335)
(7)
(342)
(14,247)

$

(18.35)

$

(11.35)

4,520,337

1,339,254

1,258,123

See Note 2 within the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a description of the method used to calculate basic and diluted net loss per share of common
stock.
December 31,
2016

2017

2015

(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and investments
Working capital (1)
Total assets
Loan payable, net of current portion and discount
Convertible preferred stock
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
(1)

$

94,494
88,490
96,249
5,516
—

82,870

$

48,755
46,025
49,479
9,409
95,727
(59,277)

$

69,011
64,735
70,008
3,932
95,658
(34,969)

We define working capital as current assets less current liabilities. See our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further details regarding our current assets and current
liabilities.
85

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including information with respect
to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
Overview
We are a late-stage, clinical biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing and commercializing first-in-class, oral enzyme therapeutics to treat patients with rare and severe metabolic and kidney disorders. We are
focused on metabolic disorders that result in excess accumulation of certain metabolites that can cause kidney stones, damage the kidney, and potentially lead to chronic kidney disease, or CKD, and end-stage renal disease. Our lead
product candidate, ALLN-177, is a first-in-class, oral enzyme therapeutic that we are developing for the treatment of hyperoxaluria, a metabolic disorder characterized by markedly elevated urinary oxalate levels and commonly
associated with kidney stones, CKD and other serious kidney diseases. There are currently no approved therapies for the treatment of hyperoxaluria. We have conducted a robust clinical development program of ALLN-177, including
three Phase 2 clinical trials, and are in discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, to finalize the design of our planned pivotal Phase 3 program in enteric hyperoxaluria. In March of 2018, we initiated
URIROX-1TM (URIROX-1) (formerly Study 301), the first of two anticipated Phase 3 clinical trials in support of our planned Biologic License Application (BLA) for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria. We expect to
announce topline data from this trial in the second half of 2019. We continue to engage with the FDA to finalize the design of URIROX-2TM (URIROX-2) (formerly Study 302), the second, larger planned Phase 3 clinical trial, and to
discuss opportunities for pursuing an accelerated approval pathway for our planned BLA submission for ALLN-177 in patients with enteric hyperoxaluria.
On November 6, 2017, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold 5,333,333 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $14.00 per share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $74.7 million. The
underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option on December 1, 2017, and purchased 16,969 shares of our common stock, for aggregate gross proceeds of $0.2 million. As a result of the IPO, we received approximately
$67.0 million in net proceeds after deducting $7.9 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs.
Our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, developing our technology, identifying potential product candidates, producing drug substance and drug
product material for use in preclinical studies and clinical trials, conducting preclinical studies of our product candidates and clinical trials for our lead product candidate, ALLN-177. We do not have any products approved for sale and
have not generated any revenue to date. As of December 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $94.5 million.
We have incurred significant net operating losses in every year since our inception and expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Our net losses may fluctuate
significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. Our net losses were $21.7 million, $24.5 million and $14.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, we had an
accumulated deficit of $82.0 million. We anticipate that our expenses will increase significantly as we:
•

conduct future clinical trials of our lead product candidate, ALLN-177;

•

manufacture additional material for our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, planned Phase 2 clinical basket trial and potential future clinical studies we might conduct for our product candidates;

•

scale up our manufacturing process for ALLN-177 to prepare for the filing of a potential Biologics License Application, or BLA, and commercialization if our clinical development program is successful;

•

advance the development of ALLN-346;
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•

seek regulatory and marketing approvals for product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any;

•

establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain regulatory approval in geographies in which we plan to commercialize our products ourselves;

•

maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

•

hire additional staff, including clinical, scientific, technical, operational, and financial personnel, to execute our business plan; and

•

add clinical, scientific, operational, financial and management information systems to support our product development and potential future commercialization efforts, and to enable us to operate as a public
company.

We do not expect to generate revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate. Additionally, we currently use contract research
organizations, or CROs, and contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, to carry out our preclinical and clinical development activities. We do not yet have a sales organization. If we obtain regulatory approval for our product
candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public
company. Accordingly, we may seek to fund our operations through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, including strategic collaborations. We may, however, be unable to raise additional funds or enter into
such other arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such other arrangements as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to
develop our current product candidates, or any additional product candidates, if developed.
Financial Operations Overview
Revenue
To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales or any other source and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products for the foreseeable future. If our development efforts for ALLN-177 or
other product candidates that we may develop in the future are successful and result in marketing approval or collaboration or license agreements with third parties, we may generate revenue in the future from a combination of product
sales or payments from such collaboration or license agreements.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for our research activities, including our drug discovery efforts and the development of our product candidates, which include:
•

employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense;

•

costs incurred under agreements with third parties, including CROs, that conduct research and development, preclinical studies and clinical trials on our behalf;

•

costs related to production of preclinical and clinical materials, including fees paid to CMOs;

•

consulting, licensing and professional fees related to research and development activities;

•

costs of purchasing laboratory supplies and non-capital equipment used in our research and development activities;

•

costs related to compliance with clinical regulatory requirements; and

•

facility costs and other allocated expenses, which include expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance, depreciation and other supplies.

We expense research and development costs as incurred. We recognize costs for certain development activities, such as clinical trials, based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as
clinical site activations, patient enrollment, or information provided to us by our vendors and our clinical investigative sites. Payments for these activities are based on the terms of the individual agreements, which may differ from the
pattern of costs incurred, and may be
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reflected in our consolidated financial statements as prepaid or accrued research and development expenses. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development
activities are deferred and capitalized, even when there is no alternative future use for the research and development. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed.
The following summarizes our most advanced current research and development programs:
•

ALLN-177 is our lead product candidate which we are developing for the treatment of hyperoxaluria. Substantially all of our research and development costs to date have been used to fund this program.

•

ALLN-346 is our second product candidate which we are developing for patients with hyperuricemia and CKD. We began incurring external research and development costs for this program in 2016.

We typically use our employee and infrastructure resources across our development programs. We track outsourced development costs by product candidate or development program, but we do not allocate personnel costs
and other internal costs to specific product candidates or development programs.
The following table summarizes our research and development expenses by program (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2016

2017

ALLN-177 external costs
ALLN-346 external costs
Employee compensation and benefits
Other
Total research and development expenses

$

$

9,764
611
4,218
926
15,519

$

$

16,057
312
3,074
660
20,103

2015

$

$

9,059
—
2,018
463
11,540

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than those in earlier stages, primarily due to the
increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. Since inception, we have incurred $49.4 million of external research and development costs for ALLN-177. We expect that our research and development costs will continue to
increase for the foreseeable future as we initiate additional clinical trials of ALLN-177, scale our manufacturing processes and advance development of ALLN-346.
The successful development of ALLN-177, ALLN-346 and other potential future product candidates is highly uncertain. Accordingly, at this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature, timing and costs of the
efforts that will be necessary to complete the development of these product candidates. We are also unable to predict when, if ever, we will generate revenue and material net cash inflows from the commercialization and sale of any of
our product candidates for which we may obtain marketing approval. We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. The duration, costs and timing of preclinical studies, clinical trials and
development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including:
•

successful enrollment in, and completion of, clinical trials for ALLN-177;

•

successful data from our clinical program of ALLN-177 that supports an acceptable benefit-risk profile of ALLN-177 in the intended populations;

•

establishing an appropriate safety profile for ALLN-346 and any potential future product candidate with studies to enable the filing of an investigational new drug application;

•

approval of INDs for ALLN-346 and any potential future product candidate to commence planned or future clinical trials;

•

significant and changing government regulation and regulatory guidance;

•

timing and receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

•

making arrangements with CMOs for third-party commercial manufacturing of our product candidates;
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•

obtaining and maintaining patent and other intellectual property protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates;

•

commercializing the product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

•

acceptance of the product, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors; and

•

maintenance of a continued acceptable safety profile of the drugs following approval.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development, manufacture or commercialization enabling activities of any of our product candidates could mean a significant change in the costs, timing
and viability associated with the development of that product candidate.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in executive, finance, accounting, business development and human resources
functions. Other significant costs include facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters and professional fees for accounting, auditing, tax and consulting
services.
We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future to support continued research and development activities and potential commercialization of our product candidates. These increases will
likely include increased costs related to the hiring of additional personnel and fees to outside consultants, attorneys and accountants, among other expenses. Additionally, we expect to incur increased expenses associated with being a
public company, including costs of additional personnel, accounting, audit, legal, regulatory and tax-related services associated with maintaining compliance with exchange listing and Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
requirements, director and officer insurance costs, and investor and public relations costs.
Interest Income (Expense), Net
Interest income (expense), net, primarily consists of interest expense incurred on our credit facility, amortized debt discount related to the fair value of the warrants issued in conjunction with the advances under the credit
facility and debt issuance costs, and interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net, primarily consists of non-cash changes in the fair value of warrants issued in connection with our credit facility. The preferred warrants converted upon the closing of our IPO and therefore
became exercisable into common stock instead of convertible preferred stock. The warrants met the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity and the fair value of the warrant liability as of the IPO date was reclassified to
stockholders’ equity (deficit). As a result, we will no longer need to recognize any changes to the fair value of the warrants through other income (expense).
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements during the reporting periods. These items are monitored and analyzed by us for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in
the future. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Changes in estimates are reflected in reported results for the period in which they become known. Actual results may differ materially from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting
policies used in the preparation of our financial statements require the most significant judgments and estimates.
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Accrued Research and Development Expenses
As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued research and development expenses. This process involves reviewing purchase orders and open contracts,
communicating with our personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the services when we have not yet been invoiced or
otherwise notified of the actual cost. The majority of our service providers invoice us monthly in arrears for services performed or when contractual milestones are met; however, some require advance payments. We make estimates of
our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in our consolidated financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of our estimates with the service providers
and make adjustments if necessary. The significant estimates in our accrued research and development expenses include the costs incurred for services performed by CROs and CMOs in connection with research and development
activities for which we have not yet been invoiced.
We contract with CROs and CMOs to conduct clinical and manufacturing and other research and development services on our behalf. We base our expenses related to CROs and CMOs on our estimates of the services
received and efforts expended pursuant to quotes and contracts with them. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. There may be
instances in which payments made to our CROs or CMOs will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment of the research and development expense. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over
which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from our estimate, we adjust the accrual or amount of prepaid
expense accordingly. Non-refundable advance payments for goods and services that will be used in future research and development activities are expensed when the activity has been performed or when the goods have been received
rather than when the payment is made.
Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services
performed may vary and may result in us reporting amounts that are too high or too low in any particular period. To date, there have been no material differences between our estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually
incurred.
Stock-Based Compensation
We apply the fair value recognition provisions of ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, or ASC 718, for stock-based awards granted to employees and directors for their services on the board of directors. We
account for stock-based awards to non-employees in accordance with ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees, or ASC 505-50. Determining the amount of stock-based compensation to be recorded requires us to
develop estimates of the fair value of stock options as of their grant date. We estimate the fair value of each stock option grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Calculating the fair value of stock-based awards requires
that we make subjective assumptions.
Pursuant to ASC 718, we measure stock-based awards granted to employees and members of the board of directors at fair value on the date of grant and recognize the corresponding stock-based compensation expense of
those awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. We have historically granted stock options with exercise prices equivalent to the fair value of our
common stock as of the date of grant.
Pursuant to ASC 505-50, we measure stock-based awards granted to consultants at fair value as the awards vest and recognize the resulting value as expense during the period the related services are rendered, which is
typically the vesting period. At the end of each financial reporting period prior to completion of the service, we re-measure the unvested portion of these awards using the then-current fair value of our common stock and updated
assumption inputs in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model uses the following inputs: the fair value of our common stock, the expected volatility of our common stock, the expected term of our stock options, the risk-free interest rate for a
period that approximates the expected term of our stock options and our expected dividend yield. Due to the lack of a public market for our common stock prior to our IPO and a lack of company-specific historical and implied
volatility data, we have based our computation of expected volatility on the historical volatility of a representative group of public companies with similar characteristics to us, including stage of product development, life science
industry focus, length of trading history and similar vesting provisions. The historical volatility data is calculated based on a period of time commensurate with the expected term assumption. We will continue to apply this process
until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own stock price becomes available or until circumstances change, such that the identified entities are no longer representative companies. In the latter
case, more suitable, similar entities whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the calculation. We use the simplified method as prescribed by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, to
calculate the expected term for options granted to employees as we do not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable
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basis upon which to estimate the expected term. Under this approach, the weighted-average expected option term is presumed to be the average of the contractual term (ten years) and the vesting term (generally four years) of our stock
options. We utilize this method due to lack of historical exercise data and the “plain-vanilla” nature of our stock-based awards. The expected term is applied to the stock option grant group as a whole, as we do not expect substantially
different exercise or post-vesting termination behavior among our employee population. For options granted to non-employees, we utilize the contractual term of the arrangement as the basis for the expected term assumption. The
risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected term of the stock options. The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends and have no current
plans to pay any dividends on our common stock.
The fair value of stock options granted to employees and directors was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following range of assumptions for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

1.9% – 2.3%
—%
5.6 – 6.3
81% – 87%

2015

1.3% – 1.7%
—%
5.4 – 6.4
77% – 84%

1.8% – 1.9%
—%
6.25
85%

The fair value of stock options granted to consultants was estimated on the date of grant and as the grants are remeasured over the vesting period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following range of
assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
Years Ended December 31,

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

2016

2015

1.9% – 2.4%
—%
8.9 – 10.0
89% – 96%

2.4%
—%
10.0
85.0%

We did not grant any stock options to consultants during the year ended December 31, 2017. These assumptions represented our best estimates, but the estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of our
judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use significantly different assumptions or estimates, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different.
In the first quarter of the year ended December 31, 2017, we made an accounting policy election to recognize forfeitures as they occur upon adoption of guidance per ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation—Stock
Compensation, or ASU 2016-09. The adoption of ASU 2016-09 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. In reporting periods prior to the year ended December 31, 2017, we estimated forfeitures at the
time of grant and revised the forfeiture rate in subsequent periods as necessary if actual forfeitures differed from estimates.
Through December 31, 2016, the amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized in our consolidated financial statements was based on awards that were ultimately expected to vest. Forfeitures were estimated at
the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differed from those estimates. The term “forfeitures” is distinct from “cancellations” or “expirations” and represents only the unvested portion of the
surrendered option.
The following table summarizes the classification of our stock-based compensation expense recognized in our statements of operations and comprehensive loss (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$
$
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147
370
517

$
$

68
183
251

2015

$
$

74
133
207

As of December 31, 2017, we had $1.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to stock option awards, which is expected to be recognized over weighted-average remaining vesting periods of approximately
2.4 years. In future periods, we expect stock-based compensation expense to increase, due in part to our existing unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, potential increases in the value of our common stock and expected
additional stock-based awards to continue to attract and retain our employees.
Determination of Fair Value of Common Stock
As a private company with no active public market for our common stock prior to the completion of our IPO, our board of directors historically determined the fair value of our common stock on each date of grant, with
input from management. Our board of directors periodically determined the estimated per share fair value of our common stock at various dates using contemporaneous valuations performed in accordance with the guidance outlined
in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, or the Practice Aid. Once a public trading market for our common stock had
been established in connection with the completion of our IPO, it is no longer be necessary for us to estimate the fair value of our common stock in connection with our accounting for stock options, as the fair value of our common
stock will be its trading price on The Nasdaq Stock Market.
We performed contemporaneous valuations, with the assistance of a third-party specialist, as of November 6, 2014, February 15, 2016, December 31, 2016, April 30, 2017 and August 31, 2017, which resulted in valuations
of our common stock of $1.17, $1.59, $4.01, $4.88 and $5.72 per share, respectively. In conducting the valuations, we considered all objective and subjective factors that we believed to be relevant for each valuation conducted,
including our best estimate of our business condition, prospects and operating performance at each valuation date. Within the valuations performed, a range of factors, assumptions and methodologies were used. The significant factors
included:
•

the lack of an active public market for our common stock and convertible preferred stock;

•

the prices at which we sold shares of our convertible preferred stock in arm’s length transactions and the superior rights, preferences and privileges of the convertible preferred stock relative to our common stock,
including the liquidation preferences of our preferred stock;

•

our results of operations and financial condition, including cash on hand and borrowings under our credit facility;

•

the material risks related to our business;

•

our stage of development and business strategy;

•

the composition of, and changes to, our management team and board of directors;

•

the market performance of publicly traded companies in the life sciences and biotechnology sectors, as well as recently completed initial public offerings, or IPOs, of companies in the life sciences and
biotechnology sectors; and

•

the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event such as an IPO given prevailing market conditions.

Historically, the dates of our contemporaneous valuations have not coincided with the dates of our stock-based compensation grants. In determining the exercise prices of the stock options granted, our board of directors
considered, among other things, the most recent contemporaneous valuations of our common stock and our assessment of additional objective and subjective factors we believed were relevant as of the grant date. The additional factors
considered when determining any changes in fair value of our common stock between the most recent contemporaneous valuation and the grant dates included the status of our stage of research and development, our operating and
financial performance and current business conditions.
There were significant judgments and estimates inherent in the determination of the fair value of our common stock. These judgments and estimates were management’s best estimates and included assumptions regarding
our future operating performance, the time to completing an IPO or other liquidity event, the related company valuations associated with such events and the determinations of the appropriate valuation methods. If we had made
different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense, net loss and net loss per common share could have been different.
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Warrant Valuation
We issued warrants to purchase shares of our Series A and Series C convertible preferred stock in conjunction with the advances made under our credit facility. These warrants were classified as liabilities as they either
conditionally or unconditionally obligated us to transfer assets regardless of the timing of the redemption feature or price of the underlying convertible preferred stock. The warrants were initially recorded at their grant date fair value
and were subject to revaluation at each balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of the warrants were recorded as a component of other income (expense) in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss, until the earlier of
their exercise or expiration or the completion of a liquidation event, at which time the warrant liability may be reclassified to stockholders’ (deficit) equity if the criteria for recording the warrant as an equity instrument were met.
The fair value of the warrants was estimated using the Black-Sholes model, which incorporated assumptions and estimates to value these warrants. We assessed these assumptions and estimates on a periodic basis based on
information available to us on each valuation date. Such assumptions and estimates include: the fair value of the Series A and Series C convertible preferred stock, the remaining contractual term of the warrants, the risk-free interest
rate applicable to the remaining contractual term, the expected dividend yield and the expected volatility of the price of the underlying common stock into which the preferred stock is convertible. We estimated the fair value of our
Series A and Series C convertible preferred stock upon the issuance of the warrants and at each reporting period based upon our common stock valuations which included a derived fair value for such shares of preferred stock. We have
historically been a private company and lacked company-specific historical and implied volatility information of our stock. Therefore, we estimated expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded
comparable companies for a term equal to the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The risk-free interest rate was determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve for time periods that were approximately equal the
remaining contractual term of the warrants at each reporting period. We assumed no dividend yield based on the fact that we have never paid or declared dividends, and do not expect to pay or declare dividends in the future.
Upon completion of the IPO, all outstanding shares of our preferred stock were converted to common stock. The convertible preferred warrants therefore became exercisable into common stock instead of convertible
preferred stock and the warrants met the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity and the fair value of the warrant liability as of the IPO date was reclassified to stockholders’ equity (deficit).
Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2017
2016

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

$

15,519
5,431
20,950
(20,950)
(443)
(257)
(700)
(21,650)

$

$

Dollar
Change

20,103
4,083
24,186
(24,186)
(200)
(121)
(321)
(24,507)

$

$

(4,584)
1,348
(3,236)
3,236
(243)
(136)
(379)
2,857

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expense decreased by $4.6 million from $20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The following table summarizes our research
and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
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For the Year Ended December 31,
2017
2016

Clinical development external costs
Manufacturing external costs
Employee compensation and benefits
Other
Total research and development expenses

$

$

4,059
3,846
4,218
3,396
15,519

$

$

Dollar
Change

7,275
7,068
3,074
2,686
20,103

$

$

(3,216)
(3,222)
1,144
710
(4,584)

The decrease in research and development expense was primarily attributable to the following:
•

•

•

Our clinical development external costs decreased by $3.2 million from $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
•

Study 649 expense decreased by $2.0 million from $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. We enrolled our first subject into the trial in
September 2015, and completed enrollment in June 2016. The majority of enrollment and CRO expenses were incurred during the year ended December 31, 2016;

•

Study 713 expense decreased by $1.3 million from $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. We enrolled our first subject into this trial in
December 2015 and completed enrollment in early 2017. We incurred significant enrollment, CRO, and associated site costs during the year ended December 31, 2016, and incurred expenses related to
the completion of this trial, finalization of the database, analysis of the data, and closeout of the trial during the year ended December 31, 2017;

•

Consulting expense decreased by $0.3 million from $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. We required increased consulting services
during the year ended December 31, 2016 to support Studies 649 and 713, and less consulting services during the year ended December 31, 2017, as the majority of the work for each study was
completed during 2016; and

•

The decrease in clinical development external costs was partially offset by $0.6 million of start-up expenses associated with URIROX-1TM (formerly Study 301), during the year ended December 31,
2017, of which we did not have similar expense for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Our manufacturing external costs decreased by $3.2 million from $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
•

We entered into a contract manufacturing agreement with a new CMO for the manufacturing of our ALLN-177 drug substance in June 2015. We incurred significant costs setting up the new CMO in the
second half of 2015 and the duration of 2016. These start-up costs incurred at this CMO were $0.2 million and $1.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively;

•

Our costs for consumables and raw materials were $1.0 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we purchased
consumables and raw materials to supply our planned pre-engineering, engineering and clinical batches. These consumables and raw materials were expensed at the time of purchase. During the year
ended December 31, 2017, we purchased additional consumables and raw materials required for engineering and clinical batches; and

•

During the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we conducted considerable process development and manufactured several pre-engineering and engineering batches of product for ALLN-177 as we
scaled our manufacturing process and manufactured material for our clinical trials. Costs associated with these activities were $1.0 million and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

Our research and development employee compensation and benefits costs increased by $1.1 million from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
The increase is primarily due to an overall increase in research and development headcount. We had 22 employees in research and development at December 31, 2017 compared to 18 employees in research and
development at December 31, 2016. Further, of the 18 employees in research and development at December 31, 2016, eight were hired during the year ended December 31, 2016 but were employed during the entire
year ended December 31, 2017.
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•

Other costs increased by $0.7 million from $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
•

Our costs associated with the development of ALLN-346, increased by $0.3 million from $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 as we
continue to advance the development of this program.

•

Our regulatory costs increased by $0.3 million from $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 to $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in costs is primarily
attributable to increased consulting services during 2017 to assist us with our communications with the FDA and various regulatory agencies in the European Union.

We expect that our research and development expenses will increase in future periods as we continue our clinical development of ALLN-177, scale our manufacturing processes for ALLN-177 and advance development of
ALLN-346.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expense increased by $1.3 million from $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The following table summarizes our general
and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2017 (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2017
2016

Employee compensation and benefits
Consulting and professional services
Market research and commercialization planning
Other
Total general and administrative expenses

$

$

2,616
1,616
445
754
5,431

$

$

Dollar
Change

1,939
843
674
627
4,083

$

$

677
773
(229)
127
1,348

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable the following:
•

Our employee compensation and benefits costs increased by $0.7 million. The increase was primarily related to an increase in the number of employees, including the addition of our Chief Financial Officer, who
joined us in June 2016. We had eight general and administrative employees at December 31, 2017 compared to seven employees at December 31, 2016. Our stock-based compensation expense also increased $0.2
million from $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017;

•

Our consulting and professional services costs increased by $0.8 million. The increase is primarily related to increased legal costs for general corporate purposes and intellectual property legal costs associated with
ALLN-346; and

•

Our market research and commercialization planning costs decreased by $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we engaged an independent third party
to conduct a study to assess the market opportunity for ALLN-177.

We expect that our general and administrative expense will increase in future periods as we expand our operations and incur additional costs in connection with being a public company.
Interest Income (Expense), net
Interest income (expense), net consists of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, interest expense charged on our outstanding debt, and amortization of our debt discount related to
the fair value of the warrants and other debt issuance costs. Interest income (expense) net increased $(0.2) million from $(0.2) million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to $(0.4) million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The
increase in net expense was attributable to the amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the refinancing of our credit facility in May 2016, as well as a decrease in interest income during the period due to a decrease in
average cash, cash equivalents and investment balances prior to the completion of our IPO.
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Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of non-cash changes in the fair value of warrants issued in connection with our credit facility.
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

$

20,103
4,083
24,186
(24,186)
(200)
(121)
(321)
(24,507)

$

$

Dollar
Change

11,540
2,365
13,905
(13,905)
(335)
(7)
(342)
(14,247)

$

8,563
1,718
10,281
(10,281)
135
(114)
21
(10,260)

$

Research and Development Expense
Research and development expense increased by $8.6 million from $11.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The following table summarizes our research
and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016 (in thousands):
The increase in research and development expense was primarily attributable to the following:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015

Clinical development external costs
Manufacturing external costs
Employee compensation and benefits
Other
Total research and development expenses

•

$

$

7,275
7,068
3,074
2,686
20,103

$

$

Dollar
Change

3,517
4,480
2,018
1,525
11,540

$

$

3,758
2,588
1,056
1,161
8,563

Our clinical development external costs increased by $3.8 million from $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016:
•

Study 649 expense increased by $0.8 million from $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2015 consisted primarily of startup and related costs and initial subject-related costs, as we enrolled our first subject in the trial in September 2015. Expenses in the year ended
December 31, 2016 included a majority of the trial’s CRO and subject costs as well as close-out costs;

•

Study 713 expense increased by $2.2 million from $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. Expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2015 consisted primarily of startup and related costs. We enrolled our first subject into the trial in December 2015. The trial continued for the duration of the year ended December 31,
2016 and the vast majority of subjects were enrolled during the year ended December 31, 2016, which increased our CRO and subject enrollment costs; and
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•
•

We initiated and conducted Study 204 in the year ended December 31, 2016. Expenses for this trial were $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. There were no expenses related to this trial
during the year ended December 31, 2015.

Our manufacturing external costs increased by $2.6 million from $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016:
•

During the year ended December 31, 2016, we conducted considerable process development and manufactured several pre-engineering, engineering, and clinical trial batches of product for ALLN-177
as we scaled our manufacturing process and manufactured material for our clinical trials. Costs associated with these activities were $1.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. During the year
ended December 31, 2015, we incurred process development costs of $0.9 million;

•

During the year ended December 31, 2016 we purchased consumables and raw materials to supply our planned pre-engineering, engineering and clinical trial batches. These consumables and raw
materials were expensed at the time of purchase. Our costs for consumables and raw materials were $0.3 million and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016, respectively; and

•

Consulting costs increased by $0.4 million from $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 to support our increased drug substance and
drug product activities.

•

Our employee compensation and benefits costs increased by $1.1 million from $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase is primarily
due to an overall increase in research and development headcount. We had nine employees in research and development at December 31, 2015 compared to 18 employees in research and development at
December 31, 2016; and

•

Other costs increased by $1.2 million from $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. We had $0.3 million of external costs for our ALLN-346
product candidate for the year ended December 31, 2016, with no comparable costs for the year ended December 31, 2015. Our project management costs also increased by $0.5 million from $0.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2015 to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. We engaged a third party consulting firm during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2015 to provide project
management consulting services, which were provided to us for the duration of the year ended December 31, 2016.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expense increased by $1.7 million from $2.4 million for year ended December 31, 2015 to $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The following table summarizes our general and
administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2016 (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015

Employee compensation and benefits
Consulting and professional services
Market research and commercialization planning
Other
Total general and administrative expenses

$

$

1,939
843
674
627
4,083

$

$

Dollar
Change

1,319
500
265
281
2,365

$

$

620
343
409
346
1,718

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to the following:
•

Our employee compensation and benefits costs increased by $0.6 million. The increase was primarily related to an increase in the number of employees, including the addition of our Chief Financial Officer, who
joined us in June 2016. We had four general and administrative employees at December 31, 2015 compared to seven employees at December 31, 2016; and

•

Our market research and commercialization planning costs increased by $0.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we engaged an independent third party to conduct a study to assess the market
opportunity for ALLN-177. We incurred $330,000 of costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 for this study.
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Interest Income (Expense), net
Interest income (expense), net decreased by $0.1 million from $(0.3) million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $(0.2) million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease was attributable to interest income
earned on our investment portfolio attributable to investments we made after our Series C convertible preferred stock financing in November 2015, partially offset by additional interest costs associated with the refinancing of our
credit facility in May 2016 and an increase in amounts outstanding under the loan in the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2015.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of non-cash changes in the fair value of the warrants issued in connection with our credit facility.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
We have funded our operations from inception through December 31, 2017 through gross proceeds of $96.0 million from sales of our convertible preferred stock, borrowings of $10.0 million under our credit facility with
SVB and net proceeds from our IPO of $67.0 million which was completed in November 2017. The following table provides information regarding our total cash, cash equivalents and short term investments at December 31, 2017 and
2016 (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investments
Total cash, cash equivalents and short term investments

$
$

94,494
—
94,494

December 31,
2016

$
$

25,250
23,505
48,755

On August 18, 2014, we entered into a loan and security agreement with SVB, or the credit facility, which was subsequently amended on December 22, 2014 and May 2, 2016. The credit facility initially provided up to $7.0
million principal in term loans, $3.8 million of which was funded at the time we entered into the original agreement and $3.2 million of which was funded in March 2015. As amended in May 2016, the loan and security agreement
provides for up to $10.0 million in term loans, $7.5 million of which was funded when we entered into the second amendment to the loan and security agreement, of which we received $1.6 million in net proceeds after deducting $5.3
million for repayment of the original advances and $0.6 million for interest and debt issuance costs. The remaining $2.5 million was funded in December 2016 upon our achievement of certain milestones. The May 2016 and
December 2016 advances have a floating annual interest rate equal to the greater of 4.0% or 0.5% above the prime rate. As of December 31, 2017, our outstanding borrowings under the credit facility was $9.7 million.
The repayment schedule provides for interest only payments for eighteen months, beginning in May 2016. Following the interest only period, the loan repayment schedule provides for 30 equal monthly payments of
principal plus interest. We made our first principal payment on this loan of $0.3 million in December 2017. The loan and security agreement also provides for a final interest payment equal to 8.25% of the total which is due on the
earliest of the loan maturity date, acceleration of the loan in the case of an event of default, at the time of prepayment of the facility or termination of the agreement. We have the option to prepay the outstanding balance of the term
loan in full, subject to a prepayment fee of 0%—2% depending upon when the prepayment occurs. The term loan facility matures on May 1, 2020.
The borrowings under the loan and security agreement are secured by a lien on all of our assets except intellectual property. The loan and security agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants by
us, including negative covenants restricting our activities, such as disposing of our business or certain assets, changing our business, management, ownership or business locations, incurring additional debt or liens or making payments
on other debt, making certain investments and declaring dividends, acquiring or merging with another entity, engaging in transactions with affiliates or encumbering intellectual property. The obligations under the loan and security
agreement are subject to acceleration upon occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in our business, operations or financial or other condition.
In connection with entering into the loan and security agreement, in August 2014, we granted to SVB a warrant to purchase 142,856 shares of our Series A preferred stock at an exercise price of $0.98 per share. In
connection with entering into the second amendment to the loan and security agreement, in May 2016, we granted to SVB a warrant to purchase 37,736
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shares of our Series C preferred stock at an ex ercise price of $2.65 per share. Each warrant may be exercised at the option of SVB either by delivery of the exercise price in cash or by a cashless exercise, and will expire in August
2024 and May 2026, respectively. Upon the closing of the IPO, the Series A Warrants converted to common stock warrants to purchase up to 34,225 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.09 per share. The Series C
Warrants converted to common stock warrants to purchase up to 9,040 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $11.06 per share. On December 12, 2017, SVB exercised its warrants to purchase 34,225 shares of common stock
using the cashless exercise option permitted per the terms of the warrant agreement. We issued 24,401 shares of common stock to SVB as settlement of the warrant. At December 31, 2017, warrants to purchase up to 9,040 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $11.06 remained outstanding.
Cash Flows
The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

2017

Net cash used in operations
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2016

(21,065)
23,417
66,892
69,244

$

$

(23,394)
(23,762)
3,395
(43,761)

2015

$

$

(13,175)
5
55,295
42,125

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
The cash used in operating activities resulted primarily from our net losses adjusted for non-cash charges and changes in components of working capital.
Net cash used in operating activities was $21.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $23.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in cash used in operating activities of $2.3
million was attributable to:
•

A decrease in net loss of $2.9 million;

•

An increase in non-cash items of $0.4 million resulting primarily from increases in stock-based compensation expense, non-cash interest expense and the change in the fair market value of the warrant
liability, partially offset by a decrease in amortization of premium on investments; and

•

A decrease of $1.0 million in changes in the components of working capital, including an decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

Net cash used in operating activities was $23.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $13.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in cash used in operating activities of
$10.2 million was attributable to:
•

an increase in net loss of $10.3 million;

•

an increase in non-cash items of $0.3 million resulting primarily from increases in amortization of premium on investments and the change in the fair value of the warrant liability; and

•

an increase of $0.2 million in changes in the components of working capital.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $23.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to net cash used in investing activities of $23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in
cash flows from investing activities of $47.2 million was attributable to a decrease in purchases of short-term investments of $52.0 million and an increase in maturities of short-term investments of $4.8 million, as we converted shortterm investments to cash and cash equivalents to fund our operations.
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Net cash used in investing activities was $23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $5,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015. The increase in cash
used for investing activities of $23.8 million was attributable to:
•

an increase in purchases of short-term investments of $53.2 million partially offset by maturities of $29.6 million; and

•

an increase in purchases of property and equipment of $0.1 million.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $66.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in cash provided by financing activities of
$63.5 million was attributable to net proceeds of $67.0 million received from our recently completed IPO, partially offset by debt repayments of $0.3 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $55.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease in cash provided by financing activities of
$51.9 million was attributable to the sale of Series C convertible preferred stock in November 2015 partially offset by a $0.9 million increase in net proceeds from the refinancing of our credit facility.
Funding Requirements
We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue the research and development for, initiate later stage clinical trials for, and seek marketing approval for, our product
candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Furthermore,
we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when
needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.
We believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2017 will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2020. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove
to be wrong, and we may use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

the costs of conducting future clinical trials of ALLN-177;

•

the costs of manufacturing additional material for our planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical program, planned Phase 2 basket clinical trial and potential future clinical studies we might conduct for ALLN-177;

•

the costs of scaling up our manufacturing process for ALLN-177 to prepare for the filing of a potential BLA and commercialization if our clinical development program is successful;

•

the advancement of ALLN-346;

•

the scope, progress, results and costs of discovery, preclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for other potential product candidates we may develop, if any;

•

the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

•

our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

•

the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under any collaboration agreements we might have at such time;

•

the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;
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•

the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval;

•

the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;

•

our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and our research and development activities; and

•

the costs of operating as a public company.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data
or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of
products that we do not expect to be commercially available for many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing
arrangements. With the exception of our credit facility, we do not have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership
interests may be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that could adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Additional debt financing, if available, may involve agreements
that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.
If we raise funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product
candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product
development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of payment due date by period at December 31, 2017 (in thousands):
Less than
1 year

Total

Credit facility (1)
Operating lease obligations (2)
Total
(1)
(2)

$

11,074
1,199
12,273

$

$
$

1 to 3
years

4,377
458
4,835

$
$

3 to 5
years

6,697
741
7,438

$
$

More than 5
years

—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

Consists of repayment obligations under our credit facility with SVB, including interest.
Represents future minimum lease payments under our non-cancelable operating leases which expire through December 2020. The minimum lease payments above do not include any related common area maintenance charges
or real estate taxes.

Under a license agreement with Althea Technologies, Inc. (now known as Ajinomoto Althea, Inc.), or Althea, which we entered into in March 2012, as amended in March 2016, we reimbursed Althea for patent-related fees
of $0.1 million and issued 88,186 shares of common stock to Althea. In addition, we are obligated to pay milestone payments and royalties of a mid-single digit percentage of net sales. Milestone payments are triggered upon the
achievement of specified regulatory milestones that could total up to $31.0 million and sales-based milestones that could total up to $25.0 million. The milestone payments are not creditable against royalties. Actual amounts due under
the agreement will vary depending on the number of products developed, the type and development path of the products, and other related factors. As of December 31, 2017, we were unable to estimate the timing or likelihood of
achieving these milestones or generating future product sales. We have the right to terminate the agreement for convenience upon 60 days prior written notice to Althea. As a result, no amounts are included in the table above. See
“Business—Althea License Agreement” for a more detailed description of this agreement.
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We enter into agreements in the normal course of business with CROs for clinical trials, CMOs for clinical supply manufacturing, professional consultants for expert advice and other vendors for other services for operating
purposes. We have not included these payments in the table of contractual obligations above since the contracts do not contain any minimum purchase commitments and are cancelable at any time by us, generally upon 30 days prior
written notice, therefore we believe that our non-cancelable obligations under these agreements are not material.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under applicable SEC rules.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. As of December 31, 2017, our cash equivalents consisted of primarily of short-term money market funds. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest
rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Due to the short-term nature of the cash equivalents in our portfolio and the low risk profile of our cash equivalents, an immediate 10% change in
interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our financial position or results of operations.
We are not currently exposed to significant market risk related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates; however, we have contracted with and may continue to contract with foreign vendors that are located in Europe.
Our operations may be subject to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in the future.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical trial costs. We do not believe that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations during the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements, together with the reports of our independent registered public accounting firms, appear at pages F-1 through F-25 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017.
ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms
and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship
of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2017. Based
upon such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of such date.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a–15(f) or 15d-15(f). Our internal control system was
designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and our board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed have
inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
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presentation. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013 (COSO criteria). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2017. This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission for newly public companies.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2017 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required under this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, which proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission not later than 120 days after the close of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements.
For a list of the financial statements included herein, see Index to the Financial Statements on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules.

No financial statement schedules have been submitted because they are not required or are not applicable or because the information required is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.
3.

List of Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index in Item 15(b) below.
(b)

Exhibit Index.

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1*

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2017)

3.2*

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on November 6, 2017)

4.1*

Form of Common Stock certificate (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

4.2*

Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, by and between the Registrant and the Investors named therein, dated as November 25, 2015 (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

4.3*

Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Silicon Valley Bank, dated May 2, 2016 (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

4.4*

Warrant to Purchase Stock issued to Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 18, 2014 (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

10.1*†

2011 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreements thereunder (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

10.2*†

2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and forms of agreement thereunder (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

10.3*†

2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

10.4*†

Senior Executive Cash Incentive Bonus Plan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

10.5*†

Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Alexey Margolin (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

10.6*†

Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Edward Wholihan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

10.7*†

Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Louis Brenner (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

10.8*

Form of Indemnification Agreement, to be entered into between the Registrant and its directors and officers (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

10.9**

Lease Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Newton Executive Park Limited Partnership, dated August 29, 2011, as amended

10.10*

Commercial Lease, by and between the Registrant and Cummings Properties, LLC, dated August 18, 2016, as amended (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on
October 6, 2017)

10.11*#

License Agreement dated March 22, 2012, as amended, by and between the Registrant and Ajinomoto Althea, Inc. (f/k/a Althea Technologies, Inc.) (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)
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10.12*

Loan and Security Agreement by and between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 18, 2014, as amended (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on
October 6, 2017)

10.13*†

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 23, 2017)

21.1*

Subsidiaries (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 filed on October 6, 2017)

23.1**

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

31.1**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2**

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1***

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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*
**
***
†
#

Interactive Data Files regarding (a) our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, (b) our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December
31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, (c) our Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, (d) our Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and (e) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Previously filed.
Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Indicates management contract or compensation plan.
Application has been made to the Securities and Exchange Commission for confidential treatment of certain provisions. Omitted material for which confidential treatment has been requested has been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 16.

FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: March 27, 2018
ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By: /s/ Alexey Margolin, Ph.D.
Alexey Margolin, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer and Director
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ Alexey Margolin, Ph.D.

Title

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

March 27, 2018

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Director

March 27, 2018

Alexey Margolin, Ph.D.
/s/ Edward Wholihan
Edward Wholihan
/s/ Axel Bolte
Axel Bolte
/s/ Stephen Kraus
Stephen Kraus
/s/ Gino Santini
Gino Santini
/s/ Robert Tepper, M.D.
Robert Tepper, M.D.
/s/ James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.D.
James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.D.
/s/ Robert Alexander, Ph.D.
Robert Alexander, Ph.D.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
Boston, Massachusetts
March 27, 2018
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Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,
2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’
Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Loan payable, net of discount
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Loan payable, net of current portion and discount
Warrants for the purchase of shares subject to redemption
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; no shares authorized, issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2017; 18,510,200 shares authorized at
December 31, 2016; 18,367,344 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2016
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; no shares authorized, issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2017; 19,481,270 shares authorized at
December 31, 2016; 19,841,270 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2016
Series C convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; no shares authorized, issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2017; 20,037,736 shares authorized at
December 31, 2016; 20,000,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2016
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized at December 31,
2017, 75,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2016; 20,694,658 and
1,341,385 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively
Undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2017; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2017; no
shares authorized, issued or outstanding at December 31, 2016
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’
equity (deficit)
See accompanying notes.

$

2016

94,494
—
1,539
96,033
127
89
96,249

$

1,724
3,870
1,949
7,543
5,516
—
320
13,379

$

$
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1,464
176
1,610
3,250
9,409
267
103
13,029

—

17,967

—

24,931

—

52,829

20

1

—
164,807
—
(81,957)
82,870
$

25,250
23,505
520
49,275
169
35
49,479

96,249

—
1,031
(2)
(60,307)
(59,277)
$

49,479

Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — basic
and diluted

15,519
5,431
20,950

$

(443)
(257)
(700)
(21,650)

$

(4.80)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic and
diluted

$

See accompanying notes.
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$

(21,650)

$

—
—
(21,650)

$

11,540
2,365
13,905

$

(200)
(121)
(321)
(24,507)

$

(335)
(7)
(342)
(14,247)

$

(18.35)

$

(11.35)

4,520,337

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized loss on investments
Total other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss

20,103
4,083
24,186

2015

1,339,254
$

(24,507)

$

(2)
(2)
(24,509)

1,258,123
$

(14,247)

$

—
—
(14,247)

Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2014
Issuance of Series C convertible preferred
stock, net of issuance costs of $218
Exercise of common stock options
Vesting of restricted common stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock to
redemption value
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2015
Exercise of common stock options
Vesting of restricted common stock
Accretion of convertible preferred stock to
redemption value
Stock-based compensation
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
available for sale investments
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2016
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Exercise of common stock options
Exercise of common stock warrants
Accretion of convertible preferred stock to redemption value
Conversion of preferred stock into common stock
Conversion of warrant liability to equity
Stock-based compensation
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale
investments
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2017

Series A convertible
preferred stock
Shares
Amount
18,367,344
$
17,948

Series B convertible
preferred stock
Shares
Amount
19,841,270
$
24,891

Series C convertible
preferred stock
Shares
Amount
—
$
—

Common stock
Shares
Amount
1,135,653
$
1

Additional
paid-in
capital
$
650

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income (loss)
$
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

20,000,000
—
—

52,782
—
—

—
17,394
162,893

—
—
—

—
7
3

—
—
—

—
—
—
18,367,344
—
—

11
—
—
17,959
—
—

—
—
—
19,841,270
—
—

22
—
—
24,913
—
—

—
—
—
20,000,000
—
—

4
—
—
52,786
—
—

—
—
—
1,315,940
24,770
675

—
—
—
1
0
—

(37)
207
—
830
19
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—

8
—

—
—

18
—

—
—

43
—

—
—

—
—

(69)
251

—
—

—
—
1,341,385
5,350,302
33,061
24,401
—
13,945,509
—
—

—
—
1
5
—
—
—
14
—
—

—
—
1,031
66,994
28
—
(58)
95,771
524
517

—
—
20,694,658

—
—
20

—
—
18,367,344
—
—
—
—
(18,367,344)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
17,967
—
—
—
7
(17,974)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
19,841,270
—
—
—
—
(19,841,270)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
24,931
—
—
—
15
(24,946)
—
—

—
—
20,000,000
—
—
—
—
(20,000,000)
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

See accompanying notes.
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—
—
52,829
—
—
—
36
(52,865)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
164,807

Accumulated
deficit
$
(21,553)
—
—
—
—
—
(14,247)
(35,800)
—
—
—
—

Total
stockholders’
equity
(deficit)
$
(20,902)
—
7
3
(37)
207
(14,247)
(34,969)
19
—
(69)
251

(2)
—
(2)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(24,507)
(60,307)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(2)
(24,507)
(59,277)
66,999
28
—
(58)
95,785
524
517

2
—
—

—
(21,650)
(81,957)

2
(21,650)
82,870

Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation expense
Non-cash interest expense
Amortization of premium on investments
Loss on disposal of equipment
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Sale of property and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from the sale of Series C convertible preferred stock,
net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from loan payable
Repayment of loan payable
Debt issuance costs paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

(21,650)

$

517
73
351
33
—
257
(984)
(89)
199
228
—
(21,065)

343
—
(525)
689
(180)
(23,394)

(57)
(1,247)
24,721
—
23,417

(102)
(53,210)
29,550
—
(23,762)

$
$
$
$
$
$

See accompanying notes.
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—
28
—
(333)
—
66,892
69,244
25,250
94,494
452
11
199
—
58

$

251
46
204
153
—
132

67,197

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Cash paid for interest
Property and equipment purchases included in accounts payable
Initial public offering costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Issuance of warrants in connection with loan payable
Accretion of convertible preferred stock to redemption value

(24,507)

2015

207
98
167
—
7
36
(639)
—
1,001
219
(24)
(13,175)
—
—
—
5
5

—

$
$
$
$
$
$

—
19
10,000
(6,256)
(368)
3,395
(43,761)
69,011
25,250
472
38
—
67
69

(14,247)

—

$
$
$
$
$
$

52,782
7
3,250
(744)
—
55,295
42,125
26,886
69,011
193
9
—
7
37

Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) is a clinical stage company focused on developing non-absorbed oral enzyme therapeutics to treat metabolic conditions including hyperoxaluria and hyperuricemia. The Company was
incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on June 24, 2011. The Company’s headquarters are in Newton, Massachusetts.
On November 6, 2017, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”), in which the Company issued and sold 5,333,333 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $14.00 per share, for aggregate gross
proceeds of $74.7 million. The underwriters partially exercised their over-allotment option December 1, 2017, and purchased an additional 16,969 shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of $0.2 million. As a result
of the IPO, the Company received approximately $67.0 million in net proceeds after deducting $7.9 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering costs.
Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 13,945,509 shares of common stock. Subsequent to the closing of the IPO, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding. In connection with the IPO, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to change the authorized capital stock to 125,000,000 shares designated as common stock and 5,000,000 shares designated as
preferred stock, all with a par value of $0.001 per share.
In connection with preparing for its IPO, the Company effected a 1-for-4.174 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock. The reverse stock split became effective on October 23, 2017. The par value and authorized shares of
common stock and convertible preferred stock were not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All share and per share amounts in the financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively adjusted for all periods
presented to give effect to this reverse stock split, including reclassifying an amount equal to the reduction in par value of common stock to additional paid-in capital. The financial statements have also been retroactively adjusted to
reflect adjustments to the conversion ratio for each series of convertible preferred stock effected in connection with the reverse stock split.
The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry, including but not limited to, risks of failure of preclinical studies and clinical trials, the need to obtain marketing approval for any drug product
candidate that it may identify and develop, the need to successfully commercialize and gain market acceptance of its product candidates, dependence on key personnel, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with
government regulations, development by competitors of technological innovations, reliance on third party manufacturers, ability to transition from pilot-scale manufacturing to large-scale production of products and the need to obtain
adequate additional financing to fund the development of its product candidates.
The Company has an accumulated deficit of $82.0 million at December 31, 2017, and will require substantial additional capital to fund operations. The future success of the Company is dependent on its ability to identify and develop
its product candidates and ultimately upon its ability to attain profitable operations. At December 31, 2017, the Company had $94.5 million of cash and cash equivalents.
The Company believes its cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2017 will be sufficient to fund the Company's operating plan for a period of at least one year from the issuance date of the consolidated financial
statements. Thereafter, the Company will be required to obtain additional funding in the future to achieve its operating plan. There can be no assurances, however, that the current operating plan will be achieved or that additional
funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is
meant to refer to the authoritative United States generally accepted accounting principles as found in the Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”).
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries Allena Pharmaceuticals Security Corporation (“Security Corporation”), which was incorporated in
December 2014, and Allena Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited, which was incorporated in March 2017. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Company's management evaluates its estimates, which
include but are not limited to management’s judgments of accrued expenses, fair value of common stock prior to the closing of the Company’s IPO, valuation of share-based awards, fair value of warrants, prior to the conversion into
warrants for the purchase of common stock upon the closing of the IPO, and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The Company utilized significant estimates and assumptions in determining the fair value of its common stock. The Company utilized various valuation methodologies in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation (the “Practice Aid”), to estimate the fair value of its common stock. Each valuation methodology
includes estimates and assumptions that require the Company's judgment. These estimates and assumptions include a number of objective and subjective factors, including external market conditions, the prices at which the Company
sold shares of preferred stock, the superior rights and preferences of securities senior to the Company’s common stock at the time of, and the likelihood of, achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or
sale. Significant changes to the key assumptions used in the valuations could result in different fair values of common stock at each valuation date.
Segment Information
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess
performance. The Company's chief operating decision-maker, the Company's chief executive officer, views the Company's operations and manages its business as a single operating segment, which is the business of discovering and
developing non-absorbed oral enzyme therapeutics.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. The Company’s only element of other
comprehensive income (loss) is unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in banks and amounts held in money market funds. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.
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Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash
Money market funds

$
$

2016

749
93,745
94,494

$
$

948
24,302
25,250

Investments
The Company invests available cash primarily in U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities and United States government treasury securities. The Company classifies its investments as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale
investments are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in stockholders’ (deficit) equity. Any premium or discount arising at purchase is amortized and/or accreted to interest income and/or expense. All
investments are classified as current assets as they have contractual maturities of less than one year and are available to meet working capital needs and to fund current operations.
The cost of securities sold is determined on a specific identification basis, and realized gains and losses are included in interest income (expense) within the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
The Company evaluates its investments with unrealized losses for other-than-temporary impairment. When assessing investments for other-than-temporary declines in value, the Company considers such factors as, among other
things, how significant the decline in value is as a percentage of the original cost, how long the market value of the investment has been less than its original cost, the Company’s ability and intent to retain the investment for a period
of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value and market conditions in general. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the value of the investment that the Company considers to be “other than
temporary”, the Company reduces the investment to fair value through a charge to the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. No such adjustments were necessary during the periods presented.
Concentration of Credit Risk and Off-Balance Sheet Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and investments. The Company maintains all of its cash, cash equivalents and investments balances
at a single accredited financial institution, in amounts that exceed federally insured limits. The Company generally invests its excess cash in money market funds, corporate notes and United States government securities that are
subject to minimal credit and market risk. Management has established guidelines relative to credit ratings and maturities intended to safeguard principal balances and maintain liquidity. The investment portfolio is maintained in
accordance with the Company’s investment policy, which defines allowable investments, specifies credit quality standards and limits the credit exposure of any single issuer.
The Company has no significant off-balance sheet risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts, or other foreign hedging arrangements.
Significant Suppliers
The Company is dependent on third-party manufacturers to supply products for research and development activities of its programs, including preclinical and clinical testing. In particular, the Company relies and expects to continue
to rely on a small number of manufacturers to supply it with its requirements for the active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs related to these programs. These programs could be adversely affected by a significant
interruption in the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability between market participants at measurement dates. ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”), establishes a threelevel valuation hierarchy for instruments measured at fair value. The hierarchy is based on the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date. The hierarchy defines three levels of valuation
inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:
Level 1 inputs:

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs:

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted market prices, interest rates and yield curves.

Level 3 inputs:

Unobservable inputs developed using estimates or assumptions developed by the Company, which reflect those that a market participant would use in pricing the asset or liability.

To the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the
Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3. A financial instrument's level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of laboratory equipment, computer equipment, software and leasehold improvements recorded at cost. These amounts are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:
Laboratory equipment
Computer equipment
Software
Leasehold improvements

4 years
3 years
5 years
Shorter of useful life
or remaining term
of related lease

Upon retirement or sale, the cost of the assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the balance sheet and related gains or losses are reflected in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred and costs of significant improvements are capitalized.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company continually evaluates long-lived assets for potential impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the
book values of the assets to the expected future net undiscounted cash flows that the assets are expected to generate. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which
the book values of the assets exceed their fair value. The Company did not recognize any impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.
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Warrants to Purchase Shares Subject to Redemption
Prior to the closing of the IPO, the Company accounted for warrant instruments that either conditionally or unconditionally obligate the issuer to transfer assets as liabilities regardless of the timing of the redemption feature or price,
even though the underlying shares may be classified as equity. These warrants were subject to revaluation at each balance sheet date, and any changes in fair value were recorded as a component of other income (expense) in the
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Upon the closing of the IPO, the warrants met the criteria to be classified in stockholders’ equity and the fair value of the warrant liability as of the IPO date was reclassified to
stockholders’ equity (deficit).
Research and Development
The Company expenses all costs incurred in performing research and development activities. Research and development expenses include salaries and benefits, materials and supplies, preclinical and clinical trial expenses,
manufacturing expenses, stock-based compensation expense, depreciation of equipment, contract services and other outside expenses. Costs of certain development activities, such as manufacturing, are recognized based on an
evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks. Payments for these activities are based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements as prepaid or accrued research and development costs. Nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the future for use in research and development activities are deferred and
capitalized. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are delivered or the services are performed.
Patent Costs
The Company expenses patent application and related legal costs as incurred and classifies such costs as general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires all share-based payments to employees and directors to be
recognized as expense in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss based on their grant date fair values. The Company accounts for share-based payments to non-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 505, EquityBased Payments to Non-Employees (“ASC 505”). ASC 505 requires that the expense related to share-based payments to non-employees be recognized in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss based on the awards’
vesting date fair values. The Company estimates the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for stock option grants to both employees and non-employees. The Company believes the fair value of
the stock options granted to non-employees is more reliably determinable than the fair value of the services provided.
The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires inputs based on certain subjective assumptions, including (a) the expected stock price volatility, (b) the expected term of the award, (c) the risk-free interest rate and (d) expected
dividends. Due to the lack of a public market for the Company’s common stock and a lack of company-specific historical and implied volatility data, the Company has based its computation of expected volatility on the historical
volatility of a representative group of public companies with similar characteristics to the Company, including stage of product development and life science industry focus. The historical volatility is calculated based on a period of
time commensurate with the expected term assumption. The Company uses the simplified method as prescribed by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment, to calculate the expected term for options granted
to employees as it does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. The expected term is applied to the stock option grant group as a whole, as the Company does
not expect substantially different exercise or post-vesting termination behavior among its employee population. For options granted to non-employees, the Company utilizes the contractual term of the share-based payment as the basis
for the expected term assumption. The risk-free interest rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected term of the stock options. The expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero as the Company
has never paid dividends and has no current plans to pay any dividends on its common stock.
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In the first quarter of 2017, the Company made an accounting policy election to recognize forfeitures as they occur upon adoption of guidance per ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation. The adoption of ASU No.
2016-09 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements. In reporting periods prior to 2017, the Company estimated forfeitures at the time of grant and revised the forfeitures rate in subsequent periods as
necessary if actual forfeitures differed from estimates. The Company used historical data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and recorded stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that were expected to vest.
The Company expenses the fair value of its share-based compensation awards to employees on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. Stock-based compensation awards to nonemployees are adjusted through stock-based compensation expense at each reporting period end to reflect the current fair value of such awards and are expensed on a straight-line basis.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). The difference between the financial statement and tax basis of the assets and liabilities is
determined annually. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed using the tax laws and rates that are expected to apply for periods in which such differences reverse. Valuation allowances are established, if necessary, to
reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount that will more likely than not be realized.
The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of
being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.
Net Loss Per Share
The Company has reported losses since inception and has computed basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. The Company has computed diluted net loss per common share after giving consideration to all potentially dilutive common shares, including
options to purchase common stock, restricted common stock, convertible preferred stock and warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock, outstanding during the period determined using the treasury-stock and if-converted
methods, except where the effect of including such securities would be anti-dilutive. Because the Company has reported net losses since inception, these potential common shares have been anti-dilutive and basic and diluted loss per
share have been the same.
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders was calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Numerator:
Net loss
Accretion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$
$

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares – basic and
diluted

(21,650)
(58)
(21,708)

$
$

4,520,337

Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders –basic and diluted

$
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(4.80)

(24,507)
(69)
(24,576)

2015

$
$

1,339,254
$

(18.35)

(14,247)
(37)
(14,284)

1,258,123
$

(11.35)

The following table sets forth the potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because to include them would be anti-dilutive (in common stock equivalent shares):

2017

Series A convertible preferred stock
Series B convertible preferred stock
Series C convertible preferred stock
Warrants
Stock options
Restricted stock
Total

—
—
—
9,040
1,508,124
—
1,517,164

Years Ended December 31,
2016

4,400,410
4,753,536
4,791,563
43,265
1,348,845
—
15,337,619

2015

4,400,410
4,753,536
4,791,563
34,225
759,167
675
14,739,576

Loss Contingencies
In accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, the Company accrues anticipated costs of settlement, damages, and losses for loss contingencies based on historical experience or to the extent specific losses are probable and
estimable. Otherwise, the Company expenses these costs as incurred. If the estimate of a probable loss is a range, and no amount within the range is more likely, the Company accrues the minimum amount of the range.
Guarantees
The Company has identified the guarantees described below as disclosable, in accordance with ASC 460, Guarantees.
As permitted under Delaware law, the Company indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was, serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. The maximum potential
amount of future payments the Company could be required to make is unlimited; however, the Company has directors’ and officers’ insurance coverage that should limit its exposure and enable it to recover a portion of any future
amounts paid.
The Company is a party to a number of agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business that contain typical provisions that obligate the Company to indemnify the other parties to such agreements upon the occurrence of
certain events. Such indemnification obligations are usually in effect from the date of execution of the applicable agreement for a period equal to the applicable statute of limitations. The aggregate maximum potential future liability
of the Company under such indemnification provisions is uncertain.
The Company leases office space under several noncancelable operating leases. The Company has standard indemnification arrangements under these leases that require it to indemnify the landlord against all costs, expenses, fines,
suits, claims, demands, liabilities, and actions directly resulting from any breach, violation, or nonperformance of any covenant or condition of the respective lease.
As of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company had not experienced any losses related to these indemnification obligations, and no material claims with respect thereto were outstanding. The Company does not expect
significant claims related to these indemnification obligations and, consequently, concluded that the fair value of these obligations is negligible, and no related reserves have been established.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies and adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes that the
impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations upon adoption.
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In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (“ASU No. 2014-15”), which defines management’s responsibility to evaluate, at each annual and interim reporting period,
whether there are conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the financial statements are issued and to provide related footnote disclosures in
certain circumstances. In connection with each annual and interim period, management must assess if there is substantial doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the issuance date.
Disclosures are required if conditions give rise to substantial doubt. The Company adopted ASU No. 2014-15 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The adoption of ASU No. 2014-15 did not have a significant impact on the
Company’s financial statement disclosures. Refer to Note 1 for a discussion of the Company’s liquidity.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. This standard amends existing guidance to require the presentation of debt issuance costs in the balance sheet as a deduction
from the carrying amount of the related debt liability rather than as a deferred charge. It is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2016 and
reclassified its debt issuance costs to a reduction of the debt balances, accordingly. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (“ASU No. 2015-17”), which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by eliminating the need for entities to separate
deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified statement of financial position. For non-public entities, the guidance in this ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017 and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Earlier application is permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or an annual reporting period. The Company
prospectively adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2017. Prior period amounts were not retrospectively adjusted, and the adoption of ASU No. 2015-17 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (“ASU No. 2016-09”), which amends ASC Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. ASU No. 2016-09 identifies areas for simplification
involving several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, an option to recognize gross stock compensation expense
with actual forfeitures recognized as they occur, as well as certain classifications on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those
annual periods. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 effective January 1, 2017. The adoption of ASU No. 2016-09 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. Upon adoption, the Company elected to
account for forfeitures as they occur. The Company did not have any excess tax benefits associated with stock option exercises and therefore there was no deferred tax asset recorded upon adoption.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU No. 2016-02”). The new standard aims to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by requiring lessees to recognize lease assets
and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and requiring disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for public entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU No. 2016-02 may have on its financial position and results of operations.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows: Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU No. 2016-15”). This guidance addresses the presentation and classification of certain
cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that the adoption of ASU No. 2016-15 will have on its financial statements.
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In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting (“ASU No. 2017-09”). This update clarifies the changes to terms or conditions of a share-based
payment award that require an entity to apply modification accounting. ASU No. 2017-09 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods therein, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted and
prospective application is required. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this guidance will have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
3. Investments
The Company did not have any investments as of December 31, 2017.
The following table summarizes the Company’s investments as of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):
Amortized
Cost

Available-for-sale securities:
U.S. treasury securities
U.S. corporate debt securities
Foreign corporate debt securities
Total available-for-sale securities

$

$

Gross Unrealized
Gains

13,258
7,397
2,852
23,507

Estimated
Fair Value

Losses

$

3
—
—
3

$

$

(2)
(3)
—
(5)

$

$

$

13,259
7,394
2,852
23,505

The aggregate fair value of investments with unrealized losses was approximately $16.5 million at December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2016, 10 investments were in an unrealized loss position. All such investments have been in an
unrealized loss position for less than a year and these losses are considered temporary. The Company has the ability and intent to hold these investments until a recovery of their amortized cost.
4. Fair Value Measurements
The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that have been measured at fair value at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized
to determine such fair value (in thousands):
Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

December 31,
2017

Description

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Money market funds, included in cash and cash
equivalents
Total assets

$
$

93,745
93,745

$
$

93,745
93,745

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

Liabilities:
Warrants for the purchase of shares subject to
redemption

$

—

$

—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

Total liabilities
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Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)

December 31,
2016

Description

Assets:
Money market funds, included in cash and cash
equivalents
Investments:
U.S. treasury securities
U.S corporate debt securities
Foreign corporate debt securities
Total assets
Liabilities:
Warrants for the purchase of shares subject to
redemption
Total liabilities

$

24,302

Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

$

24,302

$

13,259
7,394
2,852
47,807

$
$

267
267

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$

—

$

—

$

13,259
—
—
37,561

$

—
7,394
2,852
10,246

$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

267
267

—

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, all of the Company’s cash equivalents were comprised of money market funds.
At December 31, 2016, items classified as Level 2 within the valuation hierarchy consist of U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities. The Company estimates the fair values of these investments by taking into consideration
valuations obtained from third-party pricing sources. These pricing sources utilize industry standard valuation models, including both income and market-based approaches, for which all significant inputs are observable, either
directly or indirectly, to estimate fair value. These inputs include market pricing based on real-time trade data for the same or similar securities, issuer credit spreads, benchmark yields, and other observable inputs. The Company
validates the prices provided by its third-party pricing sources by understanding the models used, obtaining market values from other pricing sources and analyzing pricing data in certain instances.
There have been no changes to the valuation methods used during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. There were no transfers within the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
The carrying amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their carrying values. The Company
believes the terms of the loan payable reflect current market conditions for an instrument with similar terms and maturity, therefore the carrying value of the Company’s debt approximates its fair value based on Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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Warrants to Purchase Shares Subject to Redemption
In connection with entering into a Loan and Security Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) in August 2014 (Note 7), the Company issued a warrant for the purchase of 71,428 shares of Series A preferred stock (“Series A Warrant”) when
the Loan Agreement was executed. In connection with the first advance under the Loan Agreement, the Series A Warrant became exercisable for an additional 38,265 shares. In connection with a second advance under the Loan
Agreement in March 2015, the Series A Warrant became exercisable for an additional 33,163 shares. The Company amended the Loan Agreement in May 2016. In connection with the first advance under the amended Loan
Agreement in May 2016, the Company issued a warrant for the purchase of up to 28,302 shares of Series C preferred stock (“Series C Warrant”, together with the Series A Warrant, the “Warrants”). In connection with the second
advance under the amended Loan Agreement in December 2016, the Series C Warrant became exercisable for an additional 9,434 shares. The estimated fair value of the Warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes optionpricing model. A significant input to the fair value of the warrants is the fair value of the Series A and C Preferred Stock which was determined based upon the Company’s common stock valuations. The fair value of the Warrants
was remeasured at each reporting date through the date of the IPO using then-current assumptions with changes in fair value charged to other income (expense) on the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of
November 6, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Warrants were valued at $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The following assumptions were used in valuing the Warrants:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

November 6, 2017

December 31, 2016

2.1% - 2.2%
—%
6.8 - 8.5
84% - 86%

2.3% - 2.5%
—%
7.6 - 9.3
90%

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Warrants, which represented a recurring measurement classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, wherein fair value was estimated using significant
unobservable inputs (in thousands, except share data):
Balance at December 31, 2015
Initial fair value of Series C Warrant for the purchase
of 28,302 shares
Initial fair value of Series C Warrant for the purchase
of 9,434 shares
Change in fair value of Warrants included in other
income (expense)
Balance at December 31, 2016
Change in fair value of Warrants through the date of the IPO included in other income (expense)
Fair value of Warrants reclassified to stockholders' equity (deficit) upon conversion to warrants for the
conversion of common stock
Balance at December 31, 2017

$

68
45
22
132
267
257

$

(524)
—

An entity may choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value at specified election dates. Subsequent unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be
reported in earnings. The Company did not elect to measure any financial instruments or other items at fair value.
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5. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment includes the following at December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

Property and equipment:
Laboratory equipment
Computer equipment
Software

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

2016

263
6
39
308
(181)
127

$

$

232
6
39
277
(108)
169

$

The Company recognized $73,000, $46,000 and $0.1 million of depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
In September 2016, the Company wrote-off $0.1 million of fully depreciated leasehold improvements upon moving out of a laboratory facility.
6. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

Payroll and employee-related expenses
Professional fees
Third-party research and development expenses
Loan interest
IPO-related costs
Other
Total accrued expenses

$

$

2016

1,132
420
135
40
111
111
1,949

$

$

914
172
413
28
—
83
1,610

7. Loan and Security Agreement
In August 2014, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) to borrow up to $7.0 million. Upon entering into the Loan Agreement, SVB advanced $3.8 million to the Company. In
March 2015, SVB advanced the remaining $3.2 million available under the Loan Agreement.
In May 2016, the Loan Agreement was amended (“Amended Loan Agreement”) to borrow up to $10.0 million with a portion of the proceeds to be used to pay down the outstanding balance of the original $7.0 million of
advances. At the time of the Amended Loan Agreement, SVB advanced a gross amount of $7.5 million to the Company. Net proceeds received by the Company were $1.6 million after deducting $5.3 million for repayment of the
original advances and $0.6 million for final interest due upon maturity or prepayment of the original advances. The Amended Loan Agreement was accounted for as a debt modification pursuant to ASC 450-70, Modifications or
Extinguishments. In December 2016, upon the achievement of certain milestones, SVB advanced the remaining $2.5 million available under the Amended Loan Agreement.
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The borrowings are secured by a lien on all Company assets, excluding intellectual property. The May 2016 and December 2016 advances have a floating per annum interest rate of the greater of 4.0% or 0.5% above the
prime rate. The interest rate on the borrowings at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 was 4.25% and 5.0%, respectively. Beginning in May 2016, payments were interest only for a period of 12 months. In December 2016,
the interest only period was extended to 18 months. Upon the expiration of the interest only period, amounts borrowed will be repaid over 30 equal monthly payments of principal and interest. At its option, the Company may prepay
all, but not less than all, of the outstanding borrowings subject to a prepayment premium as defined in the Amended Loan Agreement. The Company is also required to make a final payment equal to 8.25% of the total borrowings
which is due on the earliest of the loan maturity date, an acceleration of the loan as defined in the Amended Loan Agreement or at the time of prepayment. The final payment is being accreted to interest expense through the maturity
date of the loan.
The minimum aggregate future loan and interest payments at December 31, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ending December 31,

2018
2019
2020
Total minimum payments
Less: Amount representing interest
Less: Discount
Less: Current portion
Loan payable, net of current portion

$

$

4,377
4,185
2,512
11,074
(1,407)
(281)
(3,870)
5,516

The Company issued a Series A Warrant to SVB to purchase 71,428 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”) at $0.98 per share upon executing the Loan Agreement. In addition, the
Company issued an additional warrant to SVB to purchase a number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock equal to 1.0% of each additional loan advance amount. In connection with the initial advance and the advance in March 2015,
the Company issued additional Series A Warrants to purchase up to 38,265 and 33,163 shares of Series A Preferred Stock at $0.98 per share, respectively. The Series A Warrants expire on August 17, 2024. Under the terms of the
Amended Loan Agreement, the Company issued a Series C Warrant to SVB to purchase a number of shares of Series C convertible preferred stock (“Series C Preferred Stock”) at $2.65 per share equal to 1.0% of each loan advance
amount. In connection with the initial advance and the advance in December 2016, the Company issued Series C Warrants to purchase up to 28,302 and 9,434 shares of Series C Preferred Stock at $2.65 per share, respectively. The
Series C Warrants expire on May 1, 2026.
Upon the closing of the IPO, the Series A Warrants converted to common stock warrants to purchase up to 34,225 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $4.09 per share. The Series C Warrants converted to
common stock warrants to purchase up to 9,040 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $11.06 per share. On December 12, 2017, SVB exercised its warrants to purchase 34,225 shares of common stock using the cashless
exercise option permitted per the terms of the warrant agreement. The Company issued 24,401 shares of common stock to SVB as settlement of the warrant. At December 31, 2017, warrants to purchase up to 9,040 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $11.06 remained outstanding.
The Company recorded the fair value of the Warrants at issuance as a reduction to the loan payable balance. The discount is being accreted to interest expense over the period that the loan will be outstanding. The
offsetting credit was recorded as warrants to purchase shares subject to redemption in the long-term liabilities section on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of the Warrants was remeasured at each reporting period through
the closing of the IPO and changes in fair value were recognized in other income (expense) in the statement of operations.
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The Amended Loan Agreement contains negative covenants restricting the Company’s activities, including limitations on dispositions, mergers or acquisitions, incurring indebtedness or liens, paying dividends or making
investments and certain other business transactions. There are no financial covenants associated with the Amended Loan Agreement. The obligations under the Amended Loan Agreement are subject to acceleration upon the
occurrence of specified events of default, including a material adverse change in the Company’s business, operations or financial or other condition. The Company has determined that the risk of subjective acceleration under the
material adverse events clause is remote and therefore has classified the outstanding principal in current and long-term liabilities based on scheduled principal payments.
The Loan Agreement was previously amended in December 2014 in conjunction with the formation of the Security Corporation, requiring the Company to maintain a balance of cash and cash equivalents in the Company’s
operating, depository and securities accounts in an amount not less than 125% of the outstanding debt balance so long as the Company maintains a cash balance in the Security Corporation. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the
Company was required to have and had a balance of not less than $12.1 million and $12.5 million, respectively, included in cash and cash equivalents, representing 125% of the outstanding debt balances at December 31, 2017 and
2016 of $9.7 million and $10.0 million, respectively, in the Company’s operating account.
The Company evaluated the Loan Agreement and Amended Loan Agreement for embedded features that require bifurcation, noting that the contingent interest feature and the incremental interest upon an event of default
were required to be bifurcated, but were concluded to be de minimus in value at inception and at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
8. Convertible Preferred Stock
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
From September 2011 to May 2014, the Company issued a total of 18,367,344 shares of Series A Preferred Stock at $0.98 per share for total net proceeds of $17.9 million.
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
In November 2014, the Company issued 19,841,270 shares of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) at $1.26 per share for net proceeds of $24.9 million.
Series C Convertible Preferred Stock
In November 2015, the Company issued 20,000,000 shares of the Series C Preferred Stock (collectively with the Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, the “Preferred Stock”) at $2.65 per share for net proceeds of
$52.8 million.
Conversion to Common Stock
Upon the closing of the IPO, all of the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 13,945,509 shares of common stock. Subsequent to the closing of the IPO, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding. In connection with the IPO, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to change the authorized capital stock to 125,000,000 shares designated as common stock and 5,000,000 shares designated as
preferred stock, all with a par value of $0.001 per share.
9. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held. Common stockholders are not entitled to receive dividends, unless declared by the Board of Directors.
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The Company has reserved for future issuances the following shares of common stock as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:
December 31, 2017

Series A convertible preferred stock
Series B convertible preferred stock
Series C convertible preferred stock
Warrants
Stock options
Employee stock purchase plan
Total

—
—
—
9,040
3,538,345
206,284
3,753,669

December 31, 2016

4,400,410
4,753,536
4,791,563
43,265
2,130,560
—
16,119,334

Restricted Common Stock
In 2011 and 2012, the Company issued a total of 1,211,035 shares of restricted common stock to founders, employees, directors and consultants. These shares of common stock vested over four years. If any of these individuals ceased
to be employed or to provide services to the Company prior to vesting, the Company had the right to repurchase any unvested shares of common stock at the price paid by the holder. 675 shares of restricted stock with a weighted
average grant date fair value of $0.42 per share remained unvested at December 31, 2015. All of these shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2016. The fair value of restricted stock awards that vested during the year
ended December 31, 2016, based on estimated fair values of the stock underlying the restricted stock awards on the day of vesting was $800. There were no shares of unvested restricted stock awards outstanding at December 31,
2017 and 2016.
10. Stock Incentive Plans
Stock Option Plans
On October 16, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (“2017 Plan”), which became effective on October 31, 2017. As of the effective date of the 2017 Plan, no further grants will be
made under the 2011 Plan. The 2017 Plan initially provides for the grant of awards for 2,038,021 shares of common stock. In addition to the shares available for grant under the 2017 Plan, any awards outstanding under the 2011 Plan
as of the October 31, 2017 that are cancelled, forfeited or otherwise terminated without being exercised, the number of shares underlying such awards will be available for future grant under the 2017 Plan. The 2017 Plan also provides
that an additional number of shares will automatically be added to the shares authorized for issuance under the 2017 Plan on January 1 of each year. The number of shares added each year will be equal to the lesser of: (i) 4% of the
outstanding shares on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii) such amount as determined by the Compensation Committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors. On January 1, 2018, the shares available for grant under the
2017 Plan was automatically increased by 827,786 shares.
All of the Company’s employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors are eligible to be granted options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and other share-based awards under the terms of the 2017 Plan. As of December 31,
2017, 2,030,221 shares of common stock were available for future grant under the 2017 Plan.
All stock option grants are nonstatutory stock options except option grants to employees (including officers and directors) intended to qualify as incentive stock options under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Incentive
stock options may not be granted at less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Nonqualified stock options may be granted at an exercise price established by the Board of Directors at its sole
discretion (which has not been less than fair market value on the date of grant) and the vesting periods may vary. Vesting periods are generally four years and are determined by the Board of Directors or a delegated
subcommittee. Stock options become exercisable as they vest. Options granted under the 2017 and 2011 Plans expire no more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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Stock-based compensation expense included in the Company’s statements of operations and comprehensive loss is as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2016

2017

Research and development
General and administrative
Total

$

147
370
517

$

$

68
183
251

$

2015

$

74
133
207

$

The fair value of each stock option granted to employees and directors was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following range of assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015:

2017

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

Years Ended December 31,
2016

1.9% – 2.3%
—%
5.6 – 6.3
81% – 87%

1.3% – 1.7%
—%
5.4 – 6.4
77% – 84%

2015

1.8% – 1.9%
—%
6.25
85%

The expense related to awards granted to employees and directors for their service on the Board of Directors was $0.5 million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The fair value of each stock option granted to non-employees was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following range of assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2016 and
2015:
Years Ended December 31,
2016

Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility

1.9% – 2.4%
—%
8.9 – 10.0
89% – 96%

2015

2.4%
—%
10.0
85%

We did not grant any stock options to non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2017. The expense related to awards granted to non-employees was $65,000, $24,000 and $28,000 for the years ended December 31, 2017
and 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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A summary of the stock option activity under the 2017 and 2011 Plans is as follows:

Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2016
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Outstanding at December 31, 2017

1,348,845
209,797
(33,061)
(17,457)
1,508,124

$

Exercisable at December 31, 2017

787,375
1,508,124

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2017

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in years)

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

8.6

$

3,642

$

1.29
5.50
0.86
1.87
1.89

7.9

$

12,328

$

1.24

7.4

$

6,945

$

1.89

7.9

$

12,328

The weighted-average fair value of options granted to employees and directors for their service on the Board of Directors during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $6.16 ,$1.13 and $0.83 per share,
respectively. The weighted-average fair value of options granted to non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $1.38 and $1.00 per share, respectively. There were no options granted to non-employees
during the year ended December 31, 2017.
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock for those stock options that had exercise prices lower than
the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $276,000 and $21,000, respectively.
As of December 31, 2017, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense relating to unvested stock options was $1.8 million. This amount is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.
11. Income Taxes
New Tax Legislation
On December 22, 2017, the President of the United States signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). This legislation reduced the U.S. corporate tax rate from the current rate of 34% to 21% for tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017. As a result of the enacted law, the Company was required to revalue deferred tax assets and liabilities existing as of December 31, 2017 from the 34% federal rate in effect through the end of 2017, to the new 21%
rate. The Company has recognized the impact of the Tax Reform Act in these consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Due to the complexities involved in accounting for the enactment of the Tax Reform Act, the
SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 ("SAB 118"), which allows a registrant to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year of the enactment date. In accordance with SAB
118, the Company recorded provisional amounts reflecting the impact of the Tax Reform Act in these consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The impact of the remeasurement of the Company’s U.S. deferred tax
assets and liabilities to 21% resulted in the reduction of deferred tax assets of approximately $9.3 million, which is offset by a full valuation allowance. There was no impact to the Company’s income statement due to the reduction in
the U.S. corporate tax rate. Our preliminary estimate of the TCJA and the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities is subject to the finalization of management’s analysis related to certain matters, such as developing
interpretations of the provisions of the TCJA, changes to certain estimates and the filing of our tax returns. U.S. Treasury regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions interpreting the TJCA may require further
adjustments and changes in our estimates. The final determination of the TCJA and the remeasurement of the Company’s deferred assets and liabilities will be completed as additional information becomes available, but no later than
one year from the enactment of the TCJA.
Income Taxes
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The Company records a provision or benefit for income taxes on pre-tax income or loss based on its estimated effective tax rate for the year. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded a net loss of
approximately $21.7 million and, since it maintains a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets, the Company did not record an income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for financial statement and income tax purposes. The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are comprised of the
following (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Research and development credits
Licenses
Other
Total gross deferred tax asset
Less: Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

$

$

2016

21,190
4,732
24
370
26,316
(26,316)
—

$

23,028
3,418
38
118
26,602
(26,602)
—

$

ASC 740 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets reported if, based on the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. After
consideration of all the evidence, both positive and negative, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, because the Company's management has
determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the benefits of its federal and state deferred tax assets primarily due to its cumulative loss position and, as a result, a valuation allowance of $26.3 million
and $26.6 million has been established at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The valuation allowance decreased by approximately $0.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 due primarily to the revaluation of the
deferred tax assets at a 21% Federal tax rate and increased by approximately $6.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 due primarily to the generation of net operating losses.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting on January 1, 2017, however the Company did not have any NOL carryforwards associated with deductible stock option exercises
as of December 31, 2016 and therefore the adoption of ASU 2016-09 has no impact on the Company’s operations, financial position or cash flows.
A reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the statutory federal income tax rate to income taxes reflected in the financial statements is as follows:
2017

Income tax computed at federal statutory tax rate
Permanent differences
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Research and development and other tax credits
Other
Federal rate change
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance

2016

34.0%
(2.4)%
4.8%
5.0%
—%
(42.7)%
1.3%
—%

2015

34.0%
(0.5)%
5.1%
6.1%
—%
—%
(44.7)%
—%

34.0%
(0.4)%
(0.1)%
5.5%
0.1%
—%
(39.1)%
—%

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $77.9 million and $58.8 million, respectively, which may be available to offset future income tax liabilities and
expire at various dates through 2037. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company also had U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $76.5 million and $57.5 million, respectively, which may be available to
offset future income tax liabilities and expire at various dates through 2037.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $3.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively, available to reduce future tax liabilities which expire at
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various dates through 2037. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had state research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1.9 million and $1.6 million, respectively, available to reduce future tax
liabilities which expire at various dates through 2032. The Company has generated research credits but has not conducted a study to document the qualified activity. This study may result in an adjustment to the Company’s research
and development credit carryforwards; however, until a study is completed and any adjustment is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position. A full valuation allowance has been provided against the
Company’s research and development credits and, if an adjustment is required, this adjustment would be offset by an adjustment to the deferred tax asset established for the research and development credit carryforwards and the
valuation allowance.
Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service and state tax authorities. Net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards may become subject to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the ownership interest of significant shareholders over a three-year period in excess of 50%, as defined under Sections 382
and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, respectively, as well as similar state provisions. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. The amount of the
annual limitation is determined based on the value of the Company immediately prior to the ownership change. Subsequent ownership changes may further affect the limitation in future years. The Company has completed several
financings since its inception which resulted in a change in control as defined by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Ownership changes, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, including those resulting from the issuance of common stock in connection with our public offerings, may limit the amount of net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards that can be utilized to offset future taxable income or tax liability. The amount of the limitation is determined in accordance with Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. We have performed an analysis of ownership
changes through December 31, 2017. Based on this analysis, we do not believe that any of our tax attributes will expire unutilized due to Section 382 limitations.
The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions and
no such amounts have been recognized in the Company’s statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
12. Related Party Transactions
From September 2015 to June 2017, the Company received consulting and management services from one of its investors, Third Rock Ventures LLP (“Third Rock Ventures”). The Company paid Third Rock Ventures $2,000, $69,000
and $19,000 for these services during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. No amounts were payable to Third Rock Ventures at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
13. Commitments and Contingencies
In August 2011 and October 2013, the Company and an independent third party entered into operating leases for approximately 6,055 square feet of office space in Newton, MA (“Newton Lease”) and approximately 3,170 square feet
of laboratory space in Natick, MA, respectively. Base rent for the office space during the initial rent period was approximately $0.1 million per year and increased annually. Base rent for the lab space was approximately $59,000
annually. Rent expense, inclusive of the escalating rent payments and free rent period, was recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease agreement. The Company and the independent third party were each jointly
and severally liable for the obligations under both leases. In October 2016, the Newton lease was amended to extend the term one year to May 2018 and, effective June 1, 2017 removed the independent third party from the lease and
all related obligations of the lease. In December 2017, the Newton lease was amended again to increase the amount of office space to approximately 7,795 square feet and extend the term to December 31, 2020. The amended lease
for laboratory space expired October 31, 2017.
In March 2015, the Company and the independent third party entered into a sublease agreement for approximately 5,385 square feet of office space in Newton, MA that expired in February 2017.
In August 2016, the Company entered into an operating lease for approximately 3,890 square feet of laboratory space in Sudbury, MA. This lease was to expire in August 2017. In February 2017, the Company amended this lease
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to extend the term to February 2019 and increase the amount of rentable space to approximately 5,133 square feet, with an option to lease another 2,029 square feet. Base rent for this space is approximately $0.1 million annually.
Rent expense includes the Company’s allocated portion of rental obligations under the leases. The Company recorded $0.4 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, of rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively.
The minimum aggregate future operating lease commitments at December 31, 2017 are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2017

2018
2019
2020

$

$

458
379
362
1,199

14. License Agreement
In March 2012, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement (“License Agreement”) with Althea Technologies, Inc. (“Althea”) for certain intellectual property. The Company reimbursed Althea for patent related fees and
costs incurred by Althea totaling $0.1 million in the aggregate and issued a total of 88,186 shares of common stock to Althea. Under the terms of the License Agreement, the Company agreed to pay annual license maintenance fees,
milestone payments and royalties as a percentage of net sales. Annual license maintenance fees are creditable against royalties earned during the same calendar year and are not material to the financial statements. Milestone
payments are triggered upon the achievement of specified development, regulatory and commercialization milestones and are not creditable against royalties. Actual amounts due under the License Agreement will vary depending on
the number of products developed, the type and development path of the products, and other related factors. Milestone payments could total up to $56.0 million. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time with 60 days
prior written notice.
15. Employee Benefit Plan
Effective January 2012, employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”). Participants may contribute up to 100% of their annual compensation to the 401(k) Plan, subject
to statutory limitations. The 401(k) Plan does not allow the Company to make matching contributions.
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16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following table contains quarterly financial information for 2017 and 2016. The Company believes that the following information reflects all normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of the information for the
periods presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

First Quarter

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Net loss
Net loss attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted

$

5,543
(5,543)
(5,671)
(4.24)

$

Second Quarter

$

$

First Quarter

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Net loss
Net loss attributable to common stockholders - basic and diluted

$

5,041
(5,041)
(5,113)
(3.85)

$
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4,474
(4,474)
(4,632)
(3.46)

Second Quarter

$

$

2017
Third Quarter
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

$

$

4,362
(4,362)
(4,670)
(3.49)

$

$

2016
Third Quarter
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

7,041
(7,041)
(7,039)
(5.26)

$

$

6,102
(6,102)
(6,136)
(4.59)

$

$

Fourth Quarter

6,571
(6,571)
(6,677)
(0.48)

Total

$

$

Fourth Quarter

6,002
(6,002)
(6,219)
(4.65)

20,950
(20,950)
(21,650)
(4.80)

Total

$

$

24,186
(24,186)
(24,507)
(18.35)
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NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK
NEWTON, MASSACHUSETTS
OFFICE BUILDING LEASE
Tenant: Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Alcresta, Inc.
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LEASE AGREEMENT
THIS LEASE made this August 29, 2011 between Newton Executive Park Limited Partnership, a Massachusetts limited partnership with offices at One Gateway Center in Newton, Massachusetts (“Landlord”), and Allena
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with offices located in Newton, Massachusetts and Alcresta, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with offices located Newton, Massachusetts (jointly and severally the “Tenant”).
In consideration of the rents and the covenants to be paid and performed by the Tenant and upon the terms and conditions of this Lease, the Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hires from Landlord a portion of the Building
(as “Building is defined below) and as shown on the plan attached hereto as Exhibit A and made a part hereof (hereinafter referred to as the “Premises”).
1.0

REFERENCE DATA
Each reference in this Lease to any term defined in this Article shall be deemed and construed to incorporate the data stated following that term in this Article.
Additional Rent:

Sums or other charges payable by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease,
other than Annual Base Rent.

Annual Base Rent:
Period:

Annual Base Rent:

December 1, 2011 through February 28, 2013
March 1, 2013 through February 28, 2014
March 1, 2014 through February 28, 2015
March 1, 2015 through February 28, 2016
March 1, 2016 through May 31, 2017

$145,320.00
$187,704.96
$193,760.04
$199,815.00
$205,869.96

Monthly Installment
of Annual Base Rent:

$12,110.00
$15,642.08
$16,146.67
$16,651.25
$17,155.83

Annual Electricity Charge:
Period:

Annual Electricity
Charge:

December 1, 2011 through May 31, 2017

$9,990.72

Monthly Installment
of Electricity Charge:

$832.56

Broker:

Colliers International

Building:

Landlord’s building which is the building
containing the Premises and which building is on
the Property and known One Newton Executive
Park.

Business Day:

All days except Saturdays, Sundays and days
defined as “legal holidays”.

Land:

The parcel(s) of land on which the Building and
other buildings (if any) owned by the Landlord are
situated.

Lease Year:

A twelve (12) month period beginning on the Term
Commencement Date or an anniversary thereof.

Landlord’s
Address:

c/o J. F. White Properties
One Gateway Center
Newton, MA 02458

Mortgage:

A mortgage, deed of trust, trust indenture, or other security instrument of record
creating an interest in or affecting title to the Property or any part thereof, and any
renewal, modification, consolidation or extension of any such instrument.

Mortgagee:

The holder of any Mortgage.

Parking Areas:

Those areas on the Property designated by Landlord to be used for parking
automobiles.

Parking Spaces:

20 Spaces in the Parking Areas.

Premises:

Approximately 6,055 square feet of rentable area (the calculation of “rentable”
area includes an allocation of the Building’s common areas) on the second floor
of the Building, and as more fully described in the Article of this Lease entitled
“DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES”.

Property:

The Building and the Land and any improvements on the Land including, without
limitation, the Building and other buildings (as of the Term Commencement Date,
collectively known as “Newton Executive Park”) owned by the Landlord.

Rent:

Annual Base Rent and Additional Rent.

Security Deposit: $53,965.00
Tax and OperatingThe Taxes and Operating Expenses for the Building for the Landlord’s fiscal year
Expense Base:
ending December 31, 2012
Tenant’s Address: Until the Term Commencement Date, 177 BALDPATE HILL RD NEWTON MA
02459, and thereafter the Premises.
Tenant’s
13.52%
Proportionate
Share of Taxes and
Operating
Expenses:
Term
Commencement
Date:

December 1, 2011

Term Expiration May 31,2017
Date:
Term:

A period of time commencing on the Term Commencement Date and ending on
the Term Expiration Date.

Use of the
Premises:

General Office.
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2.0

3.0

DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES
2.1

Premises. The premises leased by Tenant under this Lease shall be the Premises (as the same may from time to time be constituted after changes therein, additions thereto and eliminations therefrom pursuant to
rights of Landlord hereinafter reserved).

2.2

Appurtenant Rights. Tenant shall have, as appurtenant to the Premises, rights to use in common with others those common roadways, walkways, elevators, hallways and stairways necessary for access to the
Premises or generally available to other tenants of the Building; provided, however, that such rights shall be subject to such rules and regulations as may be made by Landlord from time to time as provided for in
Section 11.1 of this Lease, “Rules and Regulations.”.

2.3

Reservations. All the perimeter walls of the Premises except the inner surfaces thereof, any balconies, terraces or roofs adjacent to the Premises, and any spaces in or adjacent to the Premises used for serving
other portions of the Building or other portions of the Property exclusively or in common with the Premises, including without limitation (where applicable) shafts, stacks, pipes, conduits, wires and appurtenant
fixtures, fan rooms, ducts, electric or other utilities, sinks or other Building or Property facilities, and the use thereof, as well as the right of access through the Premises for the purpose of operation, maintenance,
decoration and repair, are expressly reserved to Landlord.

TERM OF LEASE
3.1

4.0

Term. The term of this Lease shall be for the Term (or until such Term shall sooner cease or expire) commencing on the Term Commencement Date and ending on the Term Expiration Date.

TAKING OCCUPANCY
4.1

Occupancy As Is. Tenant shall accept occupancy of the Premises “as is”, and any work necessary to prepare the Premises for occupancy by Tenant shall be performed by Tenant in compliance with the terms and
provisions of this Lease at Tenant’s own expense ; provided, however, prior to the Term Commencement Date, Landlord shall, using building standard means, methods and materials,
* correct the first office against the left-hand demising wall as required to make it a three window enclosed office,
* restore missing building elements, i.e. ceilings, lights and column enclosures,
* repaint the walls of the Premises,
* replace the carpet and vinyl base in the Premises. The foregoing work to be performed by Landlord prior to the Term Commencement Date shall be deemed “Landlord’s Work”.

4.2

Delivery of Possession. If Landlord is delayed in Landlord’s ability to deliver possession of all or any portion of the Premises to Tenant as otherwise required herein whether because of strikes, labor difficulties,
difficulties in obtaining materials, fire, governmental regulations, or any other circumstances beyond Landlord’s reasonable control (including, without limitation, the failure of existing tenants to vacate), then such
delay shall not constitute a breach or default on the part of the Landlord under this Lease or give rise to any claims of damage or expenses of any kind against the Landlord by Tenant, either direct or consequential;
provided that if Landlord is unable to deliver possession of the entire Premises or if Landlord has not completed Landlord’s Work by the Term Commencement Date, then Tenant’s sole and exclusive remedy at law
and in equity shall be that the Term Commencement Date, the Term Expiration Date and schedule of Annual Base Rent and Annual Electricity Charge shall be adjusted to reflect any such delay.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein provided, Landlord shall notify Tenant when Landlord’s Work has advanced sufficiently to permit Tenant to install Tenant’s equipment and furnishings, or to
perform other work to be done by Tenant. It is understood that upon such notification, the Tenant may occupy the Premises prior to the Term Commencement Date for the purposes of preparing the Premises for
Tenant’s occupancy on all of the terms and conditions of the Lease except the obligation to pay Rent, provided that such occupancy by Tenant shall not interfere with Landlord’s performance of Landlord’s
obligations under this Lease. However, if Tenant commences use of any portion of the Premises for business purposes prior to the Term Commencement Date, then Tenant shall pay Rent from such prior date. It is
further understood and agreed that during this period, at the request of the Landlord, in each instance, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole expense, relocate any of Tenant’s goods and equipment as may be required by
Landlord to complete Landlord’s Work.
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5.0

USE OF PREMISES
5.1

Permitted Use. Tenant shall occupy and use the Premises for the permitted Use of the Premises and for no other purpose. Service and utility areas (whether or not a part of the Premises) shall be used only for the
particular purpose for which they are designated.

5.2

Prohibited Uses. Tenant shall not use, permit the use of, permit anything to be done in or on or anything to be brought into or onto or kept in or on the Premises, the Building, the Property or any part of thereof
(i) which would violate any covenant, agreement, term, provision or condition of this Lease, (ii) for any unlawful purpose or in any unlawful manner, or (iii) which, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord shall in
any way (a) impair or tend to impair the appearance or reputation of the Building or the Property, (b) impair or interfere with or tend to impair or interfere with any of the Building or Property services or the
proper and economic heating, cleaning, air conditioning or other servicing of the Building or the Property or any portion thereof or with the use of the Building or the Property or any portion thereof, or
(c) occasion discomfort, inconvenience or annoyance to any other tenant, licensee or other occupant of the Building or the Property or any neighboring property, whether through the transmission of noise or odors
or vibrations or otherwise.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall not permit any vending machines in the Premises or use or occupy or permit the use or occupation of the Premises or any part of the Premises as or for
a restaurant business or for the sale or furnishing free of charge of food, liquors, frozen desserts, ice cream, beverages, or other edible products, for public stenography, or for the conducting of any aspect of
banking business; no food shall be prepared or served for consumption on or about the Premises; no intoxicating liquors or alcoholic beverages shall be sold or otherwise permitted in or about the Premises, the
Building or elsewhere on the Property; no lottery tickets (even where the sale of such tickets is not illegal) shall be sold and no gambling, betting or wagering shall otherwise be permitted in or about the Premises,
the Building or elsewhere on the Property; no loitering shall be permitted in or about the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property; and no loading or unloading of supplies or other material to or from
the Premises shall be permitted in the Building or elsewhere on the Property except at times and in locations to be designated by Landlord. Tenant shall not bring or permit to be brought into or keep in or on the
Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property any oil or any toxic, hazardous, inflammable, combustible or explosive fluids, materials, chemicals or substances, (including without limitation any hazardous
substances within the meaning of Chapter 2 IE of the Massachusetts General Laws and any medical waste or any fluid, material, chemical or substance considered to be biologically hazardous) (except in the
Premises where’ such are related to Tenant’s use of the Premises, provided that the same are stored and handled in a proper fashion consistent with applicable legal standards), or cause or permit any odors to
emanate from or permeate the Premises.
The Premises shall be maintained in a sanitary condition, and kept free of rodents and vermin. Tenant shall suitably store all trash and rubbish in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property in
locations designated by Landlord from time to time. The language of this Section prohibiting the preparation or serving of food for consumption on or about the Premises notwithstanding, but subject to the other
terms and conditions of the Lease and subject to the other terms and conditions of this Section entitled “Prohibited Uses.”, (including, without limitation, the prohibition against intoxicating liquors and alcoholic
beverages), (i) Tenant’s employees and invitees may prepare, serve and consume food and beverages (a) which are brought into the Premises by such persons for their own consumption, (b) are in the nature of
snacks, coffee or soda and provided by the Tenant or (c) are typically prepared, served and consumed in typical first class office space in Newton and Boston, Massachusetts, provided however that such
preparation, serving and consumption shall be done in a manner typical to first class office space in Newton and Boston, Massachusetts, and (ii), Tenant may, with Landlord’s prior written consent, install at
Tenant’s sole expense, one bottled water dispenser (utilizing water bottles with a capacity of not more than five gallons each and dispensing not more than one bottle at a time without manually removing and
replacing the one bottle from which water is dispensed), coffee maker, microwave and refrigerator for use by Tenant. Landlord consents to the installation by Tenant at Tenant’s sole expense, of one bottled water
dispenser (as described in the immediately preceding sentence), a coffee maker, a microwave and a refrigerator for use by Tenant.

5.3

6.0

Licenses and Permits. If any governmental license or permit shall be required for the proper and lawful conduct of Tenant’s business, Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall duly procure and maintain such license or
permit and submit the same to inspection by Landlord. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall at all times comply with the terms and conditions of each such license or permit.

RENT
6.1

Annual Base Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, without any demand, setoff or deduction, at Landlord’s Address, or to such other person or at such other place as Landlord may designate by notice to Tenant, the
Annual Base Rent. The Annual Base Rent shall be paid in equal Monthly Installments in advance on or before the first Business Day of each calendar month during the Term of this Lease and shall be apportioned
for any fraction of a month in which the Term Commencement Date or the last day of the Term of this Lease may fall. Rent for the first full month of the initial Term for
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which Rent is due shall be paid by Tenant upon the execution of this Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, as an inducement for Tenant to enter into this Lease, Tenant shall be
relieved of Tenant’s obligation to pay Annual Base Rent for the first three full months of the Lease Term.
6.2

Security Deposit. It is understood that upon the execution of this Lease, Tenant shall have deposited the sum of the Security Deposit as security for the faithful performance and observance by Tenant of the terms,
conditions, provisions and covenants of this Lease, it being further understood however, that said deposit is not to be considered prepaid Rent. In the event Tenant defaults in respect to any of the terms, conditions,
provisions and covenants of this Lease, including, but not limited to the payment of Rent, Landlord may use, apply or retain the whole or any part of the security so deposited to the extent required for the payment
of any Rent or any other sum as to which Tenant is in default or for any sum which Landlord may expend or may be required to expend by reason of Tenant’s default with respect to this Lease, including but not
limited to any amount for which the Tenant is liable under the Article contained herein entitled “DEFAULT” provided, however, that such Security Deposit shall in no way be construed as liquidated damages for
any default or breach of any term, condition, provision and covenant of this Lease, nor shall Landlord be required, because of said deposit, to waive its right under the Article contained herein entitled
“DEFAULT” to terminate this Lease in the event of default. In the event Landlord uses, applies or retains any part or all of the Security Deposit and the Lease continues or Tenant’s occupancy continues in the
Premises, Tenant shall within ten (10) days after written notice from the Landlord make such further or other deposit of moneys as may be necessary to bring the balance of the deposit to a sum equal to the
Security Deposit.
In the event the Tenant shall fully and faithfully comply with all of the terms, conditions, provisions and covenants of this Lease, the Security Deposit made hereby (or what may remain thereof) shall be returned,
without interest, to Tenant after the termination of the Lease and upon delivery of possession of the Premises to Landlord.

6.3

Taxes. “Real Estate Taxes” shall mean all taxes, assessments and betterments, levied, assessed or imposed by any governmental authority upon the Property or any portion thereof, or arising from, or imposed on,
the ownership or operation of the Property or any portion thereof, or the ownership of the tenant’s interest under any ground lease (if any) and any payment in addition to or in lieu of any of the same required now
or in the future.
If for any period of time during the Term, Tenant has paid a Tax and Operating Expense Escalation (as such escalation is defined in the following Section) and Landlord shall receive any refund of any Real Estate
Taxes pertaining to such period of time, Landlord shall recalculate such Tax and Operating Expense Escalation after deducting such refund (less Landlord’s expenses incurred in obtaining such refund) from the
Operating Expenses. If the recalculated Tax and Operating Expense Escalation is less than the Tax and Operating Expense Escalation calculated prior to such refund, Landlord shall credit such difference toward
future Tax and Operating Expense Escalations or refund it to the Tenant at the Landlord’s discretion. Landlord shall have no obligation to seek any such refund and Tenant shall have no right to seek or to control
any abatement, dispute, or other proceeding with any governmental agencies or entities with respect to the real estate taxes as described in this Section.
If during the term of this Lease or any extension thereof, a tax or excise on rents or other tax (excluding income tax), however described, shall be levied or assessed against Landlord by the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts or any political subdivision thereof on account of the rental hereunder, such tax or excise on rents or other taxes assessed on the land and buildings of which the Premises form a part shall be
deemed to constitute Real Estate Taxes for the purposes of this Section. It is also understood and agreed that the term Real Estate Taxes includes betterments and improvement assessments, provided, however, that
the Landlord shall for the purposes of this Section, be deemed to have elected to pay any such assessments over the longest period of time permitted by law (whether or not the Landlord in fact makes such
election), and only those installments which are or would be payable with respect to the tax years which are included in the term of this Lease or any extension thereof (with interest which is or would be payable
thereon) shall be included in the Real Estate Taxes for said tax years for the purposes hereof.
In the event the taxing authorities shall, during the term of this Lease, or any extension thereof, assess along with Real Estate Taxes, a personal property tax on Tenant’s trade fixtures, leasehold improvements,
furnishings, lighting fixtures, heating and cooling equipment, or other equipment in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property, whether or not such are owned and installed by Landlord, the taxes thus
assessed shall be paid by Tenant within ten (10) days of notice by Landlord of the amount due.

6.4

Taxes and Operating Expenses. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Additional Rent “Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes and Operating Expenses” of all costs and expenses in excess of the Tax and Operating
Expense Base incurred by Landlord in the management, operation and maintenance of the Property or any portion thereof, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all such costs and expenses in
connection with (1) insurance, license fees, janitorial service, landscaping and snow removal, (2) wages, salaries, management fees, employee benefits, payroll taxes, office expenses, administrative and auditing
expenses, and equipment and materials for the operation, management and maintenance of the Property, (3) capital expenditures (amortized, with interest, on such reasonable basis as Landlord shall
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determine) made by Landlord for the purpose of reducing other operating expenses or complying with any governmental requirement either first enacted or first effective as to the Property after the Term
Commencement Date, (4) water and sewer charges, (5) the furnishing of heat, air conditioning, electricity, utilities, and any other services, (6) the operation and servicing of any computer system installed to
regulate Building equipment or other equipment serving the Property, (7) the furnishing of repairs and services referred to in the Article contained herein entitled “UTILITIES AND LANDLORD’S SERVICES”
and (8) Real Estate Taxes (the foregoing being collectively referred to as “Operating Expenses”). Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes and Operating Expenses in excess of the Tax and Operating Expense Base
may be referred to in this Lease as the “Tax and Operating Expense Escalation”.
Any Operating Expense incurred with respect to more than one of the buildings on the Property shall be allocated to each of such buildings on the basis of the rentable square feet of such buildings. Any Operating
Expense that is incurred with respect to the entire Property, Land or Parking Areas shall be allocated to each building on the Property on the basis of the rentable square feet in the buildings on the Property.
If, during a portion of a fiscal year for which Operating Expenses are being computed pursuant to this Section, less than the entire rentable area of the Building is occupied or Landlord is not supplying all
occupants with the same services being supplied hereunder, such costs and expenses shall be reasonably extrapolated in order to take into account the costs and expenses which would have been incurred had the
entire rentable area of the Building been occupied and had such services been supplied to all occupants.
As soon as Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes and Operating Expenses with respect to a fiscal year can be determined, Landlord shall notify Tenant of the same and the same will become payable to Landlord
within ten (10) days following such notification, subject to proration with respect to any portion of a fiscal year in which the Term of this Lease begins or ends.
Tenant shall, if, as and when demanded by Landlord and with each monthly installment of Annual Base Rent, make Operating Fund Payments to Landlord. “Operating Fund Payments” refer to such payments as
Landlord shall determine to be sufficient to provide in the aggregate a fund adequate to pay, when they become due and payable, all payments required from Tenant under this Section. In the event that Operating
Fund Payments are so demanded, and if the aggregate of said Operating Fund Payments is not adequate to pay Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Taxes and Operating Expenses, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the
amount by which such aggregate is less than the amount of said share, such payment to be due and payable at the time set forth above. Any surplus Operating Fund Payments shall be accounted for to Tenant after
such surplus has been determined, and may be credited by Landlord against future Operating Fund Payments or refunded to Tenant at Landlord’s option.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.4, “Taxes and Operating Expenses.”, Operating Expenses shall not include any of the following, except as otherwise specifically provided for above in
item (3) above in the first paragraph of this Section 6.4, “Operating Expenses”:
(a) Costs incurred for the repair of damage to the Building to the extent that Landlord is reimbursed by insurance proceeds; or
(b) Costs, including permit, license and inspection costs, incurred with respect to the installation of tenant improvements made for other tenants in the building or incurred in renovating or otherwise improving,
decorating, painting or redecorating vacant space for other tenants or occupants of the Building; or
(c) Depreciation and amortization, except as provided in this Section 6.4, “Operating Expenses.”, and except on materials, tools, supplies and vendor-type equipment purchased by Landlord to enable Landlord to
supply services Landlord might otherwise contract for with a third party where such depreciation and amortization would otherwise have been included in the charge for such third parties services, all as
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied; or
(d) Leasing commissions, attorneys’ fees, and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with present or prospective tenants or other occupants of the Building; or
(e) Interest, principal, points and fees on debts or amortization on any mortgage or mortgages on any other debt instrument encumbering the Building or the ground leasehold; or
(f) Costs incurred by Landlord with respect to goods and services (including utilities sold and supplied to tenants and occupants of the Building) to the extent that Landlord receives reimbursement for such costs
directly from or on behalf of the persons receiving such goods or services; or
(g) Overhead and profit increment paid to Landlord’s subsidiaries or affiliates for services, supplies or materials, to the extent that the costs of such services, supplies or materials exceed competitive costs of such
services were they not so rendered by a subsidiary or affiliate; or
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(h) Costs incurred to repair or restore the Premises, the Building or other portion of the Property, which costs are due to Landlord’s failure to maintain commercially reasonable insurance limits; or
(i) Costs incurred as a result of Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct; or
(j) Costs which are considered capital improvements and replacements under generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, except as specifically provided elsewhere under this Lease.

7.0

6.5

Annual Electricity Charge. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Additional Rent and without any setoff or deduction at Landlord’s Address or to such other person or at such other place as Landlord may designate by
notice to Tenant, the Annual Electricity Charge. The Annual Electricity Charge shall be paid in equal Electricity Charge Monthly Installments in advance on or before the first Business Day of each calendar month
during the Term of this Lease and shall be apportioned for any fraction of a month in which the Term Commencement Date or the last day of the Term of this Lease may fall. The Electricity Charge Monthly
Installment for the first full month of the initial Term for which Rent is due shall be paid by Tenant upon the execution of this Lease.

6.6

Late Payment Charge. If any installment of Rent or Additional Rent or any other sum due from Tenant shall not be received by Landlord on the date such installment or sum is due, Landlord reserves the right to
assess, and Tenant then shall pay, a late payment charge equal to two and one half percent (2.5%) of the total amount that is in arrears and a further late payment charge equal to two and one half percent (2.5%) of
the amount then outstanding may be assessed for each additional thirty (30) day period (or any fraction thereof) that such amount remains unpaid. Acceptance of such late payment charge by Landlord shall in no
event constitute a waiver of Tenant’s default with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent Landlord from exercising any of Landlord’s other rights and remedies granted by this Lease.

6.7

Books and Records. Within 15 days of any request by Landlord made not more frequently than once in any 12 consecutive month period, Tenant shall furnish to Landlord a balance sheet as of the last day of the
most recently completed fiscal quarter or such more recent fiscal period for which a balance sheet is reasonably available and a similarly current statement of Tenant’s income and expenses for the twelve months
preceding the date of the aforementioned balance sheet, both of which shall be prepared in reasonable detail in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and certified as being true and correct by
an officer or principal of Tenant. In addition to the foregoing, within 15 days of any request by Landlord, Tenant shall provide such other financial or business plan related information as Landlord shall reasonably
request, including without limitation, information related to the capitalization of Tenant’s business. Landlord shall make reasonable efforts to maintain the confidentiality of such information, except to the extent
disclosure of such information is required to enforce Landlord’s rights under or related to this Lease or is ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or such information is otherwise available to the public.

UTILITIES AND LANDLORD’S SERVICES
7.1

Electricity. Landlord shall furnish electricity to the Premises for lighting and other general office purposes. If Tenant requires electricity elsewhere in the Building or on the Property, then such electricity shall be
furnished in all respects at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Tenant’s use of electrical energy in the Premises, the Building and elsewhere on the Property shall not at any time exceed the capacity of any of the
electrical conductors and equipment in or otherwise serving the Premises or Tenant’s electrical energy needs elsewhere in the Building or on the Property (as the case may be). In order to insure that such capacity
is not exceeded and to avert possible adverse effect upon the electrical services for the Building or the Property, Tenant shall give notice to Landlord and obtain Landlord’s prior written consent whenever Tenant
shall connect to the Building’s or the Property’s electrical distribution system any fixtures, appliances or equipment other than lamps, typewriters, personal computers and similar small machines. Any additional
feeders or risers to supply Tenant’s electrical requirements in addition to those originally installed and all other equipment proper and necessary in connection with such feeders or risers, shall be installed by
Landlord upon Tenant’s request, at the sole cost and expense of Tenant, provided that such additional feeders and risers are permissible under applicable laws and insurance regulations and the installation of such
feeders or risers will not cause permanent damage or injury to the Building or any other portion of the Property or cause or create a dangerous condition or unreasonably interfere with other tenants of the Building
or the Property. Tenant agrees that it will not make any alteration or material addition to the electrical equipment in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property without the prior written consent of
Landlord in each instance first obtained. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall purchase, install and replace all light bulbs or tubes used in the Premises or used exclusively by the Tenant in the Building or elsewhere
on the Property, except that the Landlord shall furnish the light bulbs and tubes and labor for the initial installation of light bulbs and tubes in the Premises. Landlord shall not in any way be liable or responsible to
Tenant for any loss, damage or expense which Tenant may incur if the quantity, character, or supply of electrical energy is changed or is no longer available or suitable for Tenant’s requirements.
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Landlord, at any time, at its option and upon not less than sixty (60) days prior notice to Tenant, may discontinue furnishing electric current to the Premises or for Tenant’s exclusive use elsewhere in the Building
or on the Property; and in either such case Tenant shall contract with the public service company supplying electric current for the purchase by Tenant of electric current directly from such company. In such event,
Landlord shall (i) permit its risers, conduits and feeder, to the extent available, suitable and safely capable, to be used to enable Tenant so to purchase electric current, (ii) without cost to Tenant, make such
alterations and additions to the electrical equipment and/or appliances in the Building or elsewhere on the Property as may be required for such direct purchase, and (iii) at the Landlord’s expense, shall furnish and
install any necessary metering equipment, which Tenant shall thereafter maintain and repair at its expense. In the event the Landlord shall exercise such option, Tenant shall no longer be required to pay the Annual
Electricity Charge.
7.2

Water and Sewer Charges. Landlord shall furnish water for ordinary cleaning, toilet, lavatory and drinking purposes, provided, however, that Tenant shall maintain and replace if necessary any water heating,
plumbing and plumbing related equipment exclusively serving the Premises (if any) or exclusively serving the Tenant elsewhere in the Building or on the Property (if any) and any electricity, gas or other source of
energy consumed by such water heating or plumbing related equipment shall be reimbursed to Landlord.
If Tenant requires, uses or consumes water for any purpose other than for such purpose, Landlord may (i) assess a reasonable charge for the additional water so used or consumed by Tenant or (ii) install a water
meter and thereby measure Tenant’s water consumption for all purposes. In the latter event, Tenant shall pay the cost of the meter and the cost of installing any equipment required in connection therewith, and
Tenant shall keep said meter and installation equipment in good working order and repair, and shall pay for water consumed, as shown on said meter, together with the sewer charge based on said meter charges, as
and when bills are rendered. On default in making such payment Landlord may pay such charges and collect the same from Tenant, along with any additional costs related to such collection.

7.3

Heat and Air Conditioning. Landlord shall furnish to and distribute in the Premises heat and air conditioning as normal seasonal changes may require on Business Days from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. when
reasonably required for the comfortable occupancy of the Premises by Tenant. Tenant agrees to lower and close the blinds or drapes when necessary because of the sun’s position whenever the air conditioning
system is in operation, and to cooperate fully with Landlord with regard to, and to abide by all the regulations and requirements which Landlord may prescribe for the proper functioning and protection of, the
heating and air conditioning system. The air conditioning system shall be capable of providing 80 degrees Fahrenheit dry bulb and 50% relative humidity with outside conditions of 95 degrees Fahrenheit dry bulb
and 75 degrees Fahrenheit wet bulb, provided Tenant acknowledges that the air conditioning system servicing the Building is designed to provide cooling based upon an occupancy of not more than one person per
one hundred (100) square feet of floor area, and upon a combined lighting and standard electrical load not to exceed 4.0 watts per square foot. In the event Tenant exceeds such condition or introduces into the
Premises equipment which overloads such system, or in any other way causes such system not to adequately perform its proper functions, supplementary systems may at Landlord’s option be provided by Landlord
at Tenant’s expense.

7.4

Additional Heat and Air Conditioning Services. Landlord shall, upon reasonable advance written notice from Tenant of its requirements in that regard, furnish additional heat or air conditioning services to the
Premises on days and at times other than as provided in this Article. Tenant will pay to Landlord a reasonable charge for such additional heat or air conditioning services required by Tenant.

7.5

Elevator Service. Landlord shall provide passenger elevator service to the Premises on Business Days from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. and on a reduced basis at all other times. Upon 48 hours advance notice by
Tenant to Landlord, freight elevator service shall be available in common with other tenants on Business Days from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. at reasonable charge.

7.6

Cleaning. Landlord shall furnish cleaning services to the Premises and the common areas of the Building appurtenant to the Premises substantially in accordance with the specifications attached hereto as Exhibit
B and made a part hereof.

7.7

Repairs and Other Services. Except as otherwise provided in the Articles entitled “CASUALTY” and “CONDEMNATION - EMINENT DOMAIN”, and subject to Tenant’s obligations in the Article
contained herein entitled “MAINTENANCE OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO PREMISES” and elsewhere in this Lease, Landlord shall (a) keep and maintain the roof, exterior walls and windows, structural
floor slabs and columns of the Building in as good condition and repair as they are in on the Term Commencement Date, reasonable use and wear excepted, (b) keep and maintain in workable condition the
Building’s sanitary, electrical, heating, air conditioning and other systems, (c) keep all walkways on the Property clean and remove all snow and ice therefrom and (d) provide grounds maintenance to all
landscaped areas.

7.8

Interruption or Curtailment of Services. Landlord reserves the right to interrupt, curtail, stop or suspend the furnishing of services and the operation of any Building or Property system, when necessary by
reason of accident or emergency, or
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of repairs, alterations, replacements or improvements in the reasonable judgment of Landlord desirable or necessary to be made, or of difficulty or inability in securing supplies or labor, or of strikes, or of any
other cause beyond the reasonable control of Landlord, whether such other cause be similar or dissimilar to those herein above specifically mentioned, until said cause has been removed. Landlord shall have no
responsibility or liability for any such interruption, curtailment, stoppage, or suspension of service or system, except that Landlord shall exercise reasonable diligence to eliminate the cause of same. Landlord
agrees to provide reasonable notice prior to interrupting, curtailing, stopping or suspending the furnishing of services and the operation of any Building systems for the purpose of making elective alterations,
replacements or improvements. Except when made necessary by an act or omission of Tenant, or Tenant’s employees, agents, contractors or invitees, or except when made necessary by reason of accident,
emergency, difficulty or inability in securing supplies of labor, strikes, or of any other cause beyond the reasonable control of Landlord, if the Premises are rendered unusable for Use of the Premises solely because
the Landlord interrupts, curtails, stops or suspends the furnishing of services or the operation of any building system to make alterations, replacements or improvements and such interruption, curtailment, stoppage
or suspension and the related inability to use the Premises for the Use of the Premises continues for more than 20 consecutive Business Days, the Annual Base Rent shall abate thereafter until the Premises are
usable for the Use of the Premises.
8.0

MAINTENANCE OF AND IMPROVEMENTS TO PREMISES
8.1

Changes or Alterations by Landlord. Landlord reserves the right, exercisable by itself or its nominee, at any time and from time to time without the same constituting an actual or constructive eviction and
without incurring any liability to Tenant therefor or otherwise affecting Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, to make such changes, alterations, additions, improvements, repairs or replacements in or to the
Building or elsewhere on the Property and the fixtures and equipment thereof, as well as in or to the street entrances, halls, passages, elevators, and stairways thereof, as it may deem necessary or desirable, and to
change the arrangement and/or location of entrances or passageways, doors and doorways, and corridors, elevators, stairs, toilets, or other public parts of the Building or other portions of the Property,’ provided,
however, that there be no unreasonable obstruction of the right of access to, or unreasonable interference with the use and enjoyment of
the Premises by Tenant, except that Landlord shall not be obligated to employ labor at so-called “overtime” or other premium pay rates. Nothing contained in this Article shall be deemed to relieve Tenant of any
duty, obligation or liability of Tenant with respect to making or causing to be made any repair, replacement or improvement or complying with any law, order or requirement of any governmental or other authority.
Landlord reserves the right to from time to time change the address of the Building or the Property. Neither this Lease nor any use by Tenant shall give Tenant any right or easement or the use of any door or any
passage or any concourse connecting with any other building or to any public convenience, and the use of such doors, passages and concourses and of such conveniences may be regulated or discontinued at any
time and from time to time by Landlord without notice to Tenant and without affecting the obligations of Tenant hereunder or incurring any liability to Tenant therefor.

8.2

Alterations and Improvements by Tenant. Tenant shall make no alterations, decorations, installations, removals, additions or improvements in or to the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property, nor
permit any holes to be drilled or made in or on the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property except in each instance in such place and manner and by contractors or mechanics all as shall first have been
approved in writing by Landlord. No such installations or other work shall be undertaken or begun by Tenant until Landlord has approved written plans and specifications therefor; and no amendments or additions
to such plans and specifications shall be made without prior written consent of Landlord. Any such alteration, decoration, installation, removal, addition and improvement shall be done at the sole expense of
Tenant and at such times and in such manner as Landlord may designate. If Tenant shall make any alterations, decorations, installations, removals, additions or improvements, then Landlord may elect to require
Tenant, at the Tenant’s expense, at the expiration of this Lease, to restore the Premises, the Building and the Property (as the case may be) to substantially the same condition as existed at the Term Commencement
Date.

8.3

Tenant’s Contractors – Mechanics’ and Other Liens – Standard of Tenant’s Performance - Compliance with Laws. Whenever Tenant shall make any alteration, decoration, installation, removal, addition or
improvement or do any other work in or to the Premises, the Building or’ elsewhere on the Property, Tenant will strictly observe the following covenants and agreements:
(a) In no event shall any material or equipment be incorporated in or added to the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Property in connection with any such alteration, decoration, installation,
addition or improvement which is subject to any lien, charge, mortgage or other encumbrance of any kind whatsoever or is subject to any security interest or any form of title retention agreement. Any notice of
contract or mechanic’s or materialmen’s lien filed against the Premises, the Building, the Property or any portion thereof for work claimed to have been done for, or materials claimed to have been furnished to
Tenant shall be removed or discharged by Tenant within ten (10) days thereafter, at the expense of Tenant, by filing the bond required by law or otherwise. If Tenant fails so to remove or discharge any lien,
Landlord
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may do so at Tenant’s expense and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any expenses or costs incurred by Landlord in so doing within fifteen (15) days after rendition of a bill therefor.
(b) All installations or work done by Tenant under this or any other Article of this Lease shall be at its own expense (unless expressly otherwise provided) and shall at all times comply with (i) laws, rules, orders
and regulations of governmental authorities having jurisdiction thereof; (ii) orders, rules and regulations of any insurance rating bureau if and as applicable; and (iii) plans and specifications prepared by and at the
expense of Tenant and approved by Landlord prior to the commencement of any work.
(c) Tenant shall procure all necessary permits before undertaking any work in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property; do all such work in a good and workmanlike manner, employing materials of
good quality and complying with all governmental requirements, and defend, save harmless, exonerate and indemnify Landlord from all injury, loss or damage to any person or property occasioned by or growing
out of such work.
8.4

Fixtures, Equipment and Improvements – Removal by Tenant. All fixtures, equipment, improvements and appurtenances attached to or built into the Premises (or the Building or elsewhere on the Property
with respect to Tenant’s tenancy) prior to or during the Term, or any extension thereof, whether by Landlord, at its expense or at the expense of Tenant, or by Tenant shall be and remain part of the Premises and
shall not be removed by Tenant at the end of the Term unless Landlord, in its sole discretion, shall request Tenant to remove any of such fixtures, equipment, improvements and appurtenances in which event
Tenant shall remove such at Tenant’s expense. Where not built into the Premises, and if furnished and installed by and at the sole expense of Tenant, all removable furniture, trade fixtures and business equipment
shall not be deemed to be included in such fixtures, equipment, improvements and appurtenances and may be, and upon the request of Landlord shall be, removed by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, upon the
condition that such removal shall not materially damage the Premises, the Building, the Property or any portion thereof and that the cost of repairing any damages to the Premises, the Building, the Property or any
portion thereof (as the case may be) arising from such removal shall be paid by Tenant, provided, however, that any of such items toward which Landlord shall have granted any allowance or credit to Tenant shall
be deemed not to have been furnished and installed in the Premises by or at the sole expense of Tenant.

8.5

Repairs by Tenant. Tenant shall keep or cause to be kept the Premises in such repair, order and condition as the same are in on the Term Commencement Date or such better condition as the Premises may be put
in during the Term hereof, reasonable wear excepted, but in no less than good condition and repair (provided, however, that this sentence shall not be deemed to obligate Tenant to make alterations to or
improvements of conditions existing in the Premises as of the Term Commencement Date). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall keep all interior windows and other interior glass whole
and in good condition, and shall replace the same whenever broken with glass of the same quality. With respect to casualty and condemnation, Article 13.0, “CASUALTY” and Article 14.0, “CONDEMNATION EMINENT DOMAIN” shall govern respectively.

8.6

Locks. Tenant agrees that it will not change, alter or replace the locks provided to the Premises or common access doors, nor will it add locks to same, without the written permission of Landlord. Tenant agrees
that all repairs necessary to such locks (except such locks which are used in common with other tenants of the Building or the Property) will be at Tenant’s sole expense.

8.7

Tenant’s Improvements and Condition of Premises at Termination. Upon the termination of this Lease and any extension thereof, by its own terms or otherwise, Tenant will remove its goods and effects and
those of all persons claiming under the Tenant from the Premises, the Building and all other portions of the Property and will peaceably yield up to the Landlord the Premises and all alterations, erections, additions
and improvements pursuant to the Section entitled “Fixtures, Equipment and Improvements - Removal by Tenant.”, in good repair, order, and condition in all respects, reasonable use and wear (which for the
purposes of this paragraph shall not be deemed to include holes in floors or walls or special wiring caused by the installation of Tenant’s fixtures or equipment) excepted. It is further agreed and understood that at
the termination of this Lease or any extension thereof, Tenant shall have restored the Premises and any portion of the Building and the Property (as the case may be) used exclusively by the Tenant to good repair,
order and condition in all respects, including but not limited to repair of all floor surfaces damaged by the removal of partitions, machinery and equipment, and shall restore all floor areas to a good condition and
repair, using materials to provide a consistent floor surface, satisfactory to Landlord; and shall have cleaned and removed accumulations of dirt and particles, oils, greases, and discolorations from all surfaces
resulting from Tenant’s processes and shall leave the Premises and any portion of the Building or the Property (as the case may be) used exclusively by the Tenant broom clean.
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9.0

INSURANCE, INDEMNIFICATION, EXONERATION AND EXCULPATION
9.1

Insurance. Tenant shall procure, keep in force and pay for insurance covering all claims and demands for injury to or death of persons or damage to property arising out of or related to Tenant’s occupancy of the
Premises. Insurance shall not be in amounts less than the following:
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
$ 1,000,000

combined single limit per occurrence, Coverage A

$ 1,000,000

personal and advertising injury liability, Coverage B

$ 1,000,000

products/completed operations liability aggregate

$ 5,000

medical payments

$ 50,000

fire damage legal liability

$ 2,000,000

general aggregate, applying per location, per project OR $4,000,000 general aggregate

The general liability insurance is to be written on the 2001 Insurance Services Office form or its equivalent.
UMBRELLA LIABILITY
$2,000,000

each occurrence

$2,000,000

aggregate
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
Coverage A Workers’ Compensation – Statutory
Coverage B Employer’s Liability –

$500,000 bodily injury by accident, each accident
$500,000 bodily injury by disease, each employee
$500,000 bodily injury by disease, policy aggregate

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
$1,000,000 Combined single limit, each accident applying to all owned, hired and nonowned automobiles
GLASS COVERAGE
Covering interior glass windows in the Premises, if any, in such reasonable amounts as may be established from time to time by Landlord.
CONTENTS AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS COVERAGE
Adequately insuring all property situated in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property and belonging to or removable by Tenant along with any leasehold improvements made by Tenant.
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BUSINESS INTERRUPTION COVERAGE
Insurance shall not be less than such higher amounts as are customarily carried by responsible tenants of comparable premises in the Greater Boston area and as may be required by Landlord from time to time.
9.2

Additional Insureds. The Tenant shall add the Landlord and such other entities or individuals having an insurable interest in the Property as the Landlord may, from time to time, direct as Additional Insureds on a
primary basis on Tenant’s Commercial General Liability, Umbrella Liability and Automobile Liability policies.

9.3

Certificates of Insurance. All insurance required under the Lease shall be effected with insurers authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts under valid and enforceable policies. Such
insurance shall provide that it shall not be canceled without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Landlord and each insured named therein. On or before the first day of the term of this Lease and
thereafter not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration date of each expiring policy, certificates of such policies issued by such insurers, together with evidence satisfactory to Landlord of the payment of all
premiums for such policies, shall be delivered by Tenant to Landlord, or to any additional insureds, entities or individuals as the Landlord may from time to time direct.

9.4

Tenant’s Compliance. Tenant covenants and agrees that during said term and for such further time as Tenant shall hold the Premises or any part thereof, Tenant will comply with all requirements of the Insurance
Services Offices of Massachusetts and/or the Factory Mutual Engineering Association (or any similar bodies succeeding to their respective powers) and any local Board of Fire Underwriters; will not make or
allow any use or occupation of the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Property that may make any insurance on the Building or any other portion of the Property, or the contents thereof, void or
voidable; and that in the event that Tenant does or permits anything to be done in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property (including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, anything
which in any way affects the sprinkler system) which: (a) is classified as a “common hazard” or “special hazard” by said Insurance Services Offices of Massachusetts (or its successor); (b) causes an aftercharge or
(c) otherwise increases insurance rates and premium charges over those which would apply but for the doing of such thing, including, but without limiting the generality thereof, increases resulting from the refusal
of the Factory Mutual Engineering Association (or any similar body succeeding to its business) to continue coverage of the Building, the Property or any portion thereof; then the Tenant will promptly pay to
Landlord on demand all increased premium charges caused by the same for any and all of the following insurance:

With respect to glass, contents and leasehold improvement and business interruption coverages, the Landlord shall be named as an Additional Insured and Loss Payee As Their Interest May Appear.

insurance on the Building, the Property or any portion thereof against damage by fire, with extended coverage, demolition, sprinkler leakage and vandalism and malicious mischief endorsements; Landlord’s rental
insurance; use and occupancy insurance carried by any tenant of any portion of the Building or the Property; insurance on the contents of Landlord and all other tenants of the Building, the Property or any portion
thereof against damage by fire (with extended coverage, sprinkler leakage and vandalism and malicious mischief endorsements) or water.
9.5

Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law (and not limited by the amounts of any insurance coverage required of Tenant under this Lease), the Tenant agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless
the Landlord (which term shall include, without limitation any of the officers, trustees, directors, partners, beneficiaries, joint venturers, members, stockholders or other principals or representatives, disclosed or
undisclosed, of Landlord or any managing agent) and such other entities or individuals as the Landlord may, from time to time, direct as additional insureds on Tenant’s general liability, umbrella liability,
automobile, glass, contents and leasehold improvements and business interruption coverage policies, from and against any and all claims, liabilities, penalties, damages or expenses (including without limitation
reasonable attorneys’ fees) asserted against or incurred by them:
(a) on account of or based upon any injury to person, or loss of or damage to property sustained or occurring on the Premises on account of or based upon the act, omission, fault, negligence or misconduct of any
person whomsoever (other than Landlord or its agents, contractors or employees);
(b) on account of or based upon any injury to person or loss of or damage to property, sustained or occurring elsewhere (other than on the Premises) in or about the Building or elsewhere on the Property (and, in
particular, without limiting the generality of the foregoing on or about the elevators, stairways, public corridors, sidewalks, roof, or other, appurtenances and facilities used in connection with the Premises, the
Building or other portions of the Property) arising out of the use or occupancy of the Premises, the Building or other portions of the Property by Tenant, or any person claiming by, through or under Tenant, and
caused by any person other than the Landlord or its agents, contractors, or employees; and
(c) on account of or based upon (including moneys due on account of) any work or thing whatsoever done (other than by Landlord or its contractors, or agents or employees of either) in the Premises, the Building
or elsewhere on the Property during the Term of this Lease and during the period of time, if any, prior to the Term Commencement Date or after the
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Term Expiration Date or earlier date on which the Lease is terminated when Tenant may have been given access to the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Property;
and, in case any action or proceeding be brought against Landlord by reason of any of the foregoing, Tenant, upon notice from Landlord, shall, at Tenant’s expense, resist or defend such action or proceeding and
employ counsel therefor reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, it being agreed that such counsel as may act for insurance underwriters of Tenant engaged in such defense shall be deemed satisfactory.

10.0

9.6

Property of Tenant. In addition to and not in limitation of the foregoing, and subject only to provisions of applicable law, Tenant covenants and agrees that all merchandise, furniture, fixtures and property of
every kind, nature and description which may be in or upon the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property, shall be at the sole risk and hazard of Tenant, and that if the whole or any part thereof shall be
damaged, destroyed, stolen or removed for any cause or reason whatsoever other than the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, no part of said damage or loss shall be charged to, or borne by
Landlord.

9.7

Landlord’s Liability. Landlord shall not be liable for any injury or damage to persons or property resulting from fire, explosion, falling plaster, steam, gas, electricity, electrical disturbance, water, rain, ice or
snow or leaks from any part of the Building or any other portion of the Property or from the pipes, appliances or plumbing works or from the roof, street or subsurface or from any other place or caused by any
other cause of whatever nature, unless caused by or due to the negligence of Landlord, its agents, contractors or employees; nor shall Landlord or its agents be liable for any such damage caused by other tenants or
persons in the Building or elsewhere on the Property or caused by operations in construction of any private, public or quasi-public work; nor shall Landlord be liable for any latent defect in the Premises, the
Building or elsewhere on the Property. All of the limitations on Landlord’s liability set forth in this Lease shall be subject to applicable law provided that, in any event, Tenant agrees to pursue and exhaust all
claims under its insurance and other remedies prior to seeking reimbursement from Landlord (and to waive such claims against Landlord to the extent Tenant obtains reimbursement through its insurance or other
remedies).

9.8

Waiver of Subrogation. The parties hereto shall each endeavor to procure an appropriate clause in, or endorsement on, any fire or extended coverage insurance policy covering the Premises, the Building or any
other portion of the Property and personal property, fixtures and equipment located thereon or therein, pursuant to which the insurance companies waive subrogation or consent to a waiver of right of recovery, and
having obtained such clauses and/or endorsements of waiver of subrogation or consent to a waiver of right of recovery each party hereby agrees that it will not make any claim against or seek to recover from the
other for any loss or damage to its property or the property of others resulting from fire or other perils covered by such fire and extended coverage insurance; provided, however, that the release, discharge,
exoneration and covenant not to sue herein contained shall be limited by the terms and provisions of the waiver of subrogation clauses and/or endorsements or clauses and/or endorsements consenting to a waiver
of right of recovery and shall be coextensive therewith.

ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING, SUBLETTING, ETC.
Tenant covenants and agrees that neither this Lease nor the term and estate hereby granted nor any interest herein or therein, will be assigned, mortgaged, pledged, encumbered or otherwise transferred (whether
voluntarily or by operation of law), and that neither the Premises, the Building, the Property nor any part thereof, will be encumbered in any manner by reason of any act or omission on the part of Tenant, or used
or occupied, or permitted to be used or occupied, or utilized for any reason whatsoever, by anyone other than Tenant, or for any use or purpose other than Use of the Premises as stated in the Article contained
herein entitled “REFERENCE DATA”, or be sublet, or offered or advertised for subletting, without the prior written consent of Landlord in every case.
Landlord agrees not to unreasonably withhold, delay or condition its consent provided that
(a) the Lease is in full force and effect,
(b) Tenant is not and has not at any time during the Term been in default under the Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period and no condition known to Tenant or Landlord exists which with the passage
of time or the giving of notice would constitute a material default under the Lease,
(c) the financial worth of the proposed assignee or subtenant is satisfactory to Landlord provided that Landlord shall not deny consent based on the financial worth of the proposed assignee or subtenant provided
that such party has a net worth equal to or greater than the greater of (x) the net worth of Tenant upon the date of this Lease or (y) the net worth of Tenant immediately prior to the transfer (as determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles), and
(d) any assignee or subtenant of the entire Premises shall assume, by written recordable instrument, in form and content satisfactory to Landlord, the due performance of ail Tenant’s obligations under this Lease,
including any accrued
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obligations at the time of the assignment or subletting of the entire Premises or, in the case where a subtenant subleases a portion of the Premises, such subtenant acknowledges that the sublease is subject and
subordinate to this Lease.
For purposes hereof, the transfer of a controlling interest in the corporation or other entity constituting Tenant shall be deemed an assignment of this Lease.
Notwithstanding the foregoing language of this Article to the contrary, provided that
(a) the Lease is in full force and effect,
(b) Tenant is not at the time of the effective date of a Permitted Transfer in default under the Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period and no condition known to Tenant or Landlord exists which with
the passage of time or the giving of notice would constitute a material default under the Lease,
(c) the Affiliate (as defined below) shall assume, by written recordable instrument, in reasonable form and content satisfactory to Landlord (the “Assumption Document”), the due performance of all Tenant’s
obligations under this Lease, including any accrued obligations at the time of the assignment or subletting,
(d) [INTENTIONALLY OMITTED], and
(e) Tenant provides Landlord with a Notice of Permitted Transfer (as described and in accordance with the provisions below),
Landlord’s consent shall not be required with respect to an assignment of this Lease or subletting of the entire Premises or any portion thereof to an Affiliate for such time as such entity remains an Affiliate. The
foregoing shall be deemed a “Permitted Transfer”.
For purposes of this Article, the term “Affiliate” shall be deemed to mean (a) any entity which controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Tenant or (b) any person or entity having a net worth equal
to or greater than the greater of (x) the net worth of Tenant upon the date of this Lease or (y) the net worth of Tenant immediately prior to the Permitted Transfer (as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles) and (i) to which a controlling interest in Tenant is transferred (e.g. by transfer of capital stock) or (ii) which acquires all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant (except in the case
of bankruptcy) where the business of Tenant will continue to be operated as a going concern substantially the same as prior to such acquisition of such assets or (iii) which succeeds to the entire business of Tenant
pursuant to a merger or corporate reorganization or consolidation, but in the instance of clause (a) of this paragraph, only for so long as such entity remains an “Affiliate” and thereafter Landlord’s consent shall be
required as otherwise provided above.
For purposes of this Article, the term “Notice of Permitted Transfer” shall be deemed to mean a notice to Landlord at least 10 Business Days in advance of any assignment or subleasing to an Affiliate (subject to
any legal restrictions governing the timing of such notice and provided further that if the terms of Tenant’s agreement with the proposed Affiliate prohibit pre-closing disclosure of the terms of the assignment or
subleasing, then Tenant promptly shall so notify Landlord in writing that Tenant has confidential information relating to a proposed assignment or subleasing, and so long as Landlord provides to Tenant a letter in
commercially reasonable form and content confirming that Landlord shall maintain the confidentiality of the Notice of Permitted Transfer, Tenant shall nonetheless be required to provide the Notice of Permitted
Transfer 10 Business Days in advance of the assignment or subleasing), which notice shall contain (1) the name and address of the Affiliate to which the Lease will be assigned or the entire Premises (or any
portion thereof) will be sublet, (2) a description satisfactory to Landlord of the relationship between the Affiliate and Tenant, (3) evidence of the Affiliates financial condition in the form of a current balance sheet
and income and expense statements (all prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and certified as true, accurate and complete by an authorized officer of the Affiliate), (4) the effective
date of the Permitted Transfer, (5) a copy of either (a) an assignment and assumption agreement wherein the assignee assumes all of Tenant’s obligations under the Lease or (b) a sublease agreement wherein the
subtenant acknowledges that the sublease is subject and subordinate to this Lease, (6) a copy of the Assumption Document (if not included as part of 5a or 5b above) and (7) a copy of the guaranty (or the
guarantees, as the case may be) if applicable.
In connection with any request by Tenant for such consent, Tenant shall submit to Landlord, in writing, a statement containing the name of the proposed assignee, subtenant or other third party, such information as
to its financial responsibility and standing as Landlord may require, all of the terms and provisions upon which the proposed transaction is to take place and such other information as Landlord may require. In
addition, along with Tenant’s written request for consent, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a non-refundable assignment/sublease review fee of $1,500 which shall be applied against assignment/sublease costs (if
any) which are to be reimbursed by Tenant to Landlord as provided below in this Article 10.0, “ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING, SUBLETTING, ETC.”. The “Assignment/Sublease Consideration” shall be
the consideration (including, without limitation, all forms of rent and additional rent) payable by the assignee or subtenant on account of an assignment of the Lease or sublease of all or a portion of the Premises.
For the
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purposes of this calculation, the Assignment/Sublease Consideration shall be deemed to not include so called “pass-through” charges or charges that will be passed through to an assignee or sub-tenant. The
following are examples (without limitation) of typical “pass-through” charges: Tenant’s proportionate share of costs and expenses in excess of the Operating Expense Base, sub-metered electricity (if any), parking
fees (if any), off-hour heat and air conditioning related fees and the like.
The “Lease rent” shall be the Annual Base Rent and Additional Rent pursuant to the Lease, prorated on a per diem basis and allocated on a per square foot basis to the portion of the Premises subject to an
assignment or sublease. For the purposes of this calculation, “Additional Rent” shall be deemed to exclude the Assignment/Sublease Excess Rent as defined below and any pass-through charges not included in the
Assignment/Sublease Consideration pursuant to the immediately preceding paragraph.
“Tenant’s Assignment/Sublease Costs” shall be deemed to include the actual out-of-pocket expenses paid by Tenant to third parties in connection with the assignment of the Lease or sublease of all or a portion of
the Premises for (a) brokerage commissions and (b) construction of certain improvements in the Premises (or construction “allowances” applicable for such improvements if and to the extent such improvements
are actually approved by Landlord in advance, completed and paid for all in accordance with the terms of this Lease). For the purpose of calculating Tenant’s Assignment/Sublease Costs, such improvements in the
Premises shall be deemed to specifically include only changes in the locations of walls and doors (and plumbing, electrical, HVAC, fire protection and ceiling changes related to such changes in the locations of
walls and doors) and shall specifically not include changes in telecommunications or data wiring or related equipment or any other changes. For purposes of the calculation hereunder, Tenant’s
Assignment/Sublease Costs shall be amortized over the term of the Assignment or Sublease, as the case may be, and applied on a monthly basis to the determination of Assignment/Sublease Excess Rent (as set
forth below)
Except in the case of a Permitted Transfer, if the Assignment/Sublease Consideration exceeds the Lease rent plus Tenant’s Assignment/Sublease Costs, Tenant shall pay to Landlord 100% of such excess (the
“Assignment/Sublease Excess Rent”). The Assignment/Sublease Excess Rent shall be paid to Landlord as Additional Rent in equal monthly installments during the balance of the Term with respect to an
assignment and over the sublease term with respect to a sublease, and shall be payable on the first day of each month beginning with the first full month during which the assignment or sublease is effective.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article (except in the case of a Permitted Transfer): (1) in the event Tenant proposes to assign this Lease or enter into a sublease such that all or substantially all of
the Premises will have been sublet, Landlord, at Landlord’s option, may give to Tenant, within thirty (30) days after the submission by Tenant to Landlord of the statement required to be submitted in connection
therewith, a notice terminating this Lease on the date (referred to as the “Earlier Termination Date”) immediately prior to the effective date of the proposed assignment or the proposed commencement date of the
term of the proposed subletting, as set forth in such statement, and, in the event such notice is given, this Lease and the Term shall come to an end and expire on the Earlier Termination Date with the same effect as
if it were the date originally fixed herein for the end of the Term of this Lease, and the Rent shall be apportioned as of said Earlier Termination Date and any prepaid portion of Rent for any period after such date
shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant; or (2) in the event Tenant proposes to sublet any portion of the Premises, Landlord, at Landlord’s option, may give to Tenant, within thirty (30) days after the submission
by Tenant to Landlord of the statement required to be submitted in connection with such proposed subletting, a notice electing to eliminate such portion of the Premises (said portion is referred to as the
“Eliminated Space”) from the Premises during the period (referred to as the “Elimination Period”) commencing on the date (referred to as the “Elimination Date”) immediately prior to the proposed
commencement date of the term of the proposed subletting, as set forth in such statement, and ending on a date specified by Landlord, which date shall be on or after the proposed expiration date of the term of the
proposed subletting, as set forth in such statement, and in the event such notice is given (i) the Eliminated Space shall be eliminated from the Premises during the Elimination Period; (ii) Tenant shall surrender the
Eliminated Space to Landlord on or prior to the Elimination Date in the same manner as if said Date were the date originally fixed in this Lease for the end of the Term of this Lease; (iii) if the Eliminated Space
shall constitute less than an entire floor, Landlord, at Landlord’s expense, shall have the right to make any alterations and installations in the Premises required, in Landlord’s judgment, reasonably exercised, to
make the Eliminated Space a self-contained rental unit with access through corridors to the elevators and core toilets serving the Eliminated Space, and if the Premises shall contain any core toilets or any corridors
(including any corridors proposed to be constructed by Landlord pursuant to this subdivision (iii) providing access from the Eliminated Space to the core area), Landlord and any tenant or other occupant of the
Eliminated Space shall have the right to use such toilets and corridors in common with Tenant and any other permitted occupants of the Premises, and the right to install signs and directional indicators in or about
such corridors indicating the name and location of such tenant or other occupant; (iv) during the Elimination Period, the Annual Base Rent shall be reduced in the proportion which the area of the Eliminated Space
bears to the total area of the Premises immediately prior to the Elimination Date (including an equitable portion of the area of any corridors referred to in subdivision (iii) of this sentence as part of the area of the
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Eliminated Space for the purpose of computing such reduction), and any prepaid Rent for any period after the Elimination Date allocable to the Eliminated Space shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant; (v) there
shall be an equitable apportionment of any Additional Rent payable pursuant to the Article contained herein entitled “RENT” for the relevant fiscal and calendar years in which said Elimination Date shall occur;
and (vi) if the Elimination Period shall end prior to the date fixed in this Lease for the end of the Term of this Lease, the Eliminated Space, in its then existing condition, shall be deemed restored to and once again
a part of the Premises subject to the provisions of this Lease as if said elimination had not occurred during the period (referred to as the “Restoration Period”) commencing on the date next following the expiration
of the Elimination Period and ending on the date originally fixed in this Lease for the end of the Term of this Lease, except in the event that Landlord is unable to give Tenant possession of the Eliminated Space at
the expiration of the Elimination Period by reason of the holding over or retention of possession of any tenant or other occupant, in which event (x) the Restoration Period shall not commence, and the Eliminated
Space shall not be deemed restored to or a part of the Premises, until the date upon which Landlord shall give Tenant possession of such Space free of occupancies, (y) neither the date fixed in this Lease for the
end of the Term of the Lease, nor the validity of this Lease shall be affected, and (z) Tenant waives any right to recover any damages which may result from the failure of Landlord to deliver possession of the
Eliminated Space at the end of the Elimination Period. At the request of Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver an instrument or instruments, in form satisfactory to Landlord, setting forth any modifications to
this Lease contemplated in or resulting from the operation of the foregoing provisions of this Article; however, neither Landlord’s failure to request any such instrument nor Tenant’s failure to execute or deliver
any such instrument shall vitiate the effect of the foregoing provisions of this Article. The failure by Landlord to exercise its option under this Article with respect to any assignment or subletting shall not be
deemed a waiver of such option with respect to any extension of such sublease or any subsequent assignment or subletting.
Tenant shall reimburse Landlord promptly, as Additional Rent, for Landlord’s reasonable legal, professional, administrative, managerial and all other expenses (which expenses may include, without limitation,
hourly fees for administrative and management personnel and an allocation for overhead and profit) related to any request by Tenant for any consent required under the provisions of this Article.
The listing of any name other than that of Tenant, whether at any door of the Premises or in or on any Building or Property directory, or otherwise, shall not operate to vest any right or interest in this Lease or in
the Premises or be deemed to be the written consent of Landlord mentioned in this Article, it being expressly understood that any such listing is a privilege extended by Landlord revocable at will by written notice
to Tenant. If this Lease be assigned, or if the Premises or any part thereof be sublet or occupied by anybody other than Tenant, Landlord may at any time and from time to time, collect Rent and other charges from
the assignee, subtenant or occupant, and apply the net amount collected to the Rent and other charges herein reserved, but no such assignment or collection shall be deemed a waiver of this covenant, or the
acceptance of the assignee, subtenant or occupant as a tenant, or a release of Tenant from the further performance by Tenant of covenants on the part of Tenant herein contained. The consent by Landlord to an
assignment or subletting or occupancy shall not in any way be construed to relieve Tenant from obtaining the express consent in writing of Landlord to any further assignment or subletting or occupancy.
Notwithstanding any consent by Landlord, no assignment or subletting of the Premises by Tenant shall relieve the assigning or subleasing Tenant from Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent to Landlord or from Tenant’s
obligation to observe or perform any and all of the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this Lease. The intent of the preceding sentence is that the assigning or subleasing Tenant remains primarily liable
in addition to the liability of the assignee or subtenant as the case may be.
11.0

MISCELLANEOUS COVENANTS
11.1

Rules and Regulations. Tenant and Tenant’s servants, employees, agents, visitors and licensees will faithfully observe such Rules and Regulations as are attached hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof or as
Landlord hereafter at any time or from time to time may make and which in the reasonable judgment of Landlord shall be necessary for the reputation, safety, care or appearance of the Building or other portions of
the Property, or the preservation of good order therein, or the operation or maintenance of the Building or other portions of the Property, or the equipment thereof, or the comfort of tenants or others in the Building
or other portions of the Property, provided, however, that in the case of any conflict between the provisions of this Lease and any such Rules and Regulations, the provisions of this Lease shall control, and
provided further that nothing contained in this Lease shall be construed to impose upon Landlord any duty or obligation to enforce such Rules and Regulations or the terms, covenants or conditions in any other
lease as against any other tenant and Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for violation of the same by any other tenant, its servants, employees, agents, visitors, invitees or licensees.

11.2

Nuisance. Tenant shall not permit any nuisance or use or practice on or about the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property which is in violation of the Landlord’s rules and regulations or any municipal
ordinance, law, rule or
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regulation or any State or Federal laws or which unreasonably interferes with or is an unreasonable annoyance to the peaceful possession or proper use of the premises of other tenants or occupants; the
determination of such interference or annoyance to be at the sole discretion of the Landlord.
11.3

Access to Premises. Tenant shall: (i) permit Landlord to erect, use and maintain pipes, ducts and conduits in and through the Premises, provided the same do not materially reduce the floor area or materially
adversely affect the appearance thereof; (ii) permit the Landlord and any Mortgagee to have free and unrestricted access to and to enter upon the Premises at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspecting
equipment (including, without limitation, sanitary, electrical, heating, air conditioning or other systems) or making repairs, replacements or improvements in or to the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the
Property or complying with all laws, orders and requirements of governmental or other authority or of exercising any right reserved to Landlord by this Lease (including the right during the progress of any such
repairs, replacements or improvements or while performing work and furnishing materials in connection with compliance with any such laws, orders or requirements to take upon or through, or to keep and store
within, the Premises all necessary materials, tools and equipment); and (iii)’ permit Landlord, at reasonable times upon reasonable notice (which such notice need not be in writing or given in accordance with
Article 23.0 of this Lease), to show the Premises during ordinary business hours to any Mortgagee, prospective purchaser of any interest of Landlord in the Building, the Property or any portion thereof,
prospective Mortgagee, or prospective assignee of any Mortgage, and during the period of twelve months next preceding the Term Expiration Date to any person contemplating the leasing of the Premises or any
part thereof. If during the last month of the Term, Tenant shall have removed substantially all of Tenant’s property from the Premises, Landlord may immediately enter and alter, renovate and redecorate the
Premises, without elimination or abatement of Rent, or incurring liability to Tenant for any compensation, and such acts shall have no effect upon this Lease. If Tenant shall not be personally present to open and
permit any entry into the Premises at any time when for any reason an entry therein shall be necessary or permissible, Landlord or Landlord’s agents must nevertheless be able to gain such entry by contacting a
responsible representative of Tenant, whose name, address and telephone number shall be furnished by Tenant. Landlord shall exercise its rights of access to the Premises permitted under any of the terms and
provisions of this Lease in such manner as to minimize, to the extent practicable, interference with Tenant’s use and occupation of the Premises. If an excavation shall be made or authorized by the Landlord to be
made upon the Property, Tenant shall afford, to the person causing or authorized to cause such excavation, license to enter upon the Premises for the purpose of doing such work as said person shall deem necessary
to preserve the Building, the Property or any portion thereof from injury or damage and to support the same by proper foundations without any claim for damage or indemnity against Landlord, or diminution or
abatement of Rent.

11.4

Accidents to Sanitary and other Systems. Upon becoming aware of same, Tenant shall give to Landlord prompt notice of any fire or accident in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property and of
any damage to, or defective condition in, any part or appurtenance of the Building’s or the Property’s sanitary, electrical, heating and air conditioning or other systems located in, or passing through, the Premises.

11.5

Signs, Blinds and Drapes. Tenant shall not place any signs on the exterior of the Building or elsewhere on the Property or on or in any window, public corridor or door visible from the exterior of the Premises.
No drapes or blinds may be put on or in any window nor may any drapes or blinds be removed by Tenant.

11.6

Estoppel Certificate. Tenant shall at any time and from time to time upon not less than ten (10) Business Days’ prior notice by Landlord or by a Mortgagee to Tenant, execute, acknowledge and deliver to the
party making such request a statement in writing certifying that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, that the same is in full force and effect as modified and
stating the modifications), and the dates to which Rent has been paid in advance, if any, and stating whether or not to the best knowledge of the signer of such certificate Landlord is in default in performance of
any covenant, agreement, term, provision or condition contained in this Lease and, if so, specifying each such default of which the signer may have knowledge, it being intended that any such statement delivered
pursuant hereto may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser of any interest in the Building, the Property or any portion thereof, any Mortgagee or prospective Mortgagee, any tenant or prospective tenant
thereof, any prospective assignee of any Mortgage, or any other party designated by Landlord. The form of any such estoppel certificate requested by a Mortgagee shall be satisfactory to such Mortgagee.

11.7

Requirements of Law—Fines and Penalties. Tenant at its sole expense shall comply with all laws, rules, orders and regulations of federal, state, county and local governments (including without limitation, the
Americans with Disabilities Act, Public Law 101-336, 42 U.S.C. §§12101 et seq., as amended; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq., as amended; the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Responsibility Act of 1980, codified in scattered sections of 26 U.S.C, 33 U.S.C, 42 U.S.C. and 42 U.S.C. §9602 et seq., as amended; the Toxic Substances Control
Act, 15 U.S.C. §2061 et seq., as amended; the Massachusetts Oil and Hazardous Materials Release Prevention and Response Act, M.G.L. C.21E, as amended; and the Massachusetts Hazardous Waste Management
Act, M.G.L. C.21C, as amended) and with any direction of any public officer or officers, pursuant to law, which shall impose any duty upon Landlord or Tenant with respect to and arising out of Tenant’s use or
occupancy of the Premises, the
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Building or any other portion of the Property. If Tenant receives notice of any violation of law, ordinance, order or regulation applicable to the Premises, the Building or any other portion of the Property, it shall
give prompt notice thereof to Landlord.

12.0

11.8

Floor Loading. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises, the Building or other portion of the Property exceeding the floor load per square foot area which such floor was designed to carry and
which is allowed by law. Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of all equipment and fixtures, including computers and safes, which shall be placed so as to distribute weight and which
shall be placed and maintained by Tenant at Tenant’s expense in settings sufficient in Landlord’s judgment to absorb and prevent vibration, noise and annoyance.

11.9

Tenant’s Access. Subject to such reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord may impose from time to time, and causes beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, Tenant shall have the right, during the Term of the
Lease, to have access to the Premises, twenty-four hours per day, seven days per week. Any rules, regulations, mechanisms or procedures of Landlord with respect to controlling or regulating access to the
Premises, the Building or other portions of the Property shall not be interpreted as imposing any duty on the Landlord to provide security for the Premises, the Building or any portion of the Property or any person
in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property.

11.10

Survival. Any and all liability for payments under this Lease, and any and all liability for obligations (including, without limitation, indemnification provisions) relating to the period prior to the expiration of the
Term or earlier termination of this Lease and/or for obligations that by their nature arise thereafter, shall survive such expiration or earlier termination.

PARKING
Tenant shall have the right to use in the Parking Areas the number of parking spaces shown in the Article 1.0 of this Lease entitled “REFERENCE DATA:”, under the defined term “Parking Spaces:”. Tenant’s
use of the Parking Areas shall be on an unreserved, non-exclusive basis and solely by Tenant’s employees and visitors. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant and this Lease shall not be affected if any parking
rights of Tenant hereunder are impaired by any law, ordinance or other governmental regulation imposed after the date of the execution of this Lease.
Landlord reserves the right to grant to any other tenant, person or entity the exclusive right to use specific parking spaces and certain Parking Areas which are or may at some future time be within controlled
systems established by Landlord for the use by certain tenants. Landlord reserves the right to from time to time make changes in Parking Areas and to from time to time implement or change procedures or systems
as Landlord determines necessary to monitor and/or control the use of Parking Areas.
Tenant agrees to abide by all rules, regulations and procedures established by Landlord for the use of Parking Areas as such may be changed from time to time. Landlord shall have the right to tow vehicles that are
in violation of any rule or regulation established by Landlord.

13.0

CASUALTY
In the event of loss of, or damage to, the Premises, the Building or the Property or any portion thereof by fire or other casualty, the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be as follows:
(a) If the Premises, or any part thereof, shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give prompt notice thereof to Landlord, and Landlord, upon receiving such notice, shall proceed promptly and with
due diligence, subject to unavoidable delays and the terms of this Article 13.0, to repair, or cause to be repaired, such damage; provided that Landlord shall not be required (i) to repair any Tenant improvements
except to the extent such improvements were in the Premises as of the Term Commencement Date or in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Lease Landlord’s consent was obtained by Tenant with
respect to such improvements and (ii) to expend in excess of the net insurance proceeds obtained by Landlord and made available to Landlord for such repairs less all costs and expenses including adjuster’s and
attorney’s fees of obtaining such insurance proceeds. In addition, Landlord’s obligations shall be subject to the rights of Mortgagees, applicable laws, including, without limitation, zoning laws and building codes
then in existence, and insurance regulations. If the Premises or any part thereof shall be rendered untenantable by reason of such damage, Annual Base Rent shall proportionately abate for the period from the date
of such damage to the date when such damage shall have been repaired.
(b) If, as a result of fire or other casualty, the whole or a substantial portion of the Building or the Property is rendered untenantable, Landlord, within ninety (90) days from the date of such fire or casualty, may
terminate this Lease by notice to Tenant, specifying a date not less than twenty (20) nor more than forty (40) days after the giving of such notice on which the Term of this Lease shall terminate. If Landlord does
not so elect to terminate this Lease, then Landlord shall proceed with diligence to repair the damage to the Premises and all facilities serving the same, if any, which shall have occurred, and the Annual Base Rent
shall meanwhile proportionately abate, all as provided in Paragraph (a) of this
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Article. However, if such damage is not repaired and the Premises restored to substantially the same condition as they were prior to such damage within six (6) months from the date of such damage, Tenant within
thirty (30) days from the expiration of such six (6) month period or from the expiration of any extension thereof by reason of unavoidable delays as hereinafter provided, may terminate this Lease by notice to
Landlord, specifying a date not more than sixty (60) days after the giving of such notice on which the Term of this Lease shall terminate. The period within which the required repairs may be accomplished shall be
extended by the number of days, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days, lost as a result of unavoidable delays, which term shall be defined to include all delays referred to in the Article contained herein
entitled “INABILITY TO PERFORM—EXCULPATORY CLAUSE”.
(c) Landlord shall not be required to repair or replace any of Tenant’s business machinery, equipment, cabinet work, furniture, personal property or other installations, and no damages, compensation or claim shall
be payable by Landlord for inconvenience, loss of business or annoyance arising from any repair or restoration of the Premises, the Building, the Property or any portion thereof.
(d) The provisions of this Article shall be considered an express agreement governing any instance of damage or destruction of the Premises, the Building or any portion thereof by fire or other casualty, and any
law now or hereafter in force providing for such a contingency in the absence of express agreement shall have no application.
(e) In the event of any termination of this Lease pursuant to this Article, the Term of this Lease shall expire as of the effective termination date as fully and completely as if such date were the date originally fixed
herein for the end of the Term of this Lease. Tenant shall have access to the Premises for a period of thirty (30) days after the date of termination in order to remove Tenant’s personal property.
(f) Landlord’s Architect’s certificate, given in good faith, shall be deemed conclusive of the statements therein contained and binding upon Tenant with respect to the performance and completion of any repair or
restoration work undertaken by Landlord pursuant to this Article or the Article contained herein entitled “CONDEMNATION—EMINENT DOMAIN”.
14.0

CONDEMNATION—EMINENT DOMAIN
In the event that the Building, the Property or any portion thereof shall be taken or appropriated by eminent domain or shall be condemned for any public or quasi-public use, or (by virtue of any such taking,
appropriation or condemnation) shall suffer any damage (direct, indirect or consequential) for which Landlord or Tenant shall be entitled to compensation, then (and in any such event) this Lease and the term
hereof may be terminated at the election of Landlord by a notice in writing of its election so to terminate which shall be given by the Landlord to Tenant within sixty (60) days following the date on which
Landlord shall have received notice of such taking, appropriation or condemnation. In the event that the entire Premises or a portion of the Premises or the access to the Premises shall be so taken, appropriated or
condemned such that Tenant shall be precluded from effectively utilizing the Premises, then (and in any such event) this Lease and the Term hereof may be terminated at the election of Tenant by a notice in
writing of its election so to terminate which shall be given by Tenant to Landlord within sixty (60) days following the date on which Tenant shall have received notice of such taking, appropriation or
condemnation.
Upon the giving of any such notice of termination (either by Landlord or Tenant) this Lease and the Term hereof shall terminate on or retroactively as of the date on which Tenant shall be required to vacate any
part of the Premises or shall be deprived of a substantial part of the means of access thereto, provided, however, that Landlord may in Landlord’s notice elect to terminate this Lease and the Term hereof
retroactively as of the date on which such taking, appropriation or condemnation became legally effective. In the event of any such termination, this Lease and the Term hereof shall expire as of the effective
termination date as fully and completely as if such date were the date originally fixed herein for the end of the Term of this Lease. If neither party (having the right so to do) elects to terminate, Landlord will, with
reasonable diligence and at Landlord’s expense, restore the remainder of the Premises, or the remainder of the means of access, as nearly as practical to the same condition as obtained prior to such taking,
appropriation or condemnation in which event (i) a just proportion of the Annual Base Rent, according to the nature and extent of the taking, appropriation or condemnation and the resulting permanent injury to
the Premises and the means of access thereto, shall be permanently abated, and (ii) a just proportion of the remainder of the Annual Base Rent, according to the nature and extent of the taking, appropriation or
condemnation and the resultant injury sustained by the Premises and the means of access thereto, shall be abated until what remains of the Premises and the means of access thereto shall have been restored as fully
as may be for permanent use and occupation by Tenant hereunder.
Except for any award specifically reimbursing Tenant for moving or relocation expenses and except for any award specifically made to Tenant for interruption of Tenant’s business, there are expressly reserved to
Landlord all rights to compensation and damages created, accrued or accruing by reason of any such taking, appropriation or condemnation. In implementation and in confirmation of which Tenant does hereby
acknowledge that Landlord shall be entitled to receive and retain all such compensation and damages, grants to Landlord all and whatever rights (if any) Tenant may have to
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such compensation and damages, and agrees to execute and deliver all and whatever further instruments of assignment as Landlord may from time to time request. In the event of any taking of the Premises or any
part thereof for temporary use, (i) this Lease shall be and remain unaffected thereby, and (ii) Tenant shall be entitled to receive for itself any award made for such use, provided, that if any taking is for a period
extending beyond the Term of this Lease, such award shall be apportioned between Landlord and Tenant as of the Term Expiration Date.
15.0

DEFAULT
15.1

Conditions of Limitation—Re-entry—Termination. This Lease and the herein term and estate are upon the condition that if (a) Tenant shall neglect or fail to perform or observe any of the Tenant’s covenants
herein, including (without limitation) the covenants with regard to the payment when due of Rent; or (b) Tenant shall be involved in financial difficulties as evidenced by an admission in writing by Tenant of
Tenant’s inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or by the making or offering to make a composition of its debts with its creditors; or (c) Tenant shall make an assignment or trust mortgage, or other
conveyance or transfer of like nature, of all or a substantial part of its property for the benefit of its creditors, or (d) the leasehold hereby created shall be taken on execution or by other process of law and shall not
be revested in Tenant within sixty (60) days thereafter; or (e) a receiver, sequester, trustee or similar officer shall be appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction to take charge of all or a substantial part of
Tenant’s property and such appointment shall not be vacated within sixty (60) days; or (f) any proceeding shall be instituted by or against Tenant pursuant to any of the provisions of any Act of Congress or State
law relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangements, compositions or other relief from creditors, and, in the case of any such proceeding instituted against it, if Tenant shall fail to have such proceeding
dismissed within thirty (30) days or if Tenant is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent as a result of any such proceeding; or (g) any event shall occur or any contingency shall arise whereby this Lease, or the term and
estate thereby created, would (by operation of law or otherwise) devolve upon or pass to any person, firm or corporation other than Tenant, except as expressly permitted under the Article of this Lease entitled
“ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING, SUBLETTING, ETC.”; or (h) Tenant shall abandon all or substantially all of the Premises; then, and in any such event Landlord may, in a manner consistent with applicable
law and subject to the provisions of Section 15.5 below, immediately or at any time thereafter declare this Lease terminated by notice to Tenant or, without further demand or notice, enter into and upon the
Premises (or any part thereof in the name of the whole), and in either such case (and without prejudice to any remedies which might otherwise be available for arrears of Rent or other charges due hereunder or
preceding breach of covenant and without prejudice to Tenant’s liability for damages as hereinafter stated), this Lease shall immediately terminate (“Default Termination”). The words “re-entry” and “re-enter” as
used in this Lease are not restricted to their technical legal meaning. As used in items (b), (c), (e) and (d) of this Section, the term “Tenant” shall also be deemed to refer to any guarantor of Tenant’s obligations
hereunder.

15.2

Damages—Termination. In the event of a Default Termination, Tenant shall be liable to Landlord and shall pay to Landlord (i) monthly in advance all Rent accruing from the date of a Default Termination
through the date scheduled for the Term of this Lease to expire had the Default Termination not occurred plus (ii) all other unpaid Rent and other Tenant obligations accruing prior to the Default Termination,
which amounts shall be paid immediately upon Default Termination; provided that at Landlord’s election, exercisable by Landlord at the time of a Default Termination or at any time thereafter (“Landlord’s
Acceleration Election”), in addition to all other unpaid Rent and other Tenant obligations accruing prior to Landlord’s Acceleration Election (including, without limitation the amounts set forth in (i) and (ii) above
in this paragraph), Tenant shall pay to Landlord as liquidated damages (and not as a penalty) the aggregate amount of Rent accruing or which would accrue during the period starting with the exercise of Landlord’s
Acceleration Election and ending with the date scheduled for the expiration of the Term of this Lease had the Default Termination not occurred on an accelerated basis.
In the event of a Default Termination, Landlord may lease the Premises, all or any portion thereof, at any time and from time to time to such other parties and on such terms as Landlord, in Landlord’s sole
discretion, may determine. Such re-letting shall not release Tenant from any liability whatsoever except that, if and only to the extent required by applicable law, Landlord shall apply monies collected from any
such re-letting to Tenant’s obligations after first deducting Landlord’s expenses incurred to obtain possession of the Premises, remove property belonging to Tenant or persons claiming by through or under Tenant
from the Premises (including, without limitation, any warehouse or storage charges), all expenses of every sort incurred by Landlord in conjunction with re-letting the Premises (including, without limitation,
brokerage fees, legal and other professional fees and construction and construction management costs) and all administrative and managerial expenses associated with any of the forgoing, which such expenses
may include, without limitation, hourly fees for personnel and an allocation for overhead and profit; provided that in no event shall Tenant be entitled to receive any excess of such net rents over the sums payable
by Tenant to Landlord hereunder and provided further that, in any suit for the collection of damages pursuant to this subparagraph, Tenant shall in no event’ be entitled to a credit for any net rents from a re-letting
except to the extent that such net rents are actually received by Landlord.
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Suit or suits for the recovery of damages, or any installments thereof, may be brought by Landlord from time to time at Landlord’s election, and nothing contained herein shall be deemed to require Landlord to
postpone any suit until the date scheduled for the expiration of the Term of this Lease had the Default Termination not occurred.
In the case of any event of default by Tenant under this Lease (whether or not such default results in a Default Termination), in addition to all of Tenant’s other obligations under this Lease, Tenant shall be liable to
Landlord for and shall pay to Landlord upon demand all expenses, costs and other obligations which Landlord may incur by reason of or related to any such default, including, without limitation, legal,
professional, administrative and managerial expenses (which expenses may include, without limitation, hourly fees for personnel and an allocation for overhead and profit).
Nothing in this Section or elsewhere in the Lease shall be construed as limiting or precluding the recovery by Landlord against Tenant of any sums or damages to which, in addition to the damages particularly
provided above, Landlord may lawfully be entitled by reason of any default hereunder on the part of Tenant.
Landlord and Tenant each waive their respective rights to a jury trial of any monetary or nonmonetary claim or cause of action based upon or arising out of this Lease, including, without limitation, contract claims,
tort claims, breach of duty claims and all other common law or statutory claims. Each party recognizes and agrees that the foregoing mutual waiver constitutes a material inducement for it to enter into this Lease.
Each party represents and warrants that it has reviewed this waiver with its respective legal counsel and knowingly and voluntarily waives its jury trial rights following such consultation.

16.0

15.3

Fees and Expenses. If Tenant shall default in the performance of any covenant on Tenant’s part to be performed as in this Lease contained, Landlord may immediately, or at any time thereafter, without notice,
perform the same for the account of Tenant. If Landlord at any time is compelled to pay or elects to pay any sum of money, or do any act which will require the payment of any sum of money, by reason of the
failure of Tenant to comply with any provision hereof, or if Landlord is compelled to or does incur any expense, including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ fees, in instituting, prosecuting and/or defending
any action or proceeding instituted by reason of any default of Tenant hereunder or any costs incurred in recovering possession of the Premises after the termination of the Lease, Tenant shall on demand pay to
Landlord by way of reimbursement the sum or sums so paid by Landlord with all interest, costs and damages.

15.4

Landlord’s Remedies Not Exclusive. The specified remedies to which Landlord may resort hereunder are cumulative and are not intended to be exclusive of any remedies or means of redress to which Landlord
may at any time be lawfully entitled, and Landlord may invoke any remedy (including without limitation the remedy of specific performance) allowed at law or in equity as if specific remedies were not herein
provided for.

15.5

Grace Period. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article contained, Landlord agrees not to take any action to terminate this Lease (a) for default by Tenant in the payment when due of Rent, if
Tenant shall cure such default within ten (10) days after written notice thereof given by Landlord to Tenant, or (b) for default by Tenant in the performance of any other covenant, if Tenant shall cure such default
within a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof given by Landlord to Tenant (except where the nature of the default is such that remedial action should reasonably and appropriately take place sooner,
as indicated in such written notice), or with respect to covenants other than to pay a sum of money within such additional period as may reasonably be required to cure such default if (because of governmental
restrictions or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of Tenant) the default is of such a nature that it cannot be cured within such thirty (30)-day period, provided, however, (1) that there shall be no
extension of time beyond such thirty (30)-day period for the curing of any such default unless, not more than ten (10) days after the receipt of the notice of default, Tenant in writing (i) shall specify the cause on
account of which the default cannot be cured during such period and shall advise Landlord of its intention duly to institute all steps necessary to cure the default and (ii) shall as soon as may be reasonable duly
institute and thereafter diligently prosecute to completion all steps necessary to cure such default and, (2) that no notice of the opportunity to cure a default need be given, and no grace period whatsoever shall be
allowed to Tenant, if the default is incurable or if the covenant or condition the breach of which gave rise to the default had, by reason of a breach on a prior occasion, been the subject of a notice hereunder to cure
such default.

ABANDONED PROPERTY
Any personal property in which Tenant has an interest which shall remain in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property after the expiration or termination of the Term of this Lease shall be
conclusively deemed to have been abandoned, and may be disposed of in such manner as Landlord may see fit.

17.0

SUBORDINATION
This Lease is subject and subordinate in all respects to any future ground lease, to all mortgages and other matters of record and to mortgages which may hereafter be placed on or affect this Lease, the Building,
the Property or any portion thereof or Landlord’s interest or estate therein, and to each advance made or hereafter to be made under any such
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mortgages, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements and extensions thereof and substitutions therefor. This Article shall be self-operative and no further instrument of subordination shall be
required. In confirmation of such subordination, Tenant shall execute and deliver promptly any certificate acknowledging or confirming such subordination that Landlord or any mortgagee or their respective
successor in interest may request.
18.0

QUIET ENJOYMENT
Landlord covenants that if, and so long as, Tenant keeps and performs each and every covenant, agreement, term, provision and condition herein contained on the part and on behalf of Tenant to be kept and
performed, Tenant shall quietly enjoy the Premises from and against the claims of all persons claiming by, through or under Landlord subject, nevertheless, to the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and
conditions of this Lease and to all Mortgages to which this Lease is subject and subordinate.
Without incurring any liability to Tenant, Landlord may permit access to the Premises and open the same, whether or not Tenant shall be present, upon any demand of any receiver, trustee, assignee for the benefit
of creditors, sheriff, marshall or court officer entitled to, or reasonably purporting to be entitled to, such access for the purpose of taking possession of, or removing Tenant’s property or for any other lawful
purpose (but this provision and any action by Landlord hereunder shall not be deemed a recognition by Landlord that the person or official making such demand has any right or interest in or to this Lease, or in or
to the Premises), or upon demand of any representative of the fire, police, building, sanitation or other department of the city, county, state or federal governments.

19.0

20.0

ENTIRE AGREEMENT—WAIVER—SURRENDER
19.1

Entire Agreement. This Lease and the Exhibits made a part hereof contain the entire and only agreement between the parties relative to the Premises and any and all statements and representations, written and
oral, including previous correspondence and agreements between the parties hereto, are merged herein. Tenant acknowledges that all representations, and statements upon which it relied in executing this Lease are
contained herein and that Tenant in no way relied upon any other statements or representations, written or oral. Any executory agreement hereafter made shall be ineffective to change, modify, discharge or effect
an abandonment of this Lease in whole or in part unless such executory agreement is in writing and signed by the party against whom enforcement of the change, modification, discharge or abandonment is sought.
Nothing herein shall prevent the parties from agreeing to amend this Lease and the Exhibits made a part hereof as long as such amendment shall be in writing and shall be duly signed by both parties.

19.2

Waiver by Landlord. The failure of Landlord to seek redress for violation, or to insist upon the strict performance, of any covenant or condition of this Lease, or any of the Rules and Regulations promulgated
hereunder, shall not prevent a subsequent act, which would have originally constituted a violation, from having all the force and effect of an original violation. The receipt by Landlord of Rent with knowledge of
the breach of any covenant of this Lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach. The failure of Landlord to enforce any of such Rules and Regulations against Tenant or any other tenant, licensee or occupant
in the Building or elsewhere on the Property shall not be deemed a waiver of any such Rules and Regulations. No provisions of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived by Landlord unless such waiver be
in writing signed by Landlord. No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the monthly Rent herein stipulated shall be deemed to be other than on account of the stipulated Rent, nor shall
any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment of rent be deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to
Landlord’s right to recover the balance of such rent or pursue any other remedy in this Lease provided.

19.3

Surrender. No act or thing done by Landlord during the term hereby demised shall be deemed an acceptance of a surrender of the Premises, and no agreement to accept such surrender shall be valid, unless in
writing signed by Landlord. No employee of Landlord or of Landlord’s agents shall have any power to accept the keys of the Premises prior to the termination of this Lease. The delivery of keys to any employee
of Landlord or of Landlord’s agents shall not operate as a termination of the Lease or a surrender of the Premises.

INABILITY TO PERFORM—EXCULPATORY CLAUSE
Landlord shall be relieved from performing its obligations under this Lease if Landlord is prevented or delayed from doing so by reason of strikes or labor troubles or any other similar or dissimilar cause
whatsoever beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, including but not limited to, governmental preemption in connection with a national emergency or by reason of any rule, order or regulation of any department or
subdivision thereof of any governmental agency or by reason of the conditions of supply and demand which have been or are affected by war, hostilities or other similar or dissimilar emergency. In each such
instance of inability of Landlord to perform, Landlord shall exercise reasonable diligence to eliminate the cause of such inability to perform.
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Tenant shall neither assert nor seek to enforce any claim for breach of this Lease against any of Landlord’s assets other than Landlord’s interest in the Building of which the Premises are a part, and Tenant agrees
to look solely to such interest for the satisfaction of any liability of Landlord under this Lease, it being specifically agreed that in no event shall Landlord (which term shall include, without limitation any of the
officers, trustees, directors, partners, beneficiaries, joint venturers, members, stockholders or other principals or representatives, disclosed or undisclosed, of Landlord or any managing agent) ever be personally
liable for any such liability. This paragraph shall not limit any right that Tenant might otherwise have to obtain injunctive relief against Landlord or to take any other action which shall not involve the personal
liability of Landlord to respond in monetary damages from Landlord’s assets other than the Landlord’s interest in said real estate, as aforesaid. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, in
no event shall Landlord be liable for consequential damages.
Landlord shall not be in default unless a failure to perform an obligation remains uncured for more than thirty (30) days following written notice from Tenant specifying the nature of such default, or such longer
period as may be reasonably required to correct such default.
21.0

LANDLORD’S CONSENT
It is understood and agreed that whenever Landlord’s consent or approval is required, either expressed or implied, by any provision of this Lease, the consent or approval may be granted or withheld arbitrarily in
Landlord’s sole discretion unless otherwise specifically stated in such provision. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, if any provision of the Lease obligates Landlord not to
unreasonably withhold its consent or approval, an action for specific performance will be Tenant’s sole right and remedy in any dispute as to whether Landlord has breached such obligation.

22.0

RIGHT TO RELOCATE
Landlord reserves the right to relocate the Premises to space elsewhere in the Building comparable to the Premises with respect to size (which to be comparable must be the same rentable area as the Premises plus
or minus 10%), condition, finish, design and functional layout (the “Relocation Space”) by giving Tenant prior written notice (the “Relocation Notice”) of Landlord’s intention to relocate the Premises; provided,
however, that, prior to the originally scheduled Term Expiration Date, Landlord shall not exercise such right to relocate more than one (1) time. If within 30 days after the date of the Relocation Notice, Landlord
and Tenant have not agreed upon the specific space to which the Premises are to be relocated to and the timing of such relocation, then, at any time until Landlord and Tenant (i) agree upon the specific space to
which the Premises are to be relocated and the timing of such relocation and (ii) execute an amendment to this Lease with respect to such agreement, Landlord may terminate this Lease by notice to Tenant. If
Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, then this Lease shall terminate on that date which is 30 days after the date of the notice to terminate this Lease given pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence. If
Landlord and Tenant do agree upon the space to which the Premises are to be relocated to and the timing of such relocation, then Tenant agrees to execute an amendment to the Lease setting forth such agreement.
Landlord agrees to pay the reasonable costs of moving Tenant to such other space (including, without limitation, the reasonable cost to relocate Tenant’s phone and computer systems and the reasonable cost for a
moving contractor to pack and unpack Tenant’s personal property to the extent a moving contractor would typically perform such function) and the reasonable cost to replace any letterhead and business cards
existing as of the effective date of any relocation if and to the extent such letterhead and business cards are rendered obsolete solely as a result of such relocation. Except as may be mutually agreed to in writing in
the form of an amendment to this Lease, the exercise of Landlord’s rights pursuant to this Article shall not in and of itself give rise to any increase or decrease in Rent. If construction in the Relocation Space is
required in order to make the Relocation Space comparable to the Premises (as required above in this Article 22.0, “RIGHT TO RELOCATE”), such construction shall be performed by Landlord at Landlord’s
expense and shall be Substantially Complete prior to any relocation.

23.0

BILLS AND NOTICES
All bills and statements for reimbursement or other payments or charges due from Tenant to Landlord hereunder shall be due and payable in full thirty (30) days, unless herein otherwise provided, after submission
thereof by Landlord to Tenant. Tenant’s failure to make timely payment of any amounts indicated by such bills and statements, whether for work done by Landlord at Tenant’s request, reimbursement provided for
by this Lease or for any other sums properly owing by Tenant to Landlord, shall be treated as a default in the payment of Rent, in which event Landlord shall have all rights and remedies provided in this Lease for
the nonpayment of Rent.
Any notice by either party to the other party shall be in writing. Any notice from the Landlord to the Tenant related to the Premises or to the occupancy thereof shall be deemed duly served if and when such notice
is (i) addressed to the Tenant and left at the Premises or (ii) sent to the Tenant at the Tenant’s Address by registered or certified mail, return receipt
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requested, postage prepaid or by FedEx, UPS or other nationally known reputable overnight courier service. Any notice from the Tenant to the Landlord related to the Premises or to the occupancy thereof shall be
deemed duly served if and when such notice is sent to the Landlord at the Landlord’s Address by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid or by FedEx, UPS or other nationally known
reputable overnight courier service.
The Landlord may change the Landlord’s Address and the Tenant may change the Tenant’s Address by delivering or sending a notice in accordance with the foregoing paragraph to the other party stating the
change and setting forth the changed address, provided such changed address is within the United States.
24.0

HOLDOVER
If the Tenant remains in the Premises, the Building or elsewhere on the Property beyond the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this Lease (the “Holdover Period”) such holding over shall not be
deemed to create any tenancy, but the Tenant shall (a) be a tenant-at-sufferance only, (b) during the first 30 days of the Holdover Period pay Rent to Landlord at the times and manner determined by Landlord at a
daily rate in an amount equal to 1.75 times the daily rate of the Rent and other sums payable under this Lease as of the last day of the Term of this Lease, (c) after the first 30 days of the Holdover Period, pay Rent
to Landlord at the times and manner determined by Landlord at a daily rate in an amount equal to three times the daily rate of the Rent and other sums payable under this Lease as of the last day of the Term of this
Lease and (d) indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all damages, liabilities, claims and losses relating to or arising as a result of such holding over.

25.0

NO OPTION
Employees or agents of Landlord have no authority to make or agree to make a lease or any other agreement or undertaking in connection herewith. The submission of this document for examination and
negotiation does not constitute an offer or agreement to lease, or a reservation of, or option for the Premises and this document shall become effective and binding as a lease only upon the execution and delivery
hereof by both Landlord and Tenant. If Tenant executes all of the execution copies of this document and returns them to Landlord, such action shall constitute an irrevocable offer by Tenant to enter into this
document as a lease, which offer Landlord may accept by executing the same and returning one (1) fully executed copy to Tenant at any time within two (2) weeks after receipt of such execution copies by
Landlord. If Landlord does not accept such offer within said two (2) week period, it shall be deemed to have been rejected; and upon rejection (either by lapse of time as aforesaid or by notice from Landlord to
Tenant), Landlord will destroy all of said execution copies. If Tenant is a corporation, it agrees that the person executing this Lease for it has full authority to do so, and also to execute any notice, receipt, consent,
amendment of the Lease, or any other document pertaining to the Lease or the Premises until such time as Landlord receives notice from Tenant to the contrary.

26.0

PARTIES BOUND—SEIZIN OF TITLE
The covenants, agreements, terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease shall bind and benefit the successors and assigns of the parties hereto with the same effect as if mentioned in each instance where a party
hereto is named or referred to, except that no violation of the provisions of the Article contained herein entitled “ASSIGNMENT, MORTGAGING, SUBLETTING, ETC.” hereof shall operate to vest any rights
in any successor or assignee of Tenant and that the provisions of this Article shall not be construed as modifying the conditions of limitation contained in the Article contained herein entitled “DEFAULT”.
If, in connection with or as a consequence of the sale, transfer or other disposition of the Building, the Property or any portion thereof, Landlord ceases to be the owner of the “landlord’s” interest in the Premises,
Landlord shall be entirely freed and relieved from the performance and observance thereafter of all covenants and obligations hereunder accruing thereafter on the part of Landlord to be performed and observed, it
being understood and agreed in such event (and it shall be deemed and construed as a covenant running with the land) that the person succeeding to Landlord’s ownership of said reversionary interest shall
thereupon and thereafter assume, and perform and observe, any and all of such covenants and obligations of Landlord.

27.0

MISCELLANEOUS
27.1

Separability. If any provision of this Lease or portion of such provision or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is for any reason held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Lease (or the
remainder of such provision) and the application thereof to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. In the event that any
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charge under this Lease is interpreted to be the payment of interest, the rate of interest shall be equal to the lesser of the amount stated in the Lease or the maximum amount permitted by law.
27.2

Independent Covenants. The covenant and agreement of Tenant to pay to Landlord Annual Base Rent, Real Estate Taxes, Operating Expenses, Additional Rent or any other payment to Landlord or any covenant
or agreement of Tenant to make payments to third parties (such as direct payments to a taxing authority) shall be independent of any covenant in this Lease to be performed by Landlord; and default in Landlord’s
performance of any such covenant shall not be a basis for Tenant to cease or reduce payment to Landlord of Annual Base Rent, Real Estate Taxes, Operating Expenses, Additional Rent or any other payment to
Landlord, or to cease or reduce payments to third parties, or to terminate this Lease.

27.3

Captions. The captions are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Lease nor the intent of any provisions thereof.

27.4

Landlord or Tenant. The words “Landlord” and “Tenant” as used in this Lease may extend to and be applied to several parties whether male or female and to corporations and partnerships, and words importing
the singular may include the plural and all obligations of the Tenant as herein defined shall be joint and several. Each of the provisions of this Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal
representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto and it is specifically understood that the Landlord has the right to assign all of its right, title and interest, or any portion thereof, in and to this Lease and
any amendments thereto to any other party or entity during the Term of this Lease and any extension thereof and that the Tenant shall execute any and all instruments that may be necessary to acknowledge and
assent to such assignment.

27.5

Broker. Each party represents and warrants that it has not directly or indirectly dealt, with respect to the leasing of space in the Building or elsewhere on the Property, with any broker or had its attention called to
the Premises or other space to let in the Building or elsewhere on the Property, by any broker other than the Broker (if any) listed in the Article of this Lease entitled “REFERENCE DATA” whose commission
shall be the responsibility of Landlord. Each party agrees to exonerate and save harmless and indemnify the other against any claims for a commission by any other broker, person or firm, with whom such party
has dealt in connection with the execution and delivery of this Lease or out of negotiations between Landlord and Tenant with respect to the leasing of other space in the Building or elsewhere on the Property.

27.6

Governing Law. This Lease is made pursuant to, and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

27.7

Assignment of Lease and/or Rents. With reference to any assignment by Landlord of its interest in this Lease and/or the Rent payable hereunder, conditional in nature or otherwise, which assignment is made to
or held by a bank, trust company, insurance company or other institutional lender holding a Mortgage on the Building, the Property or any portion thereof, Landlord and Tenant agree;
(a) that the execution thereof by Landlord and acceptance thereof by such Mortgagee shall never be deemed an assumption by such Mortgagee of any of the obligations of the Landlord hereunder, unless such
Mortgagee shall, by written notice sent to the Tenant, specifically otherwise elect; and
(b) that, except as aforesaid, such Mortgagee shall be treated as having assumed the Landlord’s obligations hereunder only upon foreclosure of such Mortgagee’s Mortgage and the taking of possession of the
Premises after having given notice of its intention to succeed to the interest of the Landlord under this Lease.

27.8

Notice of Lease. Tenant agrees that it will not record this Lease in any Registry of Deeds or Registry District.

27.9

Early Termination. Provided Tenant is not and has not at any time been in default under the Lease beyond any applicable notice and cure period and no condition exists which with the passage of time or the
giving of notice would result in a default under the Lease, at any time prior to the “Early Termination Date” (as defined in this Section 27.9), Tenant may terminate this Lease effective May 31, 2015 (the “Early
Termination Date”) by delivering to Landlord on or before September 1, 2014 (i) a notice indicating Tenant’s intent that the Lease terminate on the Early Termination Date and (ii) a payment of 545,715.25 as
Additional Rent, which payment shall be in addition to all other Rent accruing up through and including the Early Termination Date. In the event such notice is given and accompanying payment received in a
timely manner pursuant to this paragraph and all applicable terms and provisions of the Lease, the Term of the Lease shall expire May 31, 2015 as if May 31, 2015 were the Term Expiration Date defined in the
Lease.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this instrument to be executed under seal, all as of the day and year first above written.
NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

BY: COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT LLC,
GENERAL PARTNER

By: /s/ Alexey Margolin
Name: Alexey Margolin
Title: CEO
, duly authorized

By: /s/ James Magliozzi
James A. Magliozzi, Manager

ALCRESTA, INC.
By: /s/ Alexey Margolin
Name: Alexey Margolin
Title: CEO
, duly authorized
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EXHIBIT A
LEASE PLAN

EXHIBIT B
CLEANING SERVICES
LOBBY AND COMMON AREAS
*

Clean and disinfect water fountains

*

Clean directory and signage

*

Clean doors, walls, windows, mullions and metal work

*

Clean hard surface floors

*

Dust horizontal surfaces

*

Empty trash receptacles

*

High dusting (exit signs, light fixtures and air difusers)

*

Vacuum all carpets and mats

LAVATORIES
*

Clean mirrors, walls, rest room supply dispensers and toilet partitions.

*

Clean and disinfect countertops, sinks and toilets

*

Empty trash receptacles

*

High dusting (exit signs, light fixtures and air difusers)

*

Refill rest room supply dispensers # Sweep and wash floors

TENANT AREAS
*

Dry mop tile floors

*

Dust open horizontal surfaces

*

Empty trash receptacles

*

High dusting (exit signs, light fixtures and air difusers)

*

Vacuum all carpets

EXHIBIT C
RULES AND REGULATIONS
1.

The sidewalks, entrances, passages, courts, elevators, vestibules, stairways, corridors or halls of the Property shall not be obstructed or encumbered or used for any purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the
premises demised to any tenant or occupant.

2.

No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls or windows of the Building without the prior written consent of Landlord. No curtains, blinds, shades, or screens shall be attached or hung in, or used in
connection with, any window or door of the premises demised to any tenant or occupant, without the prior written consent of Landlord. Such awnings, projections, curtains, blinds, shades, screens, or other fixtures must be
of a quality type, design and color, and attached in a manner, approved by Landlord in writing in advance.

3.

No sign, advertisement, object, notice or other lettering shall be exhibited, inscribed, painted or affixed on any part of the outside or inside of the premises demised to any tenant or occupant of the Building without the prior
written consent of Landlord. Interior signs on doors and directory tables if any shall be of a size, color and style approved by Landlord in writing and in advance.

4.

The sashes, sash doors, skylights, windows, and doors that reflect or admit light and air into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building shall not be covered or obstructed, nor shall any bottles, parcels, or
other articles be placed on any window sills.

5.

No show cases or other articles shall be put in front of or affixed to any part of the exterior of the Building, nor placed in the halls, corridors, vestibules or other parts of the Building.

6.

The water and wash closets and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purposes other than those for which they were constructed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rags, or other substances shall be thrown therein.

7.

No tenant or occupant shall mark, paint, drill into, or in any way deface any part of the Building or the premises demised to such tenant or occupant. No boring, cutting or stringing of wires shall be permitted, except with the
prior written consent of the Landlord, and as Landlord may direct. No tenant or occupant shall install any resilient tile or similar floor covering in the premises demised to such tenant or occupant except in a manner
approved by Landlord in writing and in advance.

8.

No bicycles, vehicles, dogs (except for seeing eye dogs and similar animals) or other animals, birds or pets of any kind shall be brought into or kept in or about the premises demised to any tenant. Bicycles may be stored in
racks, if any, furnished for such purpose by Landlord in a common area of the Property. No cooking shall be done or permitted in the Building by any tenant without the approval of Landlord. No tenant shall cause or permit
any unusual or objectionable odors to emanate from the premises demised to such tenant.

9.

Without the prior written consent of Landlord, no space in the Building shall be used for manufacturing, or for the sale of merchandise, goods or property of any kind at auction.

10.

No tenant shall make, or permit to be made, any unseemly or disturbing noises or disturb or interfere with other tenants or occupants of the Building or neighboring buildings or premises whether by the use of any musical
instrument, radio, television set or other audio device, unmusical noise, whistling, singing, or in any other way. Nothing shall be thrown out of any doors or windows.

11.

Each tenant must, upon the termination of its tenancy, restore to Landlord all keys of stores, storage areas, offices and toilet rooms, either furnished to, or otherwise procured by, such tenant.

12.

All removals from the Building, or the carrying in or out of the Building or the premises demised to any tenant, of any safes, freight, furniture, or bulky matter of any description must take place at such time and in such
manner as Landlord or its agents may determine, from time to time. Landlord reserves the right to inspect all freight to be brought into the Building and to exclude from the Building all freight which violates any of the
Building Rules or the provisions of such tenant’s lease.

13.

No tenant or occupant shall purchase spring water, ice, food, beverage, lighting maintenance, cleaning towels or other like service, from any company or person not approved by Landlord in writing and in advance, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

14.

Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any advertising by any tenant or occupant which, in Landlord’s opinion, tends to impair the reputation of the Building or its desirability as a building for offices, and upon notice from
Landlord, such tenant or occupant shall refrain from or discontinue such advertising.

15.

Each tenant, before closing and leaving the premises demised to such tenant at any time, shall see that all entrance doors are locked and windows closed.

16.

Each tenant shall, at its expense, provide artificial light in the premises demised to such tenant for Landlord’s agents, contractors, and employees while performing janitorial or other cleaning services and making repairs or
alterations in said premises.

17.

No premises shall be used, or permitted to be used, for lodging or sleeping, or for any immoral or illegal purpose.

18.

There shall not be used in the Building, either by any tenant or occupant or by their agents or contractors, in the delivery or receipt of merchandise, freight or other matter, any hand trucks or other means of conveyance
except those equipped with rubber tires, rubber side guards and such other safeguards as Landlord may require.

19.

Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited and each tenant and occupant shall cooperate in seeking their prevention.

20.

If the premises demised to any tenant become infested with vermin, such tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall cause its premises to be exterminated from time to time, to the satisfaction of Landlord, and shall employ
such exterminators therefor as shall be approved by Landlord in writing and in advance.

21.

No premises shall be used, or permitted to be used, at any time, without the prior written approval of Landlord, as a store for the sale or display of goods, wires or merchandise of any kind, or as a restaurant, shop, booth,
bootblack or other stand, or for the conduct of any business or occupation which predominantly involves direct patronage of the general public in the premises demised to such tenant, or for manufacturing or for other
similar purpose.

22.

No tenant shall move, or permit to be moved, into or out of the Building or the premises demised to such tenant, any heavy or bulky matter, without the specific approval of Landlord. If any such matter requires special
handling, only a person holding a Master Rigger’s license shall be employed to perform such special handling. No tenant shall place, or permit to be placed, on any part of the floor or floors of the premises demised to such
tenant, a load exceeding the floor load per square foot which such floor was designed to carry and which is allowed by law. Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of safes and other heavy matter,
which must be placed so as to distribute the weight.

23.

The requirements of tenants will be attended to only upon application at the office of the Building. Building employees shall not be required to perform, and shall not be requested by any tenant or occupant to perform, any
work outside of their regular duties, unless under specific instructions from the office of the managing agent of the Building.

24.

Tenant shall not block access to heating and air conditioning or other equipment or elements of the Building to be maintained by Landlord, whether by the placement of Tenant’s furniture or equipment or otherwise. In the
event such heating and air conditioning or other equipment or element of the Building is blocked by the placement of Tenant’s furniture or equipment or otherwise, Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall upon request of Landlord
immediately move such equipment.

AMENDMENT NUMBER ONE
TO LEASE BETWEEN
NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
AND
ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND ALCRESTA, INC.
THIS AMENDMENT made this October 11, 2016, between Newton Executive Park Limited Partnership, a Massachusetts Limited Partnership having offices at One Gateway Center, Newton, Massachusetts (“Landlord”) and Allena
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with offices located in Newton, Massachusetts and Alcresta, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with offices located Newton, Massachusetts (jointly and severally the “Tenant”).
WITNESSETH THAT,
WHEREAS, by Lease dated August 29, 2011, (as may be amended from time to time, the “Lease”), Landlord demised and leased to Tenant approximately 6,055 rentable square feet on the second floor of Landlord’s building (the
“Building”) known as One Newton Executive Park in Newton, Massachusetts.
WHEREAS, the Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease as follows.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease shall be and hereby is amended in the following respects:
1.

Effective June 1, 2017, Alcresta, Inc. shall no longer be a Tenant under the Lease. Notwithstanding that Alcresta shall remain responsible for all obligations and liabilities of Tenant arising prior to June 1, 2017,
Alcresta, Inc. shall have no responsibility for obligations or liabilities of Tenant arising on or after June 1, 2017.

2.

In Article 1.0, “REFERENCE DATA”, the definition of the defined term “Term Expiration Date:” shall be amended to read as follows:

3.

With respect to the period beginning June 1, 2017, the Annual Base Rent shall be in accordance with the following table:

“May 31, 2018”

Period

June 1, 2017 through May 31, 2018
4.

Annual Base
Rent:

Monthly
Installment:

$254,310.00

$21,192.50

With respect to the period beginning June 1, 2017, the Annual Electricity Charge shall be in accordance with the following schedule:

Period

June 1, 2017 through May 31, 2018

Annual
Electricity
Charge:

$11,196.00

Monthly
Installment of
Electricity
Charge:

$933.00

5.

Tenant represents and warrants that, with respect to this Amendment, it has not directly or indirectly dealt with any broker other than Colliers International whose commission shall be paid by Landlord pursuant to
separate agreement. Tenant agrees to save harmless, indemnify and defend Landlord against any claims for a commission or other fee by any other broker, person or firm with whom the Tenant may have dealt in
connection this Amendment.

6.

Except as herein amended, all terms, conditions, covenants, agreements and provisions of the Lease shall remain in full force and effect.

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals on the day and year first written above.
NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

BY: COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT LLC,
GENERAL PARTNER

BY
/s/ Edward Wholihan
Name: Edward Wholihan
Title: CFO
, duly authorized

By /s/ James A Magliozzi
James A. Magliozzi, Manager

ALCRESTA, INC.
BY
/s/ Robert Gallotto
Name: Robert Gallotto
Title: President

, duly authorized

AMENDMENT NUMBER THREE TO LEASE BETWEEN
NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AND
ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
THIS AMENDMENT made this December 7, 2017, between Newton Executive Park Limited Partnership, a Massachusetts Limited Partnership having offices at One Gateway Center, Newton, Massachusetts ("Landlord") and
Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with offices located in Newton, Massachusetts (“Tenant”).
WITNESSETH THAT,
WHEREAS, by Lease dated August 29, 2011, (as may be amended from time to time, the "Lease"), Landlord demised and leased to Tenant approximately 6,055 rentable square feet on the second floor of Landlord's
building (the “Building”) known as One Newton Executive Park in Newton, Massachusetts.
WHEREAS, by an Amendment Number One to Lease dated October 11, 2016, among other things the Term was extended through May 31, 2018.
WHEREAS, by an Amendment Number Two to Lease dated August 16, 2017, among other things the Term was extended through May 31, 2019.
WHEREAS, the Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease as follows.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease shall be and hereby is amended in the following respects:
1.

In Article 1.0, “REFERENCE DATA”, the definition of the defined term “Term Expiration Date:” shall be amended to read as follows:

2.

The “Existing Space” shall be approximately 6,055 square feet of rentable area on the second floor of the Building. The Existing Space is currently occupied by Tenant. The “Amendment Three Expansion Space”
shall be approximately 1,740 square feet of rentable area on the first floor of the Building. The Amendment Three Expansion Space is shown on Exhibit A attached to this Amendment. Effective on the
“Amendment Three Expansion Space Inclusion Date” (as defined below), Exhibit A to the Lease shall be deemed to also include Exhibit A attached to this Amendment.

3.

Tenant shall accept occupancy of the Amendment Three Expansion Space "as is", and any work necessary to prepare the Amendment Three Expansion Space for occupancy by Tenant shall be performed by
Tenant in compliance with the terms and provisions of this Lease at Tenant's own expense; provided, however, that Landlord shall, prior to Tenant’s occupancy of the Amendment Three Expansion Space, using
building standard materials, means and methods, repaint the walls of the Amendment Three Expansion Space and shampoo the carpets in the Amendment Three Expansion Space. Landlord’s obligations to
perform certain work in the Amendment Three Expansion Space as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence shall be deemed the “Amendment Three Expansion Space Work”.

4.

The “Amendment Three Expansion Space Inclusion Date” shall be January 1, 2018 or any sooner date that Landlord shall have substantially completed the Amendment Three Expansion Space Work and
provided written notice of such sooner date to Tenant, or any later date that Landlord shall have substantially completed the Amendment Three Expansion Space Work (or would have substantially completed the
Amendment Three Expansion Space Work in the absence of Tenant related delays) and provided written notice of such later date to Tenant.

5.

Effective from and after the Amendment Three Expansion Space Inclusion Date, the Premises shall include the Existing Space and the Amendment Three Expansion Space, together a total of approximately
7,795 square feet of rentable area on the first and second floors of the

"December 31, 2020"

Building.
6.

Effective from and after the Amendment Three Expansion Space Inclusion Date, the definition of the defined term “Premises:” in Article 1.0, "REFERENCE DATA" shall be amended to read:
“Approximately 7,795 square feet of rentable area (the calculation of “rentable” area includes an allocation of the Building’s common areas) on the first and second floors of the Building, as more fully
described in the Article of this Lease entitled “DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES”.”

7.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, with respect to the period of time beginning with the January 1, 2018, the Annual Base Rent shall be in accordance with the following table:

Period
January 1, 2018 through May 31, 2018
June 1, 2018 through May 31, 2019
June 1, 2019 through May 31, 2020
June 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020

8.

Monthly
Installment:
$ 27,282.50
$ 27,932.08
$ 28,581.67
$ 29,231.25

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, with respect to the period of time beginning with the January 1, 2018, the Annual Electricity Charge shall be in accordance with the following
table:

Period
January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2020

9.

Annual Base
Rent:
$327,390.00
$335,184.96
$342,980.04
$350,775.00

Monthly
Annual Installment of
Electricity
Electricity
Charge:
Charge:
$ 14,424.00

$ 1,202.00

In Article 1.0 of the Lease, “REFERENCE DATA”, the definition of the defined term “Security Deposit:” shall be amended to read:
“$60,866.50”
Upon execution of this Amendment, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord such additional funds as may be required to bring the Security Deposit held by Landlord to such amount.

10.

Effective from and after the Amendment Three Expansion Space Inclusion Date, the definition of the defined term, “Tenant's Proportionate Share of Taxes and Operating Expenses:”, in Article 1.0 of the
Lease, "REFERENCE DATA" shall be amended to read:

11.

Effective from and after the Amendment Four Inclustion Date, the definition of the defined term, “Parking Spaces:”, in Article 1.0 of the Lease, “REFERENCE DATA”, shall be amended to read:

12.

Tenant represents and warrants that, with respect to this Amendment, it has not directly or indirectly dealt with any broker other than Colliers International whose commission shall be paid by Landlord
pursuant to separate agreement. Tenant agrees to save harmless, indemnify and defend Landlord against any claims for a commission or other fee by any other broker, person or firm with whom the Tenant
may have dealt in connection this Amendment.

13.

Except as herein amended, all terms, conditions, covenants, agreements and provisions of the Lease shall remain in full force and effect.

“17.41%”

“25 Spaces in the Parking Areas

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals on the day and year first written above.
NEWTON EXECUTIVE PARK
LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

ALLENA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

BY: COMMONWEALTH DEVELOPMENT LLC, GENERAL PARTNER

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ James A. Magliozzi
James A. Magliozzi
Manager

By:
Name:
Title:

3

/s/ Edward Wholihan
Edward Wholihan
CFO, duly authorized

EXHIBIT A LEASE PLAN

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-221306) pertaining to the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, the 2017 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and the 2017 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our report dated March 27, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December
31, 2017.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 27, 2018

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Alexey Margolin, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

(Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

March 27, 2018

By:

/s/ Alexey Margolin
Alexey Margolin
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Edward Wholihan, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

(Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

March 27, 2018

By:

/s/ Edward Wholihan
Edward Wholihan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of Allena Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2017, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), each of the undersigned officers hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:
1)

the Report which this statement accompanies fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

March 27, 2018

By:

/s/ Alexey Margolin
Alexey Margolin
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 27, 2018

By:

/s/ Edward Wholihan
Edward Wholihan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

